
Page 1

AGENDA 

Meeting: Southern Area Planning Committee
Place: Sarum Academy, Westwood Road, Salisbury, Wiltshire, SP2 9HS
Date: Thursday 28 April 2016
Time: 6.00 pm

Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Lisa Moore, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line (01722) 434560 or email 
lisa.moore@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115.

This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk 

Membership:

Cllr Fred Westmoreland 
(Chairman)
Cllr Christopher Devine 
(Vice Chairman)
Cllr Richard Britton
Cllr Richard Clewer
Cllr Brian Dalton
Cllr Jose Green

Cllr Mike Hewitt
Cllr George Jeans
Cllr Ian McLennan
Cllr Ian Tomes
Cllr Ian West

Substitutes:

Cllr Trevor Carbin
Cllr Terry Chivers
Cllr Ernie Clark
Cllr Tony Deane
Cllr Dennis Drewett
Cllr Peter Edge
Cllr Magnus Macdonald

Cllr Leo Randall
Cllr Ricky Rogers
Cllr John Smale
Cllr John Walsh
Cllr Bridget Wayman
Cllr Graham Wright

RECORDING AND BROADCASTING NOTIFICATION

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


Page 2

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 
Council’s website at http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv.  At the start of the meeting, the 
Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being recorded. The images and 
sound recordings may also be used for training purposes within the Council.

By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of 
those images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes.

The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.
 
Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 
relation to any such claims or liabilities.

Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on the Council’s website available on request.

If you have any queries please contact Democratic Services using the contact details 
above.

http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv/


Page 3

AGENDA

                                                   Part I 

Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public

1  Apologies for Absence 

To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting.

2  Minutes (Pages 7 - 38)

To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 
Thursday 7 April 2016.

3  Declarations of Interest 

To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee.

4  Chairman's Announcements 

To receive any announcements through the Chair.

5  Public Participation and Councillors' Questions 

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public.

Statements
Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an 
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register in person no 
later than 5.50pm on the day of the meeting.

The Chairman will allow up to 3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against 
an application and up to 3 speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each 
speaker will be given up to 3 minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to 
the item being considered. The rules on public participation in respect of 
planning applications are detailed in the Council’s Planning Code of Good 
Practice.

Questions 
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council 
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular, 
questions on non-determined planning applications. Those wishing to ask 
questions are required to give notice of any such questions in writing to the 
officer named on the front of this agenda (acting on behalf of the Corporate 
Director) no later than 5pm on Thursday 21 April 2016.  Please contact the 



Page 4

officer named on the front of this agenda for further advice. Questions may be 
asked without notice if the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent.

Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website.

6  Planning Appeals (Pages 39 - 40)

To receive details of completed and pending appeals.

7  Planning Applications 

To consider and determine planning applications in the attached schedule.

7a  16/00550/FUL - 23, Milford Street, Salisbury (Pages 41 - 54)

Change of use of site from public house (Class A3) and adult entertainment 
venue (sui generis) to form two commercial units (Classes A1, A2, B1 or D1) 
and 10 apartments including conversion, demolition and erection of buildings 
(Revised plans showing amendments to the ground and first floor layout and 
elevations)

7b  15/10824/FUL - Land South of 1 Park Houses, East Knoyle, 
Witshire, SP3 6AN (Pages 55 - 76)

Proposed two single storey houses for elderly people, with associated access 
road and car parking.

8  Commons Act 2006 - Section 15(1) And (3) Application To Register Land 
As A Town Or Village Green - The Common / Browns Copse Field / 
Bluebell Wood Field / Village Hall Field / The Field, Winterslow (Pages 77 - 
614)

Report by Tracy Carter – Associate Director Environmental Services and
Ian R Gibbons - Solicitor to the Council and Associate Director – Legal and 
Governance

9  Exclusion of the Press and Public 

To consider passing the following resolution:

To agree that in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972 to exclude the public from the meeting for the business specified in Item 
Number 10 because it is likely that if members of the public were present there 
would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in  paragraph 5 of 
Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 



Page 5

information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

Paragraph 5 referred to above, relates to information in respect of which a claim 
to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings

Part II 

Item during consideration of which it is recommended that the public
 be excluded because of the likelihood that exempt

information would be disclosed

10  Commons Act 2006 - Section 15(1) And (3) Application To Register Land 
As A Town Or Village Green - The Common / Browns Copse Field / 
Bluebell Wood Field / Village Hall Field / The Field, Winterslow (Pages 615 - 
622)

To consider Appendix 7 as referred to in the report under item 8 above. 



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 7 APRIL 2016 AT CORONERS COURT, 26 ENDLESS ST, SALISBURY 
SP1 1DR.

Present:

Cllr Fred Westmoreland (Chairman), Cllr Christopher Devine (Vice Chairman), 
Cllr Richard Britton, Cllr Richard Clewer, Cllr Brian Dalton, Cllr Jose Green, Cllr Mike Hewitt, 
Cllr George Jeans, Cllr Ian McLennan, Cllr Ian Tomes and Cllr Ian West

Also  Present:
 
Cllr Graham Wright, Cllr Bill Moss

20 Apologies for Absence

There were none.

21 Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 25 February 2016 were presented.

Resolved:

To approve as a correct record and sign the minutes.

22 Declarations of Interest

The following declarations of interest were received:

Cllr Britton noted that one of the applications referred to Selwood Housing, of 
which he was the Director. This was a personal interest and not a pecuniary.

Cllr Clewer noted that he had previously pushed hard for the Council to develop 
the Old Manor site as social housing; he would look at this application with a 
clear mind.

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



23 Chairman's Announcements

The Chairman explained the meeting procedure to the members of the public.

24 Public Participation and Councillors' Questions

The committee noted the rules on public participation.

25 Planning Appeals

The committee received details of the appeal decisions as detailed in the 
agenda.

26 Planning Applications

26a  15/09465/FUL: Land Adjoining the Old Manor Hospital, Wilton Road, 
Salisbury, SP2 7EP

Public Participation 
Mr Sam Hobson (Architect) spoke in support of the application
Mr Steve Godwin (Salisbury BID) spoke in support of the application
Mr Robert Sykes (Local Resident) spoke in support of the application
Cllr’s John Lindley and Matthew Dean spoke in support of the application, on 
behalf of Salisbury City Council

The Senior Planning Officer drew attention to late correspondence, from 
Highways England, which was circulated at the meeting and introduced the 
application to demolish the existing extensions to listed building Finch House 
and remove the existing detached buildings in the vicinity (including Foxley 
Green previous occupied by the NHS Mental Health Partnership), and 
construct 71 assisted living extra care units. The scheme would also include 
associated landscaping, ancillary buildings and uses such as a cafe and 
communal uses and rooms, including a new convenience store of 422sqm. 

This proposal included works to alter the existing vehicular access onto the 
adjacent A36, which would involve works to the existing boundary walling, 
including stopping up the existing access, creating a new vehicular access, 
and creating a pedestrian access.

At this time, it was intended that this proposal would form Phase 1 of part of 
a much larger development of the surrounding Old Manor site (a total of 5 
Phases), including future works to the adjacent Finch House itself (Phase 2). 
As currently indicated by the suggested masterplan and phasing, Phase 5 
would facilitate the creation of a cycle and pedestrian route with the adjacent 
Windsor Road.

Page 8



The application was recommended for approval. It was noted that this was a 
phased development, with phases 1 and 2 for consideration at present.  

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical 
questions of the Officers. It was noted that by nature of virtue the tunnel 
attached to Finch House was also listed, however it did not form part of the 
planning application.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views to the 
Committee, as detailed above.

The Unitary Division Member, Councillor Clewer then spoke on the 
application, adding that the local community supported the development of 
this site. With a low stock of accommodation in Wiltshire, a development of 
this type would free up many family sized homes across the county. 
Although he would have liked to see some affordable housing on the site, as 
this was not possible, the solution of an offsite contribution had been agreed.

The listed buildings on the site were now in such a state of disrepair that if 
something was not done soon, then they may well fall down. An extra care 
housing development for this site was fitting due to the medical centre which 
was already there.

The Committee discussed the application, noting that there had been over 
800 letters of support received for this development. Although some mature 
trees would be removed as part of the development, a vibrant set of 
buildings would be built in their place. The phased approach to development 
of the site raised concerns over whether all of the phases would come to 
fruition. 

It was desired that the offsite contribution agreed by the developer should be 
used to support separate extra care housing in Salisbury and not outside the 
city in greater Wiltshire. It was suggested that a future proposed extra care 
housing schemes in the City could benefit from these funds. 

It was noted that if during development works the pavement surfacing could 
be renewed, from the site on Wilton Road down to Fisherton Street, it would 
be beneficial.

Cllr Clewer moved the Officer’s recommendation to approve the application, 
seconded by Cllr Westmoreland.

Resolved
That subject to a suitable legal agreement being completed, and 
adjustment to condition 13 of the report to reflect Highways England 
comments,  the application be APPROVED subject to conditions: 

Page 9



SUBJECT TO A SUITABLE S106 LEGAL AGREEMENT WHICH 
SECURES THE FOLLOWING:

I) Financial contribution towards the off site provision of 
affordable housing

II) Financial contribution towards waste and recycling provision on 
site

III) Financial contribution towards air quality management in Wilton 
Road area

IV) Financial contribution and provision towards public art on the 
site

V) Submission of a scheme including timing and phasing, for the 
future enhancement of both listed buildings (Finch House 
and Avon House) as part of the wider development of the site.

vi)  Restrict the occupation of the development to assisted living                
extra care apartments/residential units as defined in the 
application details, 

vii) Restrict the operation of the communal facilities on site 
(excluding the retail shop) so that they are not operated 
independently from the residential use of the site 

THEN THE SCHEME BE APPROVED BY THE AREA DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGER, subject to the following conditions:

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
02 Before development commences, full large scale details and 
samples of the materials to be used for the development, including 
walls, roofing, architectural details, doors and windows, chimneys, 
boundary treatments, and hardsurfacing shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be built out in accordance with the approved 
details.
REASON: To ensure that the scheme preserves and enhances the 
Conservation Area and the adjacent heritage assets
03 The dwellings hereby approved shall achieve a level of energy 
performance at or equivalent to Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable 
Homes.  No dwelling shall be occupied until evidence has been 
issued and submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority certifying that this level or equivalent has been 
achieved.
REASON: To ensure that the objectives of sustainable development 
equal or equivalent to those set out in Policy CP41 of the Wiltshire 
Core Strategy are achieved. 

Page 10



PLANS
04 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following plans:
Existing Location Plan  883-100
Existing Topographical Survey 883-101
Existing Site Sections (Sheet 1) 883-102
Existing Site Sections (Sheet 2) 883-103
Existing Photomontage (Phase 1 Areas) 883-104
Proposed Demolition Plan 883-300A
Proposed Location Plan 883-301A
Proposed Landscape Plan 883-302B
Detailed Demolition Plan 883-303
Detailed Demolition Plan 883-304
Detailed Demolition Plan 883-305
Detailed Demolition Plan 883-306
Detailed Demolition Plan 883-307
Boundary Wall Demolition Plan 883-308
Proposed Ground Floor Plan 883-400A
Proposed First Floor Plan 883-401A
Proposed Second Floor Plan 883-402A
Proposed Third Floor Plan 883-403A
Proposed Roof Plan 883-404A
Proposed Site Section (Sheet 1) 883-500
Proposed site Section (Sheet 2) 883-501
Proposed North and East Elevations (Block A&B) 883-502A
Proposed South and West Elevations (Block A&B) 883-503A
Proposed Sections B-B & C-C (Block A&B) 883-504A
Proposed Sections A-A (Block A&B) 883-505A
Proposed Elevations (Block C) 883-506A
Proposed Elevations (Block D) 883-507A
Proposed Elevations (Block C&D) 883-508A
Proposed Façade Details (Block A&B) 883-509A
Proposed Façade Details (Block C) 883-510A
Proposed Façade Details (Block D) 883-511A
Block C and Finch House Junction 883-512A
Existing Finch House Floor Plan 883-600
Existing Finch House Elevations 883-601
Proposed Foul Drainage Strategy 883-700
Proposed Surface Water Drainage 883-706
Proposed entrance gateway adjacent Finch House 883-801
General arrangement Right Turn Lane 4676/001 Rev G
Visibility splay extent – boundary wall demolition  - 883-702
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt
Planting/landscaping
05 The new landscaping/planting scheme shall be in accordance 
with the approved planting/landscaping plan ‘Proposed Landscape 
Plan’ 883-302B (listed above) and all the planting shall be carried 
out and completed within 2 years of the commencement of the 

Page 11



development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.
Any trees that are subsequently removed or die within ten years of 
the date of planting shall be replaced by trees of a species and size 
indicated on the approved plan, or to as otherwise agreed as part of 
a replacement planting scheme in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.  
REASON: To ensure that replacement planting occurs with a 
suitable timescale in order to soften this and any other development 
on this site and enhance the wider Conservation Area.
Retention and protection of Finch House during construction
06 Before any demolition works commence, a detailed scheme of 
how the remaining part of Finch House is to be retained and 
protected and made structural stable/secure during and following 
demolition and construction works, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Demolition and 
construction works, and the agreed remedial works to the remainder 
of Finch House shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed 
scheme. 
REASON: To ensure that the historic asset is protected during and 
after demolition and construction works
Drainage 

07 Before the development hereby approved in occupied, the 
foul/storm drainage as shown on the approved plans 883-706 Rev A 
& 883-700 Rev B shall be constructed and made available for use, 
and an ownership and maintenance regime for the drainage shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

REASON: To ensure the development has suitable drainage 
facilities

CEMP
08 No development approved by this permission shall be 
commenced until a Construction Environmental Management Plan, 
incorporating pollution prevention measures, has been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall 
subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and agreed timetable.

REASON: To prevent pollution of the water environment
Transport/Highways
09. Before development commences, a scheme for the works within 
the A36T highway system, including traffic management measures 
within the vicinity of the site and the location and extent of parking 
restrictions related to the proposed new access and Fountain Way, 

Page 12



shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority (and Highways 
England). The development shall not be occupied or brought into 
use until the submitted scheme has been agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in consultation with Highways England, 
and has been implemented in full. 

REASON: In the interest of highway safety 

10. Prior to the commencement of the development (excluding 
demolition works), details of the internal access road and 
associated paths including its connection with the existing Fountain 
Way shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, and the road shall be constructed in accordance 
with those details.

REASON: To ensure that the access road is constructed in a 
manner consistent with its future use by other parts of the Old 
manor Hospital complex.
11.Before the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied, all the 
associated vehicular parking and turning areas, and bicycle 
storage/parking areas shall be made available for use, and such 
facilities shall be retained for those purposes in perpetuity.
REASON: To ensure there is sufficient on site residential parking 
facilities and cycle storage facilities to encourage sustainable travel, 
and to limit the impact of traffic on the adjacent A36 highway 
system.
Works to boundary wall and new vehicular access
12.Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, and 
prior to the commencement of any works on site in respect of the 
new vehicular access adjacent Porters Lodge, and the proposed 
pedestrian access in the boundary walling adjacent Finch House, a 
construction method statement for the demolition and 
reconstruction of the site boundary wall and new access and 
visibility splays and associated works, together with tree protection 
works, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the agreed details. 
Reason: In interest of the safe operation of the A36 road system and 
the character of the conservation area and the integrity of the 
heritage asset.
13. Before the development is first brought into use, the visibility 
splay as shown on drawing reference 4676/001 G (measured from 
a point 4.5m back from the carriageway edge along the site access 
road centreline and 90m to the west A36T carriageway centreline 
and 90m to the east carriageway nearside edge) shall be cleared of 

Page 13



obstruction to visibility at and above a height of 0.6m above the 
nearside carriageway level, and thereafter maintained free of 
obstruction at all times.
Reason: To ensure the safe and efficient operation of the A36T.
Stopping up of existing vehicular access onto A36

14.The proposed development shall not be brought into use until 
the existing vehicular access adjacent Porters Lodge has been 
stopped up and its use permanently abandoned, and the footway 
crossing reinstated, in accordance with a detailed scheme to be 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed scheme.
REASON: In the interest of the heritage asset and character of area, 
and in the interest of highway safety

CMP FOR COMPOUND
15.No development, including site preparation works, shall 
commence on site, until a construction traffic management plan has 
been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority  to include the provision of a temporary site access and 
compound, to provide a parking area for site operatives and 
construction traffic and for the storage of plant, equipment and 
materials to be used in the development hereby permitted. Such 
temporary access and site compound shall be provided on site in 
strict accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be 
maintained during the course of the development, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the safe operation of the A36 road network and 
to protect surrounding amenity and the heritage assets on the site 
Linkage with Windsor Road
16.Within 3 months of the first occupation of any of the residential 
units forming part of this development, a scheme for the provision 
and timing of a pedestrian and cycle linkage with Windsor Road 
along the eastern boundary of the wider Old Manor site, as 
indicative by the adopted Development Brief via the planned Phase 
5 development site (known as the old laundry) shall have been 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority. A link as approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority shall thereafter be provided 
and maintained in accordance with the agreed scheme and timing.
REASON: In order to enhance the sustainability of the approved 
scheme and any subsequent development, and to allow access to 
the facilities on the Old Manor site to adjacent residents, in 
accordance with the adopted Development Brief.

Retail shop and associated parking

17.The retail use hereby permitted (the convenience store) shall 

Page 14



only take place (open for trading to the public) between the 
hours of 0700hrs and 2200hrs. No deliveries shall be made to, or 
collections made from, the retail unit hereby approved except 
between the hours of 0730hrs and 1800hrs Monday to Saturdays, 
with no deliveries or collections on Sundays or Bank/ Public 
Holidays.

REASON: In the interest of amenity

18.Before the retail use hereby approved first comes into 
operation (opens to the public), all the associated vehicular 
parking and turning areas, and bicycle storage/parking areas 
shall be made available for use, and such facilities shall be 
retained for those purposes in perpetuity.

REASON: The retail element of the development will increase 
demand for car parking in the vicinity of the main vehicular 
access serving the development site. Without adequate controls 
to prevent inappropriate parking on the A36T, the safe and 
efficient movement of goods and people along the Strategic 
Road Network would be compromised. 

19.No development shall commence on site until a scheme of 
acoustic insulation and noise and odour/fume control has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme should specify the acoustic insulation 
and other measures to be put in place to prevent and control the 
emission of noise and odour/fumes from the development 
including noise from ventilation/ extract fans/ refrigeration units/ 
generators/ deliveries to or from commercial units or communal 
uses. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full before 
the development is occupied and maintained at all times 
thereafter.

REASON: In the interest of amenity

Construction impacts on amenity

20.Notwithstanding the hours stated in the submitted Noise 
Survey and the submitted Construction Management Plan, no 
construction or demolition work shall take place on Sundays or 
Public/ Bank Holidays or outside the hours of 0730hrs to 1800hrs 
Monday to Friday and 0800hrs to 1300hrs on Saturdays. No 
burning of waste or other materials shall take place on the 
development site during the demolition/construction phase of 
the development.

Page 15



REASON: In the interest of amenity

21.No development approved by this permission shall be 
commenced until an additional Construction Management Plan, 
which limits the impact of construction works on the operations 
of surrounding uses including the adjacent Magistrate/Crown 
Court use on Wilton Road, has been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details and 
agreed timetable.

REASON: To limit the impact of construction works on an 
adjacent use. 

22.Unless otherwise agreed as part of the measures to be agreed 
as part of the Additional Construction Management Plan, dust 
management shall be carried out fully in accordance with the 
submitted Construction Management Plan submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority on 2nd November 2015.

REASON: In the interest of amenity

Protection of dwellings adjacent main road

23.The development shall not be first brought into use until a 
scheme for the mechanical ventilation and extraction for 
residential properties within 15m from the edge of the A36 
carriageway has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The ventilation and extraction 
equipment shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the 
approved details. No changes to the ventilation and extraction 
equipment and flue(s) shall take place, and no other ventilation 
or extraction equipment shall be installed, without prior written 
approval from the Planning Authority.

REASON: In order to limit the impact of pollutants from the 
adjacent A36 road, in the interest of residential amenity

General protection of dwellings

24. Before occupation of the residential accommodation hereby 
approved, the noise attenuation measures as detailed in Section 
5 (Mitigation) of the submitted Hayes McKenzie Partnership 
Noise Survey dated 26th August 2015 shall be implemented in 
full.

REASON: In the interest of amenity

Page 16



Contaminated Land

25.No development shall commence on site until an 
investigation of the history and current condition of the site to 
determine the likelihood of the existence of contamination 
arising from previous uses has been carried out and all of the 
following steps have been complied with to the satisfaction of 
the Local Planning Authority: 

Step (i)  A written report has been submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority which shall include details of the 
previous uses of the site for at least the last 100 years and a 
description of the current condition of the site with regard to any 
activities that may have caused contamination.  The report shall 
confirm whether or not it is likely that contamination may be 
present on the site.

Step (ii)  If the above report indicates that contamination may be 
present on or under the site, or if evidence of contamination is 
found, a more detailed site investigation and risk assessment 
should be carried out in accordance with DEFRA and 
Environment Agency’s “Model Procedures for the Management 
of Land Contamination CLR11” and other authoritative guidance 
and a report detailing the site investigation and risk assessment 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

Step (iii)  If the report submitted pursuant to step (i) or (ii) 
indicates that remedial works are required, full details have been 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in 
writing and thereafter implemented prior to the commencement 
of the development or in accordance with a timetable that has 
been agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority as part of 
the approved remediation scheme. On completion of any 
required remedial works the applicant shall provide written 
confirmation to the Local Planning Authority that the works have 
been completed in accordance with the agreed remediation 
strategy.

REASON:  To ensure that land contamination can be dealt with 
adequately prior to the use of the site hereby approved by the 
Local Planning Authority.

INFORMATIVES

Highways matters

Page 17



The developer should note that the details pursuant to a number 
of the above conditions will be discussed with Highways 
England.

Notwithstanding and in addition to this consent, the proposed 
development will require separate Highway England approval for 
the construction of the proposed vehicular access and lining 
and signing on Highways England highway land and the 
reinstatement of footway which will be subject to entering in to 
the relevant legal agreement with Highways England. The 
Applicant is required to obtain this approval before works 
commence and is therefore recommended to contact Highways 
England in this respect as soon as possible.

Notwithstanding all other restrictions or regulations, Highways 
England has indicated that any construction related traffic or 
works no site works shall avoid the hours of 07:30-09:00 and 
16:30-18:00 which corresponds with peak traffic times along the 
A36. The submission of further details pursuant to the above 
conditions should therefore reflect this request.

Environmental health matters

With regards the above conditions, the applicant should engage 
an Acoustic Consultant. The consultant should carry out a 
thorough background noise survey and noise assessment in 
accordance with BS4142:2014 (or any subsequent version) and 
demonstrate that the rating noise level is at least 5dB below the 
background noise level. All building services plant associated 
with the development (including air conditioning units, 
ventilation grilles, extraction systems or other air handling plant 
etc) shall be so sited and designed in order to achieve a Rating 
Level (BS4142:2014) of -5dB below the lowest measured 
background noise level (LA90T) determined at the nearest noise 
sensitive receptor, when the plant is intended to operate.

At the request of the Local Planning Authority (LPA), the plant 
operator shall, at their own expense, employ a suitably competent 
and qualified person to measure and assess, whether noise from 
the plant meets the specified level. The assessment shall be 
commenced within 21 days of the notification, or such longer time 
as approved by the LPA.

We recommend the applicant ensures that the ventilation system 
discharges vertically at a height of at least 1m above the height 
of any nearby sensitive buildings or uses and not less than 1m 

Page 18



above the eves. We recommend the applicant consults the 
Guidance on the Control of Odour and Noise from Commercial 
Kitchen Exhaust Systems (DEFRA 2005.)

26b  15/09519/LBC: Land Adjoining the Old Manor Hospital, Wilton Road, 
Salisbury, SP2 7EP

Information on this application was included in the previous presentation for 
15/09465/FUL.

Cllr Clewer moved the Officer’s recommendation for approval, seconded by 
Cllr Westmoreland.

Resolved:
The application be APPROVED subject to conditions:

01 The works for which Listed Building Consent is hereby granted shall 
be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
consent. 

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 18 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
PLANS
02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
plans:
Existing Location Plan  883-100
Existing Topographical Survey 883-101
Existing Site Sections (Sheet 1) 883-102
Existing Site Sections (Sheet 2) 883-103
Proposed Demolition Plan 883-300A
Proposed Location Plan 883-301A
Detailed Demolition Plan 883-303
Detailed Demolition Plan 883-304
Detailed Demolition Plan 883-305
Detailed Demolition Plan 883-306
Detailed Demolition Plan 883-307
Boundary Wall Demolition Plan 883-308
Proposed entrance gateway adjacent Finch House 883-801
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt
Retention and protection of Finch House during construction
03 Before any demolition works commence, a detailed scheme of how the 
remaining part of Finch House is to be retained and protected and made 
structural stable/secure during and following demolition and construction 
works, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Demolition and construction works, and the agreed 

Page 19



remedial works to the remainder of Finch House shall be carried out in 
accordance with the agreed scheme. 
REASON: To ensure that the historic asset is protected during and after 
demolition and construction works
Works to boundary wall and access points
04 Before any works associated with the matters listed below are 
commenced, large scale details and details of the materials and works 
associated with the matters shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the agreed details: 
a)the removal of part of the boundary walling to create the new vehicular 
access adjacent Porters Lodge, and 
b)the works associated with the proposed pedestrian access in the 
boundary walling adjacent Finch House, and 
c) the stopping up of the existing vehicular access adjacent the Porters 
Lodge
Reason: In interest of the character of the conservation area and the 
integrity of the heritage asset.
05 No works authorised by this consent shall commence until planning 
permission for the redevelopment scheme subject of planning 
application 15/09465/ful has been formally approved and formally 
commenced. 
REASON: The works subject of this listed building consent are also 
integral to the redevelopment scheme subject of a separate planning 
application, and as part of this separate process, the large scale of the 
demolition works would have wider highway, environmental health, 
environmental, and heritage impacts, and may therefore require 
mitigation before development commences.
 

INFORMATIVES

Separate Highways and planning consent matters

Notwithstanding and in addition to this LBC consent, the proposed 
redevelopment  of the wider site will require planning permission and 
the separate Highway England approval for the construction of the 
proposed vehicular access and lining and signing on Highways 
England highway land and the reinstatement of footway which will be 
subject to entering in to the relevant legal agreement with Highways 
England. 

The Applicant is required to obtain these approvals before works 
commence and is therefore recommended to contact Highways 
England in this respect as soon as possible.

Page 20



26c  16/00831/FUL: Paddock View, The Street, Teffont, Wiltshire, SP3 5QP

Public Participation 
Lisa Witcher spoke in objection to the application
Mr T Pegrum spoke in objection to the application
Mr Nicholson spoke in objection to the application
David Wood spoke on behalf of Teffont Parish Council

The Senior Planning Officer introduced the application for the demolition of 
an existing bungalow and construction of a replacement dwelling with 
associated works, at Paddock View. The application was recommended for 
approval. It was noted that the site was accessed via a shared driveway 
leading from the street, and a public footpath also extends along the shared 
driveway along the northern boundary. The site was within the Cranborne 
Chase AONB and Conservation Area.

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical 
questions of the Officers. It was noted that whilst the dormer windows faced 
north, it was considered that the replacement dwelling would not unduly 
impact upon residential amenity.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views to the 
Committee, as detailed above.

A representative from Teffont Parish Council spoke in objection to the 
application, due to the size, style and height. However the parish council 
noted that it did not object to principle development of the site, but did not 
support this application and would like to see a like for like bungalow in its 
place.

The Unitary Division Member, Councillor Wayman then spoke on the 
application, adding that what was once a 1930’s bungalow would now be a 
two storey house, sitting higher on the hillside. No consideration had been 
given to the Village Design Statement where it was specific on the design of 
dormer windows. New buildings should be complimentary to existing 
character of the village.

The Committee discussed the application, noting that the design matched an 
already approved development in the village. It was sympathetic that site 
traffic would need to use the shared driveway, which may cause further 
damage to fencing and obstructions during deliveries for the neighbouring 
residents. The application would need to adhere to standard hours as part of 
the loading and unloading of materials in the conditions, and damage to 
neighbouring property would be a civil matter. 

Resolved
The application be APPROVED subject to conditions: 

Page 21



1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
REASON:   To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2) No development shall commence on site until details and samples of 
the materials to be used for the external walls and roofs have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and 
appearance of the area.

3) No development shall commence on site until a sample panel of 
stonework, not less than 1 metre square, has been constructed on site, 
inspected and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The panel shall then be left in position for comparison whilst the 
development is carried out. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved sample.
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and 
appearance of the area.

4) No development shall commence on site (including any works of 
demolition) until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
statement shall include details of the following:
a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
b) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 
development;
d) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 
decorative displays and
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;
e) wheel washing facilities;
f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 
construction;
g) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition 
and construction
works;
h) measures for the protection of the natural environment;
i) hours of construction, including deliveries
The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period.
REASON: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring 
amenities, the amenities of the area in general, detriment to the natural 

Page 22



environment through the risks of pollution and dangers to highway 
safety, during the construction phase.

5) No development shall commence on site until a scheme of hard and 
soft landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, the details of which shall include:-
" a detailed planting specification showing all plant species, 
supply and planting sizes and planting densities; 
" all hard and soft surfacing materials
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable 
this matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and 
the matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
before development commences in order to ensure a satisfactory 
landscaped setting for the development, in the interests of visual 
amenity and the character and appearance of the area.

6) All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of 
landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding 
season following the first occupation of the building(s) or the 
completion of the development whichever is the sooner; All shrubs, 
trees and hedge planting shall be maintained free from weeds and shall 
be protected from damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants 
which, within a period of five years, die, are removed, or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  All hard landscaping 
shall also be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior 
to the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with 
a programme to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development and the protection of existing important landscape 
features.

7) No development shall commence until large scale detailed elevation 
and section plans of the dormer windows have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable 
this matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and 
the matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
before development commences in order that the development is 
undertaken in an acceptable manner, in the interests of visual amenity 
and the character and appearance of the area, to ensure that the 
development is appropriately detailed due to its location within the 
conservation area.

8) All windows shall be of timber. No paint or stain finish shall be 

Page 23



applied to external timber until details of the paint or stain to be 
applied have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details prior to the development being first 
occupied. All windows shall remain as timber in perpetuity.
REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity and the character and 
appearance of the area, to ensure that the development is 
appropriately detailed due to its location within the conservation area.

9) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended by the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) 
(No.2) (England) Order 2008 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or 
amending that Order with or without modification), there shall be no 
additions to, or extensions or enlargements of any building forming 
part of the development hereby permitted.
REASON:  In the interests of the amenity of the area and to enable the 
Local Planning Authority to consider individually whether planning 
permission should be granted for additions, extensions or 
enlargements.

10) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended by the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) 
(No.2) (England) Order 2008 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or 
amending that Order with or without modification), no window, dormer 
window or rooflight, other than those shown on the approved plans, 
shall be inserted in the roofslopes or gable ends of the development 
hereby permitted.
REASON:  To safeguard the character and appearance of the area and 
in the interests of residential amenity.

11) The dwelling hereby approved shall achieve a level of energy 
performance at or equivalent to Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable 
Homes.   The dwelling shall not be occupied until evidence has been 
issued and submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority certifying that this level or equivalent has been achieved.
REASON: To ensure that the objectives of sustainable development 
equal or equivalent to those set out in Policy CP41 of the Wiltshire 
Core Strategy are achieved. 

12) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans:
Plan Ref: CHP/01 1:1250 Site Location Plan, received by this office 
10/02/2016
Plan Ref: CHP/14 Site & Roof Plan, received by this office 10/02/2016
Plan Ref: CHP/15 North & West Elevation, received by this office 

Page 24



10/02/2016
Plan Ref: CHP/16 Side & Rear elevations, Ground floor and first floor 
plan, received by this office 27/01/2016
REASON:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning.

INFORMATIVE: Material samples
Please note that Council offices do not have the facility to receive 
material samples. Please deliver material samples to site and inform 
the Planning Officer where they are to be found.

INFORMATIVE: External lighting
In considering any proposed external lighting, the applicant should 
comply with the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB 
position statement on Light Pollution available from: 
http://www.ccwwdaonb.org.uk/projects/pub_other.htm

INFORMATIVE: Public right of Way
A public footpath (TEFF7) runs along the access road and past the 
front of the property. This has a definitive width of up to 2 metres and 
all public rights must be safeguarded.  The footpath should be kept 
clear and accessible to members of the public at all times during and 
after development.

INFORMATIVE: Wiltshire Fire & Rescue 
The applicant should be made aware of the letter received from 
Wiltshire Fire & Rescue Service regarding advice on fire safety 
measures. This letter can be found on the application file which can be 
viewed on the council's website against the relevant application 
record. 

INFORMATIVE: CIL
The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may 
represent chargeable development under the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and Wiltshire Council's CIL 
Charging Schedule. If the development is determined to be liable for 
CIL, a Liability Notice will be issued notifying you of the amount of CIL 
payment due. If an Additional Information Form has not already been 
submitted, please submit it now so that we can determine the CIL 
liability. In addition, you may be able to claim exemption or relief, in 
which case, please submit the relevant form so that we can determine 
your eligibility. The CIL Commencement Notice and Assumption of 
Liability must be submitted to Wiltshire Council prior to 
commencement of development.  Should development commence 
prior to the CIL Liability Notice being issued by the local planning 
authority, any CIL exemption or relief will not apply and full payment 
will be required in full and with immediate effect. Should you require 

Page 25



further information or to download the CIL forms please refer to the 
Council's Website 
www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/commu
nityinfrastructurelevy. 

26d  15/11244/FUL: Local Centre, Old Sarum, Salisbury, SP4 6BY

Public Participation 
Mr Ronnie Hutchinson spoke in objection to the application
Penny Joyce (Old Sarum Community Coordinator) spoke in objection to the 
application
Sharon Burgess (Salisbury Medical Practice) spoke in support of the 
application
Mr David Burton spoke in objection on behalf of Laverstock & Ford parish 
council

The Senior Planning Officer introduced the application for the erection of 
three storey building comprising of 21 affordable housing apartments with 
parking, bin & cycle stores, associated infrastructure (alterations to 
S/2012/1829). The application was recommended for approval. It was noted 
that the community space which originally included a Doctors surgery was 
now proposed to be replaced by affordable housing. 

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical 
questions of the Officers. It was clarified that affordable housing could not be 
considered ‘community use’ and therefore could not replace a doctors 
surgery or other deemed suitable ‘community use’ alternatives if there had 
been insufficient marketing of the vacant space, as ‘community use’.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views to the 
Committee, as detailed above.

A representative Laverstock & Ford Parish Council spoke in objection to the 
application on the grounds that there had been no attempt to market the 
space as a doctor’s surgery to other interested parties. It was felt that there 
was massive interest in having a community facility in the space rather than 
housing. There was huge objection from local residents and parish councils 
to the proposals.

The Unitary Division Member, Councillor McLennan then spoke on the 
application, adding that in the beginning there was a local plan where 630 
houses were welcomed. Councillors agreed to the master plan and 
Persimmon’s agreed that a doctor’s surgery would be included. He had been 
in discussions with another surgery in the city which had expressed interest 
in the site. There was huge public need for a doctor’s surgery as the amount 
of people living in the community now equated for 3 doctors.

Page 26



The Committee discussed the application, noting that the site was always 
intended for community use, specifically as a doctor’s surgery. It was felt that 
the correct process should be followed and the site should be marketed as 
so, to give the community time to find an alternative.

Cllr McLennan moved for refusal against the officer’s recommendation, this 
was seconded by Cllr Tomes.

Resolved
The application be REFUSED for the following reasons:

The wider Old Sarum development was permitted on the basis that it 
would be served by a number of community facilities, including a 
doctor's surgery. The S106 legal Agreement associated with the 
development requires a suitable scheme of marketing in respect of a 
doctor's surgery use and an alternative community use, prior to a 
scheme being submitted for a residential or other non-community use. 
Adopted Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) policy CP49 indicates that 
proposal's involving the loss of community uses will only be permitted 
as a last resort where it has been proven that the community use is no 
longer economically viable and where all other options have been 
exhausted. 

Whilst some marketing appears to have been undertaken in relation to 
a doctor's surgery use, no alternative marketing scheme has been 
formally submitted relating to the use of the space for an alternative 
community use. It is not clear whether the ground floor space has been 
marketed in a flexible and open manner, or at an appropriate price 
which reflects the desire for a community use of the space, and which 
takes account of the likely future demand for a community uses as a 
result of a growing population in the Old Sarum area. Furthermore, the 
evidence submitted and the public consultation process has been 
challenged by several third parties and local Parish Councils, and 
hence, the robustness of the applicant's evidence is unclear at this 
time.

Whilst the provision of affordable housing is supported by policy CP43 
of the WCS, the additional seven housing units being proposed are not 
considered to be a suitable replacement for a community facility, 
particularly as the additional housing will create a need and demand 
for additional facilities, whilst reducing the available space for any 
such community uses to be provided within the growing community. 

The Local Planning Authority therefore remains to be convinced that 
the aims of the associated S106 Agreement have been fully complied 
with or that the requirements of policy CP49 in relation to the 

Page 27



submission of a comprehensive marketing plan have been fully 
addressed. Consequently, the current proposal is considered to be 
contrary to the aims and criteria of the original housing allocation and 
saved policy H2D, the associated S106 Agreement, and contrary to 
policy CP49 of the WCS, and the aims of the NPPF to promote the 
retention and development of community facilities.  

26e  15/10727/FUL: Emmotts Farm, Grimstead Road, West Grimstead, SP5 
3RQ

Public Participation 
Mr Eric Daffern spoke in support on behalf of Grimstead parish council

The Senior Planning Officer introduced the application for alterations, 
extensions, and conversion of existing Staddle Stone barn and attached 
stable to form three bedroom dwelling with creation of associated garden.  
Alterations and extension of Victorian barn to create stables, garaging and 
workshop.  Associated works including removal of lean-to structures within 
yard area. The application was recommended for approval. It was noted that 
a restricted occupancy condition was contained in the report.

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical 
questions of the Officers. It was noted that the use of the stables was tied to 
the dwelling.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views to the 
Committee, as detailed above.

A representative from Grimstead Parish Council spoke in support of the 
application.

The Unitary Division Member, Councillor Britton moved Officer’s 
recommendation for approval, seconded by Councillor Westmoreland.

Resolved
The application be APPROVED subject to conditions: 

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

The equestrian and agricultural farm yard and buildings as shown on 
plan 784-20-21 (and hatched in red) shall not be occupied at any time 
other than for purposes ancillary to the residential use of the main 

Page 28



dwelling hereby approved, known as the Staddle Stone Barn, Emmotts 
Farm, Grimstead Road, West Grimstead SP5 3RQ. There shall be no 
subdivision of the planning unit.  

Reason: To ensure that the residential property known as the Staddle 
Stone Barn is not occupied by anyone who is not associated with the 
existing farm and equestrian use at Emmotts Farm, in the interests of 
future amenities. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans listed in schedule:

Planning Statement October 2015, Pegasus Group, received 28/10/15
Design and Access Statement, Favonius Architects, received 28/10/15
Heritage Statement August 2015, Elaine Milton, rceived 28/10/15
Structural Viability Report 7463:01 14/4/15 received 28/10/15 
Chalkhill Environmental Consultants, Bat Survey 578-15 15/16 July 
2015, received 28/10/15
Response from Jan Freeborn, Project Ecologist, Chalkhill 
Environmental Consultants, received 11/1/16
Photos of Victorian Barn (stables) roof received 11/2/16 from Mr. S 
Lock
Site Plan, 784-20-05 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Block Plan, 784-20-07 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Location Plan, 784-20-06A Jul 2015, received 3/11/15
Drainage Plan, 784-20-19 Aug 2015, received 28/10/15 
Ground Floor Plan, 784-20-01A July 2015, received 9/2/16
First Floor Plan and Roof Plan, 784-20-02 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Sketch Sections, 784-20-08 July 2015, received 28/10/15 
Sketch Section C-C, 784-20-22 Feb 16, received 2/2/16 
Typical Window Detail and Rooflight Detail, 784-20-11A, received 2/2/16
Stable Elevations, 784-20-04B Jul 15, received 14/3/16
Proposed Elevations, 784-20-03 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Door Details Utility Door D04, 784-20-09 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Door Details D05, D06, 784-20-14 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Door Details Breakfast Room French Door D03, 784-20-10 Jul 15, 
received 28/10/15
Door Details D01, 784-20-13 Jul 15, received 28/10/15
Door Details D02, 784-20-12 Jul 15, received 28/10/15
Stable Doors, 784-20-15 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Staddle Stone Barn and Extent of Associated Equestrian/Farm Yard, 
Buildings and Garden Area, 784-20-21 Dec 2015, received 3/12/15

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning.

No construction or demolition work shall take place on Sundays or 

Page 29



Public Holidays or outside the hours of 07:30 to 18:00 Monday to 
Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays 

Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenities

No development shall commence within the area indicated (proposed 
development site) until: 

 A written programme of archaeological investigation, which should 
include on-site work and off-site work such as the analysis, publishing 
and archiving of the results, has been submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority; and

 The approved programme of archaeological work has been carried out 
in accordance with the approved details. 

REASON:  To enable the recording of any matters of archaeological 
interest.

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the recommendations made in section 7 of the Bat Survey report 
dated 15/16 July 2015 prepared by Chalkhill Environmental 
Consultants, as already submitted with the planning application and 
agreed in principle with the local planning authority before 
determination.

REASON: To ensure adequate protection and mitigation for protected 
species.

Only low-height, downward directional and passive infrared sensor 
lights shall be used on the east elevation of the barn conversion 
(Staddle Stone Barn) and the western elevation of the converted 
stables/garades/workshop building (Victorian Barn) and no external 
lighting shall be installed to the southern elevation of the adjacent Hay 
Barn, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning 
authority. No other external lighting shall be installed on these 
elevations without the prior approval of the Council’s Ecologist.

REASON: To maintain the farmyard as a dark corridor for 
foraging/commuting Natterer’s and Common pipistrelle bats using the 
Hay Barn, and to limit the amount of light spillage into the site that may 
affect other foraging/commuting bats using the site, including Brown 
long-eared bats.

Before development takes place, details of the provision of bat 

Page 30



roosting features into the converted buildings shall be submitted to the 
local planning authority for approval, including a plan showing the 
locations and types of features. The approved details shall be 
implemented before the dwelling hereby approved is first occupied.

REASON: To provide additional roosting for bats as a biodiversity 
enhancement, in accordance with paragraph 118 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the designs for swallows depicted in the drawing 784-20-04B 
Stable Elevations and the photograph submitted on 11th February 2016 
by Mr. S Lock showing that swallows would continue to be able to 
access the roof space in the converted barn. 

REASON: To ensure adequate protection and mitigation for protected 
species.

INFORMATIVES: 

Archaeological work should be conducted by a professionally 
recognised archaeological contractor in accordance with a written 
scheme of investigation approved by this office and there will be a 
financial implication for the applicant.

The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may 
represent chargeable development under the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and Wiltshire Council's CIL 
Charging Schedule. If the development is determined to be liable for 
CIL, a Liability Notice will be issued notifying you of the amount of CIL 
payment due. If an Additional Information Form has not already been 
submitted, please submit it now so that we can determine the CIL 
liability. In addition, you may be able to claim exemption or relief, in 
which case, please submit the relevant form so that we can determine 
your eligibility. The CIL Commencement Notice and Assumption of 
Liability must be submitted to Wiltshire Council prior to 
commencement of development.  Should development commence 
prior to the CIL Liability Notice being issued by the local planning 
authority, any CIL exemption or relief will not apply and full payment 
will be required in full and with immediate effect. Should you require 
further information or to download the CIL forms please refer to the 
Council's Website 
www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/commu
nityinfrastructurelevy. 

Page 31

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy


Please note that this consent does not override the statutory 
protection afforded to any protected species. All British bat species are 
protected under The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2010 (as amended), which implements the EC Directive 92/43/EEC in 
the United Kingdom, and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended). This protection extends to individuals of the species and 
their roost features, whether occupied or not. If bats are discovered, all 
works should stop immediately and a licensed bat worker should be 
contacted for advice on any special precautions before continuing 
(including the need for a derogation licence from Natural England). 
Please also be advised that works should not take place that will harm 
nesting birds from March to August inclusive. All British birds (while 
nesting, building nests and sitting on eggs), their nests and eggs (with 
certain limited exceptions) are protected by law under Section 1 of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside 
and Rights of Way Act 2000. If birds are nesting on/in or within the 
vicinity of the proposed development, work should be undertaken 
outside the breeding season for birds to ensure their protection, i.e. 
works should only be undertaken between August and February. 
Further advice on the above can be sought from the Council 
Ecologists.
The applicant’s attention is drawn to the comments on the website 
made by the drainage officer regarding foul and surface water drainage 
and the use of the treatment plant. 

Please be advised that nothing in this permission shall authorise the 
diversion, obstruction, or stopping up of any right of way in the vicinity 
of the site Macks Lane (GRIM21) forms the  east boundary to the site. 

The property would be accessed by a public footpath known as Macks 
Lane (GRIM21). This is not recorded as a public vehicular highway.  
The only recorded public rights along it are on foot. In order to drive a 
vehicle along Macks Lane, the new householder would need to have a 
demonstrable private right of vehicular access and it is an offence to 
drive along a public footpath without lawful authority. Vehicular users 
are warned that they do so at their own risk and should be aware that if 
they do not have a vehicular right there is no guarantee that they will 
be able to continually access the property with vehicles.  
The developer would be strongly encouraged to ensure that the 
converted buildings meet either the “very good” BREEAM standard or 
any such equivalent national measure of sustainable building which 
replaces that scheme. Please refer to Core Policy 41. 

26f  15/11944/FUL: Co-op Food, 65 Bulford Road, Durrington, SP4 8DL

Public Participation 

Page 32



John Mills spoke on behalf of Durrington parish council

The Senior Planning Officer introduced the application for the installation of 
an Automatic Teller Machine (ATM) on the front elevation of the building 
facing onto Bulford Road. Permission was previously granted in 2004 but the 
works have not been implemented. The proposal also incorporates 
advertisements associated with the ATM which are subject to an 
accompanying Advertisement Consent Application (15/12231/ADV). The 
application was recommended for approval.

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical 
questions of the Officers. It was noted that the applicant had been 
approached to see if it was viable for the machine to be situated on the other 
side of the shop acing New Road, but had advised that they did not have the 
time to carry out the survey needed prior to the committee meeting, and so 
wished to proceed.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views to the 
Committee, as detailed above.

A representative from Durrington Parish Council spoke on the application, 
noting that they wished for the machine to be located on the New Road side 
of the shop to alleviate traffic stopping near the crossing, on Bulford road to 
use the machine, as it was felt that people would then park in the car park 
which could be entered from New Road.

The Unitary Division Member, Councillor Graham Wright, had been in 
attendance at the start of the meeting, had been given the opportunity to 
address the Committee before he had to leave to attend a meeting 
elsewhere. He was opposed to the position of the cash machine, which was 
proposed for installation directly opposite the crossing on Bulford Road side 
of the Coop, due to safety issues associated with vehicles parking on double 
yellow lines to use the machine. He asked that the applicant install the ATM 
on the New Road side of the building instead.

The Committee discussed the application, noting that the ATM would be 
better positioned on the New Road side of the building to alleviate parking 
on the roadside.

Resolved
The application be REFUSED for the following reasons:

By virtue of the positioning of the ATM directly opposite a main road 
with crossing point and parking restrictions, the proposal may result in 
dangerous parking in association with use of the ATM that would result 
in significant detriment to highway safety and amenity of the area, the 
proposal is contrary to the guidance contained within Core Policy 57 of 

Page 33



the Wiltshire Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

26g  15/10868/LBC: Emmotts Farm, Grimstead Road, West Grimstead, SP5 
3RQ

The Senior Planning Officer had addressed this application for LBC in her 
earlier presentation; to alter, extend and convert the existing Staddle Stone 
barn and attached stable to form a three bedroom dwelling with a garden 
area. The Victorian barn would also be altered and extended to create 
stables, garaging and a workshop, as part of the new residential curtilage. 
Associated works include removal of modern lean to structures in the yard. 
Access to the dwelling would be from the existing farm access, which has 
been used to access the farm for more than 20 years. Foul drainage would 
be to a package treatment plant, as the levels on the site require pumps and 
a pump chamber. The application was recommended for approval. 

Resolved
The application be APPROVED subject to conditions: 

The works for which Listed Building Consent is hereby granted shall 
be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
consent. 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 18 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans listed in schedule:

Planning Statement October 2015, Pegasus Group, received 28/10/15
Design and Access Statement, Favonius Architects, received 28/10/15
Heritage Statement August 2015, Elaine Milton, rceived 28/10/15
Structural Viability Report 7463:01 14/4/15 received 28/10/15 
Chalkhill Environmental Consultants, Bat Survey 578-15 15/16 July 
2015, received 28/10/15
Response from Jan Freeborn, Project Ecologist, Chalkhill 
Environmental Consultants, received 11/1/16
Photos of Victorian Barn (stables) roof received 11/2/16 from Mr. S 
Lock
Site Plan, 784-20-05 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Block Plan, 784-20-07 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Location Plan, 784-20-06A Jul 2015, received 3/11/15
Drainage Plan, 784-20-19 Aug 2015, received 28/10/15 
Ground Floor Plan, 784-20-01A July 2015, received 9/2/16
First Floor Plan and Roof Plan, 784-20-02 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15

Page 34



Sketch Sections, 784-20-08 July 2015, received 28/10/15 
Sketch Section C-C, 784-20-22 Feb 16, received 2/2/16 
Typical Window Detail and Rooflight Detail, 784-20-11A, received 2/2/16
Stable Elevations, 784-20-04B Jul 15, received 14/3/16
Proposed Elevations, 784-20-03 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Door Details Utility Door D04, 784-20-09 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Door Details D05, D06, 784-20-14 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Door Details Breakfast Room French Door D03, 784-20-10 Jul 15, 
received 28/10/15
Door Details D01, 784-20-13 Jul 15, received 28/10/15
Door Details D02, 784-20-12 Jul 15, received 28/10/15
Stable Doors, 784-20-15 Jul 2015, received 28/10/15
Staddle Stone Barn and Extent of Associated Equestrian/Farm Yard, 
Buildings and Garden Area, 784-20-21 Dec 2015, received 3/12/15

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning.

Notwithstanding the approved drawings, the building shall be stripped 
back to its frame and the roof tiles and weatherboarding shall be 
removed. No further works shall take place until the following details 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority:
(i) A full photographic survey including analysis and photographic 
record of the existing frame (in situ and unrepaired) and floor and an 
accompanying schedule of works identifying those timbers to be either 
repaired, removed or scarfed. Evidence of overriding structural 
reasons will be required in the schedule to justify removal of historic 
timbers. 
(ii) A site visit with the Conservation officer shall be arranged, to 
agree the schedule of works, before any further works take place.  
The works shall then be carried out in accordance with the details and 
schedule of works to be approved in writing.  

REASON: The timber frame and floor is of historic interest in its own 
right. Their retention is in the interest of preserving the character and 
appearance of the listed building. 

Notwithstanding the approved drawings, no works (including 
deconstruction) shall commence until details of the following have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority:
i) Full details and samples of external materials including samples of 
the plain clay roof tiles, natural slate, handmade bricks and details of 
the timber cladding (including treatment) for the walls.

Page 35



ii) Full details of the glazed balustrades for the south and west 
elevations
iii) A section through the eaves to show the gutters and eaves detailing 
(1:10 section)

The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

REASON: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance 
of the listed building and its setting.

No walls shall be constructed on site, until a sample wall panel, not 
less than 1 metre square, has been constructed on site showing the 
brick type and mortar joint, inspected and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The panel shall then be left in position for 
comparison whilst the development is carried out. Development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved sample. 

REASON: in the interests of visual amenity and the character of the 
listed building.

All new windows and doors hereby approved shall be timber, in 
accordance with the approved plans and details. Any rooflights shall 
be conservation style rooflights. 

REASON: in the interests of visual amenity and the character of the 
listed building.

INFORMATIVES: 

Please note that this consent does not override the statutory 
protection afforded to any protected species. All British bat species are 
protected under The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2010 (as amended), which implements the EC Directive 92/43/EEC in 
the United Kingdom, and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended). This protection extends to individuals of the species and 
their roost features, whether occupied or not. If bats are discovered, all 
works should stop immediately and a licensed bat worker should be 
contacted for advice on any special precautions before continuing 
(including the need for a derogation licence from Natural England). 
Please also be advised that works should not take place that will harm 
nesting birds from March to August inclusive. All British birds (while 
nesting, building nests and sitting on eggs), their nests and eggs (with 
certain limited exceptions) are protected by law under Section 1 of the 

Page 36



Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside 
and Rights of Way Act 2000. If birds are nesting on/in or within the 
vicinity of the proposed development, work should be undertaken 
outside the breeding season for birds to ensure their protection, i.e. 
works should only be undertaken between August and February. 
Further advice on the above can be sought from the Council 
Ecologists.

26h  15/12231/ADV: Co-op Food, 65 Bulford Road, Durrington, SP4 8DL

The Senior Planning Officer had covered this application for ADV in his 
earlier presentation.

Resolved
The application be REFUSED for the following reasons:

The advert subject of this application relates to an ATM (cash 
machine), which was itself subject of a separate planning application 
ref 15/11944/FUL, which has been refused on highway safety grounds 
by the LPA. As a result, the proposed advert  would not be required or 
necessary, and it would therefore be contrary to the aims of  Core 
Policy 57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

27 Urgent Items

There were no urgent items

(Duration of meeting:  Times Not Specified)

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Lisa Moore, of Democratic Services, 
direct line (01722) 434560, e-mail lisa.moore@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Council  
Southern Area Planning Committee

28th April 2016

There are no Forthcoming Hearings and Public Inquiries between 14/04/2016 and 31/12/2016

Planning Appeals Received between 21/03/2016 and 14/04/2016

Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL or 
COMM

Appeal Type Officer 
Recommend

Appeal 
Start Date

Overturn 
at Cttee

14/11277/FUL Antrobus Arms Hotel
15 Church Street
Amesbury, SP4 7EU

AMESBURY Retrospective planning permission  
for a marquee in the hotel garden.

DEL Written 
Representations

Refuse 23/03/2016 No

14/11359/LBC Antrobus Arms Hotel
15 Church Street
Amesbury, SP4 7EU

AMESBURY Retrospective planning permission  
for a marquee in the hotel garden.

DEL Written 
Representations

Refuse 23/03/2016 No

15/08492/FUL Land at Littledown 
Cottage
Great Durnford
Salisbury, Wiltshire
SP4 6AY

DURNFORD New detached dwelling in garden of 
Littledown Cottage

DEL Written 
Representations

Refuse 12/04/2016 No

Planning Appeals Decided between Planning Appeals Received between 21/03/2016 and 14/04/2016

Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL 
or 
COMM

Appeal 
Type

Officer 
Recommend

Appeal 
Decision

Decision 
Date

Costs 
Awarded?

15/05334/FUL Tennis Courts 11m 
From 4 Grasmere 
Close. 34m From 
Folkestone Road
Folkestone Road
Harnham, Salisbury
Wiltshire, SP2 8DG

SALISBURY 
CITY

Installation of floodlighting poles and 
luminaires to hard courts 1 and 2 at 
salisbury lawn tennis club

DEL Written 
Reps

Refuse Allowed 21/03/2016 No

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page - 1

Report No. 1

Date of Meeting 28th April 2016

Application Number 16/00550/FUL

Site Address 23, Milford Street, Salisbury

Proposal Change of use of site from public house (Class A3) and adult entertainment 
venue (sui generis) to form two commercial units (Classes A1, A2, B1 or 
D1) and 10 apartments including conversion, demolition and erection of 
buildings (Revised plans showing amendments to the ground and first floor 
layout and elevations)

Applicant Warwick Developments Ltd

Town/Parish Council Salisbury City Council

Grid Ref 414646 129954

Type of application Full Planning

Case Officer Tom Wippell

1. Purpose of Report

To consider the recommendation of the Area Development Manager (South) that planning permission be 
granted.

2. Report Summary

The issues in this case are:

 Site History
 Principle of development 
 Scale/Design/Siting, Impact on Listed Building and Conservation Area
 Amenity/Noise/Disturbance
 Highway Safety
 Affordable Housing
 Other Issues

Publicity of the application has resulted in an objection from the Parish Council, no letters of objection and 
85 letters of support.

3. Site Description

The site is comprised of a terraced Grade II* Listed Building and a number of associated outbuildings within 
the curtilage of the property which are also Listed. The surrounding area has a mixed urban character, with 
commercial, retail and leisure uses at ground floor level. Upper floors also include mixed uses as well as 
residential. Many of the buildings along Milford Street are Listed, and the site is located within the Salisbury 
Conservation Area. 

The existing buildings on the site exude a range of styles, building heights and architectural techniques. The 
main frontage onto Milford Street is divided into three bays and has a stucco facade, with a plain clay-tiled 
roof.

To the north of the site is currently being constructed a residential scheme of 9 units at 7-11 Brown Street.

Page 41

Agenda Item 7a



Page - 2

4. Planning History

- 15/06068/FUL- Withdrawn
Change of use of site from public house (Class A3) and adult entertainment venue (sui generis) to 
form two commercial units (Classes A1, A2, B1 or D1) and 10 apartments including conversion, 
demolition and erection of buildings (Revised plans showing amendments to the ground and first floor 
layout and elevations)

- 15/06160/LBC- Approved
Change of use of site from public house (Class A3) and adult entertainment venue (sui generis) to 
form two commercial units (Classes A1, A2, B1 or D1) and 10 apartments including conversion, 
demolition and erection of buildings (Revised plans showing amendments to the ground and first floor 
layout and elevations)

- Various related to works to the building as part of its previous usage. 

5. The Proposal

The scheme seeks the change of use from public house (A3) and adult entertainment venue (sui generis) to 
form two commercial units (A1, A2, B1 or D1) at the front of the site, and 10 apartments above and behind. 

The scheme includes the conversion, demolition and erection of new buildings, and the creation of a rear 
courtyard. The historical entrance to the site from Milford Street is currently stopped up and not in use. 
However the application proposes to reinstate this entrance as a pedestrian access to the site, to be 
accessed via glazed doors which will be locked during the night.

6. Planning Policy

Saved policies S1, S2, S3 (retail) SDLP, Core Policy 1, Core Policy 2 (housing and economic development), 
Core Policy 36, 38 (retail/economic development), Core Policy 43 (affordable housing), Core Policy 57 
(design and amenity), Core Policy 58 (heritage assets) WCS

NPPF NPPG, in relation to amenity, housing need, sustainability and vitality of town centres, and protection 
of heritage assets

7. Consultations

WC Environmental Health:

We comment the same as previous scheme: Based on the further evidence and attenuation details submitted, 
this department has no grounds to support an objection providing the recommended conditions are attached. 
However, future occupants of the proposed flats should be made aware that given the night time economy of 
the area they may at times notice noise from the nearby licensed premises and its customers. Though we 
would anticipate that their expectations should be commensurate with where they live. 

We had concerns that noise from the adjacent premises, Zoo could have an adverse impact on future 
occupants of flats 6 and 10 (west). Although the noise levels inside the bedroom could be improved by 
constructing a room within a room design, this would be reliant on the occupant keeping their bedroom door 
shut to maintain acceptable levels. We also had concerns that the noise levels in other spaces of the flats 
could be intrusive and detriment amenity levels. It has now been proposed to construct the whole flat 6 and 10 
based on the room within a room construction design, and noise levels inside the flats are predicted to meet 
PNC levels as set out in 5.2 of the Environmental Noise Assessment (reference; 182_150922_ 
WHITEROOMS). However, the effectiveness of this room within a room construction is entirely dependent on 
the workmanship, and post completion testing would be required to ensure that the resulting work provides the 
predicted level of attenuation. 

We would expect the applicant to provide further details on the specification details for the glazing and 
mechanical ventilation to be installed, and also the glazed door at the entrance to the site.

Conservation:

This is a resubmission of the planning permission element of a previous scheme (the listed building consent 
application, 15/06160 having been approved), in which case, the issue is now about the design to which I 
raised no objections last time.

Page 42



Page - 3

The only change I can discern is a proposal to add doors to the courtyard entrance. The drawings show 
glazed doors. I have no objection to doors in this location but would ask that they are set back so they are not 
flush with the glazing of the shop windows. They will therefore be in greater shadow and the character of a 
courtyard entrance reinforced.

Historic England:

These applications should be determined in accordance with national and local advice and guidance, including 
the advice of your Conservation Officer. It is not necessary to consult us again on this application. 

WC Highways:

The site is located in Salisbury City Centre close to shops, education and employment opportunities, leisure 
and health facilities, all within walking or cycling distance. Salisbury City Centre is well served by public 
transport and it would be possible to live in the proposed apartments without the need for a private car. The 
city centre is a highly sustainable location where allocated car parking is not always considered essential 
particularly where the development involves the conversion of an existing building, as in this case.

Notwithstanding the sustainable location, it is acknowledged that some residents may choose to own a car 
and this is something we have no control over. Also aware of the concern raised regarding the existing on-
street parking pressures. Suggest that parking permits should not be given to any future residents of the 10 
proposed apartments and I shall advise Parking Services accordingly.

WC Archaeology:

The site is of archaeological interest. As the archaeological assessment (A Archaeology 2015) explains, the 
site lies within the Black Horse Chequer of the planned medieval City of Salisbury. There is therefore potential 
for archaeological remains, particularly those of the medieval and post-medieval period, to be present within 
the area and affected by the development. It is therefore recommended that a programme of archaeological 
works is carried out as part of any development. It is likely that this would take the form of an archaeological 
watching brief and/or small area of excavation in those areas where groundworks are required, but some 
building recording may also be required.

WC Waste:

I have looked over the new plans and I am happy with the arrangements for waste and recycling collections, 
as they are going to use a private contractor for the household waste and recycling. I cannot say what size or 
type of bins that the company will ask them to use, but I would assume they would be similar.

WC Drainage:

Based on updated submission information indicating the separation of storm and foul flows with a number of 
connections to public foul and storm sewers, to which Wessex Water have accepted in principle (resulting in 
removal of the existing storm water discharge from the foul sewer system), the drainage engineer has 
removed his objection and now recommends support with condition.

WC Housing:

The Council’s housing team have indicated that 0% contributions will be payable towards affordable housing 
due to viability.

City Council

Strongly object to this application, as per the previous scheme, on the grounds that there are concerns about 
flooding due to it being on a high water table, public health, noise levels and the proposed change of use.

8. Publicity

The application has been advertised by way of site notice, advertisment and letters to near neighbours.

The publicity has generated no letters of objection and 85 letters of support.   

The letter of supports are summarised as follows:

- The change of use of the existing Listed Building and the demolition of some of the associated 
Page 43



Page - 4

outbuildings to create 10 residential apartments and 2 commercial units.

- The change of use will serve to enhance the area and improve the local area for residents.

- This development will positively support Salisbury through the renovation of historic city-centre 
buildings and the sympathetic inclusion of modern structures.

- Can only result in an improvement to an area so close to the city centre. Visitors often want to see 
the interesting murals under the bypass and use the road to reach their destination. Development 
will no doubt lead to local employment opportunities.

- The development has my full support, I have owned my premises originally from the mid 1980s , I 
have watched as the street has deteriorated as the number of late night bars and takeaways has 
increased. The street has practically become a no go area for older residents after night falls at the 
weekends, as more and more late night revellers proceed to use the street as a party venue. The 
noise levels are intolerable until very late. In the mornings the amount of discarded , bottles , 
glasses , cigarettes and take away wrappings are incredible.

- I fully support the application to develop one of the worst offending premises into retail units and 
apartments.

- Salisbury is a city that deserves developments which will enhance it

9.0 Planning Considerations

9.1 Site History

A previous scheme for 10 houses and 2 commercial units was submitted last year. The listed building 
application (15/06160/LBC) was approved. However, the FULL planning application (15/06068/FUL) was 
recommended for refusal by Members at committee* for the following reasons;

1.         The proposed design, by reason of its cramped and congested layout in relation to the residential 
elements, will result in 10 flats being accessed by a restricted courtyard area, which would have no private 
amenity space. Due to a combination of the close proximity of the flats to each other, the orientation of the 
new windows, and the scale of the new three-storey elements of the development within this narrow site, the 
proposal would be likely to result in a significantly reduced level of amenity for future occupiers in terms of 
privacy, and would represent an overdevelopment of the site. The scheme as currently designed would 
therefore be contrary to the design criteria of Core Policy 57 and Core Policy 58 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy, 
and design guidance in the NPPF. 

2.         The site is located in a locally designated ground-water flood risk zone, and the immediate area has 
been prone to ground-water flooding in recent years. Insufficient information has been provided to 
demonstrate that surface/waste water from the site can be adequately removed from the site to avoid flood 
risk to the new development and nearby properties. The scheme is therefore considered to be contrary to 
Core Policy 3, Core Policy 57, Core Policy 67 and Strategic objective 6 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy.

3.         Insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that waste storage/ collection from the rear 
of the site will be achievable, as no collection point or placement/removal times have been submitted. Without 
providing this information prior to determination, it remains unclear to the Council whether a workable waste 
management plan can be achieved that would satisfy the Council’s collection requirements and preserve 
residential amenity. Therefore the proposal would be contrary to Core Policy 3, Core Policy 57 and Strategic 
objective 6 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy.

4.         The site is located within a commercial area of the city which makes a significant contribution to the 
night time economy, and where premises operate until the early hours of the morning. Notwithstanding the 
submission of amended plans and details, the Council remains to be convinced that sufficient information has 
been provided to demonstrate that the adjacent night time uses would not have an adverse impact on future 
occupants of the proposed flats, particularly flat  6 and flat 10. It is therefore considered that based on existing 
details, the creation of residential flats as proposed would have the potential to expose future occupiers of the 
site to unacceptable levels of noise and disturbance at unsocial hours, which would be seriously detrimental to 
residential amenity, and prejudice the operation of adjacent commercial uses. The scheme is therefore 
considered to be contrary to Core Policy 57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy.

*The FULL application was withdrawn a few days after the committee, before a decision could be issued.
Page 44



Page - 5

The proposed scheme is identical to the previously withdrawn scheme, but now includes the following 
additional information;

 A CCTV survey of the drains has been undertaken at the site and the results showed no deficiencies 
in the system. 

 The Agent has sought advice on drainage from the structural, civil and building consultants Cowan. “It 
is suspected that the storm water on the site currently discharges directly onto the ground from the 
existing rain water down pipes and finds its way into the foul water system on the site. As part of the 
new development we would propose to remove the storm water from the foul system and direct it into 
a new storm water drainage system on the site. This storm water system will then discharge in the 
proper manner into the existing storm water sewer within Milford Road. The Water Company will be 
contacted in due course to obtain permission for this new discharge and ensure capacity is available 
(nb this is outside the remit of the planning application process and it is noted that no objection has 
been raised by Wessex Water). If capacity is not available it will be possible to attenuate the storm 
water on the site and reduce the peak flow discharge into the storm water sewer.  This attenuation 
can be achieved in a number of ways including underground tanks with discharge control devices or 
by using short term storage on the site within inspection chambers and/or oversized pipes, again with 
a discharge device carefully designed to maintain peak flows to those permitted by the Water 
company. In summary, the proposed development will allow the existing drainage system on the site 
to be overhauled. We suspect that both existing foul and storm water are combined on the site and 
discharge into the existing foul sewer within. There appears to be only one discharge for drainage on 
the site and this is a foul drain.”

 A Waste Management Strategy has been submitted, detailing how the proposed residential and 
commercial uses will be serviced to ensure effective and efficient waste collection. A management 
company will be responsible for the storage of waste and bringing the bins to the bin collection point 
on collection day and then afterwards returning them to the bin storage areas. The bins will be 
collected by a private waste collection company.

 Further written justification has been submitted about protecting future residents from noise and 
disturbance; The glazed doors will significantly reduce late night noise from the street being heard 
within the proposed apartments and in the event occupants decide to leave their windows open in the 
evening. The maintenance and management of the glazed entrance doors will be the responsibility of 
the Management Company, to which the local residents will pay via a management charge. All the 
properties will be private dwellings.

9.2 Principle of development 

The application seeks to regenerate The White Rooms to provide jobs, retail opportunities and housing within 
the city centre. The proposed active frontage to Milford Street will also improve the vitality of the wider area 
through increased footfall. As such it is considered that the scheme will be acceptable in principle in this City 
Centre location, in accordance with Core Policy 1 & 2. This is provided the development is appropriate in 
terms of its scale and design to its context, and provided other interests including residential amenity and 
highway safety are addressed.

Although the scheme will result in another closure of a public house in Salisbury, it should be noted that there 
is no Core Strategy Policy that protects the loss of community uses within the City Centre (NB- CP49 relates 
to villages/rural settlements only). 

The addition of 2 commercial units at the front of the site will retain a commercial frontage within the street 
scene, and will provide a similar amount of employment opportunities from the loss of the public house. The 
commercial units will also enhance the vitality and vibrancy of Milford Street, which is designated as a 
Secondary Shopping Area. The proposal therefore generally accords with aims of the saved Shopping policies 
S1, S2, S3.

9.3 Scale/Design/Siting, Impact on Listed Building and Conservation Area

The building and site is currently in a rather dilapidated state, particularly as the use of the buildings ceased 
some years ago. The site provides an opportunity to repair a Listed Building and bring a currently vacant site 
back into use, and in this regard it is considered that the scale, form and layout of the proposal has taken into 
account the existing footprint of the site, as well as the context and character of the surrounding area. 

Reference has been made to the history of the site as a brewery, by maintaining the courtyard ‘mews’ layout. 
The introduction of improved materials on the facade, and glimpses of the courtyard will be available from the 
pavement/ through the shop windows, which will create an inviting and attractive entrance within the 
streetscene.

Page 45



Page - 6

Within the site, the materials at ground/ first-floor level are considered to be of good quality, and the bespoke 
features such as a glazed linkway above the courtyard, the copper-clad-walls, newly exposed brickwork, floor-
to-ceiling windows, ‘punched windows’ and the timber cladding all add interest to the design.

The Conservation Officer and Historic England have been consulted, and raise no objections in terms of the 
impact on the Conservation Area or listed building. Materials/ further glazing/ entrance door details can be 
agreed via condition.

In Officer’s opinion, the scheme will maximise the potential usage of the land, without resulting in an 
overdevelopment of the site. The enhancement and conversion and reuse of the historic assets will accord 
with national and local policies, and overall it is considered that the character of the surrounding Conservation 
Area and adjacent listed buildings will be enhanced.

9.4 Amenity/ Noise/Disturbance

The site is located in a commercial area, which has a concentration of bars and other similar uses as part of 
the night time economy of Salisbury. It is vital that the proposed residential uses are not significantly affected 
by the existing usage of the area, as this could not only have an effect on residential amenity, but also impact 
on the operation of existing commercial uses.

After lengthy negotiations and a site visit (during the previous scheme) to discuss the application with an 
acoustic consultant, a scheme has been submitted which satisfies Environmental Health concerns that future 
occupiers of the site will not be subject to undue noise and disturbance from the ‘ZOO’ nightclub next door, or 
from late-night activity near to the application site. The mitigation measures include;
 

 Specially designed wall insulation, 
 Glazed entrance door at the front of the site, to stop street noise (to be locked at night),
 Acoustic glazing,
 A noise monitoring programme, to be submitted to Environmental Health after occupation,
 A construction management plan and restrictions on the hours of construction,
 Restrictions on the new non-residential units- (ie no restaurant or takeaway uses)

Whilst it is noted that the ‘Zoo’ nighclub has now ceased trading (which could potentially reduce the risk of any 
harmful noise/disturbance occurring to new occupants), until such time a change of use occurs to a less-
intense use (ie- retail), the adjacent site could theoretically still be occupied as a nightclub, and therefore all of 
the proposed conditions suggested by Environmental Health need to be added to any approval.

9.5 Overlooking/Overdominance

The site is located close to the heart of the city centre, where buildings and uses are located within close 
juxtaposition with each other. A reduced level of amenity and privacy is part of the character of the area.

The proposal seeks to demolish two buildings towards the rear of the site and replace them with 2 new blocks 
of accommodation. By reason of the narrow layout of the site, it is inevitable that new windows within the new 
flats will face each other across the courtyard, and there is a concern that mutual overlooking will occur 
between properties. However, whilst it is accepted that some of the windows will cause some mutual 
overlooking across the courtyard, the introduction of obscure-glazing and cantilevered angled windows (to 
face diagonally only), will ensure that overlooking between properties will not occur to a significant degree to 
warrant refusal. 

Each flat will have some form of private outlook from the habitable rooms within, and the floor spaces/living 
conditions/outlook for future occupants will be of an acceptable standard. The development has been set a 
sufficient distance away from the furniture shop window to the west (ie- the back of Brown Street), to ensure 
that significant additional overshadowing/overdominance does not occur over current levels. 

To the east, a new living room window will face onto the (now empty) Council Offices. Whilst this window will 
be relatively close to the neighbouring site, it is considered that overlooking will not occur to a significant 
degree to warrant refusal.

9.6 Highway Safety

The site is located in Salisbury City Centre close to shops, education/ employment opportunities, leisure and 
health facilities; all within walking or cycling distance. Salisbury City Centre is well served by public transport 

Page 46



Page - 7

and it would be possible to live in the proposed apartments without the need for a private car. The city centre 
is a highly sustainable location where allocated car parking is not always considered essential particularly 
where the development involves the conversion of an existing building, as in this case.

However, it is acknowledged that some residents may choose to own a car (this is something Officers have no 
control over), and concerns have been raised in regard to the existing on-street parking pressures. It is 
therefore suggested that parking permits should not be given to any future residents of the 10 proposed 
apartments. Parking Services will be notified of this stance, and will take action to ensure that this does not 
occur in the future.

9.7 Flooding and Drainage

A new drainage statement has been submitted by the Agent, and, unlike the previous application (which was 
objected to), the Wiltshire Council Drainage Team now raises no objections to the scheme subject to 
conditions. 

The site is not in a flood risk area, and whilst it is understood that the foul water and surface water drainage 
network do suffer from intermittent failure, investigations and improvements on site will be made where 
necessary as part of the implementation of the development in consultation with the relevant statutory 
undertakers. The statutory undertaker will also have a responsibility to provide a suitable network. 

Although this scheme represents a potentially more intensive form of development that the current use, 
Officers consider that the proposal represents an opportunity to enhance drainage in the area, over the 
fallback position of reopening the pub/ reusing the existing drainage.

Due to the built-up nature of the site, it would not be practical to sort out the exact drainage details at this 
stage, as significant remediation works and investigations will be required. The Council’s Drainage Team have 
been consulted and raise no objections, subject to conditions.

As no basement level is proposed within the site, the historic fabric of the listed building is unlikely to be 
affected, although the applicant should note that further Listed Building Consent may be required if the 
detailed drainage plans require further works. 

9.8 Protected Species/Housing Contributions/ Waste Collection/Archaeology

In regard to the impact of the development on protected species, it has been confirmed (in part 17 of the 
application form) that no protected species are present within the site. The applicant’s ecology survey also 
confirms that there are no protected species, and during the site visit, no visible evidence of protected species 
was observed. Therefore due to the built-up nature of the site and its siting within an urban area, it is 
considered that no further surveys are required. 

Under Core Policy 43, 40% of the units should be Affordable Housing. However, a financial viability study has 
been submitted (and checked by the Council’s viability Officer), which has concluded that the scheme would 
be unviable if affordable housing was added. Therefore, in this instance, a 0% contribution will be payable.

The Agent has submitted a Waste Management Plan as part of the resubmission, which confirms that 
residential bins will be taken to an appropriate collection point at the relevant times by a management 
company. A service charge will apply to future occupiers to facilitate the management company. The bins will 
be managed in a responsible way to ensure a high quality living experience for residents; this means that bins 
will only be bought out for collection at the appropriate times and will not be left out of the store and in view at 
any other time. 

The Council’s Waste Management Team have been consulted on the proposed scheme, and raise no 
objections.

An archaeology survey can be carried out via condition.

Conclusion

The existing buildings are considered to be in a rather dilapidated state, and currently, do not tend to enhance 
the street scene of the Conservation Area, The listed building is similarly degraded.

The proposed development is of high quality, will bring about significant benefits to this part of the city centre, 
and the proposals represent a sensitive re-use of the Listed Building which will ensure its longevity. 

Page 47



Page - 8

The 2 new commercial units on the ground floor will support activity and enhance the vitality of this part of the 
city centre, and subject to noise mitigation measures, drainage details, materials, archaeology surveys and 
construction method statements all being agreed by condition, no objections are raised. 

Overall, it is considered that the scheme addresses the aims of national and local plan policies, in terms of 
enhancing the conservation area and the city centre, as well as providing housing, which will outweigh the 
limited harm to the surrounding amenity of the area.

Page 48



Page - 9

Recommendation: APPROVE, subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. No development shall commence within the area indicated (proposed development site) until:
 A written programme of archaeological investigation, which should include on-site work and 

off-site work such as the analysis, publishing and archiving of the results, has been submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

The approved programme of archaeological work has been carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. The work should be conducted by a professionally recognised archaeological 
contractor in accordance with a written scheme of investigation approved by this office and there will 
be a financial implication for the applicant.
REASON: To enable the recording of any matters of archaeological interest.

3. No development shall commence on site until a scheme of acoustic glazing and mechanical 
ventilation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall meet the standards set out in section 5.3 of the Environmental Noise Assessment 
(reference; 182_150922_WHITEROOMS, date; September 2015). The approved scheme shall be 
implemented in full before the development is occupied and maintained at all times thereafter. 
REASON: In the interests of protecting residential amenity

4. No development shall commence on site until a written scheme of noise attenuation for the 
room within the room construction of flats 6 and 10 has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The written scheme shall be implemented in full before the development 
is occupied and maintained at all times thereafter.
REASON: In the interests of protecting residential amenity

5. No development shall commence on site until a written scheme for post-completion noise 
measuring has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The written 
scheme shall include details of the times at which noise measuring will take place and the equipment 
and noise descriptors to be used for the purposes of measuring the residual levels of noise caused by 
the licensed premises, Zoo. Where the post completion noise measurements identify that LAmax levels 
of noise from Zoo are in excess of Preferred Noise Criterion Curve 25 (PNC25), as shown in table 5.1 
of the Environmental Noise Assessment (reference; 182_150922_WHITEROOMS, date; September 
2015) in flats 6 and 10 those flat(s) shall not be occupied. 
REASON: In the interests of protecting residential amenity

6. The ground floor commercial units shall be used for A1, A2, A3, B1 or D1 use classes only. 
There shall be no A3 or A5 uses in the ground floor commercial units. 
REASON: In the interests of protecting residential amenity

7. No development shall commence on site until a construction management plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The plan shall include details of 
the measures that will be taken to reduce and manage the emission of noise, vibration and dust during 
the demolition and/or construction phase of the development. It shall include details of the following: 

i. The movement of construction vehicles;
ii. The cutting or other processing of building materials on site; 

iii. Wheel washing and vehicle wash down facilities 
iv. The transportation of waste materials (if any)
v. The location and use of generators and temporary site accommodation 

vi. Pile driving (if any, and if it is to be within 200m of residential properties)
The construction/demolition phase of the development will be carried out fully in accordance with the 
construction management plan at all times.
REASON: In the interests of protecting residential amenity

8. No construction or demolition work shall take place on Sundays or Public Holidays or outside 
the hours of 07:30 to 18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays 
REASON: In the interests of protecting residential amenity

9. No burning of waste or other materials shall take place on the development site during the 
demolition/ construction phase of the development.
REASON: In the interests of protecting residential amenity

Page 49



Page - 10

10. No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the glazed doors has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall meet the 
standards set out in the addendum to the Environmental Noise Assessment (reference; 
182_151129_WHITE ROOMS, dated; 29th November 2015). The approved scheme shall be implemented 
in full before the development is occupied and maintained at all times thereafter. 
REASON: In the interests of protecting residential amenity

11. No development shall commence on site until finer details, and where so appropriate 
materials, of all external materials to be used on the development have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable the matter is required to be agreed with 
the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order that the development is undertaken in 
an acceptable manner, in the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area.

12. No development shall commence on site until details of all eaves, verges, windows and doors 
(including head, sill and window reveal details), rainwater goods, rooflights and canopies have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON: The matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development 
commences in order that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, in the interests of visual 
amenity and the character and appearance of the area.

13. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or amending that Order with 
or without modification), no window, dormer window or rooflight, other than those shown on the 
approved plans, shall be inserted in the roofslopes or first/second floors of the development hereby 
permitted. 
REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and privacy. 

14. The windows labelled as No. 19 on drawing P14-001 02-05-004B, in the inner courtyard 
elevation shall be glazed with obscure glass only and fixed with a ventilation stay restricting the 
opening of the window, prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, and shall be 
permanently maintained in perpetuity. 
REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and privacy. 

15. Prior to the commencement of development, a waste collection management plan shall be 
submitted to and agreed by this Authority. The agreed management plan shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details in perpetuity.
REASON: In the interests of maintain adequate waste collection.

16. No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the discharge of surface water 
from the site, incorporating sustainable drainage details, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be first brought into use/first 
occupied until surface water drainage has been constructed in accordance with the approved scheme. 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be considered prior to 
granting planning permission and the matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences in order that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure 
that the development can be adequately drained.

17. No development shall commence on site until details of the works for the disposal of sewerage 
including the point of connection to the existing public sewer have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling shall be first occupied until the approved 
sewerage details have been fully implemented in accordance with the approved plans. 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be considered prior to 
granting planning permission and the matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences in order that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure 
that the proposal is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage and does not increase the risk of flooding 
or pose a risk to public health or the environment.

18. This development shall be in accordance with the submitted drawings: 
Site Plan P14-001-02-02-001
Proposed Ground Floor P14-001-02-03-001C
Proposed First Floor P14-001-02-03-002A

Page 50



Page - 11

Proposed Second Floor P14-001-02-03-003A
Proposed Roof Plan P14-001-02-03-004A
Demolition on Ground Floor P14-001-02-03-011A
Demolition First Floor P14-001-02-03-012A
Demolition Second Floor P14-001-02-03-013A
Proposed Section 03 P14-001-02-04-001A
Proposed Section 04 P14-001-02-04-002A
Wall Detail Key P14-001-02-04-005A
Wall Types 1 & 2 P14-001-02-04-006
Wall Types 3 & 4 P14-001-02-04-007
Wall Types 5 & 6 P14-001-02-04-008
Wall Build Up P14-001-02-04-010
Elevation 01 P14-001-02-05-001B
Elevation 02 P14-001-02-05-002A
Elevation 03 & 04 P14-001-02-05-003A
Elevation 05 P14-001-02-05-004B
Elevation 06, 07 & 08 P14-001-02-05-005A
Elevation 09 P14-001-02-05-006B
Elevation 10 P14-001-02-05-007A
Demolition Elevation on 01 P14-001-02-05-011A
Demolition Elevation 02 P14-001-02-05-012B
Demolition Elevation 03 & 04 P14-001-02-05-013A
Demolition Elevation 05 P14-001-02-05-014A
Demolition Elevation 06,07 & 08 P14-001-02-05-015A
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt.

INFORMATIVE:

The applicant should note that additional residents parking permits are unlikely to be allocated to the new 
occupiers of the flats. 

INFORMATIVE:

Many wildlife species are legally protected. The applicant should be aware that if it becomes apparent that the 
site is being used or has previously been used by protected species (such as slowworms, badgers, barn owls 
or bats), work should STOP immediately and Natural England should be contacted at their Devizes office 
01380 725344 for advice on how to proceed.

INFORMATIVE:

The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may represent chargeable development 
under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and Wiltshire Council’s CIL 
Charging Schedule. A separate Community Infrastructure Levy Liability Notice will be issued by the Local 
Planning Authority. Should you require further information with regards to CIL please refer to the Council's 
Website 
www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy 

Page 51

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy


This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO THE SOUTH AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No. 1

Application Number 16/00550/FUL

Site Address 23, Milford Street, Salisbury

Proposal Change of use of site from public house (Class A3) and adult entertainment 
venue (sui generis) to form two commercial units (Classes A1, A2, B1 or 
D1) and 10 apartments including conversion, demolition and erection of 
buildings (Revised plans showing amendments to the ground and first floor 
layout and elevations). 

Case Officer Tom Wippell

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT OUTLINE FOR AREA PLANNING COMMITTEES Report No. 2
Date of Meeting 28/04/2016
Application Number 15/10824/FUL
Site Address Land South of 1 Park Houses

East Knoyle
Witshire
SP3 6AN

Proposal Proposed two single storey houses for elderly people, with 
associated access road and car parking.

Applicant Wiltshire Council (Strategic Assets Team)
Town/Parish Council EAST KNOYLE
Electoral Division NADDER AND EAST KNOYLE – Cllr Bridget Wayman
Grid Ref 388077  130104
Type of application Full Planning
Case Officer Lucy Minting

Reason for the application being considered by Committee 

The application has been submitted by Wiltshire Council and objections have been received 
raising material planning considerations.

1. Purpose of Report

To consider the above application and the recommendation of the Area Development 
Manager that planning permission should be APPROVED.

2. Report Summary

The main issues which are considered to be material in the determination of this application 
are listed below:

 Principle of development
 Scale, design, impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area and 

Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB and setting of listed building
 Residential amenity
 Surface Water Drainage
 Highway considerations
 Archaeology
 Sustainable construction
 S106 obligations and CIL

The application has generated Support from East Knoyle Parish Council (subject to 
conditions) and 3 letters of representation.

3. Site Description

The site is located within the East Knoyle conservation area (the extent of which is identified 
by dark green on the plan below) and within the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire 
Downs AONB.  The Seymour Arms (to the north east of the site) is grade II listed (identified 
by cross hatching on the plan below).

Page 55

Agenda Item 7b



The site lies to the rear of and to the side of existing two storey development fronting 
Shaftesbury Road.  The site is connected to Shaftesbury Road by a grassed strip of land 
that runs in front of Nos 1 and 4 Park Houses and behind a line of car parking spaces 
serving Park Houses.

There is a hedgerow and ditch on the western boundary and several mature trees on the 
south and west sides of the site.  The site is level and includes a depression close to the 
southern boundary which fills with water.

4. Planning History

Application Ref Proposal Decision

16/01294/TCA Fell Three Ash Trees, Fell Willow No objections 
10/03/2016

5. The Proposal

The application is for a pair of semi-detached single storey bungalows with associated 
access road (from Shaftesbury Road) and car parking.

Page 56



The proposals include parking for both the proposed dwellings and to provide compensatory 
parking for spaces following the creation of the vehicular access.

The design and access statement explains that the housing will comprise affordable rented 
accommodation for the elderly, with each bungalow containing a double and a single 
bedroom and the proposals form part of the wider council house building programme (which 
aims to develop approximately 50 new bungalows across a range of sites over the next 5 
years) with a focus on delivering bungalows for older people in rural communities to enable 
them to downsize from larger family homes.  The Council’s current under-occupancy data for 
the 65+ age category within the Parish of East Knoyle is that there are 8 households 
currently under-occupying (3 under-occupying by 1 bedroom and 5 under-occupying by 2 
bedrooms).

Proposed Floor Plans

The bungalows are proposed to be built with brickwork walls under tiled pitched roofs 
incorporating photovoltaic roof panels.

Proposed front and rear elevations

The design and access statement explains that the affordable rented dwellings will be let by 
a Transferee to a Qualifying Person, who is eligible to obtain social tented housing and 
which is subject to rent controls that require a rent of no more than 80% of local Open 

Page 57



Market rent at the time of letting.  Should the affordable dwellings not remain within the 
Council’s ownership they would be transferred to a Registered Provider approved by the 
Council, on a nil subsidy basis.

Permission has also been granted separately under 16/01294/TCA to fell 3 Ash Trees and 1 
Willow tree within the central area of the site in order to facilitate the development (identified 
by red marks on the extract from the application plan below):

The remaining trees to the south and west boundaries are to be retained.

6. Local Planning Policy

The Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) - adopted by Full Council on the 20th January 2015:
Core Policy 1: Settlement Strategy
Core Policy 2: Delivery Strategy
Core Policy 3: Infrastructure Requirements
Core Policy 17: Spatial Strategy: Mere Community Area
Core Policy 41: Sustainable construction and low carbon energy
Core Policy 43: Providing Affordable Homes
Core Policy 44: Rural Exceptions Sites
Core Policy 51: Landscape
Core Policy 57: Ensuring high quality design and place shaping
Core Policy 58: Ensuring the conservation of the historic environment
Core Policy 61: Transport and New Development 
Core Policy 64: Demand Management

Saved policies of the Salisbury District Local Plan:
R2 (Open Space Provision)

Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011-2026: 
Car Parking Strategy

Page 58



Government Guidance:
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) March 2012
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)

Supplementary Planning Documents: 
Adopted Supplementary Planning Document 'Creating Places Design Guide’ April 2006
East Knoyle Village Design Statement (February 2012)
Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB Management Plan (2014-2019)

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

7. Summary of consultation responses

Highways: No objections
It is considered that the development proposed will not have any significant impact on 
highway safety.  No highway objection subject to condition for a scheme for the discharge of 
surface water from the site (including water from the access/driveway) and informative that a 
licence will be required from the highway authority for any works carried out on land forming 
part of the highway.

Wiltshire Council Drainage Engineer: No objections
I can now accept the drainage proposals shown on the attached plan.

Conservation Officer: No objections
I have no concerns regarding this proposal re the setting of the listed building nearby and the 
conservation area.

Archaeology: No objections subject to condition
The desk based assessment that accompanies the application notes the potential for 
archaeological activity to be present, particularly in the northern part of the site. It also notes 
the problems with undertaking field evaluation.

In this case, I consider that the archaeological assessment meets the requirement of this 
paragraph. I would normally advise that an archaeological evaluation was necessary, but 
accept that this is problematic in the case of this site.

It is therefore recommended that a programme of archaeological works in the form of an 
archaeological watching brief is carried out as part of any development. The applicant should 
be aware that, if archaeological remains are encountered, this may have an effect on their 
programme of works.  If human remains are encountered during the works, they cannot be 
removed without the appropriate permissions.

Therefore in line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the earlier PPS5 
(2010) and Planning Policy Guidance Note 16:  Archaeology and Planning (DoE 1990) the 
following recommendations are made:

East Knoyle Parish Council: Support subject to conditions
1) Treatment and disposal of rainwater run off needs to be more convincingly addressed, 
given the existing pond conditions. Could a French drain be put in the field behind the 
houses to assist with run off? 

Page 59



2) Legal responsibility for maintenance of drainage should remain with Wilts Council and 
greater attempt should be made to reduce surface water run off to protect current 
neighbouring houses and property from flooding.
3) Parking provision for 4 new parking spaces does not sufficiently replace the spaces 
(already inadequate due to demand and causing overspill into the main road) being lost as a 
result of construction and it is hoped that WCC would look at creating more parking spaces 
available.
4) The residents of Coppice House will have access to their wall and heating outflow 
apparatus severely restricted by the new development and its boundary fence, and it is 
essential that they have access at all times.
5) The loss of two trees in the building project should be made good by the planting of two 
trees of a native species in the nearby hedgerow.
6) East Knoyle PC and concerned residents would like to have the policy concerning “right to 
buy” clarified. It is hoped that the houses can be filled with current elderly East Knoyle 
residents, or elderly ex-residents wishing to return to the village, and not be snapped up by 
property speculators for resale.

8. Publicity
The application was advertised by press / site notice and neighbour consultation letters.  

3 letters of representation were received summarised as follows:
 Insufficient consideration to flooding problem (water presently flows from woodland 

and fields behind the site, through the site and floods onto adjacent gardens and 
shared driveway)

 Development will exacerbate flooding in spite of proposed pumping station and 
holding tank/enlarged pond due to hard standing/concrete causing increased run-off

 Soakaway testing results concluded soakaway drainage is unlikely to be feasible
 Council should accept liability if surplus water floods neighbouring dwellings or cause 

problems with insurance
 Insufficient car parking in congested area – four spaces provided on the site to 

replace those lost due to creation of access insufficient
 Concerns that erection of boundary fencing will restrict access to maintain boundary 

wall and boiler outlet of Coppice House
 Loss of trees - impact to wildlife they sustain and drainage of site

9. Planning Considerations

9.1 Principle 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) came into force on 27th March 2012 and 
makes it clear that planning law (Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004) requires applications 
for planning permission to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. Paragraph 12 of the NPPF confirms that the 
‘NPPF does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for 
decision making’ and proposed development that is in accordance with an up-to-date Local 

Page 60



Plan should be approved and proposed development that conflicts should be refused unless 
other material considerations indicate otherwise.

The proposals are therefore to be considered in the context of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) which sets out Central Government’s planning policies, and the adopted 
Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) which also includes some saved policies of the Salisbury 
District Local Plan (SDLP).

At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development and the 
Adopted Wiltshire Core Strategy seeks to build resilient communities and support rural 
communities but this must not be at the expense of sustainable development principles.  The 
Settlement and Delivery Strategies of the Core Strategy are designed to ensure new 
development fulfils the fundamental principles of sustainability. 

This means focusing growth around settlements with a range of facilities, where local 
housing, service and employment needs can be met in a sustainable manner. A hierarchy 
has been identified based on the size and function of settlements, which is the basis for 
setting out how the Spatial Strategy will deliver the levels of growth.

Core Policy 1 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy sets out the 'Settlement Strategy' for the county, 
and identifies four tiers of settlement - Principal Settlements, Market Towns, Local Service 
Centres, and Large and Small Villages.  Only the Principal Settlements, Market Towns, 
Local Service Centres and Large Villages have defined limits of development/settlement 
boundaries.  

The site is also within the Mere Community Area and Core Policy 17 confirms that 
‘Development in the Mere Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1.’

Core Policy 2 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy sets out the 'Delivery Strategy'.  It identifies the 
scale of growth appropriate within each settlement tier, stating that within the limits of 
development, as defined on the policies map, there is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development at the Principal Settlements, Market Towns, Local Service Centres and Large 
Villages.

Within the Settlement Strategy, East Knoyle is identified as a Small Village which do not 
have limits of development/settlement boundaries and as such the proposed site is located 
outside of any designated Settlement Boundary and is therefore deemed to be within Open 
Countryside which is considered to be the most unsustainable location for new growth and 
the presumption is against development in principle.

However Core Policy 1 explains that some very modest development may be appropriate at 
Small Villages which will be carefully managed by Core Policy 2 (which states that limited 
development within the built area is acceptable) and the other relevant policies of the 
development plan

The supporting text explains that the appropriate level of growth within the built up area of 
small villages is infill development which is defined as ‘the filling of a small gap within the 

Page 61



village that is only large enough for not more than a few dwellings, generally only one 
dwelling.’

The site is considered to be within the built up area of East Knoyle and as such can be 
considered to be infill development.

It is also relevant that the application proposal is for affordable housing and the list of 
exceptional circumstances that provides an overriding justification for the encroachment of 
development in the countryside as set out in policy CP2 of the WCS includes rural exception 
sites for affordable housing (Core Policy 44) which allows for the allocation of or granting of 
planning permission for small sites comprising of affordable housing only as an exception to 
normal policies, subject to the following criteria:

i. The proposal has clear support from the local community
ii. The housing is being delivered to meet an identified and genuine local need
iii. The proposal is within, adjoining or well related to the existing settlement
iv. Environmental and landscape considerations will not be compromised
v. The proposal consists of 10 dwellings or fewer
vi. Employment and services are accessible from the site
vii. Its scale and type is appropriate to the nature of the settlement and will respect the 
character and setting of that settlement and
viii. The affordable housing provided under this policy will always be available for 
defined local needs, both initially and on subsequent change of occupant.

It is therefore considered that in principle, the development could be considered acceptable 
as infill development within a small village in accordance with Core Policy 2 and also 
affordable housing in accordance with Core Policy 44.

In addition to considering the acceptability of the proposals in principle; it is also necessary 
to consider the other relevant planning policies and the normal range of material 
considerations that have to be taken into account when determining a planning application 
and a judgement is necessary in terms of all the development impacts considered below.

9.2 Scale, design, impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area 
and Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB and setting of listed building

The National Planning Policy Framework sets out Central Government’s planning policies. It 
states the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. It defines core planning principles which include that planning should be 
genuinely plan-led, should always seek to secure high quality design.

The Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (sections 16, 66 & 72) 
requires proposals affecting listed buildings or their settings to seek to preserve the special 
interest of the buildings and their settings. The principal considerations are to ensure that 
new development protects the significance of listed buildings and their settings, and prevents 
harm to their significance. Proposals within conservation areas must preserve or enhance 
the character and appearance of the areas.

Page 62



The NPPF outlines current policy towards the historic environment. Paragraph 58 of the 
NPPF in particular states that development should respond to local character and history, 
and reflect the identity of local surroundings and materials and paragraph 132 requires 
development to enhance heritage assets and make a positive contribution to their setting.

Core Policy 58 ‘Ensuring the conservation of the historic environment’ requires that 
‘Development should protect, conserve and where possible enhance the historic 
environment’ and ‘Distinctive elements of Wiltshire’s historic environment, including non-
designated heritage assets, which contribute to a sense of local character and identity will be 
conserved, and where possible enhanced.’

Core Policy 57 of the WCS requires a high standard of design in all new developments 
through, in particular, enhancing local distinctiveness, retaining and enhancing existing 
important features, being sympathetic to and conserving historic buildings and landscapes, 
making efficient use of land, and ensuring compatibility of uses (including in terms of 
ensuring residential amenity is safeguarded).

The Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB has been established under the 
1949 National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act to conserve and enhance the 
outstanding natural beauty of this area.  Core Policy 51 of the WCS requires the need for 
development proposals to demonstrate particular regard to the character and appearance of 
the landscape setting.  

An ecological report has been included with the application documentation which concludes 
that the sites most important ecological (and landscape) features are the western and 
southern hedgerows, which will be retained and can be protected during the construction 
phase of the development by a root protection fence.  A new hedgerow is also proposed 
along the northern boundary of the site (details of which can be conditioned as part of a 
landscaping scheme for the site).

The proposed development site is to the rear of existing development (and as such largely 
screened), although there are views of the site through the gaps within the line of existing 
dwellings facing Shaftesbury Road.  The prevailing character of development is set parallel 
to the road (rather than extending back from the road behind existing dwellings).  

The application was subject to a pre-application and the design and access statement 
explains that following comments received from the pre planning application consultation the 
site layout was amended from L-shape dwellings to rectangular house types to reduce the 
visual impact of the scheme and to relate to the prevailing character of the adjacent housing 
with simply designed double pitched roofs and more compact footprint.  The houses were 
rotated slightly, both to align with the grain of the neighbouring houses, but also to allow 
them to be moved as far away as possible from the depression / pond on the site.

It is considered that the development has been designed to minimise visual impact upon the 
street scene and views from the main road through the village will be largely unaffected.  

The Conservation Officer has raised no concerns regarding the setting of the listed building 
or the conservation area. 

Page 63



9.3 Residential amenity

Core Policy 57 also requires that development should ensure the impact on the amenities of 
existing occupants is acceptable, and ensuring that appropriate levels of amenity are 
achievable within the development itself, and the NPPF’s Core Planning Principles 
(paragraph 17) includes that planning should ‘always seek to secure high quality design and 
a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.’ 

Whilst the proposed access runs to very close to the rear of Coppice House (which would 
normally result in issues causing noise and disturbance to the dwelling in front), Coppice 
House has been designed with limited windows on the rear elevation (closest to the 
proposed driveway).

The proposed dwellings are single storey with no windows above ground floor level and as 
such, whilst the dwellings are set back behind existing dwellings, it is not considered that 
they will unduly overlook adjacent gardens/dwellings.

It is not considered that the proposed development will have an adverse impact upon 
residential amenity of both existing and proposed dwellings.

It will be appropriate to add conditions to remove permitted development rights for 
extensions and addition of any windows above ground floor level.

9.4 Surface Water Drainage

The design and access statement explains that the site is poorly drained with surface water 
drainage pipework from the adjacent council houses discharging into the depression at the 
southern edge of the site which acts as a soakaway but is ineffective as it fills with water 
during periods of wet weather.

Following an original objection from the Council’s drainage engineer due to concerns over 
flooding and stormwater disposal from the site, further survey work of existing surface water 
drainage has been undertaken and a detailed drainage scheme has been submitted during 
the course of the application.  

Page 64



The further survey work included infiltration testing which showed that a soakaway would not 
be feasible in this location.  The proposal is to attenuate the surface water discharge on site 
and pump it at a restricted rate to the foul sewer within the site.

This scheme proposes that surface water from the new dwellings, hardsurfaced areas and 
existing dwellings to the north will be taken initially to an enlarged and remodelled 
‘catchment pond’ in the southern part of the site and an outfall from this will connect to a new 
underground storage tank beneath the access driveway/parking areas to be controlled by a 
pumping station (to be owned and operated by Wiltshire Council) to discharge to the existing 
foul water sewer.

The Council’s drainage engineer now supports the scheme subject to conditioning that the 
drainage scheme is implemented.

9.5 Highway considerations

The supporting text to Wiltshire Core Strategy Policy 64 refers to a parking study, 
commissioned by the council in January 2010, which included a comprehensive review of 
parking standards, charges and policy within both the plan area and neighbouring areas. 
The resulting LTP3 Car Parking Strategy (the third evolution of the Wiltshire Local Transport 
Plan) was adopted by the council in February 2011 and includes policy PS6 – Residential 
parking standards.  The parking standards for new dwellings are set out in the Wiltshire 
Local Transport Plan 2011-2026 – car parking strategy:

Page 65



The design and access statement explains that the layout has been designed to provide 4 
car parking spaces for residents of Park Houses (to replace those lost by the formation of 
the new site entrance) and also includes 5 car parking spaces for the proposed new houses 
(in accordance with the parking standards), together with a turning area for larger vehicles. 
The parking area for the new houses is designated by a different surface.

The highways department have raised no objections to the subject to a condition for a 
scheme for surface water drainage discharge from the access/driveway.

9.6 Archaeology

Paragraph 128 of the NPPF states that ‘where a site on which development is proposed 
includes or has the potential to include heritage assets with archaeological interest, local 

Page 66



planning authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based 
assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation’.

The NPPF also says:  141. Local planning authorities should make information about the 
significance of the historic environment gathered as part of plan-making or development 
management publicly accessible. They should also require developers to record and 
advance understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) 
in a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this evidence 
(and any archive generated) publicly accessible. However, the ability to record evidence of 
our past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss should be permitted.

The desk based assessment that accompanies the application notes the potential for 
archaeological activity to be present, particularly in the northern part of the site. The 
Council’s archaeologist has therefore recommended that a programme of archaeological 
works in the form of an archaeological watching brief is carried out as part of any 
development.

9.7 Sustainable Construction

In addition to the New Housing team advising that all affordable dwellings should be built to 
minimum Code for Sustainable Homes, Level 4; Core Policy 41 of the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy also requires new build homes to achieve at least level 4 of the Code for 
Sustainable Homes. 

The Wiltshire Core Strategy’s key strategic objective is to address climate change. It 
requires developers to meet this objective under Core Policy 41- Sustainable Construction. 

For new build residential development this is achieved through Level 4 of the Code for 
Sustainable Homes (CSH4) which seeks a 19% reduction in Green House Gas (GHG) 
emissions over the benchmark set in Part L of the 2013 Building Regulations.  

The Planning Inspector for the Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) endorsed and made specific 
reference to the above position in his final report of December 2014: 

Page 67



The local planning authority have been adding the following standard condition to planning 
consents for new build residential development in Wiltshire:

The dwellings hereby approved shall achieve Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. 
No dwelling shall be occupied until a final Code Certificate for it has been issued and 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority certifying that Code 
Level 4 has been achieved.
REASON: To ensure that the objectives of sustainable development set out Policy CP41 of 
the Wiltshire Core Strategy are achieved. 

Wiltshire Council has received challenges from developers seeking not to apply CSH4 to 
new developments. These challenges have argued that Section 43 of the Deregulation Act 
2015 and a Ministerial Statement dated March 2015 brought CSH4 into question.

Legal advice has confirmed that: 
a) The Department for Communities and Local Government, through the then Secretary of 
State, The Right Honourable Eric Pickles, delivered on the 25/03/2015 in the House of 
Commons a policy statement specifically dealing with energy efficiency in buildings and 
Planning system:

b) Section 43 of the Deregulation Act is still not in force and has, accordingly, altered neither 
the Planning nor Energy Act 2008, nor the policy led approach under CP41 of the WCS that 

Page 68



Wiltshire Council can and should apply to any new application for new build residential 
development. 

c) The Government’s intention (set out at 4(a) above) to retain higher energy standards in 
the move towards sustainable homes is consistent with WCS Core Policy 41 which requires 
CSH4. By only requiring up to the pre-existing level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes, 
Wiltshire Council has not set the bar above what was envisaged by the Minister or 
Government at paragraph 4(a) above. 

In view of planned changes to national policy, and following a recent appeal decision in 
Salisbury (14/10442/FUL), Wiltshire Council’s standard condition relating to Code for 
Sustainable Homes for new build residential development has been replaced by the 
following:

The dwellings hereby approved shall achieve a level of energy performance at or equivalent 
to Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes.  No dwelling shall be occupied until evidence 
has been issued and submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority 
certifying that this level or equivalent has been achieved.
REASON: To ensure that the objectives of sustainable development equal or equivalent to 
those set out in Policy CP41 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy are achieved. 

The Inspector’s appeal decision explains ‘At the Hearing the parties indicated that there was 
not agreement about the Council’s requirement for the dwellings to comply with Code 4 of 
the Code for Sustainable Homes. The relevant development plan policy, CS Policy CP41, 
creates a need to achieve at least level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes and, until 
amendments are made to the Planning Energy Act 2008, it is accepted that this may 
continue to be applied by condition, but limited to achieving equivalent energy standards.’

The key difference is that the local planning authority is now seeking energy performance at 
“or equivalent to” Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes.  Evidence of achievement is 
still required prior to occupation.

9.8 S106 obligations and CIL

The proposed dwellings would have generated an off-site recreational open space 
contribution under saved policy R2 of the Salisbury District Local Plan.  However, this is a 
tariff style ‘pooled’ contribution.  Pooling restrictions that came into force on 6 April 2015 
mean that Wiltshire Council cannot pool more than five planning obligations towards the 
same infrastructure type or project. This limit extends to all planning obligations entered into 
since 6 April 2010.  As the Council has already pooled more than 5 planning obligations 
towards recreational open space, we cannot therefore require any further pooled 
recreational off site contributions.

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) came into effect on the 18th May 2015; CIL will be 
charged on all liable development granted planning permission on or after this date and 
would therefore apply to the dwelling element of the proposals.  

CIL is a new levy that local authorities can choose to charge on development in their area, 
and which Wiltshire Council has taken the decision to implement. CIL will contribute towards 
the “funding gap” between the total cost of infrastructure necessary to deliver new 
development and the amount of funding available from other sources. 

Page 69



CIL is charged on commencement of development and is separate from the planning 
decision process, being administered by a separate department.  The Wiltshire Community 
Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule lists the types of development which do not pay CIL, 
and this includes:

•Social housing that meets the relief criteria set out in Regulation 49 or 49A (as 
amended by the 2014 Regulations)

9.9 Other issues raised by Parish Council

The Strategic Assets Team have noted the concerns raised by the Parish Council and have 
advised in relation to concerns about parking provision that they are proposing more 
additional spaces on the new site than the number lost by using the existing lay-by to enter 
the development.

Although not a material planning consideration, in relation to Right to Buy, the Strategic 
Assets Team has advised that the Council is currently unable to exclude older persons’ 
bungalows from Right to Buy; but there is a disincentive for anyone to purchase any new 
affordable home for some considerable time due to the lack of discount available.

10.0 Conclusion 

The Adopted Wiltshire Core Strategy seeks to build resilient communities and support rural 
communities but this must not be at the expense of sustainable development principles and 
the protection of the countryside.

The proposal for 2x 2 bedroom ground floor dwellings for affordable rented accommodation 
for the elderly is supported by Wiltshire Core Strategy Policy 44.

It is considered that the proposed re-development of the site will maintain the character and 
appearance of the area and avoid adverse impact upon the character and appearance of the 
conservation area, landscape (also designated as an AONB), setting of the listed building to 
the north east of the site and will not unduly impact upon residential amenity.

RECOMMENDATION: Approve subject to the following conditions:

1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2) No development shall commence on site until details and samples of the materials to be 
used for the external walls and roofs (including the solar panels) have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area.

3) No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the discharge of surface water 
from the access/driveway, incorporating sustainable drainage details, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall not be first 

Page 70



occupied until surface water drainage has been constructed in accordance with the 
approved scheme.
REASON: To ensure that the development can be adequately drained.

4) No development shall commence on site until a scheme of hard and soft landscaping has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the details of which 
shall include:-

 a detailed planting specification showing all plant species, supply and planting sizes 
and planting densities; 

 all hard and soft surfacing materials
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be agreed with 
the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order to ensure a 
satisfactory landscaped setting for the development, in the interests of visual amenity and 
the character and appearance of the area.

4) All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out 
in the first planting and seeding season following the first occupation of the building(s) or the 
completion of the development whichever is the sooner; All shrubs, trees and hedge planting 
shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from damage by vermin and 
stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years, die, are removed, or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of a 
similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  
All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior 
to the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a programme to be 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and the 
protection of existing important landscape features.

6) No development shall commence within the area indicated (proposed development site) 
until: 

 A written programme of archaeological investigation, which should include on-site 
work and off-site work such as the analysis, publishing and archiving of the results, 
has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority; and

 The approved programme of archaeological work has been carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 

REASON:  To enable the recording of any matters of archaeological interest.

7) The dwellings hereby approved shall achieve a level of energy performance at or 
equivalent to Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes.   The dwelling shall not be 
occupied until evidence has been issued and submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority certifying that this level or equivalent has been achieved.
REASON: To ensure that the objectives of sustainable development equal or equivalent to 
those set out in Policy CP41 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy are achieved. 

8) No dwelling shall be first occupied until foul water and surface water drainage has been 
constructed in accordance with the approved scheme shown on the submitted and approved 
plans (Plan Ref: L-06602 D.01 Rev 3 Drainage Layout, dated 21/03/2016, received by this 
office 21/03/2016). 
REASON: To ensure that the development can be adequately drained. 

9) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (as amended by the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 2008 (or any Order revoking 

Page 71



or re-enacting or amending that Order with or without modification), there shall be no 
additions to, or extensions or enlargements of any building forming part of the development 
hereby permitted.
REASON:  In the interests of the amenity of the area and to enable the Local Planning 
Authority to consider individually whether planning permission should be granted for 
additions, extensions or enlargements. 

10) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or amending that 
Order with or without modification), no window, dormer window or rooflight, shall be inserted 
in the roofslopes or side gables (above first floor level) of the development hereby permitted. 
REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and privacy. 

11) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:
Plan Ref: L-06602 D.01 Rev 3 Drainage Layout, dated 21/03/2016, received by this office 
21/03/2016
Plan Ref: 17014-DB3-B01-XX-DR-A-80-01 Existing Location Plan (Red Line), dated 
11/09/2015, received by this office 04/11/2015
Plan Ref: L-06602 PC01 Rev 1 Preliminary Entrance Layout, dated 20/10/2015, received by 
this office 04/11/2015
Plan Ref: 17014-DB3-B01-XX-DR-A-20-01 Proposed Floor Plan for House 1 and 2, dated 
11/09/2015, received by this office 04/11/2015
Plan Ref: 17014-DB3-B01-XX-DR-A-20-02 Proposed Front and Side Elevation 1, dated 
11/09/2015, received by this office 04/11/2015
Plan Ref: 17014-DB3-B01-XX-DR-A-20-03 Proposed Rear and Side Elevation 2, dated 
11/09/2015, received by this office 04/11/2015
Plan Ref: 17014-DB3-B01-XX-DR-A-90-02 Proposed Site Plan, dated 19/10/2015, received 
by this office 04/11/2015
Plan Ref: 17014-DB3-B01-XX-DR-A-90-01 Proposed Context Site Plan showing 
neighbouring properties, dated 19/10/2015, received by this office 04/11/2015
REASON:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

INFORMATIVE:  Highway licence
The consent hereby granted shall not be construed as authority to carry out works on the 
highway. A licence will be required from the local highway authority before any works carried 
out on any footway, footpath, carriageway, verge or other land forming part of the highway. 
Please contact the Council’s Vehicle Crossing Team on vehicleaccess@wiltshire.gov.uk 
and/or 01225 713352.

INFORMATIVE: Material samples
Please note that Council offices do not have the facility to receive material samples. Please 
deliver material samples to site and inform the Planning Officer where they are to be found.

INFORMATIVE: Archaeological work
The work should be conducted by a professionally recognised archaeological contractor in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation approved by this office and there will be a 
financial implication for the applicant.

INFORMATIVE: CIL
The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may represent chargeable 
development under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and 
Wiltshire Council's CIL Charging Schedule. If the development is determined to be liable for 

Page 72

mailto:vehicleaccess@wiltshire.gov.uk


CIL, a Liability Notice will be issued notifying you of the amount of CIL payment due. If an 
Additional Information Form has not already been submitted, please submit it now so that we 
can determine the CIL liability. In addition, you may be able to claim exemption or relief, in 
which case, please submit the relevant form so that we can determine your eligibility. The 
CIL Commencement Notice and Assumption of Liability must be submitted to Wiltshire 
Council prior to commencement of development.  Should development commence prior to 
the CIL Liability Notice being issued by the local planning authority, any CIL exemption or 
relief will not apply and full payment will be required in full and with immediate effect. Should 
you require further information or to download the CIL forms please refer to the Council's 
Website 
www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy.

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO THE SOUTH AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No. 2

Application Number 15/10824/FUL

Site Address Land South of 1 Park Houses
East Knoyle
Witshire
SP3 6AN

Proposal Proposed two single storey houses for elderly people, with 
associated access road and car parking.

Case Officer Lucy Minting

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



SMA / 104179 / 838928 Page 1

Wiltshire Council

Southern Area Planning Committee

28 April 2016

Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) And (3)
Application To Register Land As A Town Or Village Green – The

Common / Browns Copse Field / Bluebell Wood Field / Village Hall
Field / The Field, Winterslow

Purpose of Report

1. To:
a. Consider evidence in the form of an Inspector’s recommendation, dated 10 

March 2015, made by Mr Stephen Morgan of Landmark Chambers, 
appointed by Wiltshire Council as an independent Inspector to preside over 
a non-statutory public inquiry, held in November/December 2014 and a 
Court Order dated 31 March 2016 and to consider an application made 
under Sections 15(1) and (3) of the Commons Act 2006, to register land 
owned by Mr and Mrs Sheppard and known as Browns Copse/Bluebell 
Wood (‘Browns Copse’), in the parish of Winterslow, as a town or village 
green.

b. Recommend that Wiltshire Council accepts the Inspector’s 
recommendation to register land known as Brown’s Copse as a town or 
village green.

Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan

2. Working with the local community to provide an accurate register of town and
village greens, making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit.

Legal Background

3. Please see previous reports attached at;

(1) Appendix 1 - considered by Members of the Southern Area 
Planning Committee at its meeting dated 30 April 2015

(2) Appendix 2 - considered by Members of the Southern Area 
Planning Committee at its meeting dated 24 September 2015 

(3) Appendix 3 - considered by the Southern Area Planning 
Committee at its meeting dated 17 December 2015.

4. Members may recall that this application was considered by this Committee at 
their meeting on 24 September 2015.  However after a challenge by a third party 
a consent order quashing the Council’s decision only so far as Brown’s Copse 
was concerned was sealed by the Court on 31 March 2015.

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



SMA / 104179 / 838928 Page 2

5. Once a decision has been quashed in this manner the application to register 
Brown’s Copse as a village green under the Commons Act 2006 is reinstated as 
undetermined and has to be determined once more by the Council as Commons 
Registration Authority.     

General Background

6. Under the Commons Registration Act 1965, Wiltshire Council is charged with
maintaining the register of town and village greens and determining applications    
to register new greens. The application to register land off Middleton Road, 
Winterslow as a town or village green, has been made under Sections 15(1) and 
(3) of the Commons Act 2006.

Sections 15(1) and (3) of the Commons Act 2006 state:

“15 Registration of greens
(1) Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register 
land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where
subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies.

(3) This subsection applies where-
(a) A significant number of inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful sports and 
pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years;
(b) they ceased to do so before the time of the application but after the
commencement of this section; and
(c) the application is made within the period of two years beginning with the
cessation referred to in paragraph (b).”

7. Wiltshire Council as the Commons Registration Authority received an 
application, dated 3 February 2012, made under Section 15(1) and Section 15 
(3) of the Commons Act 2006, to register land off Middleton Road, Winterslow 
known as The Common / Browns Copse Field / Bluebell Wood Field / Village 
Hall Field / The Field, as a town or village green. The application concerned 
three parcels of land which are referred to as ‘The Field’, Brown’s Copse (owned 
by Mr and Mrs Sheppard) and the northwest corner of Brown’s Copse (owned by 
Wiltshire Council).  The application was made by Mr T Crossland on behalf of 
the group “Winterslow Opposed to Over Development” (‘WOOD’).

8. In Part 7 of the application form the applicant provided a summary of the case
 for registration and included the following comments below;

“Indulgence by a significant number of inhabitants of Winterslow as of right 
in lawful sports and pastimes for a period of at least 20 years and 5 months 
under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006, as witnessed by the 63 
enclosed signed statements showing use for activities including dog 
walking, picking blackberries, kite flying and bicycle riding by a total of 63 
people over a period extending from December 1990 to April 2011.”

9. The claimed land is located to the south-west of Middleton Road, Winterslow 
  and occupies an area of approximately 18 acres.

Page 78



SMA / 104179 / 838928 Page 3

10.The Council received objections to the registration of the land as a town or 
village green which could not be resolved. A non- statutory inquiry was therefore 
considered necessary in this case because the factual evidence was strongly 
disputed by both the applicant and the objector.  An Independent Inspector (a 
barrister from London chambers who specialised in the area of village green 
law) was appointed and a non-statutory public inquiry was arranged to take 
place in Winterslow in November and December 2014.  The Inspector also 
undertook a site visit.  At the inquiry, evidence was given orally by witnesses 
both in support and in objection to the application. This evidence was then 
tested through cross-examination and re-examination of the witnesses.  Officers 
were in attendance for the duration of the Public Inquiry. 

11.Following the inquiry and having also considered the written evidence the 
Inspector produced a report of his findings (Appendix 4) and on 10 March 2015 
made the following recommendation to Wiltshire Council:

“The Application by Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) 
under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 be approved but only to the 
extent that Brown’s Copse is registered as a town or village green in its 
entirety, other than the north-west corner of the Copse that is owned by 
Wiltshire Council.”

12.Members of the Committee first considered this matter on 30 April 2015.  The 
application was brought back to the Committee on 24 September 2015 in order 
to formalise and agree the reasons for the Committee’s in principle refusal of the 
Inspector’s recommendation in relation to Brown’s Copse and to reach a 
decision on the application as a whole.  At the 24 September Committee 
meeting Members of the Committee made the following resolutions;

i. ‘To approve the Inspector’s recommendation that the Field not be
registered as a town or village green;

ii. To approve the Inspector’s recommendation that the section of Brown’s 
Copse owned by Wiltshire Council not be registered as a town or village 
green;

iii. To refuse the Inspector’s recommendation to register that part of 
Brown’s Copse owned by Mr and Mrs Sheppard as a town or village
green.’

13.As a result of the Court Order dated 31 March 2016 the resolution set out in 12 
(i) & (ii) above remain but the part of the resolution set out in 12 (iii) above has 
been quashed.  A copy of the Court order is attached at Appendix 6. 

14.The application only so far as Brown’s Copse is concerned now remains 
undetermined and has to be determined once more by the Council under 
Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006.

Page 79



SMA / 104179 / 838928 Page 4

Main and Legal Considerations for the Council

15.Members are now requested to re-consider the application but only insofar as it 
relates to Brown’s Copse.  

16.The Committee’s decision made 24 September 2015 was successfully 
challenged by the Applicant because the Committee did not accept the 
Inspector’s recommendation that the land known as Brown’s Copse should be 
registered as a village green, although the Committee did accept the Inspector’s 
recommendations concerning the Field and the section of Brown’s Copse owned 
by Wiltshire Council. 

17.Although it is open to the Council to reject the Inspector’s report and 
recommendation it can only do so if the Council finds that the Inspector made a 
significant error of fact or law.  If the Inspector’s recommendation is rejected the 
Council must give legally valid reasons supported by evidence of the error of fact 
and law otherwise the Council’s decision would again be open to legal 
challenge.

18.Members will recall that due to the Court proceedings a meeting took place with 
Counsel.  A copy of a note containing legal advice for this meeting is available to 
the Committee under a separate Part 2 report (Appendix 7) .

19. A copy of the Power Point presentation which also includes plans is attached at 
Appendix 5.

20. The key criteria (or ‘legal test’) for registration of land as a town or village green 
is set out in section 15 (2) of the Commons Act 2006 namely;

‘where a significant number of inhabitants of any locality or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports or 
pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years’. 

21. In the Beresford case (R (Beresford) v Sunderland City Council (2004) Lord 
Bingham observed that it was necessary for all the ingredients of the legal test 
to be met before the land is registered.  

22. Therefore under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006, the only 
consideration which the Committee Members may take into account in making 
their decision is the evidence that a significant number of inhabitants of the 
locality (i.e. the Parish) have indulged as of right (i.e. not by force, not by 
stealth and without the landowner’s permission) in lawful sports and 
pastimes (such as children’s games, blackberry picking, dog walking, 
walking to the copse to see the Bluebells, playing in the copse) over the 
land for a period of 20 years or more.  

23.Members should note that issues such as the future maintenance of the land if it 
is successfully registered as a town or village green; planning and future 
development of the land; moral issues of land ownership and the availability of 
alternative recreational facilities locally, for example, are not legally valid 

Page 80



SMA / 104179 / 838928 Page 5

reasons for the purposes of making a decision on whether or not to register land 
as a green under the Commons Act 2006.

24.The reasons given for the Committee’s decision can therefore only be based on 
the evidence before the Registration Authority, given that the decision of the 
Council is potentially open to be legally challenged by way of judicial review. 
Members are therefore referred to the Inspector’s Recommendation to the 
Commons Registration Authority dated 10 March 2015

25.There is currently no statutory or non-statutory guidance available to authorities
   regarding when it would be considered to be appropriate for a Registration 
Authority to hold a non-statutory public inquiry. However the Courts have 
confirmed that it is the authority’s duty to determine an application in a fair and 
reasonable manner and in the case of R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd v South 
Gloucester District Council) it was decided by the court that the holding of a non-
statutory public inquiry in some circumstances would be necessary as a matter of 
fairness.  

26.The land proposed to be registered and outlined in red did not  show a small 
triangular area of land in the south-east corner of Brown’s Copse which was 
included in the application plan and was shown to be wooded and part of 
Brown’s Copse from the aerial photographs. This area of land is in the 
ownership of Mr and Mrs Shepherd. The Inspectors report does not include a 
map of the area of land which he proposes should be registered, however 
Officers have concluded that this wooded area of land is part of Brown’s Copse 
and should be included within the area of land to be registered because the 
Inspector in his report does make a distinction between the application land 
which forms part of the Field and that which forms part of Brown’s Copse, i.e. 
the Inspector does not consider that the statutory tests have been met over the 
field.  So far as the Field was concerned, the Inspector found that:

i. A significant number of those using the field were using linear routes to 
cross from one side of the village to the other, i.e. the exercise of public 
rights of way rather than lawful sports and past-times. 

ii. There was insufficient evidence to demonstrate significant use of the field 
throughout the whole of the relevant period.

27. In his recommendation the Inspector sets out why the copse is an exception to 
this, regarding the nature of the use of Brown’s Copse, he found that the Copse 
was “a destination in its own right” and an “entity in itself” and that the Copse as 
a whole was a place of recreational resort rather than a means of transit. He 
records evidence of uses of the Copse which are different to that of the field, i.e. 
building dens; playing hide and seek; exploring the woodland; bird watching; use 
of swings; adventure playground; a public amenity; collecting acorns and 
walking on minor and diverging paths.

28.The Inspector did not investigate whether this small triangle area of the land was 
fenced off but Officers  consider that this area of woodland, which has not been 
specifically excluded by the Inspector would be subject to the Inspectors findings 
for the  Copse because the nature of the triangle area is  similarly wooded as is 
the Copse and as such  should be registered.

Page 81



SMA / 104179 / 838928 Page 6

29. If the land is successfully registered as a town or village green, the landowner 
could potentially challenge the Registration Authority’s decision by an appeal to

   the High Court under Section 14(1)(b) of the Commons Registration Act 1965. 
Where the Registration Authority decides not to register the land as a town or 
village green, there is no right of appeal for the applicant, although the decision 
of the Council can be challenged through judicial review.  

Financial implications

30.Presently there is no mechanism by which a Registration Authority may charge
the applicant for processing an application to register land as a town or village
green and all costs (including the public inquiry costs) are borne by the Council.

31.  Where the Council makes a decision to register land or not to register land as a
town or village green it must give reasons for its determination as the decision is
open to legal challenge. The legal costs of a contested (and successful) legal 
challenge against the Council could be in the region of £35,000 - £80,000, for 
which there is no
budgetary provision.

32.There is no duty placed upon the Registration Authority to maintain land
registered as a town or village green.

Risk Assessment

33.The Council’s decision so far as Brown’s Copse is concerned was quashed by 
the Court on 31 March 2016.  If the Council made a decision not to follow the 
Inspector’s Recommendation to the Council and to refuse to register Brown’s 
Copse, it is very likely that decision would again be challenged in the High Court 
and be quashed and the Council being ordered to pay the Applicant’s costs and 
having to re-determine the application.  

34.Although it is open to the Council to reject the Inspector’s report and 
recommendation;

where the Council does so, it must give legally valid and supported reasons 
showing that the Inspector had significantly erred in law and in fact otherwise the 
decision is open to legal challenge. The Committee must therefore only consider 
the evidence before it (including the witness statements and Inspector’s 
recommendation) and the legal criteria for registration of town and village greens 
as set out in section 15 (3) of the Commons Act 2006.  

Safeguarding Considerations

35.Considerations relating to safeguarding impacts of the proposal are not
permitted under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination
must be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority.

Public Health Implications

36.Considerations relating to the public health implications of the proposal are not
permitted under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination

Page 82



SMA / 104179 / 838928 Page 7

must be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority.

Environmental Impact of the Proposal

37.Considerations relating to the environmental impact of the proposal are not
permitted under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination
must be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority.

Equalities Impact of the Proposal

38.Considerations relating to the equalities impact of the proposal are not permitted
under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination must be
based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority.

Options Considered  

39.Members are now requested to re-determine the application only insofar as it 
concerns Browns Copse (owned by Mr and Mrs Sheppard).

40.Officers consider that the full and detailed report is a correct and accurate 
reflection of the documentary evidence and evidence given by witnesses at the 
public inquiry and that the Inspector’s recommendation should be accepted.

41.The decisions open to the Committee are as follows:

i. Having considered the legal tests and the evidence to agree the Inspector’s 
recommendation insofar as it concerns Brown’s Copse its entirety and 
register only the Copse, other than the north-west corner owned by 
Wiltshire Council.

ii. Based only the legal test and on the available evidence to reject the 
Inspector’s recommendations/findings in part and refuse to register the land 
known as Brown’s Copse as a town or village green and in their given 
reasons for rejection of the Inspector’s recommendation to evidence where 
the Inspector made a significant  error in law or in fact.  

Proposal
42. That Wiltshire Council accept the Inspector’s recommendation and the 
application by Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) under Section 
15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 be approved but only to the extent that Browns 
Copse is registered as a town or village green in its entirety, other than the north-
west corner of the Copse that is owned by Wiltshire Council.

Tracy Carter – Associate Director Environmental Services
Ian R Gibbons - Solicitor to the Council and Associate Director – Legal and 
Governance

Report Authors:
Sarah Marshall

Page 83



SMA / 104179 / 838928 Page 8

Senior Solicitor
Janice Green
Rights of Way Officer

The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of 
this Report:

None

Appendices:

Appendix 1 – Southern Area Planning Committee Report dated 30 April 2015
Appendix 2 - Southern Area Planning Committee Report dated 24 September 2015 
Appendix 3 - Southern Area Planning Committee Report dated 17 December 2015
Appendix 4 – Inspector’s Recommendation
Appendix 5 – PowerPoint Presentation (including plans)
Appendix 6 – Court Order

Part II
Appendix 7 – Counsel’s Legal Advice Note for Southern Area Planning Committee 
Meeting

Page 84



1 
CM09641/F 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL 
 
SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
30 APRIL 2015 
 
 

COMMONS ACT 2006 – SECTION 15(1) AND (3) 
APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN – THE 

COMMON / BROWNS COPSE FIELD / BLUEBELL WOOD / VILLAGE HALL FIELD / 
THE FIELD, WINTERSLOW  

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1.  To: 
 

(i)  Consider a report and recommendation, dated 10 March 2015, made by 
Mr Stephen Morgan of Landmark Chambers, appointed by Wiltshire Council 
as an independent Inspector to preside over a non-statutory public inquiry, 
held in November/December 2014, to consider an application made under 
Sections 15(1) and (3) of the Commons Act 2006, to register land known as 
The Common / Browns Copse Field / Bluebell Wood / Village Hall Field / The 
Field, in the parish of Winterslow, as a town or village green. 

 
(ii) Recommend that Wiltshire Council accepts the Inspector’s recommendation. 

 
Relevance to Council’s Business Plan 
 
2. Working with the local community to provide an accurate register of town and village 

greens, making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit. 
 
Background 
 
3.  Wiltshire Council received an application, dated 3 February 2012, made under 

Section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006, to register land off Middleton Road, 
Winterslow known as The Common / Browns Copse Field / Bluebell Wood Field / 
Village Hall Field / The Field, as a town or village green.  The application was also 
made under Section 15(3) of the Act, i.e. where use of the land for recreational 
purposes has ceased and the application is made within two years of the cessation of 
use. The application was made by Mr T Crossland on behalf of the group “Winterslow 
Opposed to Over Development” (WOOD). 

 
4.  Part 7 of the application form requires the applicant to provide a summary of the case 

for registration. The applicant included the following comments: 
 
 “Indulgence by a significant number of inhabitants of Winterslow as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes for a period of at least 20 years and 5 months under Section 
15(3) of the Commons Act 2006, as witnessed by the 63 enclosed signed statements 
showing use for activities including dog walking, picking blackberries, kite flying and 
bicycle riding by a total of 63 people over a period extending from December 1990 to 
April 2011.” 

 
 
 

Page 85



2 
CM09641/F 

5.  The application was accepted as a complete and correct application on 29 August 
2012. The application was accompanied by 63 completed witness evidence 
questionnaires. Following the service of formal notice of the application, posting of 
notice of the application on site and in one local newspaper and placing the 
application on public deposit, objections and representations were received, as 
follows: 

  
 Objections: 
 
 1)  Petition from residents of Highfield Crescent - undated 
 2)  Letter with enclosures from Mrs P Sheppard - 14/01/13 (joint landowner) 
 3) Letter with enclosures from Mr R Sheppard - 27/04/13 (joint landowner) 
 4)  Letter with enclosures from Mr R Sheppard – 30/04/13 
 5)  “Objectors Response” from Mr and Mrs Sheppard – 27/02/13 
 
 Representations: 
  
 1)  Letter from L E Rogers – 16/04/13 
 2)  E-mail from Councillor Christopher Devine – 13/05/13 

3) E-mail from Barbara Coombs, Principal Legal Executive, Wiltshire Council – 
08/08/14 

 
6. The claimed land is located to the south-west of Middleton Road, Winterslow (please 

see location plan at Appendix A) and occupies an area of approximately 18 acres, 
laid to grass and woodland with open access from public rights of way located on the 
north and south perimeters of the site (please see application plan attached at 
Appendix B). The majority of the land is owned by Mr Richard and Mrs Patricia 
Sheppard of Weston Hill Farm, Winterslow; a small part of the application land in the 
north-west corner of Brown’s Copse is owned by Wiltshire Council; Scottish and 
Southern Electric PLC own an electrical sub-station located at the south-east of the 
application land and two small parts of the land within the copse are unregistered 
(please see land ownership plan at Appendix C).  The Council as landowner did not 
formally object to the registration of the land in their ownership.    

 
7. Wiltshire Council considered the evidence and the objections received, within a 

report to the Associate Director of Waste and Environment, dated 31 January 2014 
(please see report attached at Appendix D). Officers recommended that given the 
substantial dispute of fact in this case it would be advisable to hold a non-statutory 
public inquiry into the evidence, appointing an independent Inspector to preside over 
the inquiry and to provide a report and recommendation to the determining authority. 

 
8.  This recommendation was accepted and Wiltshire Council appointed Mr Stephen 

Morgan of Landmark Chambers (London), as Inspector to preside over a non-
statutory public inquiry and having considered documentary and oral evidence to 
write a report containing a recommendation to Wiltshire Council as the determining 
authority. The inquiry was held in Winterslow on Tuesday 25 to Friday 28 November 
2014 (inclusive), re-convening on Tuesday 16 December 2014 for closing 
submissions and an accompanied site visit at the close of the inquiry, on that day.  

 
Main Considerations for the Council 
 
9.  Following consideration of the available documents and the hearing of evidence 

given in chief; in cross-examination and in re-examination at the public inquiry, the 
Inspector presented a report to Wiltshire Council, dated 10 March 2015 (please see 
report attached at Appendix E), in which he made the following recommendation: 

Page 86



3 
CM09641/F 

 “For the reasons set out in Section 5 of this Report, I recommend to the Registration 
Authority: 

 
 The Application by Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) under 

section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 be approved but only to the extent that 
Brown’s Copse is registered as a town or village green in its entirety, other than the 
north-west corner of the Copse that is owned by Wiltshire Council.” 

 
10. There is no obligation placed upon the determining authority to follow the Inspector’s 

recommendation (although if the Committee decide not to follow the Inspector’s 
recommendation they must have good reasons for not following the 
recommendation) and Members of the Committee are requested to consider the 
Inspector’s report and the available evidence in order to determine whether or not the 
application land should be registered as a town or village green. 

 
11. Under the Council’s constitution one of the functions of the Area Planning Committee 

is, where an objection has been received and has not been resolved, to consider 
matters of local importance within the area such as the registration of town and 
village greens. In this case, the owners of the application land objected to the 
registration of the application land as a village green and have to date not withdrawn 
their objection following the public inquiry which took place in November/December 
2014.   

 
12.  Under the Commons Registration Act 1965, Wiltshire Council is now charged with 

maintaining the register of town and village greens and determining applications to 
register new greens. The application to register land off Middleton Road, Winterslow 
as a town or village green, has been made under Sections 15(1) and (3) of the 
Commons Act 2006, which amended the criteria for the registration of greens. 
Section 15 of the Commons Act is set out in full at part 7 of the Decision Report 
attached at Appendix D. 

 
13. Sections 15(1) and (3) of the Act, state: 
 

“15 Registration of greens 
 

(1)  Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register land 
to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where 
subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

 
(3)  This subsection applies where- 

 
(a)  A significant number of inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood 

within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land 
for a period of at least 20 years; 

 
(b)  they ceased to do so before the time of the application but after the 

commencement of this section; and  
 
(c)  the application is made within the period of two years beginning with the 

cessation referred to in paragraph (b).” 
 
Safeguarding Considerations 
 
14.  There are no safeguarding considerations as those relating to safeguarding are not 

permitted within Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination must be 
based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority. 

 

Page 87



4 
CM09641/F 

Public Health Implications 
 
15.  There are no public health implications as considerations relating to public health are 

not permitted within Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination must 
be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority. 

 
Environmental Impact of the Proposal 
 
16.  Considerations relating to the environmental impact of the proposal are not permitted 

within Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination must be based on 
the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority. 

 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
17.  Considerations relating to the equalities impact of registering land as a town or 

village green, are not permitted within Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Any 
determination must be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration 
Authority. 

 
Risk Assessment 
 
18.  The holding of a non-statutory public inquiry and the production of the subsequent 

report and recommendation to Wiltshire Council from an Independent Inspector, have 
reduced the risk to the Council of a potential legal challenge as the evidence has 
been heard, tested and considered. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
19.  Presently there is no mechanism by which a Registration Authority may charge the 

applicant for processing an application to register land as a town or village green and 
all costs are borne by the Council.  

 
20.  Where the Council makes a decision to register land as a town or village green it 

must give a reason for its determination as this decision is potentially open to legal 
challenge.  The legal costs of a successful legal challenge against the Council could 
be in the region of £40,000 - £100,000. 

 
21. There is currently no duty for Registration Authorities to maintain land registered as a 

town or village green.  
 
Legal Implications 
 
22.  If the land is successfully registered as a town or village green, the landowner could 

potentially challenge the Registration Authority’s decision by an appeal to the High 
Court under Section 14(1)(b) of the Commons Registration Act 1965 (‘1965 Act’),  
which allows the High Court to amend the register only if it can be shown that the 
registration ought not to have been made and that it is just to rectify the register. The 
overall effect is that the registration of the land is deemed to have been made under 
Section 13 of the 1965 Act and there is a preserved right under Section 14 to apply to 
the court to rectify the registration of the town or village green without limit of time. 
The application which could be made many years after the decision potentially 
enables the Court to hold a re-hearing of the application and consider the facts and 
law and could lead to de-registration of the land.          

 
23.  Where the Registration Authority decides not to register the land as a town or village 

green, there is no right of appeal for the applicant, although the decision of the 
Council may be challenged through judicial review, for which the permission of the 
court is required and the application must be made within three months of the date of 

Page 88



5 
CM09641/F 

the decision. A landowner could also use judicial review proceedings to challenge the 
Council’s decision to register their land as a town or village green. 

 
24. There is currently no statutory or non-statutory guidance available to authorities 

regarding when it would be considered to be appropriate for a Registration Authority 
to hold a non-statutory public inquiry.  However judicial cases have confirmed that it 
is the authority’s duty to determine an application in a fair and reasonable manner 
and recent judicial decisions have also sanctioned the practice of holding non-
statutory inquiries.  In R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucester District 
Council the court decided that the holding of a non-statutory inquiry in some 
circumstances would be necessary as a matter of fairness. In R (on the application of 
Naylor) v Essex County Council (2014) the Court confirmed that a public inquiry was 
one means by which a registration authority may obtain evidence other than from the 
applicant and any objector or by which it may test or supplement that which it has 
received in written form.    

 
Options Considered 
 
25.  Members of the Committee need to consider whether to: 
 

(i)  Accept the Inspector’s recommendation that the application by Winterslow 
Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) under Section 15(3) of the 
Commons Act 2006 be approved but only to the extent that Brown’s Copse is 
registered as a town or village green in its entirety, other than the north-west 
corner of the Copse that is owned by Wiltshire Council 

 
(ii)  Accept the Inspector’s recommendation, but with modification supported by 

the available evidence, e.g. modifying the area of land to be registered 
 

(iii)  Not accept the Inspector’s recommendation and refuse the application to 
register land in the parish of Winterslow as a town or village green 

 
(iv)  Not accept the Inspector’s recommendation and resolve to register all the 

claimed land as described in the application made under Section 15(1) of the 
Commons Act 2006 and described known as The Common / Browns Copse 
Field / Bluebell Wood Field / Village Hall Field / The Field, as a town or village 
green. 

 
26. Where Members do not resolve to accept the Inspector’s recommendation and make 

an alternative decision, clear reason for this decision must be given as the decision 
of the Registration Authority is potentially open to legal challenge by both the 
applicant and Landowner.  

  
Reason for Proposal 
 
27.  In the Winterslow case, the evidence of whether a significant number of inhabitants 

of any locality, or of any neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in 
lawful sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years, was in 
dispute. It is the duty of the determining authority to determine the application in a fair 
and reasonable manner. Due to the substantial dispute of fact in this case, Wiltshire 
Council determined to hold a non-statutory public inquiry where the facts of the case 
would be likely to be resolved by the inquiry process through witnesses giving oral 
evidence in chief and through cross-examination and re-examination, including 
consideration of documentary evidence by the Inspector. 

 

Page 89



6 
CM09641/F 

28.  Following the close of the inquiry, the Inspector presented a 123 page 
recommendation to Wiltshire Council, dated 10 March 2015 and which contained the 
following recommendation: 

 
“For the reasons set out in Section 5 of this report, I recommend to the 
Registration Authority: 

 
The Application by Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) under 
Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 be approved but only to the extent 
that Brown’s Copse is registered as a town or village green in its entirety, 
other than the north-west corner of the Copse that is owned by Wiltshire 
Council.” 

 
29. Officers consider that the full and detailed report is a correct and accurate reflection 

of the documentary evidence and evidence given by witnesses at the public inquiry 
and that the Inspector’s recommendation should be accepted.   

 
Proposal 
 
30.   That Wiltshire Council accept the Inspector’s recommendation and the application by 

Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) under Section 15(3) of the 
Commons Act 2006 be approved but only to the extent that Browns Copse is 
registered as a town or village green in its entirety, other than the north-west corner 
of the Copse that is owned by Wiltshire Council.  

 
 
Tracy Carter 
Associate Director – Waste and Environment  
 
Report Author: 
Janice Green 
Rights of Way Officer 
 
 

 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of this 
Report: 
 
 None 
 
Appendices: 
 
 Appendix A – Location Plan 
 Appendix B – Application Plan 
 Appendix C – Land Ownership Plan 
 Appendix D – Wiltshire Council Report on the Recommendation to Hold a Non- 
   Statutory Public Inquiry (31 January 2014) 
 Appendix E – Inspectors Report (Mr Stephen Morgan, Landmark Chambers –  
   10 March 2015)              
  
 
 

Page 90



APPENDIX A – LOCATION PLAN 

 

Page 91



APPENDIX B – APPLICATION PLAN 

 

 

Page 92



APPENDIX C – LAND OWNERSHIP PLAN 

 

Page 93



APPENDIX D – WILTSHIRE COUNCIL REPORT ON THE RECOMMENDATION 
TO HOLD A NON-STATUTORY PUBLIC INQUIRY (31ST 
JANUARY 2014) 

Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15 (1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 1 
Use as of Right – Permission and Secrecy 
 
 
 

1 
 

 Name Permission given or 
requested (Q 28 & 29) 
 

Ever seen by 
landowner (Q 26) 

1 Rachel Andrews No Yes more than 
likely – said 
nothing 

2 Mrs Carol Andrews No Probably 
3 Michael Andrews No To the best of my 

knowledge “no” 
4 Philip Beagle No Yes – said nothing 

or just a general 
time of day 
greeting 

5 Paul Bookham No Yes – said nothing 
6 J Briggs No Yes – said nothing 
7 Colin Campbell No Not known 
8 Malcolm Cassells No No idea 
9 Lucy Clark No N/A 
10 Jan Clarke No No 
11 Helen Coombe No I don’t know 
12 Jeremy Coombe No Not known 
13 Anna Crossland No Don’t know 
14 Lynne Crossland No Don’t know  
15 Tim Crossland No Don’t know 
16 Luke Day No No 
17 Oliver Day No  Possibly, I am not 

aware though 
18 Sarah Day No Not sure 
19 Simon Day I have never thought we 

needed any consent for use of 
the land. Until recently I fully 
believed that it was public, 
common land. 

Not to my 
knowledge 
although he must 
drive past the land 
on frequent 
occasions – I have 
never had any 
comment from him 
on my use of the 
land 

20 Alastair Dunlop No No 
21 Chris Fisher No No 
22 Penny Fooks No I doubt it - no 
23 Susannah Fountain  I am presuming 

the owner has 
ploughed the field 

Page 143



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15 (1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 1 
Use as of Right – Permission and Secrecy 
 
 
 

2 
 

24 Paula Gibson No Don’t know as 
don’t know the 
owner 

25 Janice Gong No Not as far as I am 
aware 

26 Michael Gong No – thought it was common 
land 

Don’t know 

27 Lynda Green No No 
28 Michael Green No No 
29 Roberta Head No Yes – said nothing 

or just general 
greeting 

30 Claire Hoare No I don’t know 
31 Jonathan Hoare No I don’t know 
32 Evelyn & David 

Houghton 
No ? 

33 Julia House No Not known 
34 Anne Jones No No 
35 Anthony Levitt No Don’t know 
36 F J Marsh No I am not aware if 

he has 
37 P D Marsh No No 
38 R Maylin No – but unwritten 

understanding that it was a 
public area 

No 

39 Claire McDonald No Do not know 
40 Ian McDonald No – permission assumed  
41 Carolyn Morgan-

Jones 
No Yes – nothing said 

42 Michael Morgan-
Jones 

No Yes – nothing said 

43 Peter Nightingale No Do not know – 
never been 
spoken to 

44 Paula Page No Don’t know 
45 Rick Page No Don’t know – said 

nothing if seen 
46 G Paton No ? 
47 Jan Paton No Unsure 
48 Sue Phillips No Yes – said nothing 
49 William Phillips No Yes – passed time 

of day 
50 David Platt No Not that I am 

aware 

Page 144



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15 (1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 1 
Use as of Right – Permission and Secrecy 
 
 
 

3 
 

51 Kay Putman No – but I didn’t know any was 
needed 

Don’t know 

52 Jean Radnedge   
53 David Rickard No - accepted Yes 
54 Felicity Rickard No permission sought for 

activities on the land. 
Yes permission given to 
collect straw 

Yes - waved 

55 Susan Rieden No No 
56 Doreen Rivett No Do not know 
57 L E Rogers No No 
58 Jeanette Soloman Yes – permission sought for 

activities on land from the 
owner 2009-2011 

Yes – just passed 
the time of day 

59 Mrs C Stevens No Don’t know 
60 Deborah Sykes No Unknown 
61 Christopher James 

Waters 
No Yes – said nothing 

62 Lesley Waters No Probably 
63 Sandra Cassells No Probably 

 

 

Page 145



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 2 
Activities Undertaken 
 
 

1 
 

Activities Undertaken 
 

Witness (Please note the witness 
evidence forms have been numbered 1 
– 63, the number relates to the witness 
evidence form) 
 

Walking dogs 1,2,4,5,6,7,8,9,11,13,14,15,21,22,25,26
,29,30,31,32,34,39,40,41,42,44,45,48,5
1,55,58,60,61,62,63 

Sledging 1,2,3,5,14,15,19,21,24,35,42,51,53,60 
Walking to local copse (to view bluebells) 1,3,9,12,14,18,19,32,38,40,51,59 
Walking various other FP’s 1,4,59 
Local recreation ground 1,11 
Playing with friends (early 90’s) 1 
Walking  1,2,3,4,5,10,12,13,14,16,18,19,20,21,2

2,23,24,26,27,28,29,35,37,39,41,42,44,
45,46,47,50,51,53,54,59,62 

Nature spotting/wildlife 1,14,19,21,32,34,36,42 
Open space 4,29,32,33,37,39 
Wood 4 
(Safe) Route to shop  4,13,24,33 
Berry gathering 4,29,59,62 
Running 5,11,14,26,44,46,50 
To access pub 13,19,48 
To access pub/shops/school/sports field 5 
To access school 13,19,25,30,31,33,36,37,44,46,47,48,4

9,60,63 
To access shop 25,29,30,31,32,33,44,46,47,48,62 
To access tennis courts 38 
Kite flying 5,21,51,62 
Football 5,19 
Rugby 5 
Cricket 5 
To get to doctors surgery 6,19,32,34,38,39,41,42,50,51,59 
To get to village hall (safe access) 6,12,13,14,18,19,25,27,28,33,38,39,41,

42,44,50,51,59,63 
To access local shop avoiding road 7,25,62 
To access recreation ground 25 
To take children to school (in past) 8,20 
To use path to cross field 9 
To play as a child 9 
As a (safe) shortcut 9,26,40,41 
Shortcut to the other side of West Winterslow avoiding road 10,22,54 
To get to Saxon Leas visiting friends 11 
Circular walk 12 
Cycling 13,14,15,16,46 
Access to different parts of the village 14 
As safe path around village (circuit) 17,43,45,56 
Drama club (in the past) 17 

Page 146



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 2 
Activities Undertaken 
 
 

2 
 

Scouts (present) 17 
Frisbee 19 
Cycling in copse – now well defined cycle routes 19 
Den building and rope swings within copse (with son) 19 
To get to mobile library 19 
To get to Methodist Hall (used for cubs/scouts) 19 
Children playing 19,45,48 
As a visitor to enjoy local village environment 20 
Jogging 22 
Cycling 23,26,45 
Fitness Class 23 
General exercise 25 
Part of Village walk 26 
Ball games 26 
Regularly used FP’s 29 
Watching the children whilst playing 30,31 
To reach pre-school 32,33 
To avoid traffic and pavement free road 32,37,61 
Safe route to visit friends 33,51 
To access village facilities (safe access) 34,35 
Walking across car free space 36 
Safe walk to the Causeway 39 
Bird watching 40,50 
Recreation 42,49 
Access to neighbours 46,47,59 
Pleasure/Leisure activities 46,47 
Access to common 50 
Bat watching 50 
Skiing 53 
Well known common land 60 

 
Family Activities 
 

Witness 

Walking dogs 1,2,4,5,7,9,13,14,15,21,29,30,31,34,39,
40,42,45,55,60 

Sledging 1,2,3,5,6,14,15,19,21,24,35,42 
Walking to local copse (to view bluebells) 1,9,14,18,36,38 
Walking various other FP’s 1,4 
Local recreation ground 1 
Walking 2,4,5,10,14,16,18,19,21,23,24,29,34, 

35,41,42,44,45,46,50,53,54,62 
Open space 4 
Wood 4 
Route to shop (post office) 4,33,46,47,61 
Berry gathering 4,29 
Running 5,10,14,25,46,50,54 
Kite flying 5,11,21,54 
Football 5,19 

Page 147



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 2 
Activities Undertaken 
 
 

3 
 

Rugby 5 
Cricket 5,48 
Playing 6,19,30,31 
Kite flying 6 
To play in Browns Copse 6,51 
Access to shop avoiding road 7,22,29,30,31 
Walking to village hall (safe access) 8,14,18,19,38,39,51 
To cross the field 9 
To play as a child 9 
As a shortcut 9,61 
When at Brownies used the field for walking and other 
activities 

11 

Used as access during Duke of Edinburgh activity 11 
Exercises connected with work for particular Brownie 
badges 

12 

Cycling 13,14,15,16,19,46,62 
Walking to Village facilities 13,19,22 
Access to different parts of the village 14 
Viewing nature 14,19,21 
Safe path around village 17 
Den building etc 19 
Frisbee 19 
Cycling in copse – now well defined cycle courses 19 
To access school 19,20,22,30,31,37,46,47 
To access village hall 19,22,40,51,59,63 
To access village pubs 19,51 
To access doctors surgery 19,38,40,51 
To access tennis courts 38,39,40 
To access mobile library 19 
To access Methodist Hall (used for cubs / scouts) 19 
In winter walking home from events at Village Hall avoiding 
Weston Lane 

25 

Safe walking off road 26,61 
Recreation 26 
Enjoying open space 26,29 
Regularly used FP’s 29 
To visit friends  33,51 
Bird watching 40 
(Safe) exercise 40,41 
To visit neighbours 46,47 
Pleasure/Leisure activities 46,47 
Rounders  
Social and recreation purposes 59 

 
Community Activities 
 

Witness 

Walking dogs 1,4,5,25,26,29 
Sledging 1,3,4,5,14,22,29,35,47,50,52,58,59,62 

Page 148



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 2 
Activities Undertaken 
 
 

4 
 

Walking to local copse 1 
Walking various other FP’s 1 
Local recreation ground 1,41,42 
Playing with friends (early 90’s) 1 
Walking  1,5,14,35,41,42,59 
Nature spotting 1 
Children playing  4,14,29,45,52 
Running 5,14 
Kite flying 5 
Football 5 
Rugby 5 
Cricket 5 
Occasional use as part of village fete 8 
Brownie camps 4,29 
As a Brownie/Guide organised groups visiting the copse 
and using paths from 1988 onwards 

9 

Brownies/Cubs/Scouts (Walking) and Duke of Edinburgh 
(Orienteering) 

11,38 

Cycling 14,59 
Viewing nature 14 
Nature walks by pre-school 14,30,31,33 
Bonfire night celebrations 16,17,18,19,32,46,47,50,51,62 
Local scouts/cubs hiked across it 21,51 
Ramblers 23 
Walks organised by village hall 26 
Picnics 26 
Pony rides during village fete 33,61,62,63 
School children “Walking Bus” 38,47 
Informal games 45 
Brownies & Rainbows visit Browns Copse to see bluebells, 
look at trees (Nature study) 

51,54 

Overflow car park for village hall 
 

61 

Seasonal Activities 
 

Witness 

Walking all year round 1,2,10 
Sledging 1,2,3,4,5,8,9,10,14,16,17,18,19,21,22,2

4,29,30,31,35,36,37,38,47,50,51,52,58,
60,61,63 

Running 1,14 
Walking 3,5,14 
Horse riding 3,14 
Kite flying 5 
Bonfire night on Nov 5th  8,46,47,63 
Wildlife and flower spotting (spring) 16,17,18,19 
Snowballing 25,37,38 
Building snowmen 26,37 
Summer walks 26 

Page 149



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 2 
Activities Undertaken 
 
 

5 
 

Picking blackberries 32,53 
Picking sloes 32,53 
Nature study 
 

53 

Activities Seen  Witness 
 

Children playing 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,9,10,11,12,13,14,15,16, 
17,18,19,20,21, 
22,23,24,25,26,27,28,29,30,31,32,33,3
4,35,36,37,38,39,40,41,42,43,45,46,47,
48,49,50,51,52,53,54,55,56,58,59,60,6
1,62 

Dog walking 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10,11,12,13,14,15,17,
18,19,20,21, 
22,23,24,25,26,27,28,29,30,31,32,33,3
4,35,36,37,38,39,40,41,42,43,44,45,46,
47,48,49,50,51,52,53,54,55,56,57,58,5
9,60,61,62,63 

Picking blackberries 1,2,3,4,5,6,8,9,11,13,14,15,17,21,22, 
23,24,26,27,28,29,30,31,32,33,34,35,3
6,37,38,39,40,42,43,46,47,48,49,52,53,
54,55,56,57,58,59,60,61,62,63 

Picking sloes 60 
Bird watching 1,2,3,4,5,9,12,13,14,18,19,21,22,23,29,

33,34,36,41,42,43,45,46,47,48,50,51,5
2,53,54,56,58,59,60 

Picnicking 1,9,13,19,21,36,45,49,53 
Kite flying 1,2,3,4,5,6,9,10,11,13,14,15,19,21,23,2

5,27,28,29,32,34,36,38,39,40,41,42,45,
46,47,49,50,51,53,54,58,59,61,62 

People walking 1,2,3,4,5,6,8,9,10,11,12,13,14,15,16, 
17,18,19,20,21,22,23,24,25,26,27,28,2
9,30,31,32,33,34,35,36,38,39,40,41,42,
43,44,45,46,47,48,49,50,51,52,53,54,5
5,56,58,59,60,61,62,63 

Bonfire parties 1,2,3,6,8,9,14,27,28,33,34,36,37,43,46,
47,50,51,53,54,61,62 

Bicycle riding 1,2,3,4,5,6,8,9,11,13,14,15,16,17,19, 
20,22,23,25,26,27,28,29,31,35,38,43,4
4,45,46,47,49,51,53,54,56,58,59,60,61,
62,63 

Fishing (only when flooded) 2 
Drawing and painting 5,21,34,36,41,42,50,60 
Team games 5,16 
Community celebrations 5,36,47 
Football 5,16,19,21,34,36,38,48,58 
Cricket 5,48 
Sledging 9,32,41,42 
Nature study 9 

Page 150



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 2 
Activities Undertaken 
 
 

6 
 

Frisbees 10 
Running 11 
Rounders 30,31,36,48 
Photography 32 
Fetes 33,38 
Pony rides 33 
Horse riding 58 
Sledging 38 
Snowball fight 38 

 

Note:  32 = x 2 Witnesses 

 52 = Missing page – Q9 -17 

Page 151



P
age 152



APPENDIX E – INSPECTOR’S REPORT (MR STEPHEN MORGAN, LANDMARK    
CHAMBERS - 10 MARCH 2015) 

Page 153



 APPLICATION (REF: 2012/5) BY WINTERSLOW OPPOSED TO OVER 
DEVELOPMENT (WOOD) UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE COMMONS ACT 

2006 TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN AS THE COMMON/BROWN’S 
COPSE FIELD/BLUEBELL WOOD FIELD/VILLAGE HALL FIELD/THE 

FIELD, WINTERSLOW AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INSPECTOR’S REPORT TO THE COMMONS  

REGISTRATION AUTHORITY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commons Registration Authority 
Wiltshire Council 

County Hall 
Bythesea Road 

Trowbridge 
Wiltshire 
BA14 8JN 

Ref: JG/PC/255 2012/5 
 

Page 154



 1 

    CONTENTS 
 

  SUMMARY                                                                 2 

1. INTRODUCTION                                                      4 

2. THE APPLICATION                                                 8 

3. CASE FOR THE APPLICANT                               10 

4. CASE FOR THE OBJECTORS                               44 

5. ASSESSMENT & CONCLUSIONS                        83 

6. RECOMMENDATION                                          123 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 155



 2 

 SUMMARY 

S1. The Applicant, Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (“WOOD”), 

seeks registration of Brown’s Copse Field (‘the Application Land”) as a 

town or village green (“TVG”) under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 

2006. The Applicant has to demonstrate on the balance of probabilities 

that the land has been used for lawful sports and pastimes (“LSP”) in a 

way that satisfies the criteria within section 15(3).  

S2. The Application is objected to by the owners of almost all of the 

Application Land, Richard and Patricia Sheppard. 

S3. The relevant 20-year period is that ending on 4 April 2011. The Objectors 

do not dispute that Winterslow CP is a qualifying locality. 

S4. The Application Land consists of readily accessible agricultural land that 

was in “set aside” throughout the relevant period. It is concluded that the 

main use of the land has been for transiting on foot to and from different 

parts of the village. The main use of the Land for LSP has been dog 

walking on the field and there have also been other qualifying uses.  

S5. However, the Applicant has not demonstrated sufficiency of qualifying 

use for the Application Land as a whole throughout the 20-year period. 

That applies overall, taking into account the evidence of LSP as well as the 

degree of use of the Application Land that was clearly not for LSP and also 

that which it would have been difficult for a reasonable landowner to 

interpret as an assertion of village green rights. Moreover, there is also a 

particular concern with regard the earlier part of the 20-year period. 

S6. That conclusion is reached taking into account the LSP use that has 

clearly taken place in the Copse. It is concluded that the Copse has been 

an attraction and destination in its own right. Sufficiency of LSP use of the 

Copse itself as of right has been demonstrated throughout at least the 

relevant 20-year period. The only exception to this relates to the north-

west corner, which is in separate ownership to the Objectors and appears 

to have been fenced off and separate from the remainder of the Copse. 

Page 156



 3 

S7. The two signs put up in 2009 did not in the circumstances make any use 

of the Application Land for LSP contentious. The breaches of the Highfield 

Crescent fencing, relied upon by the Objectors, have no direct bearing on 

the overall assessment and the other conclusions reached. 

S8. Accordingly, this Report concludes that the Application satisfies the 

criteria within section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 only in respect of 

the Copse but not in respect of that part of the Copse in the north-west 

corner owned by Wiltshire Council. 

S9. The recommendation to the Registration Authority is, therefore, that 

WOOD’s Application to register the Application Land as a TVG should be 

approved only in so far as it relates to Brown’s Copse, with the exception 

of that part of the Copse owned by Wiltshire Council.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 157



 4 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This Report relates to a piece of agricultural land and adjacent copse 

within the attractive village of Winterslow in Wiltshire. The land was “set 

aside” (in terms of the Common Agricultural Policy of the EEC) in 1988. 

There is a dispute over the future use of the land that has divided opinion 

in the village and there have been conflicting accounts of how the land has 

been used since that time. 

 

1.2 Against this background, I am instructed by Wiltshire Council in its 

capacity as the Registration Authority (“the RA”) for the purposes of the 

Commons Act 2006 in respect of the application by Winterslow Opposed 

to Over Development” (“WOOD”) under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 

2006 (the Application). The Application was made on that group’s behalf 

by Mr. Timothy Richard Crossland. It was dated 3 February 2012 but 

accepted by the RA as complete on 29th August 2012 (as reference no. 

2012/5).  

 

1.3 By the Application WOOD seeks to register land, stated in the application 

form to be usually known as “The Common/Brown’s Copse Field/Bluebell 

Wood Field/Village Hall Field/The Field, Winterslow,” as a town or village 

green (TVG). The names are given in the alternative but I will refer to it 

either as the Application Land or where appropriate Brown’s Copse and 

the field, as it includes both the Copse and adjacent field. The Application 

Land extends to about 7¼ hectares (about 18 acres). 

 

1.4 My instructions from the Registration Authority were to hold a non-

statutory public inquiry to consider the evidence and submissions relied 

upon by the Applicant and the Objectors and to report on these with a 

recommendation as how to determine the Application.  

 

 

 

Page 158



 5 

 The Inquiry 

1.5 Accordingly, I held an at Inquiry Barry’s Fields Sports Ground, Weston 

Lane, West Winterslow on 25th to 28th November 2014. The Inquiry 

reconvened at the same venue on Tuesday 16th December for Closing 

Submissions and the accompanied site visit. 

 

1.6 Directions were provided prior to the Inquiry, giving guidance on the 

submission of evidence and documents and on the procedure proposed 

for the Inquiry. The parties provided the evidence (including supporting 

documentation) in advance of the Inquiry, for which I am very grateful. 

Some additional documents were provided by each party at the Inquiry. 

 

1.7 The Applicant was represented at the Inquiry by his Alexander Greaves of 

Counsel. Mr. Greaves called 15 witnesses in support of the Application. 

The Applicant also relied upon other witness statements and documents, 

as detailed in section 3 of this Report, which I have taken into account.  

 

 Objections 

1.8 The Application was objected to by Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard of Weston Hill 

Farm, Winterslow, the registered owners of all but three small areas of 

the Application Land. Other representations in response to the 

Application were also received and I have taken those into account. 

 

1.9 The Objectors were represented by William Webster of Counsel. Mr. 

Webster called 11 witnesses, as detailed in section 4 of this Report. He 

also relied upon other witness statements and documentation, which I  

have taken into account.  

 

 Site Visits 

1.10 I visited the site and the surrounding area prior to and during the Inquiry. 

As indicated above, I carried out an accompanied site visit after the close 

of the Inquiry on the afternoon of Tuesday 16th December 2014. 

Page 159



 6 

 The Statutory Basis of the Application 

1.11 The Application was made under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 

and the claimed use as of right was stated to have ended on 4th April 

2011. 

 

1.12 The statutory framework is dealt with more fully in section 5 of this 

Report. However, at this stage it should be noted that section 15(1) 

provides (as applicable to this application) that: 

Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register 

land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where 

subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

Subsection (3) (in the form that applies to this Application) applies 

where: 

(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 

(b) they ceased to do so before the time of the application but after the 

commencement of this section; and 

(c) the application is made within the period of two years beginning 

with the cessation referred to in paragraph (b) 

 

 The Scope of the Inquiry and this Report 

1.13 I am very aware of the very strong feelings of both sides in this case. That 

is often so, particularly where the land is being considered for 

development, as in this case. However, as I made clear at the Inquiry, a 

TVG Inspector’s role is to consider whether the Applicant can 

demonstrate on the balance of probabilities that the statutory criteria 

within section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 are met. The relative merits 

of the claimed use relied upon and the possible development of the site 

are not relevant to whether section 15(3) is complied with and I have not 

taken such matters into account.  

 

Page 160



 7 

1.14 My role is therefore limited to considering the evidence and submissions 

against the statutory criteria and making a recommendation to the 

Registration Authority as to the determination of the Application.  

  

 The Structure of the Report 

1.15 The remainder of this Report is now set out as follows: 

  2. THE APPLICATION & APPLICATION SITE 

  3. THE CASE FOR THE APPLICANT 

  4. THE CASE FOR THE OBJECTORS 

  5. ASSESSMENT AND CONCLUSIONS 

  6. RECOMMENDATION 

I have provided a Summary at the outset and I hope that this will assist 

with the reading and understanding of this Report. I stress, however, that 

the Summary needs to be read and understood with the remainder of the 

Report. The Report is of necessity somewhat lengthy, given the extent and 

nature of the evidence and issues.  

 

1.16 However, before addressing those matters, I would like to record my 

thanks to the advocates and witnesses. I am grateful for the way in which 

they all conducted themselves, presented their cases and their evidence 

and the courtesy shown, and the unstinting assistance given, to me by all. 

In addition, the parties and I were very greatly aided by the RA, which 

was represented by Mrs. Sarah Marshall, a solicitor with the Wiltshire 

Council and Miss Janice Green and Miss Alison Roberts, who are both 

Rights of Way officers employed by the Council. Their assistance to all of 

us was very much appreciated and greatly assisted in the preparations 

for, and efficient running of, the Inquiry. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 161



 8 

2. THE APPLICATION 

2.1 The Application (reference no. 2012/5) was made on behalf of WOOD by 

Mr. Timothy Richard Crossland pursuant to section 15(3) of the 

Commons Act 2006.  

 

2.2 The Application was made on Form 44, dated 3rd February 2012 and it is 

stated in Section 4 that the claimed LSP use as of right ended on 4th April 

2011. It is also stated that there was a period of statutory closure during 

the foot and mouth outbreak in 2001 that has to be disregarded in 

accordance with section 15(6) of the 2006 Act.  

 

2.3 In section 5 of the Form, it is stated that the name by which the land is 

usually known is: 

 “The Common/Brown’s Copse Field/Bluebell Wood/Village Hall Field/The 

Field” 

Its location is given as: 

“Adjacent to Middleton Road, Winterslow” 

 

At the Inquiry the Applicant clarified that the Application Land did not 

include any of the adjacent metalled footpaths or the grass public 

footpath along the edge of the village hall.1 

  

2.4 Section 6 of the Application Form asks for the locality or neighbourhood 

within a locality in respect of which the application is made. This is given 

as: 

 “Winterslow Parish”  

 A Plan of the Winterslow CP, showing the Application Land in relation to 

it, is found in Tab 2 of the Applicant’s Bundle of Evidence) (this is what I 

have referred to below as Applicant’s Bundle A – AB/A Tab 2). 

 

                                                        
1 The footpaths in the area shown on the map of Winterslow CP in App/A Tab 2 and the Plan with 
the s.31(6) Statutory Declaration at Ob/A Tab 7 p.28M. See Applicant’s Closing Submissions at 
paragraph [7] p. 3. 

Page 162



 9 

2.5 The justification for the Application is set out in Section 7, which states: 

“Indulgence by a significant number of inhabitants of Winterslow as 

of right in lawful sports and pastimes for a period of at least 20 years 

and 5 months under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006, as 

witnessed by the 63 enclosed signed statements showing use for 

activities including dog walking, picking blackberries, kite flying and 

bicycle riding by a total of 63 people over a period extending from 

December 1990 to April 2011.” 

 

2.6 Section 8 of the Application gave the owners of the land as “Mr. Richard 

Sheppard and Wiltshire County Council”. In fact, the position is as follows: 

(1) The registered landowners of almost all of the Application Land 

are Mr. Richard and Mrs. Patricia Sheppard. This is subject to three 

exceptions. 

(2) An area in the north-west corner of Brown’s Copse is owned by 

Wiltshire Council. The Council, in its capacity as land owner, wrote 

to the Applicant on 29th October 2014 asking them to exclude their 

land which is held for housing purposes from the Application. 

(3) There is a small triangle of land that abuts the north-eastern end of 

the Council’s land that is unregistered. There is a much smaller 

area abutting the north-western corner of the Council’s land that is 

also unregistered. 

(4) In the south-eastern corner of the Application Land is an electrical 

sub-station owned by Scottish Electric.  

 

2.7 In addition to the objections from Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard, three 

representations were received by the RA. The letter (signed by 24 

residents) from residents of Highfield Crescent stated that whilst they did 

not want to see any development on the Application Land they did want 

to correct information the RA had been given. They stated that the land 

not been used as a sports field and that Winterslow has sufficient areas 

for sports or other pastimes. It was, the residents further said, only when 

Page 163



 10 

the land was left fallow or set aside that certain people thought it right to 

use it as a dumping ground for their rubbish, a dog walking area and as a 

short cut though the area is adequately served with footpaths. There was 

also correspondence from L E Rogers, several letters from the Objectors 

and a letter from John Glen MP. In addition, there was an email from 

Councillor Christopher Devine. Although, an email from Wiltshire 

Council’s Legal Services was received, there was no objection from them 

as landowner and no correspondence from Southern Electric Plc. 

 

2.8 The Applicant was provided with, and given the opportunity to comment 

on, the objections and related correspondence. However, no further 

comments were received from the Applicant. 

 

2.9 The Application was considered by the RA in a decision report dated 31 

January 2014.2 This stated that it is the RA’s duty to determine an 

application in a fair and reasonable manner and where there is a serious 

dispute, or if the case is of great local interest, it is open to the authority to 

hold a non-statutory inquiry held by an independent Inspector, who 

would then prepare a report with recommendations. The decision report 

recommended that course of action accordingly. The report (on p. 6) 

contains a useful plan showing the land ownership of the Application 

Land (referred to in paragraph 2.6 above). 

 

 

3. CASE FOR THE APPLICANT 

3.1 The Applicant provided two bundles of documents and a bundle of legal 

authorities. The first bundle of documents, which I shall refer to hereafter 

as “AB/A” (Applicant’s Bundle A), included: 

(1) In respect of each of the witnesses to be called at the Inquiry: 

(a) A signed and dated statement; 

(b) An evidence questionnaire; and 

                                                        
2 Applicant’s Bundle B Tab 11 – AB/B Tab 11 

Page 164



 11 

(c) Supporting photographic evidence, where applicable.3 

(2) Signed and dated statements and questionnaires of 7 others relied 

upon but called as witnesses. 4 

(3) Other Evidence questionnaires relied upon.5 

 

3.2 The Applicant provided an Outline of the Case and Opening Speech. The 

mattes referred to included: 

 (1) The statutory test and how the Application meets it. 

(2) The nature of the Application Land and that agricultural land and 

the Copse can be registered, as there is no requirement that it 

resemble a traditional village green. 

(3) It is not in dispute that the vast majority of the claimed user is 

from inhabitants who live, or have lived, within the locality during 

the relevant period. 

(4) Sufficiency of use does not require that LSP be carried on 

sufficiently frequently throughout daylight hours or at all times of 

the year. 

(5) Furthermore, it is not necessary for the local inhabitants to have 

set their feet everywhere on the Application Land. The fact that 

LSP is predominantly confined to areas which are most readily 

accessible does not prevent the registration of the whole land. In 

this respect, it is clear that the natural state of land may cause its 

accessibility to fluctuate during the relevant period. 

(6) Assertion to a reasonable landowner of a right to engage in LSP is 

not necessarily inconsistent with the user predominantly taking 

place on informal paths.6 

(7) Qualifying use must “as of right”. LSP that is by force is not 

qualifying use. Use by force is not simply confined to physical force 

                                                        
3 AB/A Tab 4 
4 AB/A Tab 5 
5 AB/A Tab 6  
6 See paragraphs [19]-[22] on pp.7-9 of the Applicant’s Outline Legal Submissions. 

Page 165



 12 

and use will be by force where the landowner had made it clear 

that such use is contentious. 

(8) The facts of this case are on all fours with R (Oxfordshire and 

Buckinghamshire Mental health Trust) v Oxfordshire CC [2010] 

EWHC 530  and the wording of the signs is identical. 

(9) The fencing relied upon by the Objectors that was put up at the top 

of the field by Highfield Crescent, was put up by the Council and 

not the landowners. In any event, the vast majority of the 

Application Land remained  entirely open and accessible. 

(10) The statutory depositions under the Highways Act have no effect 

on whether user was “as of right”. More importantly, those 

depositions would not have been communicated to the reasonable 

person exercising LSP over the Application Land.  

(11) It is clear from the evidence questionnaires and detailed 

statements that qualifying user occurred throughout the relevant 

20-year period.7  

 

3.3 The following witnesses gave evidence at the Inquiry in support of the 

Application: 

 Glyn Paton 

Philip Beagle 

David Rickard 

Dr Ian Flindell 

Julia House 

Simon Day 

Penny Fooks 

Christine Stevens 

Paul Hardiman 

Jeanette Solomon 

Tim Crossland 

Elizabeth Page 

                                                        
7 See paragraph [37] on pp. 13-4 of the Applicant’s Outline Legal Submissions. See also the 
Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [11]-13] on pp.5-6. 

Page 166



 13 

Dr Kay Putman 

Barry Clark 

Michael Yates 

 

3.4  I now summarise the key points of the oral evidence of each of these 

witnesses. In doing this, I use the following abbreviations: 

 EQ:   Evidence Questionnaire  

In-chief:  Evidence given in-chief 

XX:    Cross-examination by the opposing advocate 

 Re-ex:   Re-examination by the witness’ advocate 

  

 

 Glyn Paton8 

Mr. Paton moved to The Flashett, near the telephone box on Middleton 

Road, in 1992. He said that he was aware of the Application Land as soon 

as he moved in, as he would go across it to the shops. His two daughters 

were 3 and 10 years old when they moved in (and thus 2 and 9 in 1991, 

as pointed out in xx of Mr. Paton).  His main access onto the land was from 

the entrance in the south-east corner (OB-A Tab 5 at p.23H) or from the 

path behind the village hall (but not 23G) 

 

His and his family’s use of the Application Land 

They used the land as a recreational area and not just for walking the dog, 

which they had between 1999 and 2008  (he had originally said 1994 to 

2002). He used the area between Middleton Road and Brown’s Copse to 

train the dog. The children crossed the land to school but not with him as 

he was working (as confirmed under xx but in comparison to his answer 

to Q.15 on his EQ). At the weekends, he used the land as a route to the 

village shop (to pick up the papers) and to go to the pub and as a place of 

recreation and enjoyed the wildlife – e.g. bluebells, anemones and 

celandines.  Most of the time they would have the dog with them. 

                                                        
8 AB/A Tab 4 p.124 

Page 167



 14 

The wildlife was predominantly in the Copse but certain areas didn’t have 

bluebells. There was not one area of the wood that they would use 

regularly but would tend to use the part towards the centre. There were 

many ways they would get into the Copse – at least 4 ways from their 

house. When the land had been ploughed up, they still used the Copse. He 

said that  from time to time they would have family walks and that most 

weeks they would visit the Copse, except when they were away on 

holiday. Mr. Paton said the paths accounted for around 5-10% of the 

Copse. In re-ex, Mr. Paton said that there was a main path in the Copse but 

there were also lots of paths diverging off – there was a diagonal path that 

was slightly wider. He also explained in re-ex that since 2011 the Copse 

was more trodden on as people can’t use the field and the main path was 

wider than in 2009/10. He said that the Copse was predominantly hazel 

coppice and there were shrubs throughout. 

Mr. Paton said that he would spend about 10 minutes on the land, if just 

crossing but may stop for a chat. But if going into the Copse they could be 

there for up to 1hr. he said that there were dens in the Copse.  

He had used the paths around the outskirts of the land – he used those to 

get onto the land. He also used the path along the eastern edge of the 

Copse and had accessed the Copse from that path. He said that (referring 

to the aerial photo at OB-A Tab 9 p.71) there were at least 7 tracks across 

the land. 

The children used the land until they were teenagers. He said that when 

his youngest daughter  (born in 1989) comes home she regularly goes for 

a walk in the Copse. 

Under xx, M. Paton said that they had used a variety of paths from 

Middleton Road, depending upon how muddy the land was, to go to and 

from the school. He also  accepted (under xx) that his main/predominant  

use was (besides dog walking) of the land was to transit and most people 

would say that it was used for transit. He said (under xx that he recalled 

that the tracks were pronounced, as shown on the aerial photos at OB/A 

tab 5 at pp. 23/23A. 

Page 168



 15 

Use of the land by others 

Mr. Paton referred to dog walking and said under xx that this was not just 

dogs running off. He said there had been a bonfire on the land. He also 

referred to others sledging – he said they didn’t have a steeper field 

elsewhere. 

He said that he would bump into people on the Land – neighbours and 

friends – he mentioned the Hendersons, who had a dog and who they 

would regularly meet. He also mentioned the Ryans, Phil and Mandy and 

the Glovers, Sue and her husband, who had now sadly passed away. 

He said that it was not just small children that use the woods and he saw 

dens in the Copse all the time. 

 

Challenges and Signs 

Mr. Paton said that he didn’t know who the landowners were. He had 

never been challenged on the land and there had been no interruptions in 

his use. He didn’t think that he needed permission to go on the Land. 

He hadn’t seen any signs until the big ones were pout up in 2011. He said 

that he would have gone past the earlier signs as he went onto the land 

where post 2 is. He said that he didn’t have a dog in 2009 (when the two 

posts were erected) but did go on the land on Saturdays and/or Sundays 

having come from the village shop.  

Under xx, when referred to the two 2009 posts (position seen on 

photograph in OB-A at  Tabs 9 & 10 pp. 71-3), he confirmed that he 

couldn’t remember the signs. He said he would have gone past the post 2 

position but not post 1. He didn’t see the post at the top of the field but 

repeated that he had go that way every week. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 169



 16 

 Philip Beagle9 

Mr. Beagle lives at the Old Post Office on Middleton Road. He first became 

aware of the Application Land in 1999/200 when he visited. He parked in 

the village hall car park and saw people using the field. He moved to his 

current property from Salisbury in 2000.  

 

 His and Family’s Use of the Application Land 

Mr. Beagle said that he would walk his dogs on the land at least twice a 

day – this would begin at 7.30 am or earlier in the summer. He also ran on 

the land. He had dogs from 2000 onwards. He now has 2, the youngest is 

just over 3 years old. He had 3 dogs for a short period. When running they 

would do circular runs and the dogs would go with them. They would 

walk the dogs as well. 

He would access the land from Middleton Road by the  telephone box – as 

shown on the photograph at p.23i of OB/A Tab 5. He used that entrance 

before the field was ploughed. He amended the plan showing the tracks 

over the path submitted with the modification order application, showing 

more tracks. 

When walking the dogs they would go onto the land by the telephone box 

and either go up the field along the inside of the hedge along Middleton 

Road towards the top corner or go straight across from the telephone box 

entrance into the Copse. The Copse was hazel with thinnest bushes. It was 

regularly cut – every year or twice a year. There were bluebells with kids 

doing things – rope swings in the southern part. He remembered a blue 

nylon rope swing and swings are a fairly regular feature – he would say 

they were there 80% of the time. It is the point where children stop off at 

on the way home from school. On the dog walking route they would 

usually come out onto the path and possibly go up to the water tower and 

around or back along Yarnley Lane and through the village. 

                                                        
9 AB/A Tab 4 p.31 

Page 170



 17 

He trained each dog for about 6-9 months (3 different ones over the 

years). This was done on the eastern part of the land as it was less steep 

and shielded from the Road. 

They used to collect sloes from adjacent to Middleton Road and 

blackberries that grew on all perimeters of the field including the eastern 

side of the slope, east and north of the Copse and east and north of the 

field, including the southern corner. 

Under xx, Mr. Beagle accepted that whilst the grass was growing it was 

not as easy to walk through – in June/July it would be 1ft and 2ft tall by 

September. Mr. Beagle said that the grass lay down when it rained, when 

it was suggested to him that it was 2ft when not even standing up 

straight. He said that there were flatter areas and it was not fair to say 

that anyway in May to June. When it was put to him that people would not 

be able to walk through the grass, Mr. Beagle said that may be so for 4-6 

weeks of the 52 weeks, but it may be less than that. When it was 

suggested to Mr. Beagle that there would have been thistles and brambles, 

he said that might have been so in one or two places.  

 

 Activities By Others 

He saw children using swings in the Copse. He saw Chris Waters (his 

neighbour) walking his dogs. He saw others walking and training dogs  - 

Bill and Mandy – they had a golden retriever and used to meet up with 

another lady with a border terrier and with others. Kids would ride their 

bikes on the paths. When there was snow, there were snow ball fights and 

sledging. He saw someone flying a kite once. He saw blackberrying. 

Mr. Beagle said it was an open field with some very prominent tracks (2m 

wide) and some less prominent. Many people used the land. He said there 

were a dozen tracks from the centre of the field. However, people didn’t 

stick to the tracks – they walked on the grass, which was at various times 

fairly short. If the ground was wet, one would tend not to stray off the 

tracks.  

Page 171



 18 

He said that there were other activities almost everywhere – sledging on 

the top steeper end of the field; showmen almost anywhere; bikes were 

ridden along the bottom and along eastern edge of the Copse. He had seen 

a bench, which was not useable, in the bushes that had been on the 

pavement. 

It was suggested to Mr. Beagle that the aerial photographs showed no 

other signs of activity, other than the tracks of LSP. He didn’t agree that 

this meant there was no LSP taking place as he said there would be a 

“dispersal” effect – you wouldn’t see the tracks from children on bikes 

that had gone across the ground once or twice and these would not show 

on a satellite photograph. Mr. Beagle said (in re-ex) that he had walked 

over virtually every inch of the land and the transit routes would not 

affect his use. 

It was also put to Mr. Beagle under xx that the land was between 

important destinations in the village – in the SE the village hall, doctors’ 

surgery and in the NW the shop, pub and school. Mr. Beagle said the 

children going to the nursery would be just as likely to go down the 

tarmac path (to the west of the Copse) as across the field. He also said that 

he didn’t use the Surgery and people tend to get out of a car when visiting 

that facility. With regard to the village hall, it was suggested to Mr. Beagle 

that the activities included the Badminton Club, dance classes, functions, 

parties, and the Truffles Coffee Shop was open on Mon-Fri 10am-12 noon. 

He said in re-exam that most people came to the village hall on foot, with 

a percentage by car. He said that the Hall was fairly busy. 

 

 Challenges and Signs 

He saw no signs but did see post on the ground. He said that there was no 

post by his entrance onto the land or on coning out from the Copse. He 

saw a post on the ground near the village hall – he saw that once or twice 

but it was not there long. His use during the relevant period was not 

interrupted.  

Page 172



 19 

He had met the landowners on the land once or twice and just said hello. 

There were pleasant greetings. He didn’t know who they were at the time. 

They never said anything to him about using the land. He met then 

coming out of the top end of the Copse. 

Under xx, it was suggested to Mr. Beagle (referring to point 7 on 

photograph at p.23F at Tab 5 of OB/A) that the post at the southern end 

(Post 1) was only 20 yards from where he entered the field. He said that it 

was “maybe 30 yards”. It was suggested to Mr. Beagle that the post would 

have been there on at least 28 occasions when he entered the field. He 

said that he might have been away in Feb and March 2009. He said that he 

didn’t recall seeing the posts sticking up. He saw post in the bushes lying 

down. Mr. Beagle said that when entering and going across the land he 

would not go past the post – he would turn right along the hedgerow or 

go straight across to the Copse. The evening walk would have been in the 

dark and in the morning, it would have been low light. In re-ex, Mr. Beagle 

said that the 4 current signs in neon red were fairly hard to miss unlike 

the initial 2 posts. 

 

Photo 23B (OB/A Tab B) showing the broken fence in the north-west 

corner of the Application Land was put to Mr. Beagle, who said that his 

access onto the land was in the south-east corner by the village hall. 

 

 

 David Rickard10 

Mr. Rickard has lived opposite Middleton Road since    1964. The land was 

cornfield when they moved in until it was set aside in the 1980s. Since 

then, the field has been left idle. There is no disincentive for people to 

wander through into the field to enjoy the wildflowers etc. The obvious 

entrance was from the right of way near to the Village Hall. 

 

 

                                                        
10 AB/A Tab 4 p. 142 

Page 173



 20 

 His own and his family’s use of the Application Land 

He has used the land with his children (born in 1966 and 1969) and his 4 

grandchildren who are in their teens now but visit regularly. He has used 

the land to cross from the Village Hall car park up towards the shop going 

into Woodlands Drive to avoid using path around the Copse and it is a 

more interesting route to view wildflowers and to avoid Middleton Road. 

They paths used varied but mainly go on a path up through the middle of 

the land but children, he said, don’t stick to the main path. They would 

bring kites and radio controlled aircraft onto the field – they would travel 

about 20 yards at the most and usually end up in tree. 

In the Copse, they would swing from the trees using a rope. They would 

use one of the big trees not in the centre but more to the field side of the 

Copse. There has been a rope swing there for the last 20 years.  

Under xx, it was pointed out to Mr. Rickard that he said in answer to Q.15 

of the EQ that he used the land “occasionally”. He said that he would go 

across 2 or 3 times for shopping or wander over there with family or 

friends. He confirmed that his children would have been 25 and 32 in 

1991 and had left home by then. (being in Birmingham and near 

Andover). He described Middleton Road (in his Statement (AB/A Tab 4 p. 

142) as “incredibly dangerous”. He agreed under xx that although in some 

case he did actually carry out activities on the land he did mainly use it to 

get from one side of the field to the other. In re-ex, Mr. Rickard said that 

when he went into the Copse he was not using it to cross and he 

occasionally saw others; other children. It was almost a public amenity, he 

said. 

 

 Use of the Application Land by Others 

 Children always wandered into the Copse and played there. 

 

 

 

 

Page 174



 21 

 Challenges and Signs 

Mr. Rickard said that nothing prevented him using the land. He was not 

aware of any signs until 2011.  He only really accessed the land from the 

car park  (point 5 on photo at p. 23F – OB/A tab 5) and he didn’t see signs 

or posts in that area. He confirmed that he was aware of the current signs 

– assaying the land was Private.. The land had been set aside and not 

fenced. 

 

 

 Dr. Ian Flindell11 

Dr. Flindell has lived in the village since 1994. He has 4 children born in 

1979, 1984, 1987 and 1989. It is only the two younger children who have 

used the field. He lives at the other end of the village and has no direct 

view of the land. 

 

His and his family’s use of the Application Land 

He personally didn’t use the land other than to cross to the village hall. He 

did take the dog onto the land in 1997 and met several others doing so, 

which was good for socializing the dog. Under xx, he said that this was not 

a regular occurrence – it was during the summer and once a week then. 

They had quite a large garden but their dog didn’t meet others there. They 

went anywhere on the land. That was for 5 years or so.  

They went into Copse and took pictures of the bluebells. The younger 

boys go to the Copse in the Summer and build dens. From time to time 

boys sledge on the land and met other children. On occasions, they had 

gone there everyday for a couple of weeks. They also go to Plantation 

Woods on the other side of the village, which has a footpath through it. In 

the Copse, there are paths all around; they exit through the Copse onto 

the field (having entered the Copse from the footpath on the west side). 

                                                        
11 AB/A Tab 4 p.74 

Page 175



 22 

He could remember the brambles in the west corner of the field by 

Highfield Crescent between there and Woodland Drive.  

 

 Signs and Challenges 

Dr. Flindell said that he had no concerns about his children going onto the 

land as he had assumed that it was public amenity land. He didn’t know 

that it belonged to Mr. Sheppard. He wasn’t aware of any indication that 

he shouldn’t be on the land. He didn’t remember seeing any notices.  

Under xx (taken to pp.72 & 73 of OB/A Tabs 9 &10), Dr. Flindell 

confirmed that he had no recollection of seeing the post during the 2 

weeks in Feb 2009. He said that possibly the bottom post was there but 

he never saw it. With regard to the bottom post (referred to photo on p. 

75), he said that could possibly remember the rubbish but not the post – 

that was the area where the brambles are. 

He saw the remains of the fence along Highfield Crescent, with there 

being wire on the ground (see photograph on p.51 of AB/A Tab 4). He 

didn’t remember the tree shown in that photograph though. Under xx 

(taken to photograph 23B in OB/A Tab 5), Dr. Flindell said that he 

believed that there were bits of old rusty wire at that point in the broken 

fence from 1995/6/7. In re-ex, he gave the date as between 1993-2000. 

He didn’t recall the fence being reinstated – there was a gap in the posts 

as well. He said that his impression was that there had been a boundary 

there at one time but it had not been maintained. He didn’t remember any 

fencing between the Copse and the field. There were possibly a few posts 

between the copse and the adjacent footpath. 

With regard to the gate on the southern boundary (at point 5 of 

photograph 23F – OB/A Tab 5), he could see no other reason why the gate 

was there other than to allow access onto the land.  

 

 

Page 176



 23 

 Julia House12 

Mrs. House lives at Gunville Hill. She has a daughter and a son born in 

1989 and 1992. She has known the Application Land since 1993. She said 

that she didn’t know the copse and the field were part of the same land – 

she hadn’t realised that the Copse was privately owned, although she 

knew that the field was. 

 

 Her Use of the Application Land 

She used the land from 1993 until 2003 at least once per week when child 

minding. Her use after 2003 was more intermittent/occasional. She 

entered the land from the south – by the tennis courts through the gate or 

by the telephone box.  

She looked after 6 children at a time, who were mostly local. There had 

been about 25 from Winterslow over that period. They walked up to 

school in the village not using the field and then back using the field and 

going to the Village Hall. They would alternate the route for out and back. 

Under xx, Mrs. House said that they would go up to school on the bus and 

walk back but depending upon the weather and also what the children 

wanted to do. After lunch, they had between 1-3. They would sometimes 

go into the Copse – entering at the top. She used to look after quite young 

children. They would play on the path on the field where the grass was 

shorter. They would play hide and seek in the longer grass. Boys under 3 

like to hit with sticks. The girls prefer craft –they play pickup acorns in 

the copse rather than on the field. The older children liked the woods and 

the younger ones liked the short grass. 

Asked under xx about what they did in wet weather, Mrs. House said that 

“it was ok with wellies as it was nice for the children to go into the muddy 

wood”. She said that if it was dry, they would go on the field and if muddy 

go into the wood. This was about 3 times per week. On Wednesday, they 

always walked back because of the hour-long activity.  

 
                                                        
12 AB/A Tab 4 p.96 

Page 177



 24 

 Use of Application Land by others 

She used to regularly meet friends, including those who are dog walkers 

including Lizzie Dixon, Caroline Henderson, Kate Church, Gill MacKay, 

Linda Mace – they are all from Winterslow. 

They would meet other children when child minding. 2 of her friends 

(Kate Church and Linda Mace) were child minders so they would 

sometimes go together. 

Under xx, Mrs. House said that people would always be playing in the 

woods and that it was used more for activities than the field. The field was 

used for chatting, dog walking and playing.  When it was suggested to her 

in xx that the main use of the field was walking across it, she said that was 

so for adults but children would play on the field as it was a nice open 

space. When it was put to her, again in xx, that there were no photos of 

children playing on the land, she replied that she wouldn’t think of taking 

photographs. She added however that there were photographs of sledging 

and that it snows regularly and there are one or two periods when the 

snow settles but not every year. She remembered the first year when the 

field was packed with sledgers. The last time she could remember her 

daughter using the field for sledging was in 2010 for 3-4 days. She also 

referred to the wildlife on the land at different times of the year.  

 

 Signs and challenges to use 

She saw the sign on the post near to the Village Hall; but as everyone else 

was using the land, they just carried on, as it was causing no harm. She 

didn’t know how long the sign was there. She read the wording, which 

said no right of way. She imagined that it was not an official route.  

She didn’t realize that the Copse was part of the same land. She 

considered that the sign was referring to the field and not the Copse. 

There was fencing only by the Village Hall. There was fencing on the 

periphery by Highfield Crescent and hedges along the road. 

Page 178



 25 

Under xx about the posts, she said that she understood that they meant 

this was not an official route – so it is not a footpath but she could wander 

around the field. She did not accept that “No ROW” meant “I don’t want 

you on my field”. She said no it meant that it was “just not official”. Mrs. 

House stated that the sign was not saying no access but just that there 

was no right of way. She said that she was unaware that the signs had 

been removed by force on 203 occasions, as was put to her under xx. 

 

 

 Simon Day13  

Mr. Day lives with his family at Middleton and has lived in Winterslow 

since 2007 (at Garlands from July 2007-2008 about ¼ to 1/3 of a mile 

away. When they moved to the village, their children were 5 and 8 years 

of age and learning to ride a bike. 

 

 His and his family’s use of the Application Land 

For the first couple of years they used the land 2-3 times a week. Under 

xx, Mr. Day said that the children walked back and forth during term time 

and had quality time in the field if walking back. Their mum would stop 

and talk, but you would see less fathers doing that. On Thurs/Friday, it 

was Mr. Day who would go with them to school and they would stop and 

play on the land. In the later years, it was more that purpose every few 

weekends. If parents or friends came down or children wanted to play in 

the woods, they would go there. As the children got older, they would let 

them go into the woods on their own. Mr. Day said that he would walk 

around the field (with friends or parents) and end up walking through the 

woods. Under xx, he said that he is on the land now every third weekend – 

mainly in the summer/drier times. The children would go on their bikes 

in the wood even in the wet weather. The copse was more used than the 

field. When they were younger, he saw a lot more people in the field and 

people milling around. 

                                                        
13 AB/A Tab 4 p.64 

Page 179



 26 

So initially, they used the land to cross over to the school. They went from 

the SE corner and up the path. 3 times a week he would go from the shop 

through the field. They would sometimes go into the woods and play 

there with bits of wood they would find and make dens. In the woods, the 

children would play with friends. Quite a lot of children were taught to 

cycle on the field. 

In the summers of 2009, 2010 and 2011, Mr. Day and his wife used the 

tennis courts by the Village Hall (usually on a Sunday) and the boys would 

play in the field where they could keep an eye on them. 

He referred to playing football occasionally in the field, as well as Frisbee 

even when the grass quite long. 

His use of the field stopped when the field was ploughed. 

Under xx, Mr. Day was referred to his answer to Q.14 of his EQ where he 

stated “This piece of land is integral to all the main village facilities…”. He 

accepted that the Village store had a lottery terminal and an off licence 

and that it opens longer (until 8pm) since 2005 and is well stocked. 

 

 Others’ use of the Application Land 

Quite a lot of children were taught to cycle on the field. Mr. Day referred 

to his marked photograph (AB/A Tab4 p.73) and the blue box area shown 

on that. 

If they saw friends on the field, they would have a kick about normally in 

the blue area (on the p.70 aerial photograph) where the grass was 

shorter. 

Mr. Day said “now and again” they would see people walking dogs and it 

was nice to meet them and to get chatting.   

Mr. Day did say “It is mainly people and dog walkers crossing that you 

see.” He didn’t remember a bonfire on the land. 

 

 

 

Page 180



 27 

 Signs and challenges on use 

Mr. Day didn’t recall any signs. He thought that this was public land and it 

does not, he said, appear to be privately owned. There is no physical 

barrier to entering the land. There is fencing only along the road and the 

village hall. However, there is an access point in the fence by the village 

hall, which is a fence for the village hall and not the field. 

When asked (in-chief) whether he had seen the recent signs, Mr. Day 

replied “not really, no”. 

 

 

 Penny Fooks14 

Mrs. Fooks has lived at Saxon Leas since May 2007, having moved to 

Winterslow in 1990 at the top of Gunville Hill (having moved from Suffolk 

in that year). 

 

 Use of Application Land by her and her family 

Mrs. Fooks used the land going to the Village Hall, shops and to visit 

friends. It is a good way of accessing other parts of the village. There were 

a lot of things going on in the Village Hall. When living in Saxon Leas, 

crossing the Application Land was the main route to the shops, friends 

etc. Her son was more interested in nature – picking things up and taking 

them home. He said that he would play in the Copse – making dens; 

playing hide and seek. There were rope swings in the Copse in that 

corner. At the weekend’s her son would go down there but not her. 

Her son, who was born in 1995, went to a nursery school out of the village 

and to the primary school in the village when nearly 5 in 2000 until 2007. 

When he started primary school, they had to make the trek to school on 

other side of the village bus sometimes and sometimes she cycled with 

him on the back of her bike at first up Middleton Road (because the road 

was dangerous, as she said when xx). Sometimes they walked. In the 

average week, they would sometimes walk three times and sometimes 
                                                        
14 AB/A Tab 4 p.75 

Page 181



 28 

more – they would often walk home. When going to school he was not 

recreating. On the way back, he would like going into the Copse. When 

asked under xx whether he would play in the field, Mrs. Fooks said “more 

in the Copse”. He was 12 years old in 2007 and went to secondary school 

out of the village but he still went to the woods – he is very passionate 

about the woods and other woods too. 

She said in he written statement that she has a friend’s dogs after that 

friend had had a stroke – a couple of times per week for a period of 4 

months December 2009- March 2010. 

 

Use of the Application Land by others 

Mrs. Fooks has seen children playing in the Copse and spilling out into 

areas around.  

There was a walking bus from the Village Hall to the school but she was 

not sure what route that would take. 

She saw dog walking, people going for walks; she also saw an archer. It 

was just people who live in the village - they would walk around the land. 

You were very likely to bump into or see 1 other person – you could see 

someone using one or other of the paths. There were 7 or 8 paths, and 

tracks into the Copse – going up to rope swing. 

 

Signs and challenges 

Access was prevented in 2011. She saw stakes without signs for a week. 

She has no idea what they were for; there was one at the top end and 

another one in the south-west corner. There was a stake in the south-east 

corner. The other sign was green and there for a week. She said that she 

remembered not understanding what it was. She continued to use the 

land when the steak was there but didn’t use the land when the other 

signs were erected. She had understood that Mr. Sheppard had given he 

land to the village, as he had done for the Village Hall. 

Page 182



 29 

Under xx Mrs. Fooks said that she could not remember what the green 

sign on the posts said. She said in her written statement that she 

remembered being very puzzled and surprised when access to the field 

was prevented in 2011. She confirmed that she couldn’t believe that she 

no longer could walk across the land. When pressed she accepted that she 

must have read the sign (with the wording as shown at p. 5 of OB/A). 

When it was put to Mrs. Fooks did it not convey to her that the landowner 

did not welcome her on that land, Mrs. Fooks answered “I imagine so”. 

 

 

 Christine Stevens15 

Mrs. Stevens moved into Winterslow Parish in the early 1980s (1983/4). 

Sometimes they would walk into the village from Latcombe Corner. She 

has lived at 11 Woodlands Drive since August 2009. From that property, 

she has a lovely view, she said, overlooking the land with the Copse on the 

rights. Previously she had lived 2 miles out of the village. She has two sons 

born in 1977 and 1979 who went to the local primary school in the 

village. She was recovering from a life-threatening illness in 1995 

 

 Use of Application Land by Mrs. Stevens and her family 

They accessed the land from Daddy King’s Path, by the Village Hall or by 

Woodlands Drive. The children would play on the field in 1986/7. She 

didn’t know whether there were crops then. Under xx, it was put to her 

(by reference to OB/A Tab 8 p.51) that there was barley and wheat on the 

field in 1986/7. Mrs. Stevens said that her sons said to her recently that 

there was a hole in the field. She said that they all used the Copse. They 

used to come into the village regularly. Sometimes they would walk and 

sometimes drive to the village and then walk – sometimes on the Copse 

and the land. It was a delight – the bluebells, other wildflowers, wildlife 

including woodpeckers and owls. There is a primrose bank along the 

Middleton Road side. There was a bank of wild orchids in the middle of 

                                                        
15 AB/A Tab 4 p.160 

Page 183



 30 

the field. There was a flatter area to the east. They moved into Woodland 

Drive and used the field and Copse. 

They used the land much more (“almost on a daily basis”) after 2009, 

once they had moved into Woodland Drive. 

Under xx, Mrs. Stevens said that before they moved into their current 

address they used the land possibly twice a week – she said they went 

into the Copse (cf. Q15 of her EQ – AB/B Tab 4 p.164 – in re-examination 

when asked whether the Questionnaire allowed her to distinguish 

periods, Mrs. Stevens said that she didn’t think so). However, with regard 

to the field she said that she really couldn’t remember whether twice, 

three times or four times – it was going back too far to remember. She 

said that she walked around the perimeter and across the field. When 

asked whether that was sticking to the established tracks, Mrs. Stevens 

said that she often used to but she also walked along Middleton Road side, 

where there was the bank of flowers. She also picked blackberries and 

sloes – the blackberries were along the edge of the Copse. In re-ex, Mrs. 

Stevens said that she picked sloes at the end of autumn for about a month 

(August-September) before there was a frost. 

She was asked about he answers at Q. 14 of her EQ (AB/A Tab 4 p. 164) in 

comparison to her oral evidence. Mrs. Steven answered, unconvincingly in 

my view, that there is a limit to what you can say in small boxes. 

 

 Use of Application Land by others 

She saw children on bikes (3 -4 times a week) – they were on the tracks 

but not all the time. People walked across the field. She saw children 

sledging, mostly from the top end of the field. There was the newspaper 

delivery across that would cut across the field. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 184



 31 

 Signs and Challenges 

There had been nothing to prevent their use. There were no fences – she 

had never seen a fence on that field – there was something along Highfield 

Crescent side. 

There have been signs in the last 2 seasons after the land was rough 

ploughed –then Private Property signs went up (OB/A Tab 11).  

She was aware that Mr. Sheppard owned the land, as she was on the PC 

but she had never been told not to use it. She saw Mr. Sheppard in the 

Copse once and she asked him whether she could gather some sticks and 

Mr. Sheppard said ok if done from the school path. 

 

 

Paul Hardiman16 

Mr. Hardiman moved to Woodland Drive in 1999, having lived outside the 

village before that. His house is end-of-terrace and gives him a full view. 

Mr. Hardiman is a retired police officer who had worked shifts, which 

included doing 7 consecutive nights. His partner had 2 children (then 4 

and 6 years old) he had 3 of his own children (DoB 1988, 1991, 1994) 

who came to visit him regularly – most weekends and in the week. That 

relationship ended in 2006 but he still lived there in 2010-2011 in an 

alternative address in the villa in Gunville Road. They did brownies, 

guides and scouts in the village. That was 2 evening a week and every 

other weekend. The Brownies met at the village hall; the Scouts and 

Guides met at the Methodist Hall, on the Common by the Lions Head 

public house. Mr. Hardiman is a Cub leader. To his knowledge, there had 

been no formal cub use of the land.  

 

Use of Application Land 

They entered the land from the steps in Woodland Drive (see photo 4 on 

p.74 of OB/A Tab 10). 

                                                        
16 AB/A Tab 4 p. 85 

Page 185



 32 

The children used the land as an adventure playground – it had rough 

terrain and was wild like Dartmoor. They liked getting dirty and rushing 

around on bikes. They played there with other friends from the village. It 

was their play area. They used it in the dark. The Copse was the children’s 

regular playground. They played hide and seek and run around and 

explore.  

He used the entire field and on occasions ventured into the Copse to see 

the bluebells etc. He sometimes went with the children into the Copse and 

sometimes they were unattended. 

Under xx, Mr. Hardiman appeared to accept (when he answered “You are 

making a point”) that when the children were older they were not using 

the land as a destination in itself. 

 

 Use of Application Land by others 

Although it was less when raining, there were generally people on the 

land most days. There was use throughout the seasons but greater use in 

the summer and during lighter evenings. 

Under xx, when it was suggested that the predominant use of the land was 

as a place of transit and that Middleton Road was “nasty”, Mr. Hardiman 

said that there was a mixture of transit and recreational use of the land 

but and that you wouldn’t choose to use Middleton Road to go to and from 

the village. He said his use was 50/50. 

There was dog walking on the land most times of the day/evening and 

people chatting. There were school children going home; joggers (across 

the land); walkers. There were berries around the Copse – sloes and 

blackberries along the Middleton Road side – hazel saplings in Copse and 

blackberries grow everywhere. 

It was put to Mr. Hardiman in xx, and he agreed, that for most of the 

period ending in 2011 there were well worn tracks across the field. He 

also agreed that it was a convenient crossing point. In re-ex, Mr. 

Hardiman said that there remained substantial groups he used the field 

Page 186



 33 

(and not just the tracks), which was (he clarified to me) quite regularly. 

He said it was used  for chatting, a gathering place, dog walkers, children 

on their bikes, going into the woods. 

 

 Signs and Challenges 

He saw the signs in 2011 (the Private property ones in OB/A tab 11) 

when he moved back. He noticed that the field had been ploughed. He saw 

no other signs before then. He saw the rubbish pile (of garden waste) in 

photo 4 of OA/A Tab 10 – that was always there, he said. However, he 

never saw the post on that waste. 

Under xx, he said that he would go onto the land 4 times a week. He was 

taken to the post and sign that was there in Feb 2009 (OB/A Tab 10 p.73) 

– it was pointed out that this was very close to his home. He was also 

referred to Mr. Sheppard saying that the posts were torn out and re-

erected on 2-3 occasions and after 2 weeks he gave up. Mr. Hardiman said 

that he saw no post. He said that some of journeys (across the land) were 

in darkness – when going to the Scouts.  He was referred to the wording 

(on p.5 of OB/A) which said “No Public Right of Way” and in xx it was said 

this is what the “very small sign says. WCC put the sign up.” Mr. Hardiman 

was also referred in xx to what Penny Fooks said about the sign – people 

were puzzled, she said, when they saw the signs. It was suggested to him 

that he was bound to see it. 

 

 

Jeanette Solomon17 

Mrs. Solomon has lived in the area for 59 years, having gone to the local 

Primary School in the village. She used to live in Weston lane but moved 

away and then back in 2006 to her current address in Livery Road. 

However, in her EQ at Q.36  (AB/A Tab 4 p.157) she stated that she had 

carried on the activities on the land for 14 years. 

 

                                                        
17 AB/A Tab 4 p.151 

Page 187



 34 

Use of Application Land 

She entered the land from the footpath next to Bluebell Wood. She cut 

into the field just before the railings to the Village Hall. She did a circular 

route around the wood – diagonally to NW corner and back onto the blue 

footpath.  

In her EQ (at Q.15) Mrs. Solomon said that she walked her dog on the land 

at least once a day. Under xx, she said that it was at least twice a day but 

her dog died in 2011. It was suggested to Mrs. Solomon that she had 

embellished and exaggerated her evidence. She denied this saying that 

she was busy. She went through the EQ quietly. 

After she moved back in 2006, she parked by Bluebell Wood in Highfield 

Crescent. The circuit took about 20-25 minutes unless she met someone 

and had time to talk to them. She did this 2-3 times a day. If she had 

plenty of time, she would walk from home but the majority of the time she 

drove. She did an evening walk too as she felt safe there. 

 

Use of Application Land by Others 

She met people but couldn’t remember their names. A person with 3 dogs; 

a lady with 2 black Labradors; gentleman with Springer spaniels – Mr. 

Beagle. Children built wigwam in the Copse. She saw coppicing in the 

wood – 4 or 5 times from 2006. She saw children going through or playing 

in the wood. By playing, they were running around, especially when 

leaves had fallen as they would kick up the leaves. 

 

Signs and Challenges 

In about 2009, she asked the owner whether she could collect wood for 

her then new Jet Master Fire. He was happy, she said, for her to do so. She 

didn’t ask permission to go in the wood, as people were going into the 

wood. She assumed that it was a right of way. There were no signs and 

she collected small bundles of wood (kindling not logs as she clarified 

Page 188



 35 

under xx) from near where she parked her car in Highfield Crescent. 

Under xx, she said that she did this perhaps once or twice a week. 

Nothing stopped her use. There was only a fence by the Village Hall but 

that didn’t affect her at all. The only sign was pick up dog mess but that 

was not on the land. She has seen the recent signs (see OB/A Tab 11), 

which are very visible at both ends, she believes. On being shown photo 

23B (OB/A Tab 5), Mrs. Solomon said that she remembered seeing 

fencing but she imagined it had been like that for some time. She didn’t 

recall seeing any repairs there. On being shown a picture of the northern 

post (OB/A Tab 10 p.74), she said that she did not remember seeing it 

when she walked. There was nothing on it. She didn’t recall the other 

(southern) post (p.73) either – but she didn’t walk that way – she walked 

where the white  (snow) is around the edge of the Copse. 

Under xx, she said that she didn’t recall anyone telling her about what the 

2009 signs said. She said that she wasn’t sure whether she had seen the 

sign. She then said she might have seen it but there was nothing on it as 

far as she could tell. She said that was plus the fact that people were still 

walking I there. Mrs. Solomon went on to say that she can assume that it 

said perhaps that you should not be walking on there. 

 

 

Tim Crossland18 

Mr. Crossland made the Application on behalf of WOOD. He moved to 

Winterslow, to his current address in Middleton Road, with his wife and 

two daughters (who are now 17 and 13, having been born in 1997 and 

2000) in August 2005. There some of his photos of his daughters with the 

application form. He was advised by the Open Spaces Society that 

designation would protect the land from development. The land can be 

seen from his property. The person they purchased it from told them that 

it was common land. 

 

                                                        
18 AB/A Tab 4 p. 52 

Page 189



 36 

Use of the Application Land 

They have used the land from when they moved in. They walk the dog 

there twice a day. They enter the land on the FP at the corner of 

Middleton Road and the Causeway (Point E shown on photo 23E at OB/A 

Tab 5) and walk across the field to the Copse and the dog runs about 

there. They went both straight across the land and diagonally across. The 

dog ran around – they would throw balls. The children ran about. This 

was around the area to the East of the Copse. He would walk the dog 

either after work or during the lunch break. His wife walked the dog in 

the morning and he did later. 

The children ran around to the east and north-east of the Copse. He 

taught his elder daughter to ride her bicycle alongside the Copse – that 

was when she was 9 years of age, in 2006. They sledged on the north-

west part of the land. They picked blackberries along the northern 

footpath and north-east corner of the Copse. 

At the weekend he would go to the village shop and pub as well as 

stopping and doing things on the land. 

 

Use of the Application Land by others 

Mr. Crossland referred to walking his 2 dogs on the land – the dogs ran 

about. He regularly saw people on the land from his house – it was, he 

added, normal to see people on the land – their use of the land varied – at 

the start and end of the school day people would walk through the land. 

There also people walking dogs, flying kites (see the photograph on p.63 

of OB/A Tab4) and occasionally kicking a football around. In response to 

my question, Mr. Crossland said that he saw kite flying  not frequently – 2 

to 3 times a year. Under xx, Mr. Crossland was asked whether he was sure 

that the photo did not show snow. 

Mr. Crossland said that the main activity on the land was people walking 

dogs – not just walking through the land but stopping and walking 

around. Under xx, he accepted that people walking through the land 

Page 190



 37 

would stick to the paths to avoid the grass. He said that when the grass 

was long  (in June and July certainly) most people kept to the tracks. He 

said that the longer grass did not worry him. Mr. Crossland also said that 

he had said all along that the majority are traversing and are going to and 

from sites but I also said people are using it for recreational purposes. In 

re-ex, Mr. Crossland was asked how substantial the remaining 

recreational use on the land was. He replied that that regularly took place 

on the land rather than just walking through – it was primarily dog 

walkers like themselves and they would go into the longer grass. 

Referring to the School Calendar photograph on p.54 of AB/A Tab 4), he 

said that the bluebells were fairly seasonal (Mr. Crossland was a Governor 

of the School at the time). 

 

Signs and Challenges 

He said that nobody stopped him using the land and nothing prevented 

access to it. It was ploughed on 4th April 2011 and people stopped using it 

then. He said the fence by Highfield Crescent was there when he moved to 

the village – he referred to a concrete post, metal, wires. 

He didn’t know when the more recent “Private Property – Please Keep 

Off” signs had appeared. He said that he understood those to mean that he 

should not go onto the land – no entry. The earlier 2009 signs meant, he 

said, that the owner does not want a footpath put onto his land. 

He was referred to the plan of the tracks (p.30 of OB/A tab 8) under xx 

and asked which track he thinks the landowner was referring to in his 

2009 sign. Mr. Crossland said he didn’t know and one would have to ask 

the land owner but he would say the track between B & F or E (both 

through I). It was then suggested to him that on his approach the owner 

wanted to stop that but was happy for people to wander over his land. 

Reference was made to Penny Fooks saying that people were puzzled by 

the sign and he was asked whether he had been puzzled. Mr. Crossland 

said he didn’t know why the sign was put up. When it was said that Mrs. 

Fooks said that the effect of the sign was that trespassers in the field were 

Page 191



 38 

unwelcome, Mr. Crossland disagreed with that interpretation. When it 

was put to him that he was saying that the landowner was permitting this, 

he replied that the owner could have put a fence up. 

 

 

Elizabeth Page19 

Mrs. Page has lived in Livery Road since 1986 and before that in 

Middleton Road from 1976. 

  

 Use of the Application Land 

During the relevant period her main use was when her son William (who 

was born in 1989) was at his first 3 years of school starting in 1994 – he 

was minded by Julia House (who also gave evidence to the Inquiry as 

recorded above) from 1996 to 1997 for one day a week whilst she was 

working. She sat with Mrs. House in the field near the Copse while her son 

played in the wood for 3/4 hr while Mrs. House’s daughter had a ballet 

class in the Village Hall. He would play with dens in the wood that others 

had made as he was too young then to actually make a den.  

Under xx, Mrs. Page confirmed that it was only early years that she would 

meet up with Mrs. House on the land and pick her son. In re-ex, she said 

that she had been on the Village Hall Committee since 2007-2011. She 

said there were people on the land until it was ploughed to the same 

extent as before. She didn’t think the use changed (from the early years). 

When xx on this answer Mrs. Page accepted that she would only have a 

view from the table tennis room of the Village Hall and also from the car 

park. She said that she did see people throwing balls for dogs. 

  

 Use of the Application Land by others 

People would walk across  and people would exercise their dogs. It was a 

good space in the middle of all of the houses. It was a good place to throw 

                                                        
19 AB/A Tab 4 p.114 

Page 192



 39 

things for dogs to run after rather than just go along with a dog on a lead. 

This would mainly take place near the Village Hall where the land was 

flatter. There were people walking through – there would be a stream 

coming back from school. They would come from Woodland Drive along 

the eastern side of the Copse or diagonally across the land into the corner 

by the Village Hall. 

  

 Signs and Challenges 

Mrs. Page knew it was Mr. Sheppard’s land but it was just used as 

common land. She never saw the owners on the land.  

Sometimes the fence was breached by Highfield Crescent. She was not 

sure how long the fence had been there. It was there 5-10 years ago and 

in a better state but she couldn’t say before that. There was fencing 

around the Village Hall too but not elsewhere. 

  

  

 Dr. Kay Putman20 

Dr. Putman moved to Winterslow in 1988. She lives near to the village 

shop on The Flood. 

   

 Use of the Application Land 

She uses the land weekly (cf. Q.15 of her EQ – AB/A Tab 4 p. 136 “several 

times a week”) to go to the Church or collect prescriptions from the 

Doctors’ Surgery. She uses the diagonal path to cross the land. She enters 

the land from the path shown in photo p.74 (OB/A Tab 10) but not using 

the steps. 

She used the Copse when her son (DoB 1990) was small. When he was a 

little older, he would go into the Copse. There were dens there but he 

would make his own. Her son used the land from when he was 9 years old 

                                                        
20 AB/A Tab 4 p.133 

Page 193



 40 

(1999) to 2012 when he was 12 years old perhaps but it was difficult to 

recall. Her use continued until the land was ploughed in 2011. 

Once it was obvious that there were paths, she would take her son across 

the field as she is interested in flowers. What was of interest depended 

upon the time of the year?  From May to June, most flowers were out. 

There were brambles in the autumn; on the hill towards the shop was 

where there were most. Low growing brambles were found by the 

diagonal footpath in the north-west part of the field. Some years it was 

full, others not. It was quite wet at the bottom of the field. Someone said 

they had seen as orchid, she had not. 

They did blackberrying in the north-west corner on the northern 

boundary of the Copse in most years and she made jam in the autumn 

  

 Use of the Application Land by others 

She met people on the land who she knew to be local. It was mostly dog 

walkers – including people playing with dogs. There were ball games and 

children cycling bikes. The area used would vary as people moved 

around. 

Under  xx, Dr. Putman said “certainly when snowing a lot of people would 

use it”. It was then put to her that there were 3 main snow events – Feb 

2004; Jan/Feb 2009; and Jan 2010. Dr. Putman said that they would 

sometimes get a day of snow. It was further suggested in xx that snow 

was an exceptional event. Dr. Putman said that the first year there (1988) 

they had heavy snow. Then they had bad snow when her son was 3 in 

1993/4; there was one snow event at Christmas 1997/8 when he was 7 

(5 snow events). 

Under xx, Dr Putman accepted that most people kept to the tracks when 

the grass was growing. 

  

 

 

Page 194



 41 

 Signs and Challenges 

She assumed that they could use the land as there was  nothing to say that 

they could not. She did remember the pile of garden waste, which varied 

in height. She did not recall seeing the northern post shown on p.74 of 

OB/A Tab 10 even though near to her access point (point 2 on 23A of 

OB/A tab 5). When asked in-chief whether she was still using the field at 

that time (Feb 2009), Dr. Putman replied “probably”. Under xx, she said 

that she may have been away. With regard to the southern post, Dr. 

Putman said that she tended not to go out at that point as she went into 

the Village Hall along the side of the Copse. When asked in-chief about the 

wording of the 2009 signs (p.5 of OB/A) she said that would suggest the 

path had been closed. Under xx, she agreed that if she had seen the sign it 

would have suggested to her that trespassers were not welcome 

anywhere in the field. In re-ex, she said that she thought the copse was 

separate from the field. 

  

 

 Barry Clark21 

Mr. Clark has lived with his 2 sons (DoB 3/11/94 & 21/04/97) in 

Middleton Road since February 2008. He has always had a dog apart from 

for a short period. When he visited before purchasing the property, he 

was aware of the field straight away, as his dogs need exercising 

everyday. Mr. Clark was the Applicant in January 2013 for the 

modification order to the Definitive Map and Statement. 

 

 Use of the Application Land 

He uses the land at least once a week and sometimes everyday. He enters 

the land from the metalled footpath behind the Village Hall and goes in to 

the field into the Copse. He also walks across the field going in at point 1 

(having parked at Highfield Crescent) photo 23A – OB/A Tab or at 23B 

(there being a gap there during the time he has used the land). Under xx, 

                                                        
21 AB/A Tab 4 p. 41 

Page 195



 42 

Mr. Clark said that he mainly enters the land by the Village Hall but would 

have used all the entry points 1-4 at one time or another. 

 He varies the route for the dog walk so the dog doesn’t get bored. He goes 

all over the field with the part bordering Middleton Road that he used the 

most. Other uses included playing in the snow (see photo of 4 Feb 2009 at 

AB/A Tab 4 p. 51B) – but that was not often – in the north-western 

corner. Under xx he said that his walking of the dogs was not just as part 

of a trip to the shop  - it was not incidental to that, although he might 

combine the two sometimes. 

Mr. Clark said, under xx, that he would often be off the tracks on the field 

– to recover the training aid he used for the dogs or just walking across. 

He also said under xx that he did not remember the grass as being 2-3 ft 

long. He said he would seasonally see the grass longer but not to 2-3 ft. He 

further said that when the grass was dense he wouldn’t trample on it but 

the dogs would. He said also that when it was wet he would wear boots or 

wellingtons. 

Under xx, Mr. Clark was asked about his reference to keeping his dogs 

under control on the Application Land given his conviction for his dog, 

Kasha, not being under control and biting someone in Newquay in 

Cornwall (see OB/A at Tab 13 p.98B). As a result, the dog was put down. 

In re-ex he said that had never happened before and he was very 

conscious of safety as he had been bitten by an Alsatian when he was in 

his twenties. When it had become obvious what the problem was, the dog 

was put down. I make it clear that I have not considered this aspect 

relevant to my assessment of Mr. Clark’s evidence.  

 

 Use of the Application Land by others 

Mr. Clark said that he would almost always another person or people 

using the field and the Copse – typically with a dog or dogs and sometimes 

with children. He say Mrs. Kay, Mike Taylor. He would recognise other 

faces but not know their names. 

Page 196



 43 

He said that there was not much playing when people were crossing the 

land on the way to school but they were more relaxed on the way back 

home. The main route used for that was diagonally from the south-east 

corner to the north-west corner by Highfield Crescent.  

He said that the use was predominantly for dog walking but there were 

some other activities – people playing with children in the field and the 

copse. He considered the copse and the field all one of the same area. 

There were several exits from the Copse – including the end nearest 

Highfield Crescent. The Copse had hazel; there were hide outs but he was 

not sure whether his own sons made any of these.  

When I asked Mr. Clark about the split of use between the field and the 

copse, he said in more relaxed time there would be as many in the field as 

in the wood – you would often see youngsters in the field who might have 

been in the copse. 

 

 Signs and Challenges 

No permission was ever given and no one ever approached him to say 

that he shouldn’t be on the land. He didn’t see any signs until those that 

said “Private Property” (see p.76 of OB/A Tab 11). When asked in-chief 

what he would have thought if he has seen the wording on the 2009 signs 

(OB/A p.5) he said that he would have understood it as the landowner not 

wanting it to be used as a route. He said that he thought it might relate to 

quad bikes given the noise they make – if it becomes an unrestricted 

byway it can be used for all sorts of mechanized vehicles which chew up 

the ground and cause noise problems. However, he accepted (in answer 

to my question) that there had been no problem with quad bikes. 

Mr. Clark was taken in xx to the photos on pp.73 and 71 of OB/A Tabs 9 & 

10. He confirmed that he never saw the posts which were it was said up 

for 2 weeks in Feb 2009. “X marked the spot” (as Mr. Webster put it) on 

the photo on p.71 where Mr. Clark would walk closest to the post at the 

southern end of the field but he said that it was not his view point and 

that it was difficult to prove a negative. He was also taken to the 

Page 197



 44 

photographs (on p.75 of OB/A Tab 10) of the waste with post 2 (the 

northern post) and said that his mental picture would have been green 

waste. It was further suggested to him that the posts were prominent and 

unusual but he had said that he was not looking at it like a policeman on 

patrol. In re-ex (referred to photo at p. 74 of OB/A Tab 10), he said that he 

entered the field via the steps at that point and photo 2 (p.73) shows the 

sign is not visible to all in the field. 

 

 

4. CASE FOR THE OBJECTORS 

4.1 As indicated above (in Section 2), two Objections and three 

representations regarding the Application were received by the RA: 

 (1) Undated petition from residents of Highfield Crescent 

(2) Letter with enclosures from Mrs. P Sheppard dated 14 January 

2013. 

(3) Letter with enclosures from Mr. R Sheppard dated 27 April 3013 

(4)  Letter with enclosures from Mr. R Sheppard dated 30 April 2013 

(5) “Objector’s response” from Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard dated 27 

February 2013.22 

  

4.2 From the Objectors’ Response on behalf of Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard23, I 

summarise the key points of objection as follows: 

 Right of Way and not LSP 

(1) The Objector’s “primary contention” is that the Application Land is 

being used as a short cut from one side of the village to the other 

and that such user will not be referable to use as a green.24 

(2) The Application Land has been used extensively as a short cut 

(avoiding Middleton Road – which has no pavements) from one 

side of the village to the other. The locations of the Village Hall, the 

                                                        
22 AB B at Tab 14 
23 AB B at Tab 14 p.1. 
24 AB B at Tab 15 p.10 at (d). 

Page 198



 45 

Doctor’s surgery, the two pubs (the Lord Nelson and the Lion’s 

Head), two places of worship close to the Lion’s Head and the 

village shop should in particular be noted.25 

(3) However, in 1998 and 2008 statements, maps and statutory 

declarations were deposited under section 31(6) of the Highways 

Act 1980. The effect of this was to preclude within the periods 

mentioned in the section the existence of public rights of way over 

their land other than those currently noted in the Definitive Map 

and Statement (“DMS”). 

(4) Further, on 20 January 2012 those applying to register the land as 

a TVG applied under section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 to the County for an order modifying the DMS to record a 

number of new footpaths crossing the Application Land. 

(5) The village has other open spaces. 

(6) Brown’s Copse at around 7 acres (2.83 hectares) is not physically 

part of the land, although it is included in the Application Land. 

The public’s use of this wood is negligible. 

(7) On the advice of the Council in around February 2009, the 

Objectors erected two signs notifying that there was no public 

right of way across the land. The signs stated: 

WILTSHIRE 
COUNTY COUNCIL 

NO PUBLIC 
   RIGHT OF WAY 

                    THANK YOU  
 These signs could not fail to be seen by those walking across the 

Land. Unfortunately, the signs were forcibly removed within days 

and were found lying some distance away from their original 

locations. The posts were re-erected on 2 occasions. 

(8) On 4th April 2011 the Objectors ploughed the Application Land in 

order to make it more difficult for locals to trespass on the land – 

the ploughing was deliberately rough and only the most 

determined of walkers could use the field. The field was ploughed 

                                                        
25 See Objectors’ annotated aerial photograph at AB Tab 15 p.27. 

Page 199



 46 

again on 23 January 2012. On 16 April 2012, it was sown with 

linseed.  

(9) The Farm has been arable since the war and the last crop of wheat 

was in 1988 when the Application Land was placed in the set aside 

scheme. It was in that scheme until ploughed in 2011 and sown 

with linseed in 2012, as noted above. 

(10) The character of the land bears little or no resemblance to the 

ordinary perception of what one might consider to be a typical 

TVG and local inhabitants would be under no illusion of this. 

(11) The RA should consider the correspondence including the 

Residents’ Petition which refers to the Land being used by certain 

people as a dumping ground for their rubbish, dog walking area 

and as a short cut even though the area is adequately served by 

footpaths. 

(12) At the Parish Council meeting on 4 April 2013 5 individuals 

(including 2 Parish Councillors) said that they saw the “no right of 

way” signs in place in 2009 and the comment by Councillor Devine 

that because of the signage “his officers” would not be supporting 

the Application. 

 (13) With regard to the statutory criteria, the Objectors contend: 

(i) There has been no sufficient user by local residents. It 

would not have brought the existence of the claimed right 

to the attention of the landowner – a number of villagers 

have even written to the RA challenging the user relied 

upon by the Applicant. 

(ii) In an event, the overwhelming majority of the users were 

purportedly only exercising public rights of way on tracks 

crossing the Application Land as shown on the aerial 

photographs and the application to modify the DMS. 

 

 

 

Page 200



 47 

 

  User not been “as of right” 

(14) Use following access obtained through the fencing on the 

boundary with Highfield Crescent is non-qualifying as it is user by 

force. It is irrelevant that those taking advantage of the damaged 

fencing were not themselves responsible for causing the damage. 

(15) The user by force exclusion also applies where the use has been 

made contentious by the landowner erecting prohibitory signs or 

notices. This is the case with the signs erected in 2009, referred to 

above. Any notices must be sufficient to make clear that any use of 

the land was not consented to and would be regarded as a trespass 

– see Taylor v Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd [2012] EWCA 

Civ 250. The facts are readily distinguishable from R (Oxfordshire & 

Buckinghamshire Mental Health Foundation Trust and Oxford 

Radcliffe Hospitals NHS Trusts) v Oxfordshire County Council and 

others [2010] EWHC 530 (EWHC) (the Warneford Meadows case) 

In that case there had been a finding that the landowner had no 

objection to general public recreational access to that land as a 

whole – his objection was to the creation of public rights of way. 

The Objectors refer in particular to paragraphs [17]-[57] of the 

Judgment in that case. 

(16) On no sensible analysis of the facts, could the signs be said to be 

directed solely to the paths nearby and there is no reason why 

they could not be taken objectively to refer to recreational us of 

the whole of the Application Land, where the whole of the Land is 

affected by the section 31(6) deposits anyway. The notices only 

make sense if they refer to the Land as a whole and the fact that 

they were damaged by, it must be assumed, certain local 

inhabitants is very arguably indicative of the fact that such persons 

considered such signs to relate to more than just rights of way on 

the paths. The land owners ought to have appreciated from the 

Page 201



 48 

notices that the landowners were objecting to and contesting their 

whole use of the Application Land. 

(17) The Objectors reserve the right to argue that any objection on their 

part to a lesser burden on the land must have by implication and 

without more included objection to the greater burden 

notwithstanding what was said about this at [55] in the Warneford 

Meadows case. 

(18) The Objectors also argue that the claimed user gave rise to an 

implied licence.  

 

4.3 The evidence provide by the Objectors to the Inquiry (found in Objectors’ 

Bundle A – OB/A) included: 

(1) Plan showing existing public rights of way, informal tracks, 

housing policy area in relation to the Application Land: OB/A Tab 

3. The wider rights of way in the Parish are shown on the plan at 

OB/A Tab 4. 

(2) Aerial and ground photographs of the Application Land: OB-A Tab 

5 pp.21-23. Photograph showing local amenities: OB/A Tab6 p.24. 

(3) Section 31(6) Declarations: OB/A Tab7 

(4) Application by Barry Clark for a Modification Order under section 

53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

(5) Aerial photograph showing the position of the two posts and the 4 

signs erected by the Objectors: OB/A Tab 9 p.71 

(6) Photographs of the posts: OB/A Tab10 pp.73-75. 

(7) Photographs of the 4 signs: OB/A Tab 11 pp.76-80 

(8) Minutes of meetings of Winterslow PC: OB/A Tab 12 

(9) Statements of Objectors’ witnesses attending the Inquiry: OB/A 

Tab 13 

(10) Statements and letters from witnesses not attending the Inquiry: 

OB/A Tab 14. 

 

4.4 The Objector called the following witnesses: 

Page 202



 49 

John Fry 

Rosemary Hazard 

Steven Dixon 

Sally Loader 

Clive Broadly  

Michael Yates 

Janet Fry 

Angela Sillence 

David Read 

Richard Sheppard 

Patricia Sheppard 

 

I now summarise the main points from the evidence of these witnesses. 

As for the Applicant’s witnesses, I use the following abbreviations: 

 EQ:   Evidence Questionnaire  

In-chief:  Evidence given in-chief 

XX:    Cross-examination by the opposing advocate 

 Re-ex:   Re-examination by the witness’ advocate 

 

 John Fry26 

Mr. Fry of Nestyn, Middleton is a retired builder and funeral director who 

was borne in West Winterslow. He owned the Lion’s Head Public from 

1991-2007 (but only lived there to 1994). As a teenager, he lived with his 

parents at his current address. He said there was a butcher’s shop on the 

corner of Middleton Road and the Causeway until about 1995. Under xx, it 

was suggested to him that none of the addresses that he had lived at 

(having been in the village all of his life) overlooked the Application Land. 

Mr. Fry agreed that was so during the relevant period. Mr. Fry stated that 

he was against the  taking of people’s land. 

 

 Knowledge of the Application Land 

                                                        
26 OB/A Tab 13 p.100/101 

Page 203



 50 

He was very familiar with the field, he said. He was involved in 

development. He moved the post office 2004/5 from Middleton Road 

(near to Stern Close). He did all the maintenance for the Parish Council 

and the Church.  

Mr. Fry said that there was always a fence across the field at Highfield 

Crescent. The Village hall was completed in 1991. Sometimes he would 

walk across the field – under xx, he accepted that although he knew it was 

private land he saw others doing it. He said that use (by him) was not very 

frequent. He was aware that he was trespassing as was everyone else in 

the village. From Middleton Road he would walk up to Woodlands Drive. 

Referring to the aerial photograph at OB/A Tab 5 p.23, Mr. Fry said that 

the land was wet in the winter; there was a watercourse that went 

straight through the middle to the Village Hall – there was often a 

watercourse on the other routes which was like a rive and unable to walk 

them. So, he would normally use the diagonal route, as that was the driest. 

Now and again he would take his dog to the land. 

Under xx, he said that the land had always been known as private 

property. He didn’t particularly find using it was a short cut and it was 

easier in the dark to use the path. He said that his most common route 

was along Middleton Road to the pub in the car. It was suggested to him 

that the view from Middleton Road was not good, given the thick 

hedgerow. He said that he also walked down the school path behind (to 

the west of) the copse. He said he had glimpses of the field but he didn’t 

pay particular attention. He said there might have been one or two people 

on the land. When asked whether it could have been more, Mr. Fry replied 

“No”. He did see children playing in copse but not on the field. There were 

ropes up in the trees in the Copse for years but no one ever trusted them 

– they have not been used for years. He said at least 2 were put up. He 

said that he walked alongside the copse but didn’t go in unless it was dry.  

With regard to the Village Hall which he locked up that closes at 10 pm at 

the latest, when there is no dance. It often closes earlier – sometimes at 5 

or 6pm (on 2 nights) or 8pm (on 2 nights).  

Page 204



 51 

Under xx, he clarified that he walked the dog more now as he had more 

time. Up until 2011, he did not do so very often – probably only once a 

week. He would only go onto the field in 1 in 20 walks, as he knew he was 

trespassing and it was wet. 

Mr. Fry referred (in-chief) to a 1990s’ meeting, saying that he was one of 

the few that stood up for Mr. Sheppard when there was a planning 

application for 25 houses in the bottom right hand corner of the field by 

the telephone box. Mr. Fry said that he spoke up not for the housing but it 

was common knowledge that this is a development village. That was 

decided in the 1950s. Highfield Crescent Council Housing was built in the 

1950s. Mr. Fry again emphasized that everyone knew that it was private 

property. He said that 2/3 of the village trade was in his pub for drink and 

food and everyone knew. 

When the land was set aside, Mr. Fry said, the grass was wispy but grew 

to about 2-3ft high. It was not for hay/silage. He said the paths were 

always there, although he was not sure when photo on p. 71 (OB/A Tab 9) 

was taken. – he was told that it was about 2007. He said that he was 

building a garage at that time to the west of the copse and he had to 

remove footings. He asked Mr. Sheppard if he could he go across his field 

with his dumper truck to the Village Hall. So, he went into Yarnley Road 

then into Highfield Close, through the gap in the fence (see photo 23B in 

OB/A Ta5) – down the field along the front of the copse then through the 

gap behind the Village Hall.  

The wood was coppiced regularly. Different parts were done but there 

was something (in terms of coppicing) going on in most years. It was 

complete about every 10 years. 

  

 Use of the Application Land by others 

Before 2007-2011 it was basically a dog toilet used by very few people. 

Same people used it all the time; it was used regularly by very few people. 

Others would walk across it with their dogs. 

Page 205



 52 

Under xx, Mr. Fry accepted that people walked across the land on the 

paths. He said that all he was disputing was that they knew that they were 

trespassing. 

Mr. Fry said, under xx, that if the dogs got to the fields they used it as a 

toilet and most did it in the Village Hall. It was suggested to him that 

people were using the land for dog walking and most people would park 

in the Village Hall car park to do so. Mr. Fry replied  “Yes – to let them go 

to the toilet.” When it was put to him that there was nothing wrong with 

that, Mr. Fry said that they were driving to the Village Hall, letting the dog 

out and back into the car and off they would go.  

Mr. Fry was asked about the dog bin on the edge of the field by the Village 

Hall. He said that had been pulled out of concrete. It was put there 

because of dog mess up the path. 

Mr. Fry agreed, under xx, that he had seen children playing on the fields. 

He said some had probably been on the bikes. He said that he had seen 

them a couple of times over 20 years. It was put to him that this was 

despite only walking his dog on the field 1 in 20 times (not going very 

often) and that it was reasonable to assume that at other times there 

would have been bikes. 

It was put to Mr. Fry that even though the land was private it was still 

used by people knowing that Mr. Sheppard tolerated it. Mr. Fry said that 

Mr. Sheppard was too nice a person and he (Mr. Fry) would say to him 

that he should get some pigs to stop people using the land. He was too 

nice a person to approach people to stop them. 

 Mr. Fry said that was only one informal path initially, in 1991. 

 

 Signs and Fences 

Mr. Fry said that around the area there were plenty of signs all over. He 

was referred to the photographs showing the 2009 posts at pp. 71-74 of 

OB/A Tabs 10 & 11. He said that he saw the posts. When asked in-chief 

whether he looked at the sign he replied ”Not particularly. I didn’t need 

Page 206



 53 

to. It was obvious what it said – Keep Out or Private Property. I knew 

that.” He said further that the posts were prominent but the Notice was 

not. He didn’t bother to read it or, if he did, he couldn’t remember what it 

said. He said that you couldn’t miss the post. Mr. Fry also said that these 

were not the first signs and that there were always signs. They were 

always torn up, he said, after a short time. However, when referred to the 

picture of the 2009 post in the waste heap Mr. Fry said that he did not 

know anything about that but could remember seeing it in the rubbish. 

He was asked about the larger more recent “Private Property” signs (see 

p.76 of OB/A Tab 11) and said that there had been concern about the 

wording on the bottom, which referred to chemicals having been applied 

to the land, so that part was obliterated. 

He accepted that there were no fences save for the one by Highlands 

Crescent. 

Under xx, it was suggested that he had said that he had seen both posts 

even though he only went on the land rarely and the signs were only 

there weeks. When asked about what he thought the 2009 signs said, he 

confirmed that he thought they said Keep Out/Private Property. He said 

that he was sure that he saw the posts and that he also saw the signs in 

the rubbish. 

When asked in xx about the other signs that he had seen, Mr. Fry said that 

was after 1991. It was put to Mr. Fry that Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard do not 

say they put up any signs other than the 2009 ones and the later Private 

Property signs. Mr. Fry reiterated that there had been several signs over 

the years. He said that there had always been a lot of talk about 

development on this land. He said there were White signs saying Private 

Keep Out in the woods and on the land. He said that a man who had 3 

Dulux dogs and who had lived next to the track near the steps. He said the 

signs were pulled up within a matter of days – he didn’t know how long 

they were up. Kids came into the pub, Mr. Fry said, and laughed about it. It 

was then put to Mr. Fr that the recent Private Property signs were still 

there and he replied that they were certainly a lot better than before. 

Page 207



 54 

 

 

 Rosemary Hazard27 

Mrs. Hazard lives at Highfield Crescent – 4 houses up from the location of 

OB/A Tab 5 p.108. She worked part-time from 2000 as a caretaker for the 

PC. 

 

 Knowledge of the Application Land 

With regard to the fencing near her home, there has always been fencing 

– sometimes it was filled and sometimes broken. The rest of the fence was 

sometimes broken but repaired by residents. Mrs. Hazard said that she 

walked through the gap in the fence in 1987 but she couldn’t be sure 

whether wire up or down. She couldn’t remember from when the fence 

was permanently open but it was a long time ago, say 10 years. She said 

that in 2004 there probably was a fence and before then it had been in 

place – probably after when Mr. Fry went through with his dumper truck. 

There is a fence now but you can’t walk through because of brambles. She 

said that it was probably when the field was set aside and people went 

through. She said that she imagined that people forced their way through. 

She said it was in tact in 1988. 

Under xx, Mrs. Hazard said she couldn’t remember whether there were 

two strands in 1987 when she climbed through. She reiterated that she 

thought the gap was open from when the land was set aside as people 

were coming and going in and out, including the walking bus. 

Mrs. Hazard said that she used the land to walk her two dogs after 1991. 

She entered through the gap, when she worked at the Central Stores, and 

walked straight across the land. Under xx, she said that she worked there 

for 36 years  (from 9-12, 1-5 for 4 days a week; she looked after her 

grandson on Fridays). She walked down the side of the copse and back up 

on the tarmac path (to the west of the copse). When the field went back 

into cultivation, she went down the school path and into another scrubby 
                                                        
27 OB/A Tab 14 p.108 

Page 208



 55 

field. She never saw anyone cutting the fence (and was working until 

2008). It was put to Mrs. Hazard in xx that the fencing was to fence off the 

Estate and not the field. Under xx also, Mrs. Hazard said that she wouldn’t 

go through the Copse – she would however go in from the school path 

onto the land and other people went into the wood too. She said that 

some cone from other areas to see the blue bells. She said that you get a 

nice view from the path; she said at the top end was beech trees – and 

oak, holly, ash and some hazel. She said that it was very pretty and people 

go in and enjoy the clearings. There was other wildlife, she agreed, such as 

celandines, anemones and primroses and also wild raspberries and crab 

apples. She said there always rope in the woods but she said not a swing – 

she said it is not very often that it has sticks at the end. She said that more 

often than not the “bigger kids” (teenagers) throw the rope back up into 

the tree.  Teenagers and younger children would use the swings. She said 

that she didn’t see people picking blackberries but they obviously would – 

it is clear that people are picking these (in dog pooh corner). 

She was referred in her xx to her statement where she states that the land 

has not been used for sports and pastimes. She accepted that people walk 

dogs; she never saw any kite flying or blackberry picking, as said above. It 

was not a very big area – corner piece. She said that she only sees children 

playing in the field on her day off. She added that right opposite the 

School is a playground with a roundabout, swings – hundreds use that 

and fly kites. You wouldn’t do that in a field when you don’t know what 

was in there, she said. It was then put to Mrs. Hazard that she would have 

been at work. 

Under xx, Mrs. Hazard said that she walked the dog in the morning. She 

said that she was using it on a daily basis until 2011. She would have used 

it on occasions (but not often) to go to the P.O. and the Doctor’s Surgery.  

  

 

 

 

Page 209



 56 

 Use of the Application Land 

Mrs. Hazard was referred to the tracks on photo 23 (OB/A Tab 5 p.23) 

and was asked whether that was the way people walked. She answered 

“that is where people came in”. 

Under xx, she confirmed that in one year local authority contractors came 

in from the bottom and did a wide, smooth diagonal path and up to 

Woodland Drive and Highland Crescent and did a swathe on the scrubby 

fields off the school path. 

She agreed that there were lots of dog walkers. She said that they parked 

at the Village Hall and the dogs went off through gate into the field and 

always did “a quick job”. There were 4 on a daily basis. They came 

specially to the land with their dogs. She said the grass could be long but 

others went through it, although she didn’t because of the burrs and you 

didn’t know what you were walking through. She also referred to the dip 

in the land along Middleton road – she it was quite a dip that got very wet. 

She said in the morning there were more people on the land as they 

would walk through the field on the way to school. Not everyone was with 

children so not all people were going to school. She accepted that some 

were just walking a dog on the field. In re-ex, Mrs. Hazard said people 

walking their dogs were mainly going up the middle of the field and 

possibly through the Crescent as nearest to the school – people were 

mainly using the tracks. 

When asked whether there were lots of paths, she said that she didn’t 

recall as many as shown the plan at AB/A Tab 8 p.40A.  

  

 Signs 

Mrs. Hazard recalled the post 1 at the bottom of the field (See p.73 bottom 

photo) but not the other post. She said that she didn’t read the sign when 

it was in the ground but did when it was thrown into the bracken. When 

she was asked what she understood the sign to mean, Mrs. Hazard said  

“the same as everybody else” - no trespassers on this land. She knew that 

the Sheppards’ own the land – friends –she has known him since they 

Page 210



 57 

were teenagers. She was asked whether she had seen the top post but she 

said that she didn’t see it. She was also asked why she didn’t read the 

wording on the other post whilst it was standing – she said that it was out 

of her way. It was suggested to her that it might be because of the small 

lettering. In re-ex, Mrs. Hazard said that that she thought that she was 

likely to see the post at the top end of the field, as it was a quite tall round 

post.  

Under xx Mrs. hazard said that she did recall the post in the field for 3 

days – it was put up and then disappeared. She could remember how long 

the post was up for the second tine it is still where it is lying now. She said 

that she thought that the signs related to the whole area. The village, she 

said, is very likely to love that wood and I had been Richard I would have 

fenced it off. It was then put to her that he didn’t fence it off and tolerated 

the use of it. Mrs. Hazard responded that he was a good man, a Christian 

and a gentleman. Then it was put to her that he did tolerate people 

playing on the ropes in the woods and Mrs. Hazard said “yes”. 

 

 

Steven Dixon28 

Mr. Dixon has lived in Winterslow all of his life, since 1962. He now lives 

in Livery Road and has done since 1991. He had been told by Mr. 

Sheppard that he had put signs up before (before the recent “Private 

Property” signs) but that they didn’t last long. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

Mr. Dixon can’t see the Application Land from his property. He passes the 

land most days. He had worked just past the Old Post Office a couple of 

times – 4 to 5 years ago – in say 2010. He had two jobs lasting one week in 

total. He parked in his drive. He could see into the field (see photo 23H in 

OB/A Tab 5). 

 

                                                        
28 OB/A Tab 13 p.103 

Page 211



 58 

He had topped Mr. Sheppard’s field at their house every now and then 

and put a fence back up in the summer. He said that he would do it as Mr. 

Sheppard is such an honest and straight man. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

He only ever sees dog walkers on the field – they walk all over the place 

like the tracks that they had. 

 

 

Sally Loader29 

Mrs. Loader has lived at her current address in Highfield Crescent since 

1989. Her house is directly opposite Mr. Crossland (on Middleton Road on 

the other side of the field), half-way between points 1 and 2 (photo on 

p.23A of OB/A Tab 5). She has been in the village since 1965. Her mother 

had lived in the village since then too. She walked to hers on the diagonal 

path from the Crescent – she wouldn’t have gone through the fence. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

She has a view from her kitchen window out onto the field and also views 

from front bedroom, landing and the front door. She was aware that it 

was agricultural land owned by Mr. Sheppard. Under xx, she 

acknowledged the conifer tree in front of her kitchen window and 

accepted that it was green all year round. She said that she can see either 

side of it and that it covers the middle third of the window. She said that 

she doesn’t think that it was there 20 years ago but has been there for the 

last 10 years possibly. Under xx, also she said that she couldn’t see what 

was happening in the Copse from her home.  

The field had been in arable use when she lived in Hibernus in Middleton 

Road, which is close directly to what is now Woodland Drive, but was 

then just scrubland. She does not own a dog. Once a year she has walked 

her son’s unsocial dogs as there is a fast route away. She was aware of 
                                                        
29 OB/A Tab 14 p.120 

Page 212



 59 

Mandy who had been referred to. She parked in the Village Hall and 

waked across the middle of the field at lunchtimes as she only had a lunch 

hour so it was not a long drawn out walk. She has also used the land as a 

shortcut going from the gap at 23B by the grit bin down to the gateway 

just below the telephone box in the other corner. 

In the summer, the grass grew to at least 2-3ft. high. 

Since 4 August 2014, she has worked at the Central Store in the village. In 

Feb 2009, she was working in Salisbury in a residential home for people 

with cerebral palsy. She left home at 6.30 am. One day she would leave at 

2pm and get back at 10pm. She did alternate weekends. August 2008-Feb 

2009, she was home. From March 1996 to August 2008 she had worked 

for Friends Provident in Salisbury; 7am to 3pm and home by 3.30pm. She 

had bank holidays and every weekend off. Before 1996 she worked for 

Cadburys for approximately 2 years and would leave home at 8.30am and 

be back home by 5pm generally for 4 days a week.  

 

Use of the Application Land 

She said her children were 10 and 8 years old when they moved into 

Highfield Crescent and would have been more likely to have been in the 

recreation ground, which now has a skateboard track. She said, in answer 

to my question, that in 1989/91 the recreation ground in the village had a 

roundabout and not much else and no skateboard track then but was flat 

and grassed and more suitable for cycling. 

She was asked, under xx, about her statement that the land was never 

used for sports and pastimes. Mrs. Loader said that she didn’t know what 

is included in lawful sports and pastimes. She said that the most 

consistent use of the land is for dog walking because you don’t have to 

pick up the mess. She walked her son’s dogs but she wouldn’t come across 

small children but did frequently see other dogs. People both with dogs 

on and off the lead would stick to the paths, she said. She did see people 

throwing toys (fairly in frequently) for the dogs and by and large the dogs 

would retrieve those objects.  

Page 213



 60 

She said that it is the bottom by the doctor’s surgery and Village Hall 

where the children played – it was flatter there and easier to use. 

She said that she used the copse fairly infrequently but she would have 

looked at the bluebells. She had seen a rope swing in the wood – near the 

bottom end, which is the flattest part but she had not seen children 

playing in the copse. More recently she had walked with her 

grandchildren in the copse but had not seen anyone else.  

There were blackberries along the northern edge of the copse but not on 

the eastern side and she was no not aware of sloes on the field. 

 

Signs and Fencing 

She didn’t recall the state of the fencing at 23B in 1989. She started 

crossing the field probably from 1989 onwards. She said that she 

wouldn’t have gone through the fence as she had a perfectly good 

footpath. What broke it was the number of people going under it. 

There have been signs. They were never of any importance to her as she 

didn’t think that she had any right to be in that field. She didn’t remember 

reading post 1 on p.73 ( OB/A Tab 10) and she suspects that she would 

not have done so. She would probably have read the post (photo 4) at 

northern end off Woodland Drive but it wouldn’t have given her any 

surprises. She said that she assumed that it was saying something to the 

effect not a right of way. There is a difference, Mrs. Loader said, between 

no RoW and you will be prosecuted if trespassing. I suppose, she added, 

that it was just an acknowledgement that not a RoW and the public not 

supposed to be on the land. Under xx, she accepted that there is a 

difference between a sign that said no RoW and one that said no 

trespassing and since the latest set of signs she had not set a foot on the 

land. She would not have claimed a RoW, as she has always known the 

land as agricultural land belonging to a farmer. She accepted that the 

2009 signs wouldn’t have meant to her that the owner would not tolerate 

dog walking as had been tolerated before; and she didn’t think the signs 

meant that people couldn’t go into the copse and look at the bluebells. So 

Page 214



 61 

she and others continued to use the land as before until the Red Signs 

(2012 – Private Property) went up and by and large the usage has 

stopped. 

 

 

Clive Broadley30 

Mr. Broadley moved to the village in 1976 and lived there ever since, 

having originally lived just off The Flood in Middleton Road. His current 

address is in Youngs Paddock and he can’t see the land from there. He 

said in his written statement that he had only heard the Application Land 

referred to as Richard Sheppard’s Field and the woodland area as Brown’s 

Copse or the Bluebell Wood or just the Copse. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

He walked his dog in the field but, he said earlier in his evidence, not 

frequently (but see below). He had crossed the land on route to the shop 

or going to the recreation ground to play. 

He said that they took their children to watch the land being harvested.  

He uses the land roughly monthly but he would have sight of the bottom 

end of the land because of the route he took. He also said that he used the 

land reasonably frequently primarily as a short cut. He used it as a 

shortcut going between the two posts put up in 2009. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

When asked under xx whether people used the land straight away after it 

was set aside, Mr. Broadly said that he could not remember. He did see 

others walking their dogs on the land when he went there. He walked his 

dog in the evenings and occasionally at the weekend but not normally. He 

did see people throwing balls and toys etc for their dogs. He said that 

there was not necessarily someone there evening times walking their 

                                                        
30 OB/A Tab 13 p.105 

Page 215



 62 

dogs. He didn’t see those that park in the Village Hall and walk there dogs 

but they do now. 

He would see children sometimes crossing the land to the wood but not 

playing football. He would see them occasionally (but not in an organised 

sense) fooling around in the field but they do that in many other fields in 

the village. When asked how frequent children tobogganing was, he said 

that he didn’t know but he would have thought that was pretty rare. He 

said that it was a farming community. 

He has only seen one rope in the Copse and that was periodically thrown 

up into the trees. At one point Mr. Broadley said that the rope swings 

were there more recently – in the last couple of years. Mr. Broadley said 

that he had seem them on one particular beech tree off the path. He said 

that there were now more pathways. He had seen dens in the wood but 

never seen children playing in them.  

He said that it was different now as it used to be extensively coppiced. He 

said (under xx) that the coppicing of the wood had stopped in the last 4 

years or maybe slightly earlier than that. In re-ex, he said that the 

coppicing opened up the woods. 

He also said that the use has been broadly the same over the 20 years and 

that was pretty much confined to dog walking. 

 

Signs and Fences 

Mr. Broadley said that Mr. Sheppard maintained (cut) the hedgerows and 

boundaries – the fence down the side of Middleton Road was badly 

dilapidated. He didn’t personally see Mr. Sheppard putting up fencing. 

There are fence posts in Woodland Drive along the footpath. The fence 

had pretty much fallen into disrepair by 1988 – there were remnants – he 

never saw repairs from 1988 onwards, not that he could recall. 

He saw the two 2009 posts when he was short-cutting across the land (as 

referred to above). He remembers the words “No Public Right of Way”. 

When put to him in xx, he said that he personally does not distinguish 

Page 216



 63 

between trespass and No PRoW. He said, when asked again under xx, that 

after he saw those signs he did not continue to use the land but others did, 

he said. He was asked whether he had heard Mrs. Loader’s evidence that 

people continued to use the land and her interpretation, Mr. Broadley said 

that was not his interpretation of the signs. He accepted that the 2012 Red 

signs were “certainly clearer – larger” – it was put to him that there were 

4 such signs with larger, longer wording. Mr. Broadley said that the “No 

PROW” signs were clear too. When asked how long the posts were in situ, 

he said that he couldn’t remember but he remembered them 

disappearing. 

Mr. Broadley said that his own interpretation was that the 2009 signs 

applied to the field 

Mr. Broadley accepted that it was toleration by the owner of people using 

the land uninvited. 

 

 

Michael Yates31 

Mr. Yates was born in the village in 1947 and used to live in the Red Lion 

Public House. He currently resides with his wife in Highfield Crescent. 

Most of the time, he said, he was at work. When it was put to Mr. Yates, in 

xx, that the statement was his and his wife’s, Mr. Yates said that was so 

and he told his wife what to put down – she would go to Woodland Drive 

to cut a lady’s hair. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

He could see about ¾ of the field from his home in Highfield Crescent. 

There were no trees in his view. 

The Council cut the grass in Highfield Crescent 6-7 times a year. 

His parents live nearby and he has walked over the land maybe 6 times. 

He said that he normally drives because he is lazy. 

                                                        
31 OB/A Tab 13 p. 102 

Page 217



 64 

When pressed on how long this went on for, Mr. Yates said he couldn’t 

remember walking there that many times. It was put to Mr. Yates that he 

said that he was not there for more than a couple of minutes. He 

explained that he had worked (until made redundant in 2008/9) at 

Porton Down on its maintenance and he left the house at 6.30 am and 

home by 16.45 Monday to Friday. He didn’t work very often on Saturdays 

other than for about an hour – so basically he saw the land at the 

weekend. He said that there has always been one main path through the 

Copse. He has seen rope swings in the Copse but no one was playing on 

them at the time. The kids have got to go somewhere in the summer 

holidays. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

In his letter, he stated that during the 20 years 1991-2011 the land has 

never been used for organized activities or pastimes. He also said in that 

letter that the land got used as a short cut for many people, when it was 

set aside. Most people that walked across the field were not born and 

bread in the village. Also most were dog walkers too lazy to pick up their 

dog mess. 

He saw no one playing – no children. He saw people going straight down 

fields on bikes – but couldn’t see the bottom. He has seen kids coming to 

and from the Copse with mattresses for their dens. He has been there 

several times. When Mr. Sheppard’s father was about, he would just clip 

them on the ear; that is what it was like then, Mr. Yates added. 

People walked dogs on there too. There were loads of dog walkers, Mr. 

Yates said (under xx – and clarified in answer to my question that was at 

weekends), but he never saw anyone throwing objects for them. Some 

people used to park in the Crescent to walk their dogs, notwithstanding 

the signs. He caught a couple of lads during the summer holidays with a 

bonfire, which he reported to the Council. He had noticed recently dog 

walking early in the morning (7am) and in the evening. There used to be a 

chain link fence, which was cut. Mr. Yates said that he could hear children 

Page 218



 65 

in the Copse but not on the field. They mainly play in the Copse in the 

summer time (when the mattresses were taken there) and he had never 

seen much outside that time. In the winter it would be wet and muddy. 

He had seen blackberrying in the corner (the right hand side from where 

he lives). There are good years and bad years for this. 

 

Signs and Fences 

Mr. Yates said that the field had a fence all the way along near Highfield 

Crescent in 1988 – used to be a fence on the north side of Daddy King’s 

Path. After then, it was cut by someone, but he didn’t know whom. Under 

xx, it was suggested to Mr. Yates that the fence at the top of Highfield 

Crescent, which was put in by the Council, was to stop people walking 

into the Crescent. He replied that it was also to stop people walking onto 

the field. It was then put to him that it was about keeping the Crescent 

tidy rather than keeping people off the field and he agreed. He agreed that 

he took pride in his garden. 

The District Council used to come across the Common. They gang mowed 

the land about a year or a year and a half after the field was set aside. He 

wasn’t sure how soon this happened after the land was set aside bit it 

may have been 1 year or 1 year and a bit. The gap in the fence was 

restored but within a few weeks it was torn down. They put a wooden 

post in. Looking at photo 23B he said that he had repaired it once himself 

with wire. He said that he had also repaired the fence outside his own 

property (which is about 100 yards from that gap) several times and still 

did.  

He said that he had seen a sign by Woodland Drive (photo 4 on p.74 at 

OB/A Tab 10) but couldn’t remember one by the Village Hall. He said that 

it was not there for long and he didn’t read it. He said it doesn’t look as 

though there is anything on that post. When shown the photographs on 

p.75 of OB/A, he said that it looks like the same post. He had heard about 

what the signs say from other people. Several people talked to him about 

the posts. When asked (in-chief) what was common knowledge about the 

Page 219



 66 

posts, Mr. Yates said that he had no idea – it was just private land – people 

already knew that it was private land, he replied. Mr. Yates said, under xx, 

he took no notice of the signs on the posts, he knew that it was private 

property. It was only when the bigger ones went up that he took notice. 

When it was suggested to him that the Sheppards were allowing people to 

use the land (they were tolerating the use), Mr. Yates said “Yes, they are 

good people. I don’t know who took that decision.” He said that he rarely 

saw them, just now and again walking down the back path –“I couldn’t tell 

what he was thinking”, Mr. Yates added. 

Under xx he said that there were little bits of rubbish when the post was 

there. He said that he still sees the post, although there were bits of waste 

– bottles etc. When it was suggested that perhaps his recollection was not 

that strong, Mr. Yates said that he can only remember seeing it maybe 

once. He reiterated that he did not see the post at the bottom of the field – 

he said the bottom ½ of the field he couldn’t – he couldn’t see the Village 

Hall. 

He said that he knew the land belonged to Richard (Sheppard) and, if he 

had told him to stay away, Mr. Yates would have done so – “as simple as 

that”. When asked whether his impression was that they were tolerating 

the use, Mr. Yates said that people were still walking across the land. He 

never used the land once the 2012 Red Lettered signs went up – before 

that he said that he used the land about ½ dozen times a year.  

 

 

Janet Fry32 

Janet Fry lives were her husband, who also gave evidence as recorded 

above, in Middleton Road. She has lived in Winterslow continuously since 

1978. It should be noted that Mrs. Fry commented on the new 

photographs from the Applicant (63B-63F), which were withdrawn and 

are not now relied upon, so I do not record that part of her evidence. She 

                                                        
32 OB/A Tab 14 p.118 

Page 220



 67 

looked after the Village Hall for 2 years from 2007-09/10 and spent a lot 

of time there. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

She is a dog owner and has walked around the land for the last 50 years. 

As she also says in her statement, since the land was set aside in about 

1991 people have walked across it as trespassers and she has not 

witnessed any games or organised activities on the land. 

She visited her parents in Highfield Crescent every day. She parked there 

(to take them out) on a fortnightly basis. She also drove for LINK, so went 

past that entrance regularly.   

 

Use of the Application Land 

She had never seen people throw toys for the dogs on the land. She said 

that she had walked across the land twice or three times but not with the 

dog. She went to open the Village Hall at 7.45 am and saw people letting 

their dogs out in the morning. They were only on the land for 10 minutes. 

2 of those were regular in the main. Mrs. Fry said that you would see 

people in Highfield Crescent parking – only one car or person walked her 

dog religiously there.  

She accepted that people were doing it on a daily basis and that Mr. 

Sheppard tolerated this but he was not very happy about it, she said, as 

they had had conversations about it.  

She said that she had been into the Copse – she looked to see where the 

swings were and she saw one blue rope wrapped around a beech tree. She 

said that she hadn’t seen swings in the past. She said that, if she walked 

through the Copse, she had gone through the main path. With the 

grandchildren, she went on the School path. She has not seen children 

playing in the Copse but she had heard them. She has seen the bluebells 

(out for 6 weeks). There was a different way in those days. When asked 

about dens in the wood, Mrs. Fry said that she had seen lots of rubbish – 

corrugated metal, pieces of wood. She  didn’t recall dens as Mr. Yates had 

Page 221



 68 

referred to. She would go into the Copse about every 10 days and walked 

the area probably 3 times a week. 

She had seen sloe picking on the edge of Highfield Crescent over towards 

the north side of the Copse – they were white in the Spring. You could see 

this from the Highfield houses. 

Under xx, Mrs. Fry said that people would have used the School path to go 

to school and, when it was put to her that lots of people had described 

going back and forth along the diagonal path, Mrs. Fry said that she would 

not describe it as lots. She said that no body would see anyone cross that 

field on a daily basis. She said 20 or 30 dog walkers a day (as was put to 

her in xx) was too high. 

 

Signs and Fences 

She said that she would not have come across the post at the Village Hall 

end. She knew the top area very well. Her parents lived at 8 Highlands 

Crescent until her father died in 1994. When she had lived in the 

Causeway she would use Daddy King’s Path. When shown photo 23B 

(showing the gap in the fence) she said that she knew exactly where that 

is, as she parked there if she collected her parents. She said that there was 

always a fence but it was cut through, although she never waked through 

there herself.  She said (in chief) that she recalled it when it was closed up 

not long after seeing it open. She remembers it being cut again. Mrs. Fry 

said that it hade been left open for quite some time since then. Under xx, 

Mrs. Fry said that she couldn’t remember from when it was open but that 

it was closed when the land was in cultivation. She said that she didn’t 

think that people realised that it was set aside (which happened in 1988) 

for some years. From 1990, it was put to Mrs. Fry in xx, use of the land by 

people walking started. She said that she couldn’t recall walking until 

later. Also under xx, she said that the Council mended the fence several 

times – she said that later she notice green wire but she couldn’t say when 

that was – it was a long time ago to remember.  

Page 222



 69 

Under xx, Mrs. Fry said that she had seen other signs put up before the 

posts and bigger than the posts but not as big as the 2012 Private 

Property signs in red letters. When they were removed, she said that she 

did inform Mr. Sheppard. Everyone knew that it was private land and it 

was morally wrong, Mrs. Fry said. There was plenty of free space in the 

village and the land doesn’t need to be used. She said that she was giving 

evidence for the owner and community, as that they don’t all agree with 

WOOD – she didn’t know who they were. She said that there was strong 

feelings in the village, as she did a lot of community work. People are 

reluctant to give evidence. When asked about the other spaces, Mrs. Fry 

referred to Shripple Play Park (a large area she said), Stone Close, Barry’s 

Field and the Tennis Court. It was put to her that you can’t walk dogs on 

these areas – Mrs. Fry said that you could in the recreation ground. She 

also said that the Application land is not a dog walk – dogs walk 3 miles a 

day and people just used to let dogs go to the toilet.  

She was asked about the wording on the 2009 signs. She said that it was 

obvious that you would be stopped if you went that way. She said that she 

only saw the southern post in the hedge and not standing. She agreed that 

it must have been removed within a couple of days otherwise she would 

have seen it, as she walked that way (p.71 Post 1). She agreed that the 

writing on the sign was very small. She said that what a landowner should 

do is put signs up regularly saying Private Land and Mr. Sheppard did 

that. It was put to her that it said “No PROW” and that was ambiguous – 

Mrs. Fry said “Is it? She was asked that given there so many paths, which 

one is being referred to?  

 

 

Angela Sillence33 

Mrs. Sillence has lived in Bentley Way since September 2010. Before then 

she lived in Roman Road and has been part of the Winterslow Community 

                                                        
33 OB/A Tab 13 p.103 

Page 223



 70 

since 1963 when she moved to Winterslow with her parents. She moved 

back into the village in 2004 from Firsdown. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

It is not land that she had walked on or used. She had no view of the land 

from her house but she drives past it every day both ways along 

Middleton Road. When it was suggested to her in xx that there is thick 

hedgerow, she responded that was in the Summer and it was quite open 

when all the leaves had gone and when winter comes. She accepted that it 

was pretty dense but that there were gaps, although she accepted that 

you couldn’t see through into the field in the Summer. She said she could 

have glimpses into the field but accepted that she would not know what 

was going on the rest of the field. 

She had not been into the Copse for many years or on the School path. 2 

years ago, she said, she walked past the Copse and saw bluebells. She had 

never seen  the Copse in such a mess – full of footprints – this was early in 

2010. Before that, it was long before 1991 that she had seen it and the 

Copse was beautiful and well coppiced. She never went into the Copse. 

She saw hazel cut back and bluebells there. She couldn’t remember large 

trees. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

She said there were no organised sports or activities on the land. She had 

never seen people dog walking even though she had driven by everyday 

for years. She couldn’t remember people walking across the land. She said 

that Mr. Beagle mentioned Mr. Walters – he was always on the path with a 

dog. Mr. Walters lives next to where Mr. Beagle lived, just to the left of the 

old PO and set back on the bank. 

 

 

David Read 

Mr. Read lives in Titherley Road on the eastern outskirts of the village.  

Page 224



 71 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

Mr. Read said that he was very familiar with the field, although he had not 

used it at all himself. His father and brother had coppiced the wood. His 

father’s employer bought the coppicing rights. It was last cut 6 or 7 years 

ago or possibly more by his brother. He would help – this was less than 20 

years ago. He only recalls seeing one person coming through the wood. He 

would be there for 3-4 hrs or more during the day  - probably from 9am 

onwards until probably mid afternoon – 2.30/3.00. Coppiced all year 

round. He said under xx that this could be 3-4 times a year maybe. They 

were largish trees but not large. When he was asked whether it was oak, 

beech and holly in the Copse, Mr. Read said that sounds about right. But 

very few oak and not many large trees at all – one or two largish. It is a 

Copse and not a wood. 

Mr. Read was asked about his statement that it was a completely spurious 

claim and it was put to him that people have given evidence that they 

have seen people using the land. Mr. Read said that the spurious claim is 

stating that it is common ground. He said that he disagrees with the 

principle of taking away someone else’s land. He had that with his own 

land years ago, twice.  

 

Use of the Application Land 

He had not observed others using the land. He had not seen dogs on the 

land. He doesn’t recall any dens on  site. He hadn’t seen any rope swings – 

he doesn’t like those as eventually it kills the branch the rope is tied to. 

 

 

Richard Sheppard34 

Mr. Sheppard lives with his wife in Weston Lane, Winterslow. He is a 

retired arable farmer. He finished farming and sold the farm in 1998 but 

still owns some of the Farm land, including the Application Land. 
                                                        
34 OB/A Tab 13 p.96 

Page 225



 72 

 

Cropping Records 

Mr. Sheppard referred to his cropping records for Brown’s Copse field 

(OB/A Tab 8 p.51) and said that he has very good records, as these are 

required. These show the last crop (until recently) to have been of 

S.Wheat and sown in March 1988 and the land Set Aside 1989-98 and cut 

every year. The grass was topped annually had to be left there. In an 

average years this was done in September. He said that he didn’t do that 

himself at that time. Some patches, Mr. Sheppard said, were more lush 

and up to 2-3ft. The average was 1½ - 2½ ft.  over the field. 

 

Tracks and Soakaway 

Mr. Sheppard said that after he drives over there each year to cut the 

grass he could see the paths. The main ones can be seen from each of the 

entrances – OB/A Tab 8 p.70 shows the main tracks. Mr. Beagle’s plan 

(out in during the Inquiry to reflect his oral evidence) added some but 

they couldn’t be seen on the ground. Those shown on the map on p.70 can 

be seen on the aerial photographs at OB/A Tab 5 pp. 21 &22. He also said 

that when they dug the soakaway on the boundary with the Village Hall, 

people walked further out as they could walk over that. The soakaway (a 

2ft. 6 in. circular hole covered by mesh) is not fastened down and he 

didn’t cut that area. The detachable weld mesh is still there (it is not a 

cover as such, Mr. Sheppard explained) – there was a steel grid there for a 

long time. 

Mr. Sheppard said that the tracks got more definite over time. That is 

what instigated the need to sign the statutory declarations. When asked 

(in-chief) whether he had taken any action before 1998, Mr. Sheppard 

said that Mr. Fry was certain that he saw signs and he (Mr. Sheppard) 

could remember someone who worked for him who made them up. They 

were a foot square and hand made. The words were painted on plywood – 

red painted letters on the face of the sign. When asked whether he had 

seen any of these, Mr. Sheppard said that he must have done and he had a 

Page 226



 73 

mental picture of them now. He thinks that they would have been up near 

Highlands Crescent or near the post off Woodlands drive. He remembered 

seeing the sign in the grain barn. He thought that it just said “Private 

Land”. They had bright red lettering on a silver background. 

 

Section 31(6) Declarations 

These were to protect their land from trespassers. The first in 1998 was 

for the period 1998-2008. During that period they were topping annually; 

cutting the hedges every year. They normally used a contractor at that 

time but the annual cutting he or his son did or if he was busy he would 

use someone who could come in and do it. He said that he did get a 

contractor in occasionally. 

When asked (in-chief) what he understood the legal effect of the 

Declarations was (see OB/A Tab 7 pp. 28K & L), Mr. Sheppard said that it 

would stop any other footpaths being formed or claimed on that land. Mr. 

Sheppard said that he was concerned that the footpaths were getting 

longer, more defined so he took advice from Wiltshire Council’s rights of 

way department. 

Under xx Mr. Sheppard said that he had assumed that he was safe from 

rights of way being established. It was put to him that, if people continued 

to use the land he tolerated it, as he thought that he was safe. He said 

“yes”. Asked whether the surveyors told him about village green law, Mr. 

Sheppard said “no”. He said that he first knew of it when the TVG 

application was made. It was put to Mr. Sheppard, and he agreed, that 

therefore all that time he was protected against rights of way being 

established and didn’t know about TVG so tolerated people using and 

walking over the land assuming that he was protected. He agreed that he 

knew people were using the land for walking dogs. He played tennis at the 

Village Hall courts (at various times – but not very early). Mr. Sheppard 

said that he never saw anyone parking and then walking their dogs but if 

the parking and dog walking took place before 9am, he accepted that he 

Page 227



 74 

would not necessarily have seen it. He went to the Doctor’s Surgery 

normally between 10-11/12 noon. 

 

The 2009 Signs on the two Posts 

Mr. Sheppard said that when topping in 1988 he was aware of the tracks 

and that it took probably 2-3 years for the tracks to be formed and by 

1991 there were tracks – several tracks. One or two of these were not 

here at the beginning. He said that he could see people using the land. 

With reference to the plan of the tracks at 40A (of AB/A Tab 4), Mr. 

Sheppard said that did not remember all the tracks that Mr. Beagle 

suggested. 

He contacted Wiltshire to ask how he could keep people off his land and 

asked them what could he do? They said that they had signs and 

suggested that he put posts on his land. He received the signs in the post. 

He thought that people would think again before walking on the field – 

the whole field – that is why he put them at either end of the field. This 

was to protect from people walking on the land. 

With reference to photos of the southern post on p.73 of OB/A Tab 10, Mr. 

Sheppard said that he took the photos on the 7 February 2009. The post 

was moved approximately a week later and he re-erected it straight away 

– he put them in deep and hard but not in concrete – about 2ft. 6in. into 

the ground and an ordinary person would struggle to remove them. With 

regard to the post at the top of the field near to Woodland Drive, he had to 

re-erect it a week later more deeply in the ground. Mr. Sheppard said that 

he didn’t know quite know what to do and he did give up on the posts at 

that time. He had taken photographs as proof that they were there. 

Referred to the photograph of the post in the waste on p.75 (OB/A Tab 10 

p.75), he said that he came across that post after the first or second time. 

He re-erected the post on 13 February and on the 16 February found in 

the rubbish. The top post was up for up to 9 days. 

The bottom post erected was also on 7th February and removed at the 

same time. It was found then on the 13th February. Referring to p. 72 

Page 228



 75 

(OB/A Tab 9), he said that the first time it was removed it was found not 

far from the hole close to Middleton road. The second time it had been 

removed it was found in the Copse.  

Mr. Sheppard said that when he was erecting the posts he saw a lady who 

always used the land. He said that he warned her quite strongly and she 

went off. He doesn’t know that lady’s name and she has not given 

evidence at this Inquiry. 

Under xx, he was asked how people would distinguish Footpath Signs 

from private, as the signs didn’t say that unfortunately. He said that he 

looked at the tracks on the ground – that is where most feet seemed to 

have travelled. It was suggested to him (in xx) that some people wouldn’t 

think that it was prohibiting them from using the land. Most right thinking 

people, responded Mr. Sheppard, would understand that they were not 

allowed on the land – they had not been invited onto the land. It was put 

to Mr. Sheppard that possibly 50/50 of those would think this prohibits 

use. Mr. Sheppard said “possibly”. He also said that some who say they 

didn’t see the signs must have, if using it as regularly as they say. 

Asked under xx about the erection of the posts, Mr. Sheppard said that he 

erected them both (at both ends of the field) on the same day, 7th. 

February 2009. When he went back a week later, they had been pulled 

out of the ground. It was put to him that he didn’t know then how long 

they were lying on the ground and he replied that he had kept an eye on 

the site – driving around the village every day. He then said that he went 

back to the site every day in between. He found one on the rubbish and 

subsequently the other one was in the Copse. They were re-erected on the 

13th February. It was put to Mr. Sheppard that the posts were up for at 

most 9 days (and not as long as was put to Mr. Beagle in xx). It was also 

suggested to Mr. Sheppard that there was a difference between seeing a 

sign from 50ft away and seeing it in a photo. Mr. Sheppard replied that 

they were obvious to anyone entering the field – you couldn’t fail to see 

them, he said - they were not next to the edge of the field. It was put to Mr. 

Sheppard that people walking at the back of the Village Hall and onto the 

Page 229



 76 

land wouldn’t see the sign. Mr. Sheppard said that if they were on the 

tarmac path they would not. He reiterated that if someone was using the 

land regularly they would have notice the signs. It seems, he added, that a 

lot of people didn’t go and have a look – most people would go and look at 

the posts. People who used the land in the summer may not have seen the 

signs. 

When it was again put to Mr. Sheppard that people didn’t know what the 

meaning of the signs was, Mr. Sheppard said people must have – 

otherwise, why did they pull the signs out of the land, he asked. It was 

then suggested to him that the majority of people wouldn’t have 

understood. Mr. Sheppard didn’t agree – he said that if people know there 

are signs they should know that they are not being invited onto the land. 

Why, asked Mr. Sheppard, would anyone put a sign on their land? It was 

suggested to Mr. Sheppard that the overall impression was that their use 

was tolerated and not objected to. Later in his xx Mr. Sheppard accepted 

that they could have been clearer signs. 

Mr. Sheppard was referred to his statement (OB/A Tab 13 p.98) where he 

referred to discussions in 2012 leading to the putting up of the four signs. 

When asked, Mr. Sheppard declined (as he was entitled) to say who was 

advising him but did confirm that he was being advised on TVG. He was 

referred to pp. 444/5 of AB/B tab 15 which showed the cost of the 4 signs 

was £433.54 (£208.54 + £225.00). With regard to the earlier signs, Mr. 

Sheppard said that they were silver with red writing and he was referred 

to Mr. Fry saying that they were, as he recalled, black and white signs. 

Under xx he was asked whether it was possible that the signs were not 

put up. Even if they were put up, it was also put to him, he could not say 

how long they were up for. Mr. Sheppard said no he couldn’t say but 

added that they probably went up when the footpath started to be 

established. 

 

 

 

Page 230



 77 

Highfield Crescent Fencing 

Referring to the fence shown on photo 23B (OB/A Tab 5), Mr. Sheppard 

said that he did not see it every day. It was there at the time of set aside in 

1988. He wouldn’t think that it was breached in 1988 as the land had 

been arable and people didn’t walk over it. He didn’t have animals on the 

land so there was no stock proof fence. The fencing was a boundary for 

the houses. Nearly every dwelling that he knows has a fence to indicate 

the boundary. Regarding Mr. Yates’ evidence (re. breaching of the fence), 

Mr. Sheppard said that was as good an account as one can find. Mr. 

Sheppard said that at the time he put the signs up in 2009 he again 

phoned Salisbury DC or Wiltshire asking them to put new wire along 

there. The fencing was repaired by the District Council in 2009 and he 

saw that they had done a good professional job. 

He walked across the land from time to time. It was breached after the 

Council had repaired it. He didn’t take any steps to repair it. He said that 

he had to top the field right up to the fence. When asked (in chief) 

whether it was breached in 2009/10, Mr. Sheppard said that he wouldn’t 

be surprised – he said that they would have cut it again even if it had been 

repaired. He said that, if he had re-erected the post (with the sign), it 

would have been dismissed as easily as the others. 

It was put to him (under xx) that what we are concerned about is not 

knowing what he was trying to do but how it would have appeared to 

people using the land. Mr. Sheppard said that is why he put the signs up. 

He said, when asked, that he didn’t put up fencing because it was very 

expensive – it would have cost thousands of pounds, which he didn’t have.  

Under xx he was referred to his evidence that the fence was renewed in 

2009. Mr. Sheppard agreed that the fence was put up to fence off the 

estate. He said that he was sure that it was some of the residents of 

Highfield Crescent who told him people were using the gap so he should 

do something about it. It was put to Mr. Sheppard (in xx) that users 

wouldn’t necessarily think the repairing of the fence was an indication 

that they shouldn’t be going onto the land. He replied “true”. 

Page 231



 78 

Under re-ex, Mr. Sheppard said that the fence posts (in the north-west) 

were originally concrete. He said that the wire would have been under 

tension, when first put up. He thought that there were 4 strands – it was 

smooth and not barbed wire. They were robust to keep people in 

Highfield Crescent 

 

April 2011 

He still found that this was happening – people coming onto the land. 

Whenever he met anyone on the land, he would tell them in no uncertain 

terms that they shouldn’t be on the land. Sometimes they were peaceable, 

sometimes not. The main protagonist, was a Mr. Simpson. Mr. Sheppard 

didn’t know whether he had anything to do with WOOD. 

Mr. Sheppard said that he probably spoke to about 12 people over the 

years.  

Mr. Sheppard said that he then decided to plough the land and did so on 

4th April 2011. He said that he was “cheesed off” – “That is all you get for 

trying to do a kindness”, Mr. Sheppard said. 

He also decided to put up new signs having spoken to Salisbury Planning 

Department. So he erected 4. When asked (in chief) why he had originally 

(in 2009) erected 2 and now 4, Mr. Sheppard said that because it became 

more and more clear that people were not taking notice of the 2 smaller 

signs. 

 

Communal Events 

Mr. Sheppard said that the only time he gave permission for a communal 

event was for one afternoon for 2 years (between 1991-2011) for pony 

rides for the village fete.  

 

Bonfires 

He said that it was only the burning of rubbish that he allowed. I person 

lived in the Crescent and 1 in Woodland Drive. He said that he probably 

Page 232



 79 

bumped into them when he was walking up there but he did give his 

permission on the understanding that they cleared up after. 

 

The Copse 

He said that there are mid-sized trees. Hazel shoots have been coppiced 

over the years but he didn’t know how far back this went. He thinks it 

started when he was a child but he was not sure. These were cut again at 

intervals of about 10 years. In any one year a ¼ of the Copse would be 

coppiced. It was never clear felled. When he had organised it, the guy 

advised that the already thick hazel should be taken out. Some got really 

big. That is how the cycle began. Between 1991-2011 there was coppicing 

every year but not recently. They would only really do it in winter, when 

there were no leaves and the sap was down. This has fallen away because 

the gentleman’s wife was seriously ill and died and he decided to retire. 

So it needs a cut. It was last done about 5 years ago.  

When Mr. Sheppard’s father owned it, there was shooting there - that was 

in the 1960s. He died in 1970. 

Mr. Sheppard said that he does walk past the Copse regularly. He goes 

along school path – about 4 times a week and he meets people on the 

path. He sometimes sees people in the Copse but not often.  

Under xx, he clarified that the Coppice was coppiced until around 2009. 

He said that something was done most years and in some years they did a 

bigger patch. It was done during the winter months and early spring 

when, as he said in chief, no leaves or sap. He confirmed that there would 

not be coppicing in summer or the summer holidays. He accepted that 

there could have been playing in the Copse when coppicing probably not 

happening. 

He said that he saw dens very occasionally and he had built them himself 

when he was a kid. He had seen a rope swing but he had seen it used. 

There had always been a few but not with any great frequency. He 

thought that his father put up signs in the 1960s. He accepted, under xx, 

Page 233



 80 

that he tolerated use of copse but said he told people in the Copse to get 

out who were cutting things down – he got cross. He made sure that they 

knew he was the owner and they had no right to be in there. Mr. Sheppard 

said that if he didn’t recognise the person, he told them. When it was put 

to him that there were lots of people that he recognised and he didn’t tell 

them, Mr. Sheppard said that he didn’t need to, as they knew it. He said 

that he occasionally saw people walking on the field but not regularly. 

He was asked, in xx, whether he thought about putting the posts up in the 

Copse. He replied that he was concerned about the field, even though 

there were tracks in the Copse. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

Under xx, Mr. Sheppard said that he didn’t see people walking dogs on the 

land regularly. He did tell quite a number of people that they had no right 

to be on the land. He told them that they had no right to be on the land as 

it is private. I wasn’t prepared to sit in a chair there 24 hours a day. He 

reiterated that he spoke to about a dozen people. 

Mr. Sheppard accepted that if he had known about TVG law he would 

have taken a very different stance. 

He was asked about the path along the north side of the Copse and 

blackberrying and sloes. Mr. Sheppard said that there was not an 

established pattern. People say that they walked everywhere but, said Mr. 

Sheppard, there was no proof. He said that there may have been tracks. 

Referred to photo 23, he acknowledged the faint line from the telephone 

box to the Copse 

 

Note of Parish Council Meeting on 4 February 2013 

The meeting was in respect of the Modification Order at Middleton Road 

(see pp. 90/91 in OB/A Tab 12). Mr. Sheppard was referred to the Note at 

p. 88 of OB/A Tab 12. He said that it was his note. He declared an interest 

in respect of the meeting. He was Chairman of the PC for 3 years. All said 

Page 234



 81 

that they remembered seeing the original signs in place in 2009. When 

asked whether the PC supported the TVG Application, Mr. Sheppard said 

that they will not get involved with WOOD. 

 

 

Patricia Sheppard35 

Mrs. Sheppard read her statement in which she states that she has lived in 

Winterslow for 48 years and that she had an intimate knowledge of the 

use of the Application Land. She can’t see the land from their house in 

Weston Lane and it is impossible to keep watch all the time other the 

land. That is why they decided to erect the four further signs. Her 

husband was there however very frequently – but 24/7 was impossible. 

Mrs. Sheppard said that she would drive around the village on most days. 

She would go to the Doctor’s Surgery quite regularly as she had an elderly 

mother (who died in 2006) and an elderly Aunt (who died in 2011). She 

would go to Highfield Crescent once a week, on a Friday. She couldn’t 

remember when that started - less than 5 years with Aunt and a bit longer 

with mother. 

Mrs. Sheppard also used to visit a Mrs. Perry who died in 2006. She used 

to go and see her each Saturday afternoon – she would sit with her and 

talk. They used to sit near the window because Mrs. Perry’s sight was not 

good. She never saw anyone using that access. On Sunday morning she 

would pick Mrs. Perry up for church and take her back home after. 

Mrs. Sheppard said that she was not aware of anyone on the land. She did 

go onto the land and saw tracks. She did know people were using it. She 

did go into the Copse and see tracks that just meandered through the 

wood. She saw no dens abut did see a rope swing. When asked whether 

she ever did anything to stop people using the wood, Mrs. Sheppard said 

that they just felt people should have the experience of seeing the blue 

bells in there. It was educationally important that people had that 

opportunity. Yes, she therefore accepted that people used the Copse and 
                                                        
35 OB/A Tab 13 p.99 

Page 235



 82 

she personally took no steps to stop that. She explained further that it was 

not their mission to stop people going into the Copse as long as they went 

in through the top path and she had no objection to them going from the 

path. 

She said that she (unlike her husband) didn’t play tennis. When she was 

asked whether she saw dog walkers on bottom part of the field, Mrs. 

Sheppard said might have seen the odd one at the end nearest to the 

Village Hall. When she was asked whether that would be first thing, she 

said that it wouldn’t be late and probably between 9.30/10am. She 

accepted therefore that, if people were walking their dogs before work, 

then she wouldn’t have seen that. She was asked whether she would go 

there at lunchtime. Mrs. Sheppard replied that she would sometimes go 

out between 10.30/11 am – she would walk from the house and cut 

through Barry’s Field. She said that the could cut through the bluebell 

wood, if they chose to. In the Copse she rarely saw anyone coming and 

going. She has observed in the afternoon a couple of mums rushing up to 

the school. If she was in the field, she may pass someone. She would say 

good morning but make the point that it was private land. She said this 

was very rarely- maybe 5 times or a bit more. She said that she never saw 

blackberrying in the field and she never gave permission (“certainly not”) 

for anyone to be on the land apart from the donkey rides. Bonfires were 

organised once. She had heard brownies had used the land but she didn’t 

see that and she did not personally give them permission. 

With regard to the two posts in 1999, she accepted her husband’s 

evidence on this. She did not know how long they were up. She said that 

they were removed within a couple of days. When asked under xx about 

that, Mrs. Sheppard said that she drove past and one day there were there 

– a few days later they were not. It could have been less than a week. 

When asked whether she was looking to see of the posts were still there, 

she said that she was as she could see past the Surgery as the view opens 

up there. 

Page 236



 83 

With regard to the Note on p.89 of OB/A Tab 12, she confirmed that was 

her husband’s note. 

It was said to Mrs. Sheppard (in xx) that they are aware that she had very 

strong feelings as she had made that clear. She was referred to her letter 

to Cllr. Devine and it was suggested that she was putting pressure on him 

to support her. (see OB/A Tab 12 p.85). She was referred in particular to 

the 4th. Paragraph of that letter. She said that she did not look at it like 

that (i.e. putting pressure on the Councillor). When it was put to her that 

she made it difficult for him to support the TVG application, Mrs. 

Sheppard replied that was a decision for him to make.  

She was also asked about the petition. It was suggested that the 

Community was divided – some people supporting her and her husband 

and some supporting the Application. Mrs. Sheppard said that it was the 

minority who are supporting the Application. It was then put to her that 

some people don’t want to give evidence as seen from some people not 

turning up.  

 

 

5. ASSESSMENT AND CONCLUSIONS 

5.1 This section is set out as follows: 

(1) The Legal Framework 

(2) Assessment of the issues arising against that framework 

(3) Conclusions 

 

THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK FOR DETERMINATION OF AN APPLICATION 

UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE COMMONS ACT 2006 

5.2 As noted in section 1 of this Report above, section 15(1) provides (as 

relevant to this Application) that: 

Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register 

land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where 

subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

Page 237



 84 

Subsection (2) applies where- 

(a) A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 

and 

(b) They continue to do so at the time of the application. 

 

 Subsection (3) applies where - 

 This subsection applies where– 

(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 

(b) they ceased to do so before the time of the application but after the 

commencement of this section; and 

(c) the application is made within the period of two years beginning 

with the cessation referred to in paragraph (b). 

(It should be noted that since this Application was made the period in 

(3)(b) has been changed in England to 1 year – section 14(2) of the 

Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013, taking effect on 1 October 2013).  

 

5.3 The burden of proof lies on the Applicant to demonstrate that the 

statutory criteria are satisfied. The standard of proof is the civil one – that 

is “on the balance of probabilities” or, put simply, that it is more likely 

than not. The approach of Pill JL in R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte 

Steed [1996] 75 P&CR 102, 111 is relevant: 

  However, I approach the issue on the basis that it is no trivial matter for a 
landowner to have land, whether in public or private ownership, registered 
as a town green and that the evidential safeguards present in the 
authorities already cited dealing with the establishment of a customary 
right (class B) should be imported into a class C case. Use, as of right, and as 
inhabitants of Sudbury, for sports and pastimes must be “properly and 
strictly proved”. 

 This approach was endorsed by Lord Bingham in R v Sunderland City 

Council, ex parte Beresford [2004] 1 AC 889 at [2] who referred to Pill 

Ely’s words and continued: 

Page 238



 85 

 It is accordingly necessary that all ingredients of this definition should be 
met before land is registered, and decision-makers must consider carefully 
whether the land in question has been used by the inhabitants of a locality 
for indulgence in what are properly to be regarded as lawful sports and 
pastimes and whether the temporal limit of 20 years' indulgence or more is 
met. 

 I consider this endorsement is still relevant, although Beresford has been 

both distinguished and not followed or to be relied upon in R (on the 

application of Barkas) v North Yorkshire CC [2014] UKSC 31. 

 

5.4 From section 15(3)(a) and the relevant case law, it can be seen that an 

application has to satisfy the following elements: 

(1) The application land has to have been used for lawful sports and 

pastimes. 

(2) The use has to have been by a significant number of people who 

come from: 

A locality; or 

Any neighbourhood within a locality. 

(3) That use has to have been carried out for at least 20 years up to 

when it ceased and the application to register has been made 

within the statutory period form the use ceasing (s.15(3)). 

(4) That use has to have been “as of right” throughout that period. 

 

The land which forms the basis of the application has to have been used 

for lawful sports and pastimes 

5.5 The expression “lawful sports and pastimes” was considered in R v 

Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 

A.C. 335. It was held that “sports and pastimes” is not two classes of 

activities but a single composite class, so an activity that was a sport or 

pastime falls within it. It was further held that dog walking and playing 

with children are, in modern life, the kind of informal recreation, which 

may be the main function of a village green36. Flying kites, picking 

                                                        
36 [2000] 1 A.C. 335, 357A-D. 

 

Page 239



 86 

blackberries, fishing and tobogganing have been considered to fall within 

“sports and pastimes”. 

 

5.6 Not all use that falls within the meaning of “lawful sports and pastimes” is 

sufficient, however. In White v Taylor (No.2)(1969) 1 Ch 160 at 192 

Buckley J held: 

...But the user must be shown to have been of such a character, degree and 

frequency as to indicate an assertion by the claimant of a continuous right, 

and of a right of the measure of the right claimed. 

The use must be to a sufficient extent; use which is “so trivial and sporadic 

as not to carry the outward appearance of user as of right” is to be ignored: 

Sunningwell [2001] 1 A.C. 335, 375D-E. 

 

5.7 It is necessary to distinguish the use of footpaths from use for sports or 

pastimes. That distinction is important in this case, where there are tracks 

across the path and a application for a modification order was made in 

respect of the land under section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 a short time before the TVG application was made.  

 

5.8 In Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council  [2004] EWHC 12 at 

[102]-[110] (the Trap Grounds case) in the High Court Lightman J stated 

that where the public use defined tracks over land this will generally only 

establish public rights of way unless the user is wider in scope or the 

tracks are of such character that user of them cannot give rise to a 

presumption at common law as a public highway, but user of such tracks 

for pedestrian recreational purposes may qualify. The House of Lords 

[2006] 2 AC 674 at [68] (as well as the Court of Appeal) on appeal held 

that it would not be appropriate to give any guidance on the evidentiary 

matters relating to the use of tracks and the other land. The Objectors also 

refer to the Judgment of Sir Nicholas Browne-Wilkinson in Dydfed CC v 

Secretary of State for Wales [1989] 59 P & CR 275, 279: 

Page 240



 87 

  “…There is no rule that use of a highway for mere recreational purposes is 
incapable of creating a public right of way. Such use for purely recreational 
walking would be a use of the path as a footway and give rise to the 
possibility of deemed dedication in the absence of evidence that the owner of 
the land had no intention to dedicate.”37 

 

5.9 Given the importance of this issue to WOOD’s Application, I set out the 

approach In R (on the application of Laing Homes Ltd) v Buckinghamshire 

County Council [2003] EWHC 1578 (Admin) at [102] – [110], where 

Sullivan J. held as follows: 

 102. As noted above, the Footpath Order confirmed the existence of 
footpaths all around the perimeters of each of the three fields (the paths cut 
across the south western corners of Fields 1 and 3). For obvious reasons, the 
presence of footpaths or bridleways is often highly relevant in applications 
under section 22(1) of the Act: land is more likely to be used for recreational 
purposes by local inhabitants if there is easy access to it. But it is important 
to distinguish between use which would suggest to a reasonable landowner 
that the users believed they were exercising a public right of way — to walk, 
with or without dogs, around the perimeter of his fields — and use which 
would suggest to such a landowner that the users believed that they were 
exercising a right to indulge in lawful sports and pastimes across the whole 
of his fields. 
103. Dog walking presents a particular problem since it is both a normal 
and lawful use of a footpath and one of the kinds of “informal recreation” 
which is commonly found on village greens. Once let off the lead a dog may 
well roam freely whilst its owner remains on the footpath. The dog is 
trespassing, but would it be reasonable to expect the landowner to object on 
the basis that the dog's owner was apparently asserting the existence of 
some broader public right, in addition to his right to walk on the footpath? 
104. The landowner is faced with the same dilemma if the dog runs away 
from the footpath and refuses to return, so that the owner has to go and 
retrieve it. It would be unfortunate if a reasonable landowner was forced to 
stand upon his rights in such a case in order to prevent the local inhabitants 
from obtaining a right to use his land off the path for informal recreation. 
The same would apply to walkers who casually or accidentally strayed from 
the footpaths without a deliberate intention to go on other parts of the 
fields: see per Lord Hoffmann at p.358E of Sunningwell . I do not consider 
that the dog's wanderings or the owner's attempts to retrieve his errant dog 
would suggest to the reasonable landowner that the dog walker believed he 
was exercising a public right to use the land beyond the footpath for 
informal recreation. 
105. While the Inspector was not obliged to carry out a field-by-field 
analysis, he was obliged to grapple with the principal point made in the 
Claimant's analysis: that looking at the 20-year period, walking, including 

                                                        
37 Objectors Authorities Tab 5 

Page 241

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IBD944500E44811DA8D70A0E70A78ED65


 88 

dog walking, was the principal activity, and that it was largely confined to 
the footpaths around the perimeter of the fields. If that use was discounted, 
the other activities over the remainder of the fields were not of such a 
character and frequency as to indicate an assertion of a right over the 
entirety of the 38 acres for 20 years, not least because the other paths 
(across the fields) only began to evolve after 1993 and so were not claimed 
as footpaths (10.17). In paragraph 14.24 the Inspector appears to have 
accepted the Claimant's analysis, up to a point: noting that in addition to 
walking on the paths that developed around the field boundaries, some of 
the other activities such as blackberrying would have taken place on or near 
the boundaries, rather than across the fields as a whole. 
106. But when the Inspector concluded in paragraph 14.25 that there was 
abundant evidence of continuous use by local people of the whole surface of 
the fields he relied “in addition to the dog walking and playing with 
children” referred to in Sunningwell , also upon “general walking (i.e. 
without dogs)” as being among the many activities that took place on the 
fields. 
107. Thus the Inspector considered whether the whole, and not merely the 
perimeter of the fields was being used, but he did not deal with the issue 
raised in the Claimant's analysis: how extensive was the use of the fields if 
the use of the footpaths around their boundaries for walking and dog 
walking (making allowance for the fact that dogs off the lead may stray, see 
10.18) was discounted, such use being referable to the exercise of public 
rights of way, and not a right to indulge in informal recreation across the 
whole of the fields. 
108. I accept that the two rights are not necessarily mutually exclusive. A 
right of way along a defined path around a field may be exercised in order 
to gain access to a suitable location for informal recreation within the field. 
But from the landowner's point of view it may be very important to 
distinguish between the two rights. He may be content that local 
inhabitants should cross his land along a defined route, around the edge of 
his fields, but would vigorously resist if it appeared to him that a right to 
roam across the whole of his fields was being asserted. 
109. I do not suggest that it will be necessary in every case where a footpath 
crosses or skirts an application site under the Act to distinguish between the 
exercise of a right of way and the use of a site for informal recreation. The 
footpath may be lightly used as such and the evidence of non-footpath use 
may be substantial. But the present case is most unusual in that there were 
recently confirmed footpaths around the perimeters of all three Fields. 
These footpaths were not lightly used. The Footpath Inspector had 
concluded that there was “unchallenged evidence of considerable weight 
that their routes have been in such use as would satisfy section 31 of the 
[Highways Act] 1980 ”. The Claimants drew the Inspector's attention to 
evidence from one of GAG's witnesses “that the majority of people in the 
fields stuck to the boundary footpaths” (10.16). 
110. It is no accident that the Inspector's list of activities in paragraph 14.25 
commenced with dog walking and general walking (i.e. without dogs). On 
any view of GAG's evidence set out by the Inspector in Chapter 7 of his 
Report these were the principal activities throughout the 20-year period. A 

Page 242

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IEFC06580E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IEFC06580E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65


 89 

number of the other activities were very occasional, such as kite flying, or of 
limited duration, e.g. use by the Cub Scouts appears to have ceased in 1987 
(7.67). I do not underestimate the difficulties confronting the Inspector but 
he does appear to have relied upon the extensive use of the perimeter 
footpaths as such, for general and dog walking, in reaching his conclusion 
that there was abundant evidence of the use of the whole of the fields for 
lawful sports and pastimes for the 20-year period (14.25). To Laings, as a 
reasonably vigilant, and not an absentee, landowner those walkers would 
have appeared to be exercising public rights of way, not indulging in lawful 
sports and pastimes as of right. For these reasons the claim also succeeds on 
ground (1) 

 

5.10 The Objectors also bring my attention to the analysis of Vivian Chapman 

QC in his Inspector’s report in the Radley Lakes application (13/10/2007) 

at [304&5]:38 

 “It seems to me that the heart of the guidance given by Lightman J is that all 
depends on whether the use would appear to the reasonable landowner as 
referable to the exercise of a right of way along a defined route or referable 
to a right to enjoy recreation over the whole of a wider area of land. if the 
appearance is ambiguous, it should be ascribed to the lesser right, ie a right 
of way.’ 

 

5.11 With regard to the extent of coverage of the application land by qualifying 

user, not every part of the application land has to have been used. 

However, the evidence must be such so as to indicate use as of right for 

lawful sports and pastimes of the land as a whole. In R (Cheltenham 

Builders) v South Gloucestershire Council [2003] EWHC 2803 at [29] 

Sullivan J. stated that a “common sense approach is required when 

considering whether the whole of a site was so used”. 

 

5.12 The approach of the House of Lords in the Trap Grounds case is also 

instructive. Lord Hoffman stated: 

 66 Secondly, Mr. Chapman dealt with the inaccessibility of a good deal of 
the scrubland: 
“The city council argue that the scrubland is now so overgrown that the 
majority of it is inaccessible and that this in itself precludes registration as a 
green. As noted above, my estimate is that about 25% of the total area is 
reasonably accessible, the rest consisting of trees and scrub. In my view, the 
question whether land has become a town or village green cannot be 

                                                        
38 Objectors’ Opening Submissions at [29] on p.9 and Tab 11 of Objector’s Authorities at p. 58 

Page 243



 90 

determined by a mathematical assessment of the amount of the land which 
is open to recreation. … Where the recreational use is informal and consists 
of activities such as walking, with or without dogs, children's play, exploring 
and watching wild life, I do not see why much more densely vegetated land 
should not be capable of being subject to recreational rights, either by 
custom or prescription. In my view, it is necessary to look at the words of the 
statutory definition and to ask whether the scrubland, considered as a 
whole, is land which falls within that definition. In my view, the evidence 
proves that the recreational use of the scrubland is, and has been over the 
relevant 20 year period, sufficiently general and widespread, by way of use 
not only of the main track but also of minor tracks, glades and clearings, to 
amount to recreational use of the scrubland viewed as a whole.” 
 
67 This is not an application for judicial review of Mr. Chapman's decision 
and your Lordships are not invited to express a view on whether, on the 
facts, he was entitled to reach the conclusions which he did. For my part, in 
the absence of an inspection or at least photographs of the site, I would be 
very reluctant to do so. If the area is in fact intersected with paths and 
clearings, the fact that these occupy only 25% of the land area would not in 
my view be inconsistent with a finding that there was recreational use of the 
scrubland as a whole. For example, the whole of a public garden may be 
used for recreational activities even though 75% of the surface consists of 
flower beds, borders and shrubberies on which the public may not walk. 
 

 

The use has to have been by a significant number of people who come 

from: 

A locality; or 

Any neighbourhood within a locality 

 

Significant Number 

5.13 In R (Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] 

EWHC 76 at para. 71 Sullivan J held that a “significant number” need not 

be considerable or substantial. It was held that it was a matter of 

impression for the decision-maker on the evidence and what mattered 

was that the number of people using the land in question had to be 

sufficient to indicate that their use of the land signifies that it is a general 

use by the local community for an informal recreational use, rather than 

occasional use by individuals as trespassers. 

 

Page 244



 91 

5.14 Given the issues arising in this case and the submissions made, particular 

note should also be taken of paragraphs 72 and 73 of Sullivan J’s 

judgment in the Alfred McAlpine Homes case: 

 72. The inspector concluded in paragraph 7.1 that substantial use had been 
made of the meadow for informal recreation for more than 20 years before 
the application. He referred specifically to six of the witnesses who could 
give evidence covering the whole of the 20−year period. Mr. Wolton's 
criticisms of the inspector's conclusions are not well founded. It is quite 
unrealistic to refer simply to the six witnesses or to deal with the matter on 
the basis that they are only six out of 20,000 or one out of 200, and that such 
numbers are not significant. I accept that, if all of those six witnesses had 
said that they had not seen others on the land over the 20−year period, then 
it would be difficult to see how six out of 20,000 or one out of 200 could be 
said to be significant. But the fact of the matter is that they did not give such 
evidence: they were able to give evidence, not merely about what they did 
themselves, but what they saw others doing on the meadow over the 
20−year period. 
73. It is difficult to obtain first−hand evidence of events over a period as long 
as 20 years. In the present case there was an unusual number of witnesses 
who were able to speak as to the whole of the period. More often an 
inspector at such inquiries is left with a patchwork of evidence, trying to 
piece together evidence from individuals who can deal with various parts of 
the 20−year period. In the present case, however, the evidence of the six 
witnesses who were able to cover the whole 20−year period was amply 
supported by many other witnesses who dealt not simply with the last few 
years but with a very considerable part of the 20−year period, some of them 
going back almost 20 years, some going back to times before the 20−year 
period began. 

 

5.15 This aspect is often referred to as part of the issue of “the quality of user” 

and has been addressed in several authorities since then. In the Court of 

Appeal decision in Leeds Group plc v Leeds City Council  [2011] 2 WLR 

Sullivan LJ, as he had by then become, held: 

Quality of user 

28. I agree with Mr. Laurence that this ground of appeal is better 
described as the quality of user point. It is based on certain passages in the 
speeches of Lord Walker of Gestingthorpe JSC and Lord Hope of Craighead 
DPSC in R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council (No 2) [2010] 2 
AC 70. In para 30 Lord Walker JSC referred to the general proposition that 
had been relied on by Mr. Laurence: 
“that if the public (or a section of the public) is to acquire a right by 
prescription, they must by their conduct bring home to the landowner that a 
right is being asserted against him, so that the landowner has to choose 

Page 245



 92 

between warning the trespassers, or eventually finding that they have 
established the asserted right against him.” 
In para 36 Lord Walker JSC said that in the light of the authorities he had 
“no difficulty in accepting that Lord Hoffmann was absolutely right, in 
Sunningwell [2000] 1 AC 335, to say that the English theory of prescription 
is concerned with ‘how the matter would have appeared to the owner of the 
land’ (or if there was an absentee owner, to a reasonable owner who was on 
the spot).” 
 

Any Locality or any Neighbourhood within a Locality 

5.16 As seen above, section 15(3)(a) provides: 

A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality 

This repeats the insertion of “neighbourhood within a locality” into 

section 22 of the CRA 1965 (by section 98 of the Countryside and Rights 

of Way Act 2000), and was intended to apply more flexibility to the issue 

of “locality” and mitigate the strict legal test that had been applied in 

some cases. The Court of Appeal confirmed in Leeds Group Plc v Leeds City 

Council [2011] EWCA Civ 1447 (the second Leeds Group Plc case) that:  

(1) It was common ground that Parliament's intention in enacting s.98 

was to remove the evidential difficulty posed by the need for users 

to be predominantly from an administrative area known to the 

law. 

(2) The enactment of s.98 was to strike a balance between two 

competing interests; users who wished to apply for the 

registration of land as a TVG and landowners whose land might be 

the subject of such application.  

(3) The new policy contained in s.22(1A) of the 1965 Act applied in its 

entirety to all applications made on or after January 30, 2001, 

when s.98 came into force.  

 

5.17 A “locality” is however not an arbitrary line on a map; it means an 

administrative unit and a “neighbourhood” within a locality means an 

area with a sufficient degree of cohesiveness, as held by Sullivan J in R 

(Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucestershire DC [2003] EWHC 2803 

Page 246



 93 

(Admin). What can constitute a locality includes a county, a city a town or 

borough, a parish (civil and ecclesiastical) and an electoral ward.39 

 

That use has to have been carried out for at least 20 years up to the date 

of the application 

5.18 The House of Lords in Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council 

[2006] 2 WLR 1235 confirmed that under the previous provisions, 

sections 13 and 22(1A) of the Commons Registration Act 1965 (as 

amended by the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000), the user as of 

right had to continue to the date of the application. As noted above, 

section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 provides for this situation but also 

situations where the recreational use has ceased (sections 15(3)-(7)). 

 

That use has to have been as of right throughout that period 

5.19 To be “as of right” the use must have been carried out: 

(i) Without force (nec vi) 

(ii) Without secrecy (nec clam) 

(iii) Without permission (nec precario). 

The phrase “as of right” is based upon the acquisition of rights by 

prescription. The whole law of prescription and the whole law that 

governs the presumption or inference of a grant or covenant rest upon 

acquiescence by the land owner: as held by Fry J in Dalton v Angus & Co. 

(1881) 6 App. Cas. 740, 773 as cited by Lord Hoffman in R v Oxfordshire 

County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 AC 335 at 

351B-C. 

 

5.20 Sunningwell related to an application to register 10 acres of glebe land. 

The House of Lords decided that, where a use had to be established as of 

right, user that was apparently as of right could not be discounted merely 

because many of the users over a long period were subjectively 

indifferent as to whether a right existed, or even had private knowledge 

                                                        
39 See Gadsden on Commons and Greens (Second Edition) at 14-26 on pp. 519-520 

Page 247



 94 

that it did not. It was also held that toleration of the recreational use was 

not inconsistent with user as of right.  

 

5.21 If the user has been by coercion or if the user is contentious in the sense 

that the owner continually and unmistakably protests against it, there is 

no acquiescence and the user is considered to be by force and cannot be 

“as of right”40. This will apply if the circumstances are such as to indicate 

to the user, or to a reasonable user with the user’s knowledge of the 

circumstances, that the owner actually objects and continues to object 

and backs his objection by physical obstruction or by legal action. Signs 

can, depending on the wording and circumstances, have a similar effect. 

Physical obstruction includes fencing and gates; the legal effect will in any 

case depend upon the nature and circumstances of such obstructions and 

actions. 

 

5.22 In Taylor v Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd [2012] EWCA CIv 250, 

LJ Patten held: 

63 It would, in my view, be a direct infringement of the principle (referred to 
earlier in the judgment of Lord Rodger on Redcar (No. 2) ) that rights of 
property cannot be acquired by force or by unlawful means for the Court to 
ignore the landowner's clear and repeated demonstration of his opposition 
to the use of the land simply because it was obliterated by the unlawful acts 
of local inhabitants. Mrs Taylor is not entitled in effect to rely upon this 
conduct by limiting her evidence to that of users whose ignorance of the 
signs was due only to their removal in this way. If the steps taken would 
otherwise have been sufficient to notify local inhabitants that they should 
not trespass on the land then the landowner has, I believe, done all that is 
required to make users of his land contentious. 
 

5.23 In R (Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation 

Trust) v Oxfordshire County Council [2010] LGR 631 (the Warneford 

Meadows case) HH Judge Waksman QC (sitting as a Judge of the High 

Court) considered Pumfrey J's dictum in Smith v Brudenell-Bruce in the 

context of an application to register a meadow adjoining the Warneford 

Hospital in Oxford as a town or village green. The land in question was 

                                                        
40 Smith v Brudenell-Bruce [2002] 2 P&CR 4 at [12]. 

Page 248



 95 

crossed by a public footpath alongside which was a notice stating: “No 

public right of way”. This was said to have prevented any public use of the 

meadow itself from being as of right. The judge held that the notice had 

not rendered such use contentious because, reasonably read, it had to be 

taken to refer to the user of the footpath rather than the meadow land 

generally. He was not therefore concerned with a case where the notice 

had been placed in an inaccessible position or where (as in the present 

case) the notices had been removed. But in his judgment he set out some 

general principles. Having referred to Smith v Brudenell-Bruce and to 

Redcar (No 2) he said this: 

21 By way of contrast in Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council 
[2006] Ch 43 , the relevant sign read: 
Oxford City Council. 
Trap Grounds and Reed Beds. 
Private Property. 
Access prohibited 
Except with the express consent 
Of Oxford City Council 
22 From those cases I derive the following principles: 
(1) The fundamental question is what the notice conveyed to the user. If the 
user knew or ought to have known that the owner was objecting to and 
contesting his use of the land, the notice is effective to render it contentious; 
absence of actual knowledge is therefore no answer if the reasonable user 
standing in the position of the actual user, and with his information, would 
have so known; 
(2) Evidence of the actual response to the notice by the actual users is thus 
relevant to the question of actual knowledge and may also be relevant as to 
the putative knowledge of the reasonable user; 
(3) The nature and content of the notice, and its effect, must be examined in 
context; 
(4) The notice should be read in a common sense and not legalistic way; 
(5) If it is suggested that the owner should have done something more than 
erect the actual notice, whether in terms of a different notice or some other 
act, the Court should consider whether anything more would be 
proportionate to the user in question. Accordingly it will not always be 
necessary, for example, to fence off the area concerned or take legal 
proceedings against those who use it. The aim is to let the reasonable user 
know that the owner objects to and contests his user. Accordingly, if a sign 
does not obviously contest the user in question or is ambiguous a relevant 
question will always be why the owner did not erect a sign or signs which 
did. I have not here incorporated the reference by Pumfrey J in Brudenell-
Bruce (supra) to ‘consistent with his means’. That is simply because, for my 
part, if what is actually necessary to put the user on notice happens to be 
beyond the means of an impoverished landowner, for example, it is hard to 

Page 249

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=92&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I15BF6320E42811DA8FC2A0F0355337E9
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=92&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I15BF6320E42811DA8FC2A0F0355337E9


 96 

see why that should absolve him without more. 1 As it happens, in this case, 
no point on means was taken by the Authority in any event so it does not 
arise on the facts here. 
In my judgment the following principles also apply: 

   (6) Sometimes the issue is framed by reference to what a reasonable 
landowner would have understood his notice to mean' that is simply 
another way of asking the question as to what the reasonable user would 
have made of it; 

   (7) Since the issue turns on what the user appreciated or should have 
appreciated from the notice, it follows that evidence as to what the owner 
subjectively intended to achieve by the notice is strictly irrelevant. In and of 
itself this cannot assist in ascertaining its objective meaning; 
(8) There may, however, be circumstances when evidence of that intent is 
relevant, for example if it is suggested that the meaning claimed by the 
owner is unrealistic or implausible in the sense that no owner could have 
contemplated that effect. Here, evidence that this owner at least did indeed 
contemplate that effect would be admissible to rebut that suggestion. It 
would also be relevant if that intent had been communicated to the users or 
some representative of them so that it was more than merely a privately 
expressed view or desire. In some cases, that might reinforce or explain the 
message conveyed by the notice, depending of course on the extent to which 
that intent was published, as it were, to the relevant user. 

The Objectors invite the registration Authority to consider [17] to [57] of 

the judgment of HH Judge Waksman QC.41 

 

5.24 Against this legal framework I now turn to consider the Application,  

having regard to the statutory criteria and the contentions on behalf of 

the Applicant and the Objectors. I first identify the issues that arise and 

then set out my assessment of those. 

 

THE ISSUES 

5.25 It is of course necessary for the Applicant to demonstrate that, on the 

balance of probability, each criterion within section 15(3) of the 

Commons Act 2006 is satisfied, as set out above.  

 

5.26 It is not in dispute that: 

                                                        
41 See para. 36 of the Objectors Opening Submissions 

Page 250



 97 

(1) The Applicant is entitled to rely upon section 15(3) of the 

Commons Act 2006 and the relevant 20-year period is from 4 April 

1991 to 4 April 2011. 

(2) Winterslow CP constitutes a valid locality for the purposes of 

section 15(3).42  

 

5.27 Two key (but not by any means the only) elements of the Objectors’ case 

against registration can be summarized as: 

(a) The Applicant has not demonstrated sufficient of qualifying LSP 

use of the Application Land, which has been mainly used for 

highway purposes rather than LSP to a degree that was significant 

over the whole of the land. The Applicant added to and clarified its 

submissions on the Copse in a short Supplemental Closing 

Submission sent on 17th December 2014, after the close of the 

Inquiry. 

(b) Any use has in any event not be “as of right” by reason of the 

signage erected in February 2009 (year 18 of the relevant 20-year 

period). Further, use of the land following access through the 

breaches in the fencing at Highfield Crescent is by force and to be 

discounted. 

 

5.28 Having regard to the evidence and the submissions of the parties, I 

consider that the following key issues arise:- 

(1) The Sufficiency of Qualifying User of the Whole of the Application 

Land during the Relevant 20-Year Period 

 Has the Applicant satisfied the requirement to demonstrate that a 

significant number of inhabitants from the agreed locality have 

used the land for LSP?  

If so, has the Applicant demonstrated sufficient use of the whole 

land (applying a common sense approach as referred to in 

                                                        
42 The Winterslow PC is shown on the plan at AB/A Tab 2 

Page 251



 98 

paragraph 5.8 above) by those inhabitants continuously over the 

relevant 20-year period?  

Only qualifying use is to be taken into account and not uses that 

are permitted/licensed. Further, and significantly, the sufficiency 

of use of the whole land needs to take account of the fact that the 

land has been used for people to walk to and from one side of the 

village to the other. 

(2) The By Force Issue 

Is the qualifying use “as of right” or: 

(i) Is it by force by reason of the two signs erected on posts in 

2009? 

(ii) Is it by force by reason of the field being accessed through 

the gaps in the fence at Highfield Crescent? 

I now set out my assessment of each of these issues. I provide my overall 

conclusions at the end. 

 

 

 ASSESSMENT 

The Sufficiency of Qualifying Use of the Whole of the Application 

Land During the Relevant 20-Year Period 

5.29  An appropriate starting point for consideration of this issue is the 

recognition of the following key characteristics of the Application Land 

during the relevant 20-year period:  

(i) Both the field and the Copse are open and readily accessed from 

different directions. Even though there are no public footpaths 

over the land, they very closely related to the land. The only areas 

of fencing are those around Highfield Crescent and the village hall. 

(ii) Having been set aside in 1988/9, which is not disputed, the land 

was not cropped and only grass grew on the major part of the field 

until it was ploughed in April 2011, as Mr. Sheppard explained. 

The field was then ploughed again and linseed sown in 2012.  

Page 252



 99 

(iii) Key village facilities are located on both “sides” of the Application 

Land. There is for example the school, village shop and a public 

house (the Lord Nelson) broadly to the north/north-west with the 

village hall, tennis courts and doctors surgery and another public 

house (the Lion’s Head formerly owned by Mr. Yates, who gave 

evidence at the Inquiry) to the south/south-east. 

(iv) In addition, there is of course significant housing close to and 

around the Application Land. Much of the housing is on the 

opposite side to the School and village shop. 

(v) My strong impression was that the Copse is also an attraction and 

destination in its own right, as was seen from the evidence from 

some of the witness for both the Applicant and the Objectors. The 

Copse constitutes a little under 40% of the overall area of the 

Application Land. 

 

5.30 The Objectors’ primary contention (on this issue) is that any proven use 

of the field would have had to them, as reasonably vigilant landowners, 

the objective appearance of the exercise of public rights of way over 

defined routes, rather than LSP over the whole of a much wider area of 

land.43 They say that any use outside of these tracks would have been 

occasional and/or ancillary to the exercise of putative rights of way over 

the land. The Objectors also contend that several problems arise with 

relying on the Applicant’s evidence to discover the pattern of use over the 

relevant period.44 

 

5.31 The Applicant, however, contends that evidence given at inquiries will 

invariably represent only a fraction of the actual use of the land and it is 

reasonable to infer that in reality that general pattern of user was 

followed by a much greater number of local inhabitants. The Applicant 

further contends that there is a presumption of continuing user unless 

evidence to the contrary suggests otherwise. The Applicant also contends 

                                                        
43 See [8] on p.4 of the Objectors’ Closing Submissions 
44 See [2] on pp. 2-3 of the Objectors’ Closing Submissions 

Page 253



 100 

that the locally controversial nature of the Application encouraged by 

letters and public statements from the Objectors makes it reasonable to 

assume that less evidence of users was given than might otherwise have 

been expected.45 

 

5.32 Having heard and reviewed the evidence and submissions in detail, my 

overall impression (illustrated by specific reference to some but not all of 

the evidence that I have taken into account) is as follows: 

(1) A significant proportion of those on the field during the relevant 

period have been crossing the land to and from in particular the 

school, the shop, the doctors’ surgery, the two public houses and 

the village hall. This is hardly surprising given the location and 

open nature of the field. The nature of Middleton Road would in 

my view also encourage walkers to try and avoid using that route. 

The tracks seen on the land throughout the relevant period are 

consistent with that. Mr. Paton said that, besides dog walking, the 

field was used mainly to cross and accepted that most people 

would say that it was used for transit. Mr. Rickard said that he 

mainly used the field to get from one side of the field to the other. 

Dr. Flindell’s own use was consistent with using the field to cross. 

Mrs. House said that the main use of the field by adults was for 

crossing but that children would play on the field as it was “a nice 

open space”. Mr. Day said that it is mainly people and dog walkers 

crossing that you see. Mr. Clark said that the main route across the 

land was diagonally from Highland Crescent to the south-east 

corner, although it should be noted his evidence only covers 2008 

onwards. Mr. Fry (for the Objectors) had used the same route.  

Mr. Hardiman estimated the split of transit and recreational use 

was 50/50. Taking account of the evidence overall, and each 

party’s comments on the witnesses, my own distinct impression is 

                                                        
45 Applicant’s Closing Submission at [2] – [6] on pp. 1-3 

Page 254



 101 

that the transit uses would have been greater than that, and 

probably noticeably so. 

(2)  When walking across the land in such a way, such use would have 

appeared to a reasonably vigilant landowner as the exercising of a 

right of way and not a greater right than that. I apply that also to 

those crossing but observing their surroundings on the way. If they 

remain on their “route” across but stop to observe the wildlife 

adjacent to the path or across the field then in my view it would be 

difficult for a reasonable landowner to interpret that as asserting a 

greater right than a right of way. 

(3) There appears no doubt that some users of the land would have 

strayed from their path and that use might properly be considered 

by a reasonably vigilant owner as asserting a greater right, namely 

that consistent with a village green. However, whether that was 

sufficient in itself or combined with other assertions of such a 

right, has to be carefully considered taking into account the 

significant number of users on the land not asserting such a right.  

(4) Further, my impression of the oral evidence was that many of 

those on the land would have had dogs with them. That impression 

was re-enforced when I reviewed the EQs and statements of those 

who have not given evidence at the Inquiry. Mrs. Hazard said (in-

re-ex) that people walking their dogs were mainly going up the 

middle of the field and mainly using the tracks. I have little doubt 

that many of the dogs would have been let off the lead and ran 

around. I have also no doubt that there would have been a mixture 

of that happening whilst the owner walked straight across the field 

and those where the owner stopped and/or walked around the 

fields as the dog exercise over the field.  

(5) Consistent with that, was the evidence of the throwing of objects 

for dogs to retrieve. Mr. Broadley (for the Objectors) had 

witnessed this, although Mr. Yates and Mrs. Fry (also for the 

Objectors) had not. In my view, even if that activity were being 

carried on by those people who were walking straight across the 

Page 255



 102 

field, such an activity would be, and be perceived by a reasonable 

landowner to be, more akin to an assertion of a greater right. My 

impression of the evidence was that this was often more than just 

a dog owner retrieving an errant dog in a way that it would be 

unreasonable to a land owner to attribute an assertion of a greater 

right to (adopting the approach of Sullivan J in Laing Homes (at 

[104]). I also take into account that there has also been some dog 

training and socializing on the field. 

(6) There is clear evidence in my view also of a small number of 

people regularly parking in the morning at the Village Hall and 

letting their dogs out briefly to go to the toilet on the southern part 

of the field close to the Village Hall car park. I have considered this 

to be LSP, albeit I have also taken into account the short duration 

and confinement to the southern area of the land of this particular 

aspect of dog walking. However, as recorded above, that is by no 

means the only evidence of dog walking on the field. 

(7) There have been other uses on the field but in my view less 

regularly and less extensively than the walking across and the dog 

walking. These would have included infrequent kite flying (Mr. 

Crossland refers to this happening 2-3 times a year, although that 

is post 2005); riding of bikes; the infrequent kick around on the 

shorter grass (Mr. Day); “fooling around” by children – including 

hide and seek in the longer grass; infrequent frisbee (Mr. Day); 

infrequent flying of model aircraft. Mrs. Fooks saw an archer. 

People would run over and perhaps to a limited extent around the 

field, the latter being more referable to LSP, if it was not 

reasonably perceived as someone just running across/through the 

land.46 Dr. Putman used the land for observing nature, as did 

others. Mr. Crossland taught his daughter to ride alongside the 

Copse, when she was 9 years old in 2006.  

(8) My impression of the evidence was that the field was not used to 

any great extent for ball games, picnics, informal gatherings. 
                                                        
46 See paragraph 45 on pp. 13-4 of the Applicant’s Closing Submissions 

Page 256



 103 

However, I do accept that people would stop and chat together – if 

that was done whilst people were crossing the land only, then that 

would not qualify. If they chatted otherwise than whilst transiting 

the land in a direct way, then that might well constitute LSP. It may 

have been difficult, however, for a reasonable land owner to 

distinguish the two so as to interpret this as an assertion of a 

greater right than that of a right of way. 

(9)  I note the evidence of Mrs. House relating to her use (at least once 

per week) with children between 1993-2003. The children would 

play in the long grass at the southern end of the field – the girls 

tended, she said, to collect things for craft, whilst the boys 

ventured into the Copse to play with sticks and on the rope swings. 

Mr. Crossland also referred to his daughters running around at the 

bottom of the field to the east of the Copse. That was between 

2005-08. 

(10) My impression also was of seasonal blackberrying (August – 

September – alongside and at the corner of the Copse near 

Highfield Crescent and along inside of Middleton Road) and sloe 

picking (Autumn when there had been a frost – also along the 

inside of Middleton Road) as well sledging and snowball fights 

when the winter weather brought snow and ice. Although the 

former are seasonal and the latter only occurred on a few years in 

the relevant 20-year period (but may have lasted on each occasion 

for 3-4 days), these activities are LSP and cannot be ignored. The 

tobogganing took place more on the northern part of the field, 

where there is the steepest slope. They have to be taken into 

account in the overall assessment of how the use of the land by 

local inhabitants would have looked to the reasonably vigilant 

landowner. The seasonal nature of such activities and of LSP 

generally (with seasonal fluctuations in the degree of use) is a 

feature and of course does not itself preclude registration.47 

                                                        
47 See paragraphs [46] – [52] on pp. 14-15 of the Applicant’s Closing Submissions 

Page 257



 104 

(11) With regard to the Copse, I agree with the Applicant’s 

characterization of this as “somewhat of a magnet” for children 

living nearby.48 Indeed, I would go further than that as I consider 

the Copse to be an inherent attraction to children and many adults 

too, and there was a lot of evidence consistent with that. That was 

exemplified perhaps by Mrs. Hazard’s description of the Copse and 

her wish to have her ashes scattered there. That was also 

consistent with others, including Mr. Paton.  

(12) As indicated above, my very strong impression is that to many 

people the Copse was a destination in its own right. That was in my 

view more so than the field. The main, but as recorded above not 

only, attraction of the field was for crossing to and from the 

different parts of the village.  

(13) In terms of the attraction of the Copse, Mrs. House’s evidence was 

consistent with that – she had not realised that the Copse was part 

of the same land and was privately owned. Many witnesses 

referred to for example the bluebells, celandines, wood anemones, 

primroses, wild raspberries and crab apples in the Copse. It was an 

obvious “stopping off” point for play for children on their way 

home – Mr. Beagle specifically referred to this. It seems clear that 

children would even go in there in less inclement weather (see the 

evidence of e.g. Mrs. House, Mr. Day [albeit only re. 2008-11]). The 

main non-crossing use of the land, which Mr. Rickard referred to, 

was of the Copse by children. Mrs. House said that there would 

always be people playing in the woods and that it would be used 

more for activities than the field. Mrs. Fooks’ son played “more in 

the Copse” and she saw children playing in the Copse and “spilling 

out into the areas around”. 

 

5.33 However, that overall impression is not itself sufficient to demonstrate 

compliance with the section 15(3) criteria. From that overall impression, 

therefore, I now consider whether the Applicant has demonstrated on the 
                                                        
48 Paragraph 33 on p.11 of the Applicant’s Closing Submissions. 

Page 258



 105 

balance of probability that the land as a whole has been used for LSP by a 

significant number of local inhabitants for the relevant 20-year period.  

 

5.34 This discounting of non-qualifying use is not an altogether easy exercise 

to carry out where as here a significant, and in my view the main, use of 

the land is for crossing on foot, as if exercising a right of way. The onus is 

upon the Applicant to demonstrate compliance with the statutory 

requirement. I also have to take into account that the law of prescription 

is based upon how it would have appeared to the owner. Acquiescence by 

the owner is the foundation of prescription.49 Although Mr. Sheppard, and 

Mrs. Sheppard to a lesser extent, was by no means an absentee owner and 

did observe and go to the Application Land and of course live nearby, I 

have used the test of the vigilant land owner and assumed a more 

frequent observation and checking of the land. 

 

5.35 Looking at the land as a whole and the evidence as a whole: 

(1) I note the criticism by the Objectors that of the witnesses giving 

evidence at the Inquiry in support of the Application, only 2 users 

cover periods for 20 or more years and 5 for between 10-15 

years.50 

(2) However, it is important to look at the totality of the oral evidence  

- the oral evidence presents itself, as is common in TVG cases, as a 

jigsaw of different and often overlapping periods in terms of the 

evidence given. It is also important to take into account, as I have 

done, where these witnesses refer to seeing others on the land 

using it for LSP. There are also the other statements and EQs and 

documentation to be taken into account.  

(3) Nonetheless, I do have serious concerns, as detailed below, about 

the totality of that evidence with regard to demonstrating the use 

of the Application Land as a whole throughout the whole of the 20-

year period. I have concerns about some exaggeration of the 

                                                        
49 See Barkas [2014] UKSC 31 at [17] – [19]. 
50 Objectors’ Closing Submissions at [4]-[5] 

Page 259



 106 

recreational uses, as I judged it, in respect of certain elements of 

the Applicant’s evidence. For example, although I would not wish 

to overstate this, I share to some extent the Objectors’ concern as 

to the way the additional photographs of the Copse were 

submitted and then withdrawn.51 I had specific concerns also 

about Mrs. Stevens’ evidence on recreational use, which, and I 

mean no offence to her, seemed exaggerated to me. Also, I was not 

entirely convinced that Mr. Hardiman’s recollections were a fully 

accurate reflection of the likely position. I should make it clear that 

in no case I am suggesting there was any deliberate misleading by, 

or bad faith on the part of, these witnesses. However, it is natural 

that a witness’ evidence may be influenced (often sub-consciously) 

by their desire to maintain the current use of the land. 

(4) Although not of course determinative and again on its own not to 

be given too much significance, I note the lack of photographs of 

LSP being carried out on the land. There were relatively few 

photographs produced in support of the Application and those that 

there were related to the later part of the relevant 20-year period. 

Such photographs are, in my experience, commonly produced in 

support of TVG applications. 

(5) As indicated above, it is my clear impression that apart from the 

Copse the main attraction of the Application Land was the use of 

the field to transit as if using a right of way. The January 2012 

application to modify the MDS and the Highways Authority’s 

analysis of the evidence supporting that is consistent with that 

impression.52 

(6) If no dog walking that qualified as LSP had taken place on the 

Application Land during the 20-year period, there would in my 

view be no doubt that remaining evidence of LSP was not itself 

sufficient to show, on the balance of probability, qualifying use of 

                                                        
51 Objectors’ Closing Submissions at [2.3] on p.2 
52 AB/B Tab 12 at BB2 pp.1-7 

Page 260



 107 

the whole land by a significant number of local inhabitants in 

terms of how it would be been seen by the reasonable landowner. 

(7) However, the field clearly was attractive to dog walkers and I don’t 

doubt a lot of that use has been of a nature that qualifies as LSP as 

would have been perceived by a reasonable land owner aware of 

TVG rights. That use has to be considered together with the other 

qualifying LSP uses.  

(8) However, even considering the totality of the qualifying evidence, 

my overall impression is that the Applicant has not demonstrated 

sufficiency of use for the Application Land as a whole throughout 

the 20-year period. That impression applies overall, given the 

degree of use of the Application Land that was clearly not LSP and 

that which it would have been difficult for a reasonable land owner 

to interpret as an assertion of village green rights.  

(9) Moreover, I also have particular concern with regard the earlier 

part of the 20-year period, as detailed below. This in itself is, in my 

view, reason alone for concluding that the statutory criteria have 

not been met in this respect. 

 

5.36  With regard to the earlier part of the relevant 20-year period in respect 

of the field, I note the following: 

(1) The last crop was sown in 1988. Thus the land was not used for the 

growing of a crop for 2 years or over before the start of the 20-

year period. 

(2) There is no convincing evidence of the field being used for LSP or 

walking even prior to it being set aside, although I am aware that 

there was some claim of that in support of the modification order. 

This is therefore not a piece of land, other than the Copse, that has 

a history of recreational use for any significant period prior to the 

commencement of the 20-year period. 

(3) So the LSP itself has come in essence from a “standing start”. 

Although I accept that it may be possible that qualifying user by a 

significant number of local inhabitants might in some 

Page 261



 108 

circumstances build up to a sufficient level quite quickly, I would 

be surprised if that happened in this case. I would have expected 

that any use of the land would have build up over time as people 

saw others on the land and got used to the idea that they could go 

onto it with apparent impunity. 

(4) What I consider would have been be more likely in this case would 

be that people would have started using the field as a short cut, 

given the location of the site in relation to the housing and village 

facilities and the character of Middleton Road as referred to above. 

In my view, that traversing use would be likely to have build up 

over time. Likewise I would expect, given the creation of the tracks 

to cross and the openness of the land that over time people would 

also use it for wider recreational uses, within the meaning of LSP 

and in particular dog walking. 

(5) My clear impression of this being the likely position in this case is 

supported by the following: 

(a) Although I fully acknowledge that one has to look at the 

evidence as a whole and I have done so, I consider it 

important to note that few witnesses for the Applicant 

covered the full 20-year period. Indeed many covered a 

much shorter period.  

(b) The two witnesses for the Applicant who appeared at the 

Inquiry that did cover that period were Dr. Putman and Mr. 

Rickard. I mean no disrespect to either by saying that Mr. 

Rickard’s evidence of LSP on the field was not strong. Dr 

Putman was patently to my mind an honest witness. 

However, the evidence on LSP was not in my view 

particularly specific or convincing with regard to the use of 

the field. I again emphasise that this evidence has to be, as I 

have done, considered along with all other evidence. 

However, my particular concern in this context is the 

evidence of use of the field for qualifying purposes in the 

early part of the 20-year period i.e. from 1991- mid 1990s.  

Page 262



 109 

(c) In terms of the 15 oral witness, the following witnesses 

(additional to Dr Putman and Mr. Rickard) gave evidence 

that cover some part of the 1990s: 

(i) Mr. Paton who said that the main use was to cross 

the land. 

(ii) Dr. Flindell referred to use of the field since the 

summer of 1994 but didn’t take his dog there until 

1997. 

(iii) Julia House gave evidence of the use of the land since 

1993: and her evidence related mainly to the use of 

the field near to the Village Hall and the Copse. 

(iv) Christine Stevens  said that children would play on 

the field in 1986/7 – in a “hole in field” – when the 

wheat there. I have concerns regarding the 

reliability of that evidence and in any event I have 

taken into account the possibility of children 

occasionally playing in the crops in concluding there 

was no meaningful LSP on the land prior to it being 

sat aside in 1988/9. 

(v) Elizabeth Page didn’t use the land before 1994/6. 

(d) I have considered the other EQs and letters/statements in 

support of the Application. The Applicant has said that 

some people have chosen not to give evidence because of 

the Objectors’ response to the TVG Application. I am not in 

a position to comment or draw any conclusions on that but 

I would note that this can happen to both sides’ potential 

witnesses, particularly where there is division within the 

community. Nonetheless, I have taken full account of the 

evidence in written form on behalf of the Application. This 

has of course not been tested and the weight I can give to 

them therefore has to reflect that. In any event, I note and 

have taken into account that: 

Page 263



 110 

(i) David Acton, Carol and Michael Andrews and Rose 

Maylin were witnesses originally listed to attend the 

Inquiry but in the end were not able to but their 

written evidence is relied upon (see AB/A Tab 4). 

The Andrews’ statement refers to people crossing 

the land and dog walkers at the weekend. They say 

over the years that they regularly used pathways to 

cut across the field to visit the Copse to view the 

Bluebells and taking their grandchildren to look at 

the flowers in the woods. They do refer to activities 

on the field (see also their answer to Q.23 of their 

EQ), in addition to dog walking but the evidence is 

not specific as to the years other than saying they 

have lived in Middleton Road for the past 28 years. 

The answer to Q.14 of their EQ is “For walking 

mainly. Sledging.” Mr. Acton refers to using the field 

many times between 1992 and 1995 to fly model 

aircraft and model rockets. Rose Maylin has lived in 

Winterslow since 1998. So neither of those cover the 

early/ middle 1990s period. 

(ii) Of the 7 statements and EQs of witnesses that the 

Applicant had not intended and did not call (Tab 5 of 

AB/A), 3 cover some part of the 1990s. One 

(F.M.Marks) deals with the period from 1994 and it 

is not clear what recreation of the land took place by 

that individual beyond walking across the land. The 

statement of David Platt refers (for the 1990s 

period) to his wife and her 2 children moving in with 

him in Woodland Drive and the children growing up 

using the open space to go to and from various 

activities such as tennis and badminton in the village 

hall and playing with friends. Mr. Platt’s answer to 

Q.14 of his EQ (p.205) refers to him walking and 

Page 264



 111 

running on the land to gain access to the Common, 

Surgery and Village Hall without having to go on the 

road. Jean Radnege (p.210) moved into Woodland 

Drive in 1991 and again refers to using the land as a 

short cut. Although she refers to LSP uses, it is not 

clear exactly when these took place and how often. 

(iii) Of the EQs in of AB/A Tab 6, many do cover the 

earlier period but again they are not specific enough 

and have not been tested so do not change my 

overall impression regarding lack of sufficiency 

either overall or during this earlier part of the 20-

year period. 

(e)  I have also considered the evidence in support of the 

Objectors (and taken account of the Applicant’s 

submissions on this) in so far as relevant to this aspect and 

note in particular: 

(i) Mr. Fry said that initially there was only one 

informal path in 1991. 

(ii) Mrs. Hazard said that she used the land to walk her 

dogs after 1991. However, it was not clear to me 

how long after and she did not provide detailed 

evidence of LSP at that time.  

(iii) Mrs. Loader started crossing the field in 1989. 

However, her evidence did not support LSP at that 

time to any meaningful degree. 

(iv) Mrs. Fry was asked (in xx) to confirm that use of the 

land by people walking started in 1990 – she said 

that she couldn’t recall walking until later. 

(v) The Applicant states that it is clear that the field was 

in regular use by 1990/1.53 It is further contended 

that Mr. Sheppard confirmed that there were a 

number of well-established tracks across the field by 
                                                        
53 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [12] on p.6 

Page 265



 112 

1991 and accepted their presence that it was in 

regular use at that point. It is important to consider 

Mr. Sheppard’s evidence (as well as the other 

evidence) on the aspect as a whole to draw the 

appropriate impression and conclusion. Mr. 

Sheppard said that when topping in 1988 he was 

aware of the tracks and that it probably took 2-3 

years for the tracks to be formed and by 1991 there 

were tracks – several tracks. However, Mr. Sheppard 

also said that the tracks got more definite over time. 

That is why he took action in 1998. So although he 

indicated tracks perhaps at the outset, clearly the 

use of the land was growing. This does not provide 

in any event itself a lot of support however for the 

LSP at that early time in the relevant period.  

(vi) I also note that there are no aerial photographs of 

the 1990s presented by either party in respect of the 

TVG Application. However, there were 1981 and 

1991 aerial photographs referred to in relation to 

Mr. Clark’s application for a modification order to 

the DMS. At paragraph 17 of the Highways 

Authority’s Decision Report it is stated: 

 The aerial photograph taken in 1981 in Wiltshire 

Council’s possession shows the field in which the 

claimed paths cross has been ploughed and cropped 

with no routes show on the line of the claimed paths. 

The 1991 aerial photograph shows the route of the 

existing path Winterslow 42 very clearly defined but 

no other clearly defined routes are shown on the 

claimed footpaths. The aerial photographs are 

attached as BB3.54 I acknowledge that aerial 

                                                        
54 OB/A Tab 8 at p.38; see also the Modification Order Inspector’s comments on this at [22] – 
OB/A Tab 8 at p. 67 

Page 266



 113 

photographs are not definitive even for tracks/paths 

but this does offer some further support my overall 

impression of what the position was likely to have 

been. 

(vii) I also take into account the Applicant’s reference to 

Mr. Fry’s recollection of the development meeting in 

the Village Hall in about 1994-95 where some 

people suggested that the Application Land was 

common land.55 That is not inconsistent with my 

overall impression. 

 

5.37 The land has to be looked at as a whole and of course  not every foot of 

the land has to be covered by LSP.56 I have taken into account the 

Applicant’s submission on this and reference to the relevant passages in 

the Trap Grounds case on this, as recorded above. I have also taken into 

account the Applicant’s contention that “there is a presumption of 

continuing user unless evidence to the contrary suggests otherwise”.57 

However, any such presumption has to be considered in the context of the 

burden on the Applicant to demonstrate compliance with the statutory 

criteria. In any event, in my view the evidence has not demonstrated 

sufficient qualifying use of the Application Land as a whole taking into 

account the use of the Copse throughout the 20-year period and in 

particular during the early years. For the avoidance of doubt, I should 

make it clear that I have reached this view without discounting any use as 

being contentious.  

 

5.38 With regard to the Copse, the Objectors contend (in their Closing and 

Supplemental Closing Submissions) that any proven use of it would have 

had the objective appearance of the exercise of public rights of way over 

defined routes rather than LSP to a degree that was significant over the 

                                                        
55 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at 69(b) on pp.20-21 
56 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at paragraph [57] on p.17 
57 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [2] on pp.1-1 

Page 267



 114 

whole of the land. Reliance is placed on Mr. Paton’s evidence that around 

5-10% of the Copse was made up of the paths. 

 

5.39 The Copse of course was not itself subject to the change in the agricultural 

regime. As the Applicant said, and as was my distinct impression, the 

Copse has been in regular for LSP use for long before 1991.58 I of course 

recognise that whilst the land was in arable production it does not seem 

that people, certainly in any meaningful number, would have accessed it 

from the field. However, it was open and unfenced from the school path 

throughout the 20-year period and for very many years before, as I 

understood. Thus in my view the Copse can be in respect of use 

throughout the 20-year period be distinguished from the field. Further, 

whilst the field was in arable use and probably for a little period beyond, 

the Copse would have been even more of an entity unto itself than when 

the field was used for people to cross and for LSP.  The evidence on the 

use of that area seems much clearer to me.  

 

5.40 Whilst the Objectors strongly contend otherwise, there has been sufficient 

qualifying LSP use of the Copse itself to indicate to a reasonable owner 

that a village green right was being asserted of the Copse as a whole 

(applying the approach in the Trap Grounds case), even if at times not all 

parts were accessible by reason of the vegetation. I have taken into 

account the coppicing regime, with that activity mainly in winter, but that 

in no way alters my overall impression with regard to use of the Coppice. 

I accept and find convincing the Applicant’s Supplemental Submissions on 

this issue. 

 

5.41 Mr. Sheppard did not understand, and had not been advised upon at that 

time, the distinction between such rights and rights of way. My clear 

impression of his evidence and that of Mrs. Sheppard was that unless 

someone was doing anything untoward in the Copse they would have and 

did tolerate that use. In many ways, whilst they will not thank me for my 
                                                        
58 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at paragraph [12] on p.5 

Page 268



 115 

conclusion on this, the owners are to be commended, as it was clear 

(particularly from Mrs. Sheppard’s words at the Inquiry) that they always 

considered it entirely appropriate and fair that the enjoyment of that area 

should not be kept from others. Hence they have clearly tolerated the use 

of the Copse for recreational purposes. 

 

5.42 However, I of course have based my assessment, as does the RA, on the 

evidence and the statutory criteria. For the avoidance of doubt, therefore, 

on that basis it is my view that on the balance of probability the use of the 

copse as a whole throughout the 20-year period to 4th April 2011 was 

sufficient for the owners, if they had been aware of such rights, to 

recognise that they were being asserted.  

 

5.43 For the further avoidance of any doubt, I should again make it clear that I 

have considered whether the use of the Copse for LSP throughout the 20-

year period makes the use of the land as a whole sufficient. For the 

reasons given above in respect of the field I do not consider that can on 

the evidence be properly concluded. 

 

5.44 I therefore accept the Applicant’s submission with regard to the Copse.59 I 

also note that the Applicant contended that if, contrary to their principal 

contention, the LSP use was not considered sufficient to over the whole 

Application Land the RA would be entitled to register only that part of the 

land upon which the statutory test has been satisfied.60 I was invited to 

consider this option in that event.  

 

5.45 Finally, I should further make it clear that I have been referring so far to 

the land in the Copse owned by the Objectors. I noticed on my site visit 

that there would appear to have been fencing and between their land in 

the Copse and that of the Council. The Council’s land is a distinct and 

largely inaccessible part of the Copse. I have no evidence before me of 

                                                        
59 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [91] on p.28. 
60 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [10] on pp. 4-5 

Page 269



 116 

that north-western part of the Copse being accessed and used for LSP. 

Therefore, on the evidence available, although the Council has not 

objected as such to their land being registered in my view it should not in 

any event be included in any land to be registered as a TVG. I am very 

grateful to both the Applicant and the Objectors who have expressed, in 

their Supplemental Submission, views on this aspect that are consistent 

with what I observed and understood.  

 

 Conclusion on the Sufficiency of Use Issue 

5.46 The main use of the land has been for transiting to and from different 

parts of the village. The main use of the Land for LSP has been dog 

walking on the field and there have also been other qualifying uses on the 

field but to a greater extent in the Copse.  

 

5.47 However, the Applicant has not demonstrated sufficiency of qualifying 

use for the Application Land as a whole throughout the 20-year period, 

even taking into account the use of the Copse. That lack of sufficiency of 

LSP use relates overall given the degree of use of the Application Land 

that was clearly not LSP and that which it would have been difficult for a 

reasonable land owner to interpret as an assertion of village green rights. 

However, there is also a particular concern with regard the earlier part of 

the 20-year period. 

 

5.48 The exception to this conclusion is the Copse. This has an attraction and 

destination in its own right. In the circumstances a reasonable landowner 

could not be expected to attribute the use of the Copse to the land as a 

whole and thus  interpret this as an assertion of right over the whole 

Application Land. Sufficiency of LSP use of the Copse as of right has been 

demonstrated throughout at least the relevant 20-year period.  

 

Page 270



 117 

5.49 The only exception to this relates to the north-west corner of the Copse, 

which is in separate ownership to the Objectors and appears to have been 

fenced off and separate from the remainder of the Copse. 

 

 

The By Force Issue 

 The 2009 Signs Issue 

5.50 There is no dispute that two posts each with a small green notice of about 

5 x 4 inches were in place for a number of days in February 2009. The 

position of these posts is seen on the plan and aerial photograph in OB/A 

Tab 9. Their position both in the ground and when removed is seen in the 

photographs in OB/A Tab10. 

 

5.51 What is disputed is the period of time that they were in place for, the 

visibility of the posts and signs and the effect of them with regard to use 

of the field. It is accepted by the Objectors that they were not directed to 

the use of the Copse.61 

 

5.52 The problem that Mr. Sheppard was seeking to address was people 

walking over his land. He spoke to Wiltshire Council’s rights of way 

department, which advised him to erect the signs that they gave him on 

posts. This he did with his son on 7th February 2009 and re-erected on 

13th February. The signs stated:  

WILTSHIRE  

COUNTY COUNCIL 

NO PUBLIC  

RIGHT OF WAY 

THANK YOU 

 

                                                        
61 Paragraph 29(j) on p.33 of the Objectors’ Closing Submissions 

Page 271



 118 

5.53 The Applicant contrasts this wording, in my view correctly, with the 

wording on the 4 much larger red and white signs erected in June 2012 

stating:62 

PRIVATE 

PROPERTY 

PLEASE KEEP OFF 

  

5.54 Although Mr. Sheppard believes the signs were up from the 7th February 

continuously until the 13th February 2009 (as he said he went back to 

check every day between 7th and 13th February), there is some evidence 

that would suggest otherwise.63  

 

5.55 Many people said that they did not see the posts or signs. Some did see 

them and some saw just one. I am not entirely surprised that some people 

stated that they did not see them, although I am a little surprised how 

many. That may partly be the result of a combination of factors such as 

the short period of time that they were in place; the time of the year; the 

fact that some users were only on a limited part of the field and/or they 

were on the land when the light was not good. I also find it more difficult, 

to understand that some people who saw the posts did not realize that 

they displayed signs. I accept the signs themselves were very small and 

not obvious but I would have thought natural curiosity would lead most 

people (if not all) to ascertain the purpose of a post that suddenly 

appeared, sticking well up from the ground. 

 

5.56 It is not the fault of Mr. Sheppard that the signs were torn down. I also 

expect that the posts were removed by someone who took issue with the 

owners’ challenge of their use of the land. However, there is no direct 

evidence on this and it would be inappropriate of me to speculate on the 

motives of those responsible.  

 

                                                        
62 OB/A Tab 11 
63 See e.g. Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [73] on p.22 

Page 272



 119 

5.57 I have carefully taken into account the submissions of both parties and 

the Betterment and Oxfordshire Mental Health Trust cases. Based on those 

legal authorities, the fundamental question is what the notices conveyed 

to those using the field.  

 

5.58 In my view, even if they had remained in the ground and displayed, the 

notices were not effective in rendering the recreational use contentious. I 

have reached this conclusion having regard, in particular, to: 

(1) The submissions made by the Objectors, including the specific 

relevant factors referred to and relied upon in paragraph 24.64 

(2) Whilst some users understood the sign to be excluding all 

trespassers, I do not accept that should be assumed to apply to the 

reasonable user standing in the position of the actual user. It 

cannot be assumed that the users were aware of the section 31(6) 

declarations and the significance of these. 

(3) Given the background of the clear tracks across the paths that 

appear to have increased during the 1990s and 2000s, the 

reasonable user would in my view be likely to read it as referring 

to rights of way rather than wider recreational use rights. As the 

Applicant points out, their position next to the diagonal footpath 

used as the main short cut across the field, is consistent with 

that.65 

(4) In my view the signs did not contest the recreational use and in 

any event at best the wording was ambiguous. 

(5) It is also my view that there was something that readily could have 

been done by the owners that was proportionate. Indeed, it was 

done in terms of the 4 red and white signs. However, those of 

course are not relevant to the claim in respect of the 20-year 

period. 

 

                                                        
64 In particular [16]-[25] on pp. 6-10 of the Objectors’ Closing Submission 
65 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [83] on p.26 

Page 273



 120 

5.59 Although I have considered and reached my conclusion on the wording in 

the context of this case, I do note that the wording of the sign in the 

Oxfordshire Mental Health Trust (Warneford Meadow case) case is the 

same. The Objectors contend that the circumstances of the two cases are 

distinguishable. 66 The Objectors refer in particular to paragraphs 13, 22, 

41, 49, 52 and 53 of the Judgment in that case. I note that in paragraph 41 

of the Judgment reference is made to the Inspector’s Report, where he 

found that the purpose of the signs was to prevent two paths from 

acquiring the status of public rights of way and that the landowner had no 

objection to general public recreational access to the Meadow but only to 

the creation of public rights of way. However, as noted in paragraphs 

22(7) & (8) of the Judgment, it was held that of itself the subjective 

intention of the owner cannot assist in ascertaining the meaning of a 

notice. Further, as the Inspector went on to say (in paragraph 41) if the 

signs had intended to forbid general access to the Meadow, he did not 

understand why they did not say so. Therefore, in my view I do not see 

the distinction that the Objectors rely upon and indeed the passages 

referred to do not, in my opinion, assist the Objectors but are consistent 

with the Applicant’s position and my own conclusion on this aspect. 

 

5.60 The Objectors also put forward a default position. That position is that 

any objection from them to a lesser burden (rights of way) must by 

necessary implication also have included objection to the more onerous 

burden (TVG rights). Given the approach in the current legal authorities 

and in particular in the Warneford Meadow case, I cannot accept that 

submission.  

 

5.61 I should also make it clear, in case it was being made as a separate point, 

that I am unable to accept the submission made by the Objectors that “as 

a pure matter of law” section 31(6) means that any use for LSP cannot be 

as of right. Such an interpretation would in my view be contrary to the 

                                                        
66 Objectors’ Closing Submissions at [22]- [23] 

Page 274



 121 

distinction recognized in the legal authorities between TVG rights and 

rights of way. 

 

5.62 In my view, it is likely that there were earlier signs. Several witnesses 

referred to these. However, the evidence on them is too vague to assess 

whether it can properly be concluded that they rendered the use 

contentious. I have therefore not taken these into account. The Objectors 

do not rely upon them. 

 

The Breaching of the Highfield Crescent Fence 

5.63 There seems to be no dispute that there has been for many years a gap in 

the fence at Highfield Crescent as seen in photograph 23B (OB/A Tab 5). 

Mr. Yates also referred to another gap in front of his house and to his 

having repaired that. 

 

5.64 As the Applicant says, the fence did not belong to them and was not 

repaired by them. The principle from the Betterment case is that it would 

be a direct infringement of the principle that rights of property cannot be 

acquired by force or by unlawful means for the Court to ignore the 

landowner's clear and repeated demonstration of his opposition to the 

use of the land simply because it was obliterated by the unlawful acts of 

local inhabitants. However, the difficulty in this case was that the fencing 

did not amount to any demonstration from the owners themselves, save 

possibly in respect of the repairs in 2009 when Mr. Sheppard asked the 

Council to repair the fence. Further, the land could be readily accessed 

without breaking through a fence from north, south, east and west. 

 

5.65 For those reasons, I have not discounted any of the Application Land for 

LSP as contentious by reason of the fencing along Highfield Crescent. Even 

if I had, any discount of use on that basis would not have altered my 

overall Conclusions with regard to the use of the Copse as a whole (apart 

from the north-west part), and that area only, for LSP being in accordance 

with section 15(3).  

Page 275



 122 

 OVERALL CONCLUSIONS 

5.66 The Application Land consists of readily accessible agricultural land that 

was in set aside throughout the relevant period and a Copse, with the 

latter making up about 40% of the overall site. My clear impression was 

that main use of the land has been for transiting to and from different 

parts of the village. There has also undoubtedly been LSP uses carried out 

on the Application Land and the Copse. The main use of the Land for LSP 

has been dog walking on the field and there have also been other 

qualifying uses.  

 

5.67 However, the Applicant has not demonstrated sufficiency of qualifying 

use for the Application Land as a whole throughout the 20-year period. 

That relates overall given the degree of use of the Application Land that 

was clearly not LSP and that which it would have been difficult for a 

reasonable land owner to interpret as an assertion of village green rights. 

Moreover, I also have a particular concern with regard the earlier part of 

the 20-year period. 

 

5.68 The exception to this conclusion is the Copse. This was, during the 

relevant period, an attraction and destination in its own right. Sufficiency 

of LSP use of the Copse as of right has been demonstrated throughout at 

least the relevant 20-year period. The only exception to this relates to the 

north-west corner, which is in separate ownership to the Objectors and 

appears to have been fenced off and separate from the remainder of the 

Copse as both the Applicant and Objectors have helpfully agreed. 

 

5.69 The two signs put up in 2009 did not in the circumstances make any use 

of the land for LSP contentious. The breaches of the Highfield Crescent 

fencing relied upon by the Objectors issue has no bearing on my overall 

assessment and I have reached the above conclusions taking no account 

of the effect of these breaches. 

 

Page 276



 123 

5.70 Accordingly, I conclude that the Application only satisfies the criteria 

within section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 in respect of the Copse but 

not in respect of that part of the Copse in the north-west corner owned by 

Wiltshire Council. 

 

 

6. RECOMMENDATION 

6.1 For the reasons set out in section 5 of this Report, I recommend to the 

Registration Authority:  

The Application by Winterslow Opposed to Over Development 

(WOOD) under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 be approved 

but only to the extent that Brown’s Copse is registered as a town or 

village green in its entirety, other than the north-west corner of the 

Copse that is owned by Wiltshire Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 STEPHEN MORGAN 

 Landmark Chambers 

 London EC4A 2HG      10 March 2015 

Page 277



This page is intentionally left blank



CM09661/F 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL 
 
SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
24 SEPTEMBER 2015 
 
 

COMMONS ACT 2006 – SECTION 15(1) AND (3) 
APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN – THE 

COMMON / BROWNS COPSE FIELD / BLUEBELL WOOD FIELD / VILLAGE HALL 
FIELD / THE FIELD, WINTERSLOW 

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. To: 
 

(i)  Bring the application back before the Committee to formalise and agree 
the reasons for the Committee’s in principle refusal of the Inspector’s 
recommendation in relation to the copse.  

 
 (ii)  Reach a decision on the application as a whole. 
 
Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan 
 
2.  Working with the local community to provide an accurate register of town and 

village greens, making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit. 
 
Background 
 
3.  Please see previous report attached at Appendix 1, which was considered by 

Members of the Southern Area Planning Committee at its meeting dated 30 April 
2015. 

 
4. In November and December 2014 Wiltshire Council held a non-statutory public 

inquiry into an application to register land as a town or village green, under 
Sections 15(1) and (3) of the Commons Act 2006, in the parish of Winterslow.   
At the inquiry, evidence was given orally by witnesses both in support and in 
objection to the application. This evidence was then tested through cross-
examination and re-examination of the witnesses. 

 
5.  Following the inquiry, the independent Inspector appointed by Wiltshire Council 

to preside over the inquiry produced a report of his findings and made the 
following recommendation to Wiltshire Council: 

 
 “The Application by Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) under 

Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 be approved but only to the extent that 
Brown’s Copse is registered as a town or village green in its entirety, other than 
the north-west corner of the Copse that is owned by Wiltshire Council.” 

 

Page 279



CM09661/F 

6. The Council is now required to make a decision on the application made by 
 Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) under Section 15(3) of
 the Commons Act 2006.   
 
7.  At the Committee meeting dated 30 April 2015, Members of the Committee 

made the following resolution: 
 

“To, in principle, refuse the report’s recommendation. The item would be brought 
back to a future Committee with reasons for refusal and would be voted on by 
Members.”  

  
Main Considerations for the Council 
 
8.  From the discussion at the meeting on 30 April 2015, Members raised a number 

of reasons for refusing the Inspector’s recommendation. The reasons given by 
Committee members are listed below. 

 
(i) Concerns over the future maintenance liability if the copse is registered 

and the need to maintain the site in its current state. The Committee was 
concerned as to who would be responsible for maintenance and 
maintenance costs. 

 
(ii) The Inspector “sat on the fence”, when making his recommendation to the 

Council. 
 

(iii) Alternative recreational activities are locally available. 
 

(iv) Recording the land as a village green could affect the development 
potential of the land. 

 
(v) Moral objections to the landowner potentially losing land and the need to 

protect the landowner’s rights over the land. 
 

(vi) The need to apply common sense to such an item. 
 

(vii) The suitability of the copse as a village green. The copse needs regular 
maintenance in the form of coppicing. 

 
(viii) The viability of the lawful sports and pastimes listed, within the copse. 
 

9.  Members are now requested to consider these reasons for refusing the 
Inspector’s recommendation in relation to the copse and determine whether or 
not they should be accepted in part or in whole by the Committee or whether the 
reasons listed in paragraph 8 should be considered in further detail and 
amended if considered appropriate.  If they are not all to be accepted, or are to 
be amended, the Committee must give the reasons for its decisions. 

 
 
 

Page 280



CM09661/F 

10.  Members are also required to reach a decision on the application as a whole. 
There are three distinct areas of land which form part of the application land 
(please see land ownership plan at Appendix 1C): 

 
(i) The field off Middleton Road. 
 
(ii) Browns Copse. 
 
(iii) The area of the copse owned by Wiltshire Council (the north-west corner 

of Browns Copse). 
 
11. Members have in principle refused the Inspector’s recommendation to approve 

the application but only in respect of the application land known as Brown’s 
Copse, to the extent that Brown’s Copse is registered as a town or village green 
in its entirety, other than the north-west corner of the copse that is owned by 
Wiltshire Council.  

 
12. Whilst this in principle refusal addresses the registration of the area of Browns 

Copse in the ownership of Mr and Mrs Sheppard, it does not address the 
application as a whole, i.e. the Committee still has to decide whether or not the 
remainder of the application land – the field and the area of the copse owned by 
Wiltshire Council, should be registered as a town or village green. Part of the 
Members’ reasoning for an in principle refusal of the registration of the copse, is 
that the lawful sports and pastimes listed by witnesses, may be viable within the 
field, e.g. football and kite flying, but are not viable within the copse, but the 
Committee has also to consider whether or not the field should be registered. If 
the Committee’s decision is that these areas of land should also remain 
unregistered, the Committee must in part agree with the Inspector’s findings that 
the field and the area of the copse owned by Wiltshire Council should not be 
registered, for the reasons given within the Inspector’s report. 

 
13. The decisions open to the Committee are as follows: 
 

(i) To agree the Inspector’s recommendation in its entirety and register only 
the copse, other than the north-west corner owned by Wiltshire Council, 
based on the available evidence. 

 
(ii) To reject the Inspector’s recommendations/findings in part and register all 

of the land as a town or village green, based on the available evidence. 
 
(iii) To reject the Inspector’s recommendations/findings in part and not 

register any of the land, based on the available evidence. 
 
(iv) To reject the Inspector’s recommendations in full and to modify the area 

of land to be registered (for example only registering the field and/or the 
land owned by Wiltshire Council), based on the available evidence. 

 
14.  Where the Committee refuses the Inspector’s recommendation, it must make an 

alternative decision and give legally valid reasons for this decision.  
 

Page 281



CM09661/F 

15. Under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006, the only consideration which the 
Committee Members may take into account in making their decision is the 
evidence that a significant number of inhabitants have indulged as of right 
in lawful sports and pastimes over the land for a period of 20 years or more 
(where use has ceased). Issues such as the future maintenance of the land if it 
is successfully registered as a town or village green; planning and future 
development of the land; moral issues of land ownership and the availability of 
alternative recreational facilities locally, for example, are not legally valid reasons 
for the purposes of making a decision on whether or not to register land as a 
green under the Commons Act 2006.  

 
16. The reasons given must be valid and can only be based on the evidence before 

the Registration Authority, given that the decision of the Council is potentially 
open to be legally challenged by way of judicial review. Members are referred to 
the following evidential documents which must be considered before they make 
their decision: 

 
(i) The completed witness evidence forms, which may be viewed using the 

following link: www.wiltshire.gov.uk/villagegreeninwinterslow 
 
(ii) Wiltshire Council decision report on whether a non-statutory public inquiry 

should be held (dated 31 January 2014 – Appendix 1D) 
 
(iii) Inspector’s Recommendation to the Commons Registration Authority, 

(dated 10 March 2015 – Appendix 1E) 
 
Safeguarding Considerations 
 
17. Considerations relating to safeguarding impacts of the proposal are not 

permitted under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination 
must be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority. 

 
Public Health Implications 
 
18. Considerations relating to the public health implications of the proposal are not 

permitted under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination 
must be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority. 

 
Environmental Impact of the Proposal 
 
19. Considerations relating to the environmental impact of the proposal are not 

permitted under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination 
must be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority. 

 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
20. Considerations relating to the equalities impact of the proposal are not permitted 

under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination must be 
based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority. 

 
 

Page 282

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/villagegreeninwinterslow


CM09661/F 

Risk Assessment 
 
21. The holding of a non-statutory public inquiry and the production of the 

subsequent report and recommendation to Wiltshire Council, as the Registration 
Authority, from an independent Inspector, have reduced the risk to the Council of 
a potential legal challenge as the evidence has been heard, tested and 
considered. 

 
22. It is open to the Council to reject the Inspector’s report and recommendation; 

however, where the Council does so, it must give legally valid reasons as the 
Council’s decision is open to legal challenge. The Committee must only consider 
the evidence before it, which includes the Inspector’s recommendation (which 
was made following a non statutory public inquiry where the Inspector heard 
evidence from witnesses in support of the application and witnesses who 
opposed the application), that a significant number of inhabitants of any locality 
or of any neighbourhood within a locality have indulged as of right in lawful 
sports and pastimes on the land for a period of 20 years or more without 
interruption.  

 
Financial implications 
 
23. Presently there is no mechanism by which a Registration Authority may charge 

the applicant for processing an application to register land as a town or village 
green and all costs are borne by the Council. 

 
24. Where the Council makes a decision to register land or not to register land as a 

town or village green it must give reasons for its determination as the decision is 
open to legal challenge. The legal costs of a successful legal challenge against 
the Council could be in the region of £35,000 - £80,000, for which there is no 
budgetary provision. 

 
25. There is no duty placed upon the Registration Authority to maintain land 

registered as a town or village green. 
 
Legal Implications 
 
26. If the land is successfully registered as a town or village green, the landowner 

could potentially challenge the Registration Authority’s decision by an appeal to 
the High Court under Section 14(1)(b) of the Commons Registration Act 1965 
(the 1965 Act), which allows the High Court to amend the register only if it can 
be shown that the registration ought not to have been made and that it is just to 
rectify the register. The overall effect is that the registration of the land is 
deemed to have been made under Section 13 of the 1965 Act and there is a 
preserved right under Section 14 to apply to the Court to rectify the registration 
of the town or village green without limit of time. The application (which can be 
made by a landowner or third party) could be made up to six years after the 
decision and potentially enables the Court to hold a re-hearing of the application, 
consider the facts and the law and depending on the outcome, could potentially 
lead to the de-registration of the land. 

 

Page 283



CM09661/F 

27. Where the Registration Authority decides not to register the land as a town or 
village green, there is no right of appeal for the applicant, although the decision 
of the Council may be challenged through judicial review, for which the 
permission of the Court is required and the application must be made within 
three months of the date of the decision of the Council. Likewise, a landowner 
could also use judicial review proceedings to challenge the Council’s decision to 
register their land as a town or village green. 

 
Options Considered 
 
28. Members of the Committee must consider the possible decisions open to them: 
 

(i) To agree the Inspector’s recommendation and register only the copse, 
other than the north-west corner owned by Wiltshire Council, based on 
the available evidence. 

 
(ii) To reject the Inspector’s recommendations/findings (in part) and register 

all of the land as a town or village green, based on the available evidence. 
 
(iii) To reject the Inspector’s recommendations/findings (in part) and not 

register any of the land, based on the available evidence. 
 
(iv) To reject the Inspector’s recommendations in full and to modify the area 

or land to be registered (for example only registering the field and/or the 
land owned by Wiltshire Council), based on the available evidence. 

 
29. Where Members do not resolve to accept the Inspector’s findings and 

recommendation and seek to make an alternative decision, clear, legally valid 
and good reasons for the decision must be given as the decision of the 
Registration Authority is potentially open to legal challenge by both the applicant 
and the landowner. 

 
Reason for proposal 
 
30. Whilst the Committee has reached an in principle decision regarding the 

registration of the copse, the reasons for this decision must now be formalised 
and agreed, or amended. 

 
31.  The in principle decision in relation to the registration of the copse, does not 

address the whole of the application land and Members are now required to 
reach a decision on the whole of the application land, outlining their alternative 
decision if they resolve not to accept the Inspector’s findings and 
recommendation and giving legally valid reasons for this decision. 

 
32. The resolution of the 30 April 2015 meeting is a full refusal of the Inspector’s 

recommendation; therefore, it could be argued that Members do not agree the 
Inspector’s findings in full. The Inspector found that the field and the area of the 
copse owned by Wiltshire Council, should not be registered and it is considered 
that the Committee may agree the Inspector’s findings in part (in relation to the 
field and the land owned by Wiltshire Council), i.e. if the Inspector’s 
recommendation is refused in full Members are in effect refusing the Inspector’s 

Page 284



CM09661/F 

findings that the field and the land owned by Wiltshire Council should not be 
registered. Members are required to make a decision on the registration of the 
application land as a whole, giving legally valid reasons for this decision based 
only on the evidence available to Wiltshire Council as the Registration Authority. 

 
Proposals 
 
33. That: 
 

(i) The Committee should consider the reasons given for the in principle 
refusal of the Inspector’s recommendation, at its meeting dated 30 April 
and formalise and agree these reasons, or amend these reasons, in 
relation to that part of the copse owned by Mr and Mrs Sheppard. 

 
(ii) The Wiltshire Council Southern Area Planning Committee makes a 

decision on the application, as a whole. 
 

(iii) If the decision is to reject the Inspector’s recommendation that the 
application by Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) under 
Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 be approved but only to the 
extent that Brown’s Copse is registered as town or village green in its 
entirety, other than the north-west corner of the copse that is owned by 
Wiltshire Council, the Committee must set out what their alternative 
decision is, i.e. the parts of the land to be registered or not registered 
giving legally valid reasons which relate to the available evidence. 

 
 
Tracy Carter 
Associate Director – Waste and Environment 
 
Report Author: 
Janice Green 
Rights of Way Officer 
 
 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of 
this Report: 
 
 None 
 
Appendices: 
 
 Appendix 1 – Southern Area Planning Committee Report dated 30 April 2015 

  (with Appendices A - E) 

Page 285



 APPLICATION (REF: 2012/5) BY WINTERSLOW OPPOSED TO OVER 
DEVELOPMENT (WOOD) UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE COMMONS ACT 

2006 TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN AS THE COMMON/BROWN’S 
COPSE FIELD/BLUEBELL WOOD FIELD/VILLAGE HALL FIELD/THE 

FIELD, WINTERSLOW AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INSPECTOR’S REPORT TO THE COMMONS  

REGISTRATION AUTHORITY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commons Registration Authority 
Wiltshire Council 

County Hall 
Bythesea Road 

Trowbridge 
Wiltshire 
BA14 8JN 

Ref: JG/PC/255 2012/5 
 

Page 286



 1 

    CONTENTS 
 

  SUMMARY                                                                 2 

1. INTRODUCTION                                                      4 

2. THE APPLICATION                                                 8 

3. CASE FOR THE APPLICANT                               10 

4. CASE FOR THE OBJECTORS                               44 

5. ASSESSMENT & CONCLUSIONS                        83 

6. RECOMMENDATION                                          123 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 287



 2 

 SUMMARY 

S1. The Applicant, Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (“WOOD”), 

seeks registration of Brown’s Copse Field (‘the Application Land”) as a 

town or village green (“TVG”) under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 

2006. The Applicant has to demonstrate on the balance of probabilities 

that the land has been used for lawful sports and pastimes (“LSP”) in a 

way that satisfies the criteria within section 15(3).  

S2. The Application is objected to by the owners of almost all of the 

Application Land, Richard and Patricia Sheppard. 

S3. The relevant 20-year period is that ending on 4 April 2011. The Objectors 

do not dispute that Winterslow CP is a qualifying locality. 

S4. The Application Land consists of readily accessible agricultural land that 

was in “set aside” throughout the relevant period. It is concluded that the 

main use of the land has been for transiting on foot to and from different 

parts of the village. The main use of the Land for LSP has been dog 

walking on the field and there have also been other qualifying uses.  

S5. However, the Applicant has not demonstrated sufficiency of qualifying 

use for the Application Land as a whole throughout the 20-year period. 

That applies overall, taking into account the evidence of LSP as well as the 

degree of use of the Application Land that was clearly not for LSP and also 

that which it would have been difficult for a reasonable landowner to 

interpret as an assertion of village green rights. Moreover, there is also a 

particular concern with regard the earlier part of the 20-year period. 

S6. That conclusion is reached taking into account the LSP use that has 

clearly taken place in the Copse. It is concluded that the Copse has been 

an attraction and destination in its own right. Sufficiency of LSP use of the 

Copse itself as of right has been demonstrated throughout at least the 

relevant 20-year period. The only exception to this relates to the north-

west corner, which is in separate ownership to the Objectors and appears 

to have been fenced off and separate from the remainder of the Copse. 

Page 288



 3 

S7. The two signs put up in 2009 did not in the circumstances make any use 

of the Application Land for LSP contentious. The breaches of the Highfield 

Crescent fencing, relied upon by the Objectors, have no direct bearing on 

the overall assessment and the other conclusions reached. 

S8. Accordingly, this Report concludes that the Application satisfies the 

criteria within section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 only in respect of 

the Copse but not in respect of that part of the Copse in the north-west 

corner owned by Wiltshire Council. 

S9. The recommendation to the Registration Authority is, therefore, that 

WOOD’s Application to register the Application Land as a TVG should be 

approved only in so far as it relates to Brown’s Copse, with the exception 

of that part of the Copse owned by Wiltshire Council.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 289



 4 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This Report relates to a piece of agricultural land and adjacent copse 

within the attractive village of Winterslow in Wiltshire. The land was “set 

aside” (in terms of the Common Agricultural Policy of the EEC) in 1988. 

There is a dispute over the future use of the land that has divided opinion 

in the village and there have been conflicting accounts of how the land has 

been used since that time. 

 

1.2 Against this background, I am instructed by Wiltshire Council in its 

capacity as the Registration Authority (“the RA”) for the purposes of the 

Commons Act 2006 in respect of the application by Winterslow Opposed 

to Over Development” (“WOOD”) under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 

2006 (the Application). The Application was made on that group’s behalf 

by Mr. Timothy Richard Crossland. It was dated 3 February 2012 but 

accepted by the RA as complete on 29th August 2012 (as reference no. 

2012/5).  

 

1.3 By the Application WOOD seeks to register land, stated in the application 

form to be usually known as “The Common/Brown’s Copse Field/Bluebell 

Wood Field/Village Hall Field/The Field, Winterslow,” as a town or village 

green (TVG). The names are given in the alternative but I will refer to it 

either as the Application Land or where appropriate Brown’s Copse and 

the field, as it includes both the Copse and adjacent field. The Application 

Land extends to about 7¼ hectares (about 18 acres). 

 

1.4 My instructions from the Registration Authority were to hold a non-

statutory public inquiry to consider the evidence and submissions relied 

upon by the Applicant and the Objectors and to report on these with a 

recommendation as how to determine the Application.  

 

 

 

Page 290



 5 

 The Inquiry 

1.5 Accordingly, I held an at Inquiry Barry’s Fields Sports Ground, Weston 

Lane, West Winterslow on 25th to 28th November 2014. The Inquiry 

reconvened at the same venue on Tuesday 16th December for Closing 

Submissions and the accompanied site visit. 

 

1.6 Directions were provided prior to the Inquiry, giving guidance on the 

submission of evidence and documents and on the procedure proposed 

for the Inquiry. The parties provided the evidence (including supporting 

documentation) in advance of the Inquiry, for which I am very grateful. 

Some additional documents were provided by each party at the Inquiry. 

 

1.7 The Applicant was represented at the Inquiry by his Alexander Greaves of 

Counsel. Mr. Greaves called 15 witnesses in support of the Application. 

The Applicant also relied upon other witness statements and documents, 

as detailed in section 3 of this Report, which I have taken into account.  

 

 Objections 

1.8 The Application was objected to by Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard of Weston Hill 

Farm, Winterslow, the registered owners of all but three small areas of 

the Application Land. Other representations in response to the 

Application were also received and I have taken those into account. 

 

1.9 The Objectors were represented by William Webster of Counsel. Mr. 

Webster called 11 witnesses, as detailed in section 4 of this Report. He 

also relied upon other witness statements and documentation, which I  

have taken into account.  

 

 Site Visits 

1.10 I visited the site and the surrounding area prior to and during the Inquiry. 

As indicated above, I carried out an accompanied site visit after the close 

of the Inquiry on the afternoon of Tuesday 16th December 2014. 

Page 291



 6 

 The Statutory Basis of the Application 

1.11 The Application was made under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 

and the claimed use as of right was stated to have ended on 4th April 

2011. 

 

1.12 The statutory framework is dealt with more fully in section 5 of this 

Report. However, at this stage it should be noted that section 15(1) 

provides (as applicable to this application) that: 

Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register 

land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where 

subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

Subsection (3) (in the form that applies to this Application) applies 

where: 

(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 

(b) they ceased to do so before the time of the application but after the 

commencement of this section; and 

(c) the application is made within the period of two years beginning 

with the cessation referred to in paragraph (b) 

 

 The Scope of the Inquiry and this Report 

1.13 I am very aware of the very strong feelings of both sides in this case. That 

is often so, particularly where the land is being considered for 

development, as in this case. However, as I made clear at the Inquiry, a 

TVG Inspector’s role is to consider whether the Applicant can 

demonstrate on the balance of probabilities that the statutory criteria 

within section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 are met. The relative merits 

of the claimed use relied upon and the possible development of the site 

are not relevant to whether section 15(3) is complied with and I have not 

taken such matters into account.  

 

Page 292



 7 

1.14 My role is therefore limited to considering the evidence and submissions 

against the statutory criteria and making a recommendation to the 

Registration Authority as to the determination of the Application.  

  

 The Structure of the Report 

1.15 The remainder of this Report is now set out as follows: 

  2. THE APPLICATION & APPLICATION SITE 

  3. THE CASE FOR THE APPLICANT 

  4. THE CASE FOR THE OBJECTORS 

  5. ASSESSMENT AND CONCLUSIONS 

  6. RECOMMENDATION 

I have provided a Summary at the outset and I hope that this will assist 

with the reading and understanding of this Report. I stress, however, that 

the Summary needs to be read and understood with the remainder of the 

Report. The Report is of necessity somewhat lengthy, given the extent and 

nature of the evidence and issues.  

 

1.16 However, before addressing those matters, I would like to record my 

thanks to the advocates and witnesses. I am grateful for the way in which 

they all conducted themselves, presented their cases and their evidence 

and the courtesy shown, and the unstinting assistance given, to me by all. 

In addition, the parties and I were very greatly aided by the RA, which 

was represented by Mrs. Sarah Marshall, a solicitor with the Wiltshire 

Council and Miss Janice Green and Miss Alison Roberts, who are both 

Rights of Way officers employed by the Council. Their assistance to all of 

us was very much appreciated and greatly assisted in the preparations 

for, and efficient running of, the Inquiry. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 293



 8 

2. THE APPLICATION 

2.1 The Application (reference no. 2012/5) was made on behalf of WOOD by 

Mr. Timothy Richard Crossland pursuant to section 15(3) of the 

Commons Act 2006.  

 

2.2 The Application was made on Form 44, dated 3rd February 2012 and it is 

stated in Section 4 that the claimed LSP use as of right ended on 4th April 

2011. It is also stated that there was a period of statutory closure during 

the foot and mouth outbreak in 2001 that has to be disregarded in 

accordance with section 15(6) of the 2006 Act.  

 

2.3 In section 5 of the Form, it is stated that the name by which the land is 

usually known is: 

 “The Common/Brown’s Copse Field/Bluebell Wood/Village Hall Field/The 

Field” 

Its location is given as: 

“Adjacent to Middleton Road, Winterslow” 

 

At the Inquiry the Applicant clarified that the Application Land did not 

include any of the adjacent metalled footpaths or the grass public 

footpath along the edge of the village hall.1 

  

2.4 Section 6 of the Application Form asks for the locality or neighbourhood 

within a locality in respect of which the application is made. This is given 

as: 

 “Winterslow Parish”  

 A Plan of the Winterslow CP, showing the Application Land in relation to 

it, is found in Tab 2 of the Applicant’s Bundle of Evidence) (this is what I 

have referred to below as Applicant’s Bundle A – AB/A Tab 2). 

 

                                                        
1 The footpaths in the area shown on the map of Winterslow CP in App/A Tab 2 and the Plan with 
the s.31(6) Statutory Declaration at Ob/A Tab 7 p.28M. See Applicant’s Closing Submissions at 
paragraph [7] p. 3. 

Page 294



 9 

2.5 The justification for the Application is set out in Section 7, which states: 

“Indulgence by a significant number of inhabitants of Winterslow as 

of right in lawful sports and pastimes for a period of at least 20 years 

and 5 months under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006, as 

witnessed by the 63 enclosed signed statements showing use for 

activities including dog walking, picking blackberries, kite flying and 

bicycle riding by a total of 63 people over a period extending from 

December 1990 to April 2011.” 

 

2.6 Section 8 of the Application gave the owners of the land as “Mr. Richard 

Sheppard and Wiltshire County Council”. In fact, the position is as follows: 

(1) The registered landowners of almost all of the Application Land 

are Mr. Richard and Mrs. Patricia Sheppard. This is subject to three 

exceptions. 

(2) An area in the north-west corner of Brown’s Copse is owned by 

Wiltshire Council. The Council, in its capacity as land owner, wrote 

to the Applicant on 29th October 2014 asking them to exclude their 

land which is held for housing purposes from the Application. 

(3) There is a small triangle of land that abuts the north-eastern end of 

the Council’s land that is unregistered. There is a much smaller 

area abutting the north-western corner of the Council’s land that is 

also unregistered. 

(4) In the south-eastern corner of the Application Land is an electrical 

sub-station owned by Scottish Electric.  

 

2.7 In addition to the objections from Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard, three 

representations were received by the RA. The letter (signed by 24 

residents) from residents of Highfield Crescent stated that whilst they did 

not want to see any development on the Application Land they did want 

to correct information the RA had been given. They stated that the land 

not been used as a sports field and that Winterslow has sufficient areas 

for sports or other pastimes. It was, the residents further said, only when 

Page 295



 10 

the land was left fallow or set aside that certain people thought it right to 

use it as a dumping ground for their rubbish, a dog walking area and as a 

short cut though the area is adequately served with footpaths. There was 

also correspondence from L E Rogers, several letters from the Objectors 

and a letter from John Glen MP. In addition, there was an email from 

Councillor Christopher Devine. Although, an email from Wiltshire 

Council’s Legal Services was received, there was no objection from them 

as landowner and no correspondence from Southern Electric Plc. 

 

2.8 The Applicant was provided with, and given the opportunity to comment 

on, the objections and related correspondence. However, no further 

comments were received from the Applicant. 

 

2.9 The Application was considered by the RA in a decision report dated 31 

January 2014.2 This stated that it is the RA’s duty to determine an 

application in a fair and reasonable manner and where there is a serious 

dispute, or if the case is of great local interest, it is open to the authority to 

hold a non-statutory inquiry held by an independent Inspector, who 

would then prepare a report with recommendations. The decision report 

recommended that course of action accordingly. The report (on p. 6) 

contains a useful plan showing the land ownership of the Application 

Land (referred to in paragraph 2.6 above). 

 

 

3. CASE FOR THE APPLICANT 

3.1 The Applicant provided two bundles of documents and a bundle of legal 

authorities. The first bundle of documents, which I shall refer to hereafter 

as “AB/A” (Applicant’s Bundle A), included: 

(1) In respect of each of the witnesses to be called at the Inquiry: 

(a) A signed and dated statement; 

(b) An evidence questionnaire; and 

                                                        
2 Applicant’s Bundle B Tab 11 – AB/B Tab 11 

Page 296



 11 

(c) Supporting photographic evidence, where applicable.3 

(2) Signed and dated statements and questionnaires of 7 others relied 

upon but called as witnesses. 4 

(3) Other Evidence questionnaires relied upon.5 

 

3.2 The Applicant provided an Outline of the Case and Opening Speech. The 

mattes referred to included: 

 (1) The statutory test and how the Application meets it. 

(2) The nature of the Application Land and that agricultural land and 

the Copse can be registered, as there is no requirement that it 

resemble a traditional village green. 

(3) It is not in dispute that the vast majority of the claimed user is 

from inhabitants who live, or have lived, within the locality during 

the relevant period. 

(4) Sufficiency of use does not require that LSP be carried on 

sufficiently frequently throughout daylight hours or at all times of 

the year. 

(5) Furthermore, it is not necessary for the local inhabitants to have 

set their feet everywhere on the Application Land. The fact that 

LSP is predominantly confined to areas which are most readily 

accessible does not prevent the registration of the whole land. In 

this respect, it is clear that the natural state of land may cause its 

accessibility to fluctuate during the relevant period. 

(6) Assertion to a reasonable landowner of a right to engage in LSP is 

not necessarily inconsistent with the user predominantly taking 

place on informal paths.6 

(7) Qualifying use must “as of right”. LSP that is by force is not 

qualifying use. Use by force is not simply confined to physical force 

                                                        
3 AB/A Tab 4 
4 AB/A Tab 5 
5 AB/A Tab 6  
6 See paragraphs [19]-[22] on pp.7-9 of the Applicant’s Outline Legal Submissions. 

Page 297



 12 

and use will be by force where the landowner had made it clear 

that such use is contentious. 

(8) The facts of this case are on all fours with R (Oxfordshire and 

Buckinghamshire Mental health Trust) v Oxfordshire CC [2010] 

EWHC 530  and the wording of the signs is identical. 

(9) The fencing relied upon by the Objectors that was put up at the top 

of the field by Highfield Crescent, was put up by the Council and 

not the landowners. In any event, the vast majority of the 

Application Land remained  entirely open and accessible. 

(10) The statutory depositions under the Highways Act have no effect 

on whether user was “as of right”. More importantly, those 

depositions would not have been communicated to the reasonable 

person exercising LSP over the Application Land.  

(11) It is clear from the evidence questionnaires and detailed 

statements that qualifying user occurred throughout the relevant 

20-year period.7  

 

3.3 The following witnesses gave evidence at the Inquiry in support of the 

Application: 

 Glyn Paton 

Philip Beagle 

David Rickard 

Dr Ian Flindell 

Julia House 

Simon Day 

Penny Fooks 

Christine Stevens 

Paul Hardiman 

Jeanette Solomon 

Tim Crossland 

Elizabeth Page 

                                                        
7 See paragraph [37] on pp. 13-4 of the Applicant’s Outline Legal Submissions. See also the 
Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [11]-13] on pp.5-6. 

Page 298



 13 

Dr Kay Putman 

Barry Clark 

Michael Yates 

 

3.4  I now summarise the key points of the oral evidence of each of these 

witnesses. In doing this, I use the following abbreviations: 

 EQ:   Evidence Questionnaire  

In-chief:  Evidence given in-chief 

XX:    Cross-examination by the opposing advocate 

 Re-ex:   Re-examination by the witness’ advocate 

  

 

 Glyn Paton8 

Mr. Paton moved to The Flashett, near the telephone box on Middleton 

Road, in 1992. He said that he was aware of the Application Land as soon 

as he moved in, as he would go across it to the shops. His two daughters 

were 3 and 10 years old when they moved in (and thus 2 and 9 in 1991, 

as pointed out in xx of Mr. Paton).  His main access onto the land was from 

the entrance in the south-east corner (OB-A Tab 5 at p.23H) or from the 

path behind the village hall (but not 23G) 

 

His and his family’s use of the Application Land 

They used the land as a recreational area and not just for walking the dog, 

which they had between 1999 and 2008  (he had originally said 1994 to 

2002). He used the area between Middleton Road and Brown’s Copse to 

train the dog. The children crossed the land to school but not with him as 

he was working (as confirmed under xx but in comparison to his answer 

to Q.15 on his EQ). At the weekends, he used the land as a route to the 

village shop (to pick up the papers) and to go to the pub and as a place of 

recreation and enjoyed the wildlife – e.g. bluebells, anemones and 

celandines.  Most of the time they would have the dog with them. 

                                                        
8 AB/A Tab 4 p.124 

Page 299



 14 

The wildlife was predominantly in the Copse but certain areas didn’t have 

bluebells. There was not one area of the wood that they would use 

regularly but would tend to use the part towards the centre. There were 

many ways they would get into the Copse – at least 4 ways from their 

house. When the land had been ploughed up, they still used the Copse. He 

said that  from time to time they would have family walks and that most 

weeks they would visit the Copse, except when they were away on 

holiday. Mr. Paton said the paths accounted for around 5-10% of the 

Copse. In re-ex, Mr. Paton said that there was a main path in the Copse but 

there were also lots of paths diverging off – there was a diagonal path that 

was slightly wider. He also explained in re-ex that since 2011 the Copse 

was more trodden on as people can’t use the field and the main path was 

wider than in 2009/10. He said that the Copse was predominantly hazel 

coppice and there were shrubs throughout. 

Mr. Paton said that he would spend about 10 minutes on the land, if just 

crossing but may stop for a chat. But if going into the Copse they could be 

there for up to 1hr. he said that there were dens in the Copse.  

He had used the paths around the outskirts of the land – he used those to 

get onto the land. He also used the path along the eastern edge of the 

Copse and had accessed the Copse from that path. He said that (referring 

to the aerial photo at OB-A Tab 9 p.71) there were at least 7 tracks across 

the land. 

The children used the land until they were teenagers. He said that when 

his youngest daughter  (born in 1989) comes home she regularly goes for 

a walk in the Copse. 

Under xx, M. Paton said that they had used a variety of paths from 

Middleton Road, depending upon how muddy the land was, to go to and 

from the school. He also  accepted (under xx) that his main/predominant  

use was (besides dog walking) of the land was to transit and most people 

would say that it was used for transit. He said (under xx that he recalled 

that the tracks were pronounced, as shown on the aerial photos at OB/A 

tab 5 at pp. 23/23A. 

Page 300



 15 

Use of the land by others 

Mr. Paton referred to dog walking and said under xx that this was not just 

dogs running off. He said there had been a bonfire on the land. He also 

referred to others sledging – he said they didn’t have a steeper field 

elsewhere. 

He said that he would bump into people on the Land – neighbours and 

friends – he mentioned the Hendersons, who had a dog and who they 

would regularly meet. He also mentioned the Ryans, Phil and Mandy and 

the Glovers, Sue and her husband, who had now sadly passed away. 

He said that it was not just small children that use the woods and he saw 

dens in the Copse all the time. 

 

Challenges and Signs 

Mr. Paton said that he didn’t know who the landowners were. He had 

never been challenged on the land and there had been no interruptions in 

his use. He didn’t think that he needed permission to go on the Land. 

He hadn’t seen any signs until the big ones were pout up in 2011. He said 

that he would have gone past the earlier signs as he went onto the land 

where post 2 is. He said that he didn’t have a dog in 2009 (when the two 

posts were erected) but did go on the land on Saturdays and/or Sundays 

having come from the village shop.  

Under xx, when referred to the two 2009 posts (position seen on 

photograph in OB-A at  Tabs 9 & 10 pp. 71-3), he confirmed that he 

couldn’t remember the signs. He said he would have gone past the post 2 

position but not post 1. He didn’t see the post at the top of the field but 

repeated that he had go that way every week. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 301



 16 

 Philip Beagle9 

Mr. Beagle lives at the Old Post Office on Middleton Road. He first became 

aware of the Application Land in 1999/200 when he visited. He parked in 

the village hall car park and saw people using the field. He moved to his 

current property from Salisbury in 2000.  

 

 His and Family’s Use of the Application Land 

Mr. Beagle said that he would walk his dogs on the land at least twice a 

day – this would begin at 7.30 am or earlier in the summer. He also ran on 

the land. He had dogs from 2000 onwards. He now has 2, the youngest is 

just over 3 years old. He had 3 dogs for a short period. When running they 

would do circular runs and the dogs would go with them. They would 

walk the dogs as well. 

He would access the land from Middleton Road by the  telephone box – as 

shown on the photograph at p.23i of OB/A Tab 5. He used that entrance 

before the field was ploughed. He amended the plan showing the tracks 

over the path submitted with the modification order application, showing 

more tracks. 

When walking the dogs they would go onto the land by the telephone box 

and either go up the field along the inside of the hedge along Middleton 

Road towards the top corner or go straight across from the telephone box 

entrance into the Copse. The Copse was hazel with thinnest bushes. It was 

regularly cut – every year or twice a year. There were bluebells with kids 

doing things – rope swings in the southern part. He remembered a blue 

nylon rope swing and swings are a fairly regular feature – he would say 

they were there 80% of the time. It is the point where children stop off at 

on the way home from school. On the dog walking route they would 

usually come out onto the path and possibly go up to the water tower and 

around or back along Yarnley Lane and through the village. 

                                                        
9 AB/A Tab 4 p.31 

Page 302



 17 

He trained each dog for about 6-9 months (3 different ones over the 

years). This was done on the eastern part of the land as it was less steep 

and shielded from the Road. 

They used to collect sloes from adjacent to Middleton Road and 

blackberries that grew on all perimeters of the field including the eastern 

side of the slope, east and north of the Copse and east and north of the 

field, including the southern corner. 

Under xx, Mr. Beagle accepted that whilst the grass was growing it was 

not as easy to walk through – in June/July it would be 1ft and 2ft tall by 

September. Mr. Beagle said that the grass lay down when it rained, when 

it was suggested to him that it was 2ft when not even standing up 

straight. He said that there were flatter areas and it was not fair to say 

that anyway in May to June. When it was put to him that people would not 

be able to walk through the grass, Mr. Beagle said that may be so for 4-6 

weeks of the 52 weeks, but it may be less than that. When it was 

suggested to Mr. Beagle that there would have been thistles and brambles, 

he said that might have been so in one or two places.  

 

 Activities By Others 

He saw children using swings in the Copse. He saw Chris Waters (his 

neighbour) walking his dogs. He saw others walking and training dogs  - 

Bill and Mandy – they had a golden retriever and used to meet up with 

another lady with a border terrier and with others. Kids would ride their 

bikes on the paths. When there was snow, there were snow ball fights and 

sledging. He saw someone flying a kite once. He saw blackberrying. 

Mr. Beagle said it was an open field with some very prominent tracks (2m 

wide) and some less prominent. Many people used the land. He said there 

were a dozen tracks from the centre of the field. However, people didn’t 

stick to the tracks – they walked on the grass, which was at various times 

fairly short. If the ground was wet, one would tend not to stray off the 

tracks.  

Page 303



 18 

He said that there were other activities almost everywhere – sledging on 

the top steeper end of the field; showmen almost anywhere; bikes were 

ridden along the bottom and along eastern edge of the Copse. He had seen 

a bench, which was not useable, in the bushes that had been on the 

pavement. 

It was suggested to Mr. Beagle that the aerial photographs showed no 

other signs of activity, other than the tracks of LSP. He didn’t agree that 

this meant there was no LSP taking place as he said there would be a 

“dispersal” effect – you wouldn’t see the tracks from children on bikes 

that had gone across the ground once or twice and these would not show 

on a satellite photograph. Mr. Beagle said (in re-ex) that he had walked 

over virtually every inch of the land and the transit routes would not 

affect his use. 

It was also put to Mr. Beagle under xx that the land was between 

important destinations in the village – in the SE the village hall, doctors’ 

surgery and in the NW the shop, pub and school. Mr. Beagle said the 

children going to the nursery would be just as likely to go down the 

tarmac path (to the west of the Copse) as across the field. He also said that 

he didn’t use the Surgery and people tend to get out of a car when visiting 

that facility. With regard to the village hall, it was suggested to Mr. Beagle 

that the activities included the Badminton Club, dance classes, functions, 

parties, and the Truffles Coffee Shop was open on Mon-Fri 10am-12 noon. 

He said in re-exam that most people came to the village hall on foot, with 

a percentage by car. He said that the Hall was fairly busy. 

 

 Challenges and Signs 

He saw no signs but did see post on the ground. He said that there was no 

post by his entrance onto the land or on coning out from the Copse. He 

saw a post on the ground near the village hall – he saw that once or twice 

but it was not there long. His use during the relevant period was not 

interrupted.  

Page 304



 19 

He had met the landowners on the land once or twice and just said hello. 

There were pleasant greetings. He didn’t know who they were at the time. 

They never said anything to him about using the land. He met then 

coming out of the top end of the Copse. 

Under xx, it was suggested to Mr. Beagle (referring to point 7 on 

photograph at p.23F at Tab 5 of OB/A) that the post at the southern end 

(Post 1) was only 20 yards from where he entered the field. He said that it 

was “maybe 30 yards”. It was suggested to Mr. Beagle that the post would 

have been there on at least 28 occasions when he entered the field. He 

said that he might have been away in Feb and March 2009. He said that he 

didn’t recall seeing the posts sticking up. He saw post in the bushes lying 

down. Mr. Beagle said that when entering and going across the land he 

would not go past the post – he would turn right along the hedgerow or 

go straight across to the Copse. The evening walk would have been in the 

dark and in the morning, it would have been low light. In re-ex, Mr. Beagle 

said that the 4 current signs in neon red were fairly hard to miss unlike 

the initial 2 posts. 

 

Photo 23B (OB/A Tab B) showing the broken fence in the north-west 

corner of the Application Land was put to Mr. Beagle, who said that his 

access onto the land was in the south-east corner by the village hall. 

 

 

 David Rickard10 

Mr. Rickard has lived opposite Middleton Road since    1964. The land was 

cornfield when they moved in until it was set aside in the 1980s. Since 

then, the field has been left idle. There is no disincentive for people to 

wander through into the field to enjoy the wildflowers etc. The obvious 

entrance was from the right of way near to the Village Hall. 

 

 

                                                        
10 AB/A Tab 4 p. 142 

Page 305



 20 

 His own and his family’s use of the Application Land 

He has used the land with his children (born in 1966 and 1969) and his 4 

grandchildren who are in their teens now but visit regularly. He has used 

the land to cross from the Village Hall car park up towards the shop going 

into Woodlands Drive to avoid using path around the Copse and it is a 

more interesting route to view wildflowers and to avoid Middleton Road. 

They paths used varied but mainly go on a path up through the middle of 

the land but children, he said, don’t stick to the main path. They would 

bring kites and radio controlled aircraft onto the field – they would travel 

about 20 yards at the most and usually end up in tree. 

In the Copse, they would swing from the trees using a rope. They would 

use one of the big trees not in the centre but more to the field side of the 

Copse. There has been a rope swing there for the last 20 years.  

Under xx, it was pointed out to Mr. Rickard that he said in answer to Q.15 

of the EQ that he used the land “occasionally”. He said that he would go 

across 2 or 3 times for shopping or wander over there with family or 

friends. He confirmed that his children would have been 25 and 32 in 

1991 and had left home by then. (being in Birmingham and near 

Andover). He described Middleton Road (in his Statement (AB/A Tab 4 p. 

142) as “incredibly dangerous”. He agreed under xx that although in some 

case he did actually carry out activities on the land he did mainly use it to 

get from one side of the field to the other. In re-ex, Mr. Rickard said that 

when he went into the Copse he was not using it to cross and he 

occasionally saw others; other children. It was almost a public amenity, he 

said. 

 

 Use of the Application Land by Others 

 Children always wandered into the Copse and played there. 

 

 

 

 

Page 306



 21 

 Challenges and Signs 

Mr. Rickard said that nothing prevented him using the land. He was not 

aware of any signs until 2011.  He only really accessed the land from the 

car park  (point 5 on photo at p. 23F – OB/A tab 5) and he didn’t see signs 

or posts in that area. He confirmed that he was aware of the current signs 

– assaying the land was Private.. The land had been set aside and not 

fenced. 

 

 

 Dr. Ian Flindell11 

Dr. Flindell has lived in the village since 1994. He has 4 children born in 

1979, 1984, 1987 and 1989. It is only the two younger children who have 

used the field. He lives at the other end of the village and has no direct 

view of the land. 

 

His and his family’s use of the Application Land 

He personally didn’t use the land other than to cross to the village hall. He 

did take the dog onto the land in 1997 and met several others doing so, 

which was good for socializing the dog. Under xx, he said that this was not 

a regular occurrence – it was during the summer and once a week then. 

They had quite a large garden but their dog didn’t meet others there. They 

went anywhere on the land. That was for 5 years or so.  

They went into Copse and took pictures of the bluebells. The younger 

boys go to the Copse in the Summer and build dens. From time to time 

boys sledge on the land and met other children. On occasions, they had 

gone there everyday for a couple of weeks. They also go to Plantation 

Woods on the other side of the village, which has a footpath through it. In 

the Copse, there are paths all around; they exit through the Copse onto 

the field (having entered the Copse from the footpath on the west side). 

                                                        
11 AB/A Tab 4 p.74 

Page 307



 22 

He could remember the brambles in the west corner of the field by 

Highfield Crescent between there and Woodland Drive.  

 

 Signs and Challenges 

Dr. Flindell said that he had no concerns about his children going onto the 

land as he had assumed that it was public amenity land. He didn’t know 

that it belonged to Mr. Sheppard. He wasn’t aware of any indication that 

he shouldn’t be on the land. He didn’t remember seeing any notices.  

Under xx (taken to pp.72 & 73 of OB/A Tabs 9 &10), Dr. Flindell 

confirmed that he had no recollection of seeing the post during the 2 

weeks in Feb 2009. He said that possibly the bottom post was there but 

he never saw it. With regard to the bottom post (referred to photo on p. 

75), he said that could possibly remember the rubbish but not the post – 

that was the area where the brambles are. 

He saw the remains of the fence along Highfield Crescent, with there 

being wire on the ground (see photograph on p.51 of AB/A Tab 4). He 

didn’t remember the tree shown in that photograph though. Under xx 

(taken to photograph 23B in OB/A Tab 5), Dr. Flindell said that he 

believed that there were bits of old rusty wire at that point in the broken 

fence from 1995/6/7. In re-ex, he gave the date as between 1993-2000. 

He didn’t recall the fence being reinstated – there was a gap in the posts 

as well. He said that his impression was that there had been a boundary 

there at one time but it had not been maintained. He didn’t remember any 

fencing between the Copse and the field. There were possibly a few posts 

between the copse and the adjacent footpath. 

With regard to the gate on the southern boundary (at point 5 of 

photograph 23F – OB/A Tab 5), he could see no other reason why the gate 

was there other than to allow access onto the land.  

 

 

Page 308



 23 

 Julia House12 

Mrs. House lives at Gunville Hill. She has a daughter and a son born in 

1989 and 1992. She has known the Application Land since 1993. She said 

that she didn’t know the copse and the field were part of the same land – 

she hadn’t realised that the Copse was privately owned, although she 

knew that the field was. 

 

 Her Use of the Application Land 

She used the land from 1993 until 2003 at least once per week when child 

minding. Her use after 2003 was more intermittent/occasional. She 

entered the land from the south – by the tennis courts through the gate or 

by the telephone box.  

She looked after 6 children at a time, who were mostly local. There had 

been about 25 from Winterslow over that period. They walked up to 

school in the village not using the field and then back using the field and 

going to the Village Hall. They would alternate the route for out and back. 

Under xx, Mrs. House said that they would go up to school on the bus and 

walk back but depending upon the weather and also what the children 

wanted to do. After lunch, they had between 1-3. They would sometimes 

go into the Copse – entering at the top. She used to look after quite young 

children. They would play on the path on the field where the grass was 

shorter. They would play hide and seek in the longer grass. Boys under 3 

like to hit with sticks. The girls prefer craft –they play pickup acorns in 

the copse rather than on the field. The older children liked the woods and 

the younger ones liked the short grass. 

Asked under xx about what they did in wet weather, Mrs. House said that 

“it was ok with wellies as it was nice for the children to go into the muddy 

wood”. She said that if it was dry, they would go on the field and if muddy 

go into the wood. This was about 3 times per week. On Wednesday, they 

always walked back because of the hour-long activity.  

 
                                                        
12 AB/A Tab 4 p.96 

Page 309



 24 

 Use of Application Land by others 

She used to regularly meet friends, including those who are dog walkers 

including Lizzie Dixon, Caroline Henderson, Kate Church, Gill MacKay, 

Linda Mace – they are all from Winterslow. 

They would meet other children when child minding. 2 of her friends 

(Kate Church and Linda Mace) were child minders so they would 

sometimes go together. 

Under xx, Mrs. House said that people would always be playing in the 

woods and that it was used more for activities than the field. The field was 

used for chatting, dog walking and playing.  When it was suggested to her 

in xx that the main use of the field was walking across it, she said that was 

so for adults but children would play on the field as it was a nice open 

space. When it was put to her, again in xx, that there were no photos of 

children playing on the land, she replied that she wouldn’t think of taking 

photographs. She added however that there were photographs of sledging 

and that it snows regularly and there are one or two periods when the 

snow settles but not every year. She remembered the first year when the 

field was packed with sledgers. The last time she could remember her 

daughter using the field for sledging was in 2010 for 3-4 days. She also 

referred to the wildlife on the land at different times of the year.  

 

 Signs and challenges to use 

She saw the sign on the post near to the Village Hall; but as everyone else 

was using the land, they just carried on, as it was causing no harm. She 

didn’t know how long the sign was there. She read the wording, which 

said no right of way. She imagined that it was not an official route.  

She didn’t realize that the Copse was part of the same land. She 

considered that the sign was referring to the field and not the Copse. 

There was fencing only by the Village Hall. There was fencing on the 

periphery by Highfield Crescent and hedges along the road. 

Page 310



 25 

Under xx about the posts, she said that she understood that they meant 

this was not an official route – so it is not a footpath but she could wander 

around the field. She did not accept that “No ROW” meant “I don’t want 

you on my field”. She said no it meant that it was “just not official”. Mrs. 

House stated that the sign was not saying no access but just that there 

was no right of way. She said that she was unaware that the signs had 

been removed by force on 203 occasions, as was put to her under xx. 

 

 

 Simon Day13  

Mr. Day lives with his family at Middleton and has lived in Winterslow 

since 2007 (at Garlands from July 2007-2008 about ¼ to 1/3 of a mile 

away. When they moved to the village, their children were 5 and 8 years 

of age and learning to ride a bike. 

 

 His and his family’s use of the Application Land 

For the first couple of years they used the land 2-3 times a week. Under 

xx, Mr. Day said that the children walked back and forth during term time 

and had quality time in the field if walking back. Their mum would stop 

and talk, but you would see less fathers doing that. On Thurs/Friday, it 

was Mr. Day who would go with them to school and they would stop and 

play on the land. In the later years, it was more that purpose every few 

weekends. If parents or friends came down or children wanted to play in 

the woods, they would go there. As the children got older, they would let 

them go into the woods on their own. Mr. Day said that he would walk 

around the field (with friends or parents) and end up walking through the 

woods. Under xx, he said that he is on the land now every third weekend – 

mainly in the summer/drier times. The children would go on their bikes 

in the wood even in the wet weather. The copse was more used than the 

field. When they were younger, he saw a lot more people in the field and 

people milling around. 

                                                        
13 AB/A Tab 4 p.64 

Page 311



 26 

So initially, they used the land to cross over to the school. They went from 

the SE corner and up the path. 3 times a week he would go from the shop 

through the field. They would sometimes go into the woods and play 

there with bits of wood they would find and make dens. In the woods, the 

children would play with friends. Quite a lot of children were taught to 

cycle on the field. 

In the summers of 2009, 2010 and 2011, Mr. Day and his wife used the 

tennis courts by the Village Hall (usually on a Sunday) and the boys would 

play in the field where they could keep an eye on them. 

He referred to playing football occasionally in the field, as well as Frisbee 

even when the grass quite long. 

His use of the field stopped when the field was ploughed. 

Under xx, Mr. Day was referred to his answer to Q.14 of his EQ where he 

stated “This piece of land is integral to all the main village facilities…”. He 

accepted that the Village store had a lottery terminal and an off licence 

and that it opens longer (until 8pm) since 2005 and is well stocked. 

 

 Others’ use of the Application Land 

Quite a lot of children were taught to cycle on the field. Mr. Day referred 

to his marked photograph (AB/A Tab4 p.73) and the blue box area shown 

on that. 

If they saw friends on the field, they would have a kick about normally in 

the blue area (on the p.70 aerial photograph) where the grass was 

shorter. 

Mr. Day said “now and again” they would see people walking dogs and it 

was nice to meet them and to get chatting.   

Mr. Day did say “It is mainly people and dog walkers crossing that you 

see.” He didn’t remember a bonfire on the land. 

 

 

 

Page 312



 27 

 Signs and challenges on use 

Mr. Day didn’t recall any signs. He thought that this was public land and it 

does not, he said, appear to be privately owned. There is no physical 

barrier to entering the land. There is fencing only along the road and the 

village hall. However, there is an access point in the fence by the village 

hall, which is a fence for the village hall and not the field. 

When asked (in-chief) whether he had seen the recent signs, Mr. Day 

replied “not really, no”. 

 

 

 Penny Fooks14 

Mrs. Fooks has lived at Saxon Leas since May 2007, having moved to 

Winterslow in 1990 at the top of Gunville Hill (having moved from Suffolk 

in that year). 

 

 Use of Application Land by her and her family 

Mrs. Fooks used the land going to the Village Hall, shops and to visit 

friends. It is a good way of accessing other parts of the village. There were 

a lot of things going on in the Village Hall. When living in Saxon Leas, 

crossing the Application Land was the main route to the shops, friends 

etc. Her son was more interested in nature – picking things up and taking 

them home. He said that he would play in the Copse – making dens; 

playing hide and seek. There were rope swings in the Copse in that 

corner. At the weekend’s her son would go down there but not her. 

Her son, who was born in 1995, went to a nursery school out of the village 

and to the primary school in the village when nearly 5 in 2000 until 2007. 

When he started primary school, they had to make the trek to school on 

other side of the village bus sometimes and sometimes she cycled with 

him on the back of her bike at first up Middleton Road (because the road 

was dangerous, as she said when xx). Sometimes they walked. In the 

average week, they would sometimes walk three times and sometimes 
                                                        
14 AB/A Tab 4 p.75 

Page 313



 28 

more – they would often walk home. When going to school he was not 

recreating. On the way back, he would like going into the Copse. When 

asked under xx whether he would play in the field, Mrs. Fooks said “more 

in the Copse”. He was 12 years old in 2007 and went to secondary school 

out of the village but he still went to the woods – he is very passionate 

about the woods and other woods too. 

She said in he written statement that she has a friend’s dogs after that 

friend had had a stroke – a couple of times per week for a period of 4 

months December 2009- March 2010. 

 

Use of the Application Land by others 

Mrs. Fooks has seen children playing in the Copse and spilling out into 

areas around.  

There was a walking bus from the Village Hall to the school but she was 

not sure what route that would take. 

She saw dog walking, people going for walks; she also saw an archer. It 

was just people who live in the village - they would walk around the land. 

You were very likely to bump into or see 1 other person – you could see 

someone using one or other of the paths. There were 7 or 8 paths, and 

tracks into the Copse – going up to rope swing. 

 

Signs and challenges 

Access was prevented in 2011. She saw stakes without signs for a week. 

She has no idea what they were for; there was one at the top end and 

another one in the south-west corner. There was a stake in the south-east 

corner. The other sign was green and there for a week. She said that she 

remembered not understanding what it was. She continued to use the 

land when the steak was there but didn’t use the land when the other 

signs were erected. She had understood that Mr. Sheppard had given he 

land to the village, as he had done for the Village Hall. 

Page 314



 29 

Under xx Mrs. Fooks said that she could not remember what the green 

sign on the posts said. She said in her written statement that she 

remembered being very puzzled and surprised when access to the field 

was prevented in 2011. She confirmed that she couldn’t believe that she 

no longer could walk across the land. When pressed she accepted that she 

must have read the sign (with the wording as shown at p. 5 of OB/A). 

When it was put to Mrs. Fooks did it not convey to her that the landowner 

did not welcome her on that land, Mrs. Fooks answered “I imagine so”. 

 

 

 Christine Stevens15 

Mrs. Stevens moved into Winterslow Parish in the early 1980s (1983/4). 

Sometimes they would walk into the village from Latcombe Corner. She 

has lived at 11 Woodlands Drive since August 2009. From that property, 

she has a lovely view, she said, overlooking the land with the Copse on the 

rights. Previously she had lived 2 miles out of the village. She has two sons 

born in 1977 and 1979 who went to the local primary school in the 

village. She was recovering from a life-threatening illness in 1995 

 

 Use of Application Land by Mrs. Stevens and her family 

They accessed the land from Daddy King’s Path, by the Village Hall or by 

Woodlands Drive. The children would play on the field in 1986/7. She 

didn’t know whether there were crops then. Under xx, it was put to her 

(by reference to OB/A Tab 8 p.51) that there was barley and wheat on the 

field in 1986/7. Mrs. Stevens said that her sons said to her recently that 

there was a hole in the field. She said that they all used the Copse. They 

used to come into the village regularly. Sometimes they would walk and 

sometimes drive to the village and then walk – sometimes on the Copse 

and the land. It was a delight – the bluebells, other wildflowers, wildlife 

including woodpeckers and owls. There is a primrose bank along the 

Middleton Road side. There was a bank of wild orchids in the middle of 

                                                        
15 AB/A Tab 4 p.160 

Page 315



 30 

the field. There was a flatter area to the east. They moved into Woodland 

Drive and used the field and Copse. 

They used the land much more (“almost on a daily basis”) after 2009, 

once they had moved into Woodland Drive. 

Under xx, Mrs. Stevens said that before they moved into their current 

address they used the land possibly twice a week – she said they went 

into the Copse (cf. Q15 of her EQ – AB/B Tab 4 p.164 – in re-examination 

when asked whether the Questionnaire allowed her to distinguish 

periods, Mrs. Stevens said that she didn’t think so). However, with regard 

to the field she said that she really couldn’t remember whether twice, 

three times or four times – it was going back too far to remember. She 

said that she walked around the perimeter and across the field. When 

asked whether that was sticking to the established tracks, Mrs. Stevens 

said that she often used to but she also walked along Middleton Road side, 

where there was the bank of flowers. She also picked blackberries and 

sloes – the blackberries were along the edge of the Copse. In re-ex, Mrs. 

Stevens said that she picked sloes at the end of autumn for about a month 

(August-September) before there was a frost. 

She was asked about he answers at Q. 14 of her EQ (AB/A Tab 4 p. 164) in 

comparison to her oral evidence. Mrs. Steven answered, unconvincingly in 

my view, that there is a limit to what you can say in small boxes. 

 

 Use of Application Land by others 

She saw children on bikes (3 -4 times a week) – they were on the tracks 

but not all the time. People walked across the field. She saw children 

sledging, mostly from the top end of the field. There was the newspaper 

delivery across that would cut across the field. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 316



 31 

 Signs and Challenges 

There had been nothing to prevent their use. There were no fences – she 

had never seen a fence on that field – there was something along Highfield 

Crescent side. 

There have been signs in the last 2 seasons after the land was rough 

ploughed –then Private Property signs went up (OB/A Tab 11).  

She was aware that Mr. Sheppard owned the land, as she was on the PC 

but she had never been told not to use it. She saw Mr. Sheppard in the 

Copse once and she asked him whether she could gather some sticks and 

Mr. Sheppard said ok if done from the school path. 

 

 

Paul Hardiman16 

Mr. Hardiman moved to Woodland Drive in 1999, having lived outside the 

village before that. His house is end-of-terrace and gives him a full view. 

Mr. Hardiman is a retired police officer who had worked shifts, which 

included doing 7 consecutive nights. His partner had 2 children (then 4 

and 6 years old) he had 3 of his own children (DoB 1988, 1991, 1994) 

who came to visit him regularly – most weekends and in the week. That 

relationship ended in 2006 but he still lived there in 2010-2011 in an 

alternative address in the villa in Gunville Road. They did brownies, 

guides and scouts in the village. That was 2 evening a week and every 

other weekend. The Brownies met at the village hall; the Scouts and 

Guides met at the Methodist Hall, on the Common by the Lions Head 

public house. Mr. Hardiman is a Cub leader. To his knowledge, there had 

been no formal cub use of the land.  

 

Use of Application Land 

They entered the land from the steps in Woodland Drive (see photo 4 on 

p.74 of OB/A Tab 10). 

                                                        
16 AB/A Tab 4 p. 85 

Page 317



 32 

The children used the land as an adventure playground – it had rough 

terrain and was wild like Dartmoor. They liked getting dirty and rushing 

around on bikes. They played there with other friends from the village. It 

was their play area. They used it in the dark. The Copse was the children’s 

regular playground. They played hide and seek and run around and 

explore.  

He used the entire field and on occasions ventured into the Copse to see 

the bluebells etc. He sometimes went with the children into the Copse and 

sometimes they were unattended. 

Under xx, Mr. Hardiman appeared to accept (when he answered “You are 

making a point”) that when the children were older they were not using 

the land as a destination in itself. 

 

 Use of Application Land by others 

Although it was less when raining, there were generally people on the 

land most days. There was use throughout the seasons but greater use in 

the summer and during lighter evenings. 

Under xx, when it was suggested that the predominant use of the land was 

as a place of transit and that Middleton Road was “nasty”, Mr. Hardiman 

said that there was a mixture of transit and recreational use of the land 

but and that you wouldn’t choose to use Middleton Road to go to and from 

the village. He said his use was 50/50. 

There was dog walking on the land most times of the day/evening and 

people chatting. There were school children going home; joggers (across 

the land); walkers. There were berries around the Copse – sloes and 

blackberries along the Middleton Road side – hazel saplings in Copse and 

blackberries grow everywhere. 

It was put to Mr. Hardiman in xx, and he agreed, that for most of the 

period ending in 2011 there were well worn tracks across the field. He 

also agreed that it was a convenient crossing point. In re-ex, Mr. 

Hardiman said that there remained substantial groups he used the field 

Page 318



 33 

(and not just the tracks), which was (he clarified to me) quite regularly. 

He said it was used  for chatting, a gathering place, dog walkers, children 

on their bikes, going into the woods. 

 

 Signs and Challenges 

He saw the signs in 2011 (the Private property ones in OB/A tab 11) 

when he moved back. He noticed that the field had been ploughed. He saw 

no other signs before then. He saw the rubbish pile (of garden waste) in 

photo 4 of OA/A Tab 10 – that was always there, he said. However, he 

never saw the post on that waste. 

Under xx, he said that he would go onto the land 4 times a week. He was 

taken to the post and sign that was there in Feb 2009 (OB/A Tab 10 p.73) 

– it was pointed out that this was very close to his home. He was also 

referred to Mr. Sheppard saying that the posts were torn out and re-

erected on 2-3 occasions and after 2 weeks he gave up. Mr. Hardiman said 

that he saw no post. He said that some of journeys (across the land) were 

in darkness – when going to the Scouts.  He was referred to the wording 

(on p.5 of OB/A) which said “No Public Right of Way” and in xx it was said 

this is what the “very small sign says. WCC put the sign up.” Mr. Hardiman 

was also referred in xx to what Penny Fooks said about the sign – people 

were puzzled, she said, when they saw the signs. It was suggested to him 

that he was bound to see it. 

 

 

Jeanette Solomon17 

Mrs. Solomon has lived in the area for 59 years, having gone to the local 

Primary School in the village. She used to live in Weston lane but moved 

away and then back in 2006 to her current address in Livery Road. 

However, in her EQ at Q.36  (AB/A Tab 4 p.157) she stated that she had 

carried on the activities on the land for 14 years. 

 

                                                        
17 AB/A Tab 4 p.151 

Page 319



 34 

Use of Application Land 

She entered the land from the footpath next to Bluebell Wood. She cut 

into the field just before the railings to the Village Hall. She did a circular 

route around the wood – diagonally to NW corner and back onto the blue 

footpath.  

In her EQ (at Q.15) Mrs. Solomon said that she walked her dog on the land 

at least once a day. Under xx, she said that it was at least twice a day but 

her dog died in 2011. It was suggested to Mrs. Solomon that she had 

embellished and exaggerated her evidence. She denied this saying that 

she was busy. She went through the EQ quietly. 

After she moved back in 2006, she parked by Bluebell Wood in Highfield 

Crescent. The circuit took about 20-25 minutes unless she met someone 

and had time to talk to them. She did this 2-3 times a day. If she had 

plenty of time, she would walk from home but the majority of the time she 

drove. She did an evening walk too as she felt safe there. 

 

Use of Application Land by Others 

She met people but couldn’t remember their names. A person with 3 dogs; 

a lady with 2 black Labradors; gentleman with Springer spaniels – Mr. 

Beagle. Children built wigwam in the Copse. She saw coppicing in the 

wood – 4 or 5 times from 2006. She saw children going through or playing 

in the wood. By playing, they were running around, especially when 

leaves had fallen as they would kick up the leaves. 

 

Signs and Challenges 

In about 2009, she asked the owner whether she could collect wood for 

her then new Jet Master Fire. He was happy, she said, for her to do so. She 

didn’t ask permission to go in the wood, as people were going into the 

wood. She assumed that it was a right of way. There were no signs and 

she collected small bundles of wood (kindling not logs as she clarified 

Page 320



 35 

under xx) from near where she parked her car in Highfield Crescent. 

Under xx, she said that she did this perhaps once or twice a week. 

Nothing stopped her use. There was only a fence by the Village Hall but 

that didn’t affect her at all. The only sign was pick up dog mess but that 

was not on the land. She has seen the recent signs (see OB/A Tab 11), 

which are very visible at both ends, she believes. On being shown photo 

23B (OB/A Tab 5), Mrs. Solomon said that she remembered seeing 

fencing but she imagined it had been like that for some time. She didn’t 

recall seeing any repairs there. On being shown a picture of the northern 

post (OB/A Tab 10 p.74), she said that she did not remember seeing it 

when she walked. There was nothing on it. She didn’t recall the other 

(southern) post (p.73) either – but she didn’t walk that way – she walked 

where the white  (snow) is around the edge of the Copse. 

Under xx, she said that she didn’t recall anyone telling her about what the 

2009 signs said. She said that she wasn’t sure whether she had seen the 

sign. She then said she might have seen it but there was nothing on it as 

far as she could tell. She said that was plus the fact that people were still 

walking I there. Mrs. Solomon went on to say that she can assume that it 

said perhaps that you should not be walking on there. 

 

 

Tim Crossland18 

Mr. Crossland made the Application on behalf of WOOD. He moved to 

Winterslow, to his current address in Middleton Road, with his wife and 

two daughters (who are now 17 and 13, having been born in 1997 and 

2000) in August 2005. There some of his photos of his daughters with the 

application form. He was advised by the Open Spaces Society that 

designation would protect the land from development. The land can be 

seen from his property. The person they purchased it from told them that 

it was common land. 

 

                                                        
18 AB/A Tab 4 p. 52 

Page 321



 36 

Use of the Application Land 

They have used the land from when they moved in. They walk the dog 

there twice a day. They enter the land on the FP at the corner of 

Middleton Road and the Causeway (Point E shown on photo 23E at OB/A 

Tab 5) and walk across the field to the Copse and the dog runs about 

there. They went both straight across the land and diagonally across. The 

dog ran around – they would throw balls. The children ran about. This 

was around the area to the East of the Copse. He would walk the dog 

either after work or during the lunch break. His wife walked the dog in 

the morning and he did later. 

The children ran around to the east and north-east of the Copse. He 

taught his elder daughter to ride her bicycle alongside the Copse – that 

was when she was 9 years of age, in 2006. They sledged on the north-

west part of the land. They picked blackberries along the northern 

footpath and north-east corner of the Copse. 

At the weekend he would go to the village shop and pub as well as 

stopping and doing things on the land. 

 

Use of the Application Land by others 

Mr. Crossland referred to walking his 2 dogs on the land – the dogs ran 

about. He regularly saw people on the land from his house – it was, he 

added, normal to see people on the land – their use of the land varied – at 

the start and end of the school day people would walk through the land. 

There also people walking dogs, flying kites (see the photograph on p.63 

of OB/A Tab4) and occasionally kicking a football around. In response to 

my question, Mr. Crossland said that he saw kite flying  not frequently – 2 

to 3 times a year. Under xx, Mr. Crossland was asked whether he was sure 

that the photo did not show snow. 

Mr. Crossland said that the main activity on the land was people walking 

dogs – not just walking through the land but stopping and walking 

around. Under xx, he accepted that people walking through the land 

Page 322



 37 

would stick to the paths to avoid the grass. He said that when the grass 

was long  (in June and July certainly) most people kept to the tracks. He 

said that the longer grass did not worry him. Mr. Crossland also said that 

he had said all along that the majority are traversing and are going to and 

from sites but I also said people are using it for recreational purposes. In 

re-ex, Mr. Crossland was asked how substantial the remaining 

recreational use on the land was. He replied that that regularly took place 

on the land rather than just walking through – it was primarily dog 

walkers like themselves and they would go into the longer grass. 

Referring to the School Calendar photograph on p.54 of AB/A Tab 4), he 

said that the bluebells were fairly seasonal (Mr. Crossland was a Governor 

of the School at the time). 

 

Signs and Challenges 

He said that nobody stopped him using the land and nothing prevented 

access to it. It was ploughed on 4th April 2011 and people stopped using it 

then. He said the fence by Highfield Crescent was there when he moved to 

the village – he referred to a concrete post, metal, wires. 

He didn’t know when the more recent “Private Property – Please Keep 

Off” signs had appeared. He said that he understood those to mean that he 

should not go onto the land – no entry. The earlier 2009 signs meant, he 

said, that the owner does not want a footpath put onto his land. 

He was referred to the plan of the tracks (p.30 of OB/A tab 8) under xx 

and asked which track he thinks the landowner was referring to in his 

2009 sign. Mr. Crossland said he didn’t know and one would have to ask 

the land owner but he would say the track between B & F or E (both 

through I). It was then suggested to him that on his approach the owner 

wanted to stop that but was happy for people to wander over his land. 

Reference was made to Penny Fooks saying that people were puzzled by 

the sign and he was asked whether he had been puzzled. Mr. Crossland 

said he didn’t know why the sign was put up. When it was said that Mrs. 

Fooks said that the effect of the sign was that trespassers in the field were 

Page 323



 38 

unwelcome, Mr. Crossland disagreed with that interpretation. When it 

was put to him that he was saying that the landowner was permitting this, 

he replied that the owner could have put a fence up. 

 

 

Elizabeth Page19 

Mrs. Page has lived in Livery Road since 1986 and before that in 

Middleton Road from 1976. 

  

 Use of the Application Land 

During the relevant period her main use was when her son William (who 

was born in 1989) was at his first 3 years of school starting in 1994 – he 

was minded by Julia House (who also gave evidence to the Inquiry as 

recorded above) from 1996 to 1997 for one day a week whilst she was 

working. She sat with Mrs. House in the field near the Copse while her son 

played in the wood for 3/4 hr while Mrs. House’s daughter had a ballet 

class in the Village Hall. He would play with dens in the wood that others 

had made as he was too young then to actually make a den.  

Under xx, Mrs. Page confirmed that it was only early years that she would 

meet up with Mrs. House on the land and pick her son. In re-ex, she said 

that she had been on the Village Hall Committee since 2007-2011. She 

said there were people on the land until it was ploughed to the same 

extent as before. She didn’t think the use changed (from the early years). 

When xx on this answer Mrs. Page accepted that she would only have a 

view from the table tennis room of the Village Hall and also from the car 

park. She said that she did see people throwing balls for dogs. 

  

 Use of the Application Land by others 

People would walk across  and people would exercise their dogs. It was a 

good space in the middle of all of the houses. It was a good place to throw 

                                                        
19 AB/A Tab 4 p.114 

Page 324



 39 

things for dogs to run after rather than just go along with a dog on a lead. 

This would mainly take place near the Village Hall where the land was 

flatter. There were people walking through – there would be a stream 

coming back from school. They would come from Woodland Drive along 

the eastern side of the Copse or diagonally across the land into the corner 

by the Village Hall. 

  

 Signs and Challenges 

Mrs. Page knew it was Mr. Sheppard’s land but it was just used as 

common land. She never saw the owners on the land.  

Sometimes the fence was breached by Highfield Crescent. She was not 

sure how long the fence had been there. It was there 5-10 years ago and 

in a better state but she couldn’t say before that. There was fencing 

around the Village Hall too but not elsewhere. 

  

  

 Dr. Kay Putman20 

Dr. Putman moved to Winterslow in 1988. She lives near to the village 

shop on The Flood. 

   

 Use of the Application Land 

She uses the land weekly (cf. Q.15 of her EQ – AB/A Tab 4 p. 136 “several 

times a week”) to go to the Church or collect prescriptions from the 

Doctors’ Surgery. She uses the diagonal path to cross the land. She enters 

the land from the path shown in photo p.74 (OB/A Tab 10) but not using 

the steps. 

She used the Copse when her son (DoB 1990) was small. When he was a 

little older, he would go into the Copse. There were dens there but he 

would make his own. Her son used the land from when he was 9 years old 

                                                        
20 AB/A Tab 4 p.133 

Page 325



 40 

(1999) to 2012 when he was 12 years old perhaps but it was difficult to 

recall. Her use continued until the land was ploughed in 2011. 

Once it was obvious that there were paths, she would take her son across 

the field as she is interested in flowers. What was of interest depended 

upon the time of the year?  From May to June, most flowers were out. 

There were brambles in the autumn; on the hill towards the shop was 

where there were most. Low growing brambles were found by the 

diagonal footpath in the north-west part of the field. Some years it was 

full, others not. It was quite wet at the bottom of the field. Someone said 

they had seen as orchid, she had not. 

They did blackberrying in the north-west corner on the northern 

boundary of the Copse in most years and she made jam in the autumn 

  

 Use of the Application Land by others 

She met people on the land who she knew to be local. It was mostly dog 

walkers – including people playing with dogs. There were ball games and 

children cycling bikes. The area used would vary as people moved 

around. 

Under  xx, Dr. Putman said “certainly when snowing a lot of people would 

use it”. It was then put to her that there were 3 main snow events – Feb 

2004; Jan/Feb 2009; and Jan 2010. Dr. Putman said that they would 

sometimes get a day of snow. It was further suggested in xx that snow 

was an exceptional event. Dr. Putman said that the first year there (1988) 

they had heavy snow. Then they had bad snow when her son was 3 in 

1993/4; there was one snow event at Christmas 1997/8 when he was 7 

(5 snow events). 

Under xx, Dr Putman accepted that most people kept to the tracks when 

the grass was growing. 

  

 

 

Page 326



 41 

 Signs and Challenges 

She assumed that they could use the land as there was  nothing to say that 

they could not. She did remember the pile of garden waste, which varied 

in height. She did not recall seeing the northern post shown on p.74 of 

OB/A Tab 10 even though near to her access point (point 2 on 23A of 

OB/A tab 5). When asked in-chief whether she was still using the field at 

that time (Feb 2009), Dr. Putman replied “probably”. Under xx, she said 

that she may have been away. With regard to the southern post, Dr. 

Putman said that she tended not to go out at that point as she went into 

the Village Hall along the side of the Copse. When asked in-chief about the 

wording of the 2009 signs (p.5 of OB/A) she said that would suggest the 

path had been closed. Under xx, she agreed that if she had seen the sign it 

would have suggested to her that trespassers were not welcome 

anywhere in the field. In re-ex, she said that she thought the copse was 

separate from the field. 

  

 

 Barry Clark21 

Mr. Clark has lived with his 2 sons (DoB 3/11/94 & 21/04/97) in 

Middleton Road since February 2008. He has always had a dog apart from 

for a short period. When he visited before purchasing the property, he 

was aware of the field straight away, as his dogs need exercising 

everyday. Mr. Clark was the Applicant in January 2013 for the 

modification order to the Definitive Map and Statement. 

 

 Use of the Application Land 

He uses the land at least once a week and sometimes everyday. He enters 

the land from the metalled footpath behind the Village Hall and goes in to 

the field into the Copse. He also walks across the field going in at point 1 

(having parked at Highfield Crescent) photo 23A – OB/A Tab or at 23B 

(there being a gap there during the time he has used the land). Under xx, 

                                                        
21 AB/A Tab 4 p. 41 

Page 327



 42 

Mr. Clark said that he mainly enters the land by the Village Hall but would 

have used all the entry points 1-4 at one time or another. 

 He varies the route for the dog walk so the dog doesn’t get bored. He goes 

all over the field with the part bordering Middleton Road that he used the 

most. Other uses included playing in the snow (see photo of 4 Feb 2009 at 

AB/A Tab 4 p. 51B) – but that was not often – in the north-western 

corner. Under xx he said that his walking of the dogs was not just as part 

of a trip to the shop  - it was not incidental to that, although he might 

combine the two sometimes. 

Mr. Clark said, under xx, that he would often be off the tracks on the field 

– to recover the training aid he used for the dogs or just walking across. 

He also said under xx that he did not remember the grass as being 2-3 ft 

long. He said he would seasonally see the grass longer but not to 2-3 ft. He 

further said that when the grass was dense he wouldn’t trample on it but 

the dogs would. He said also that when it was wet he would wear boots or 

wellingtons. 

Under xx, Mr. Clark was asked about his reference to keeping his dogs 

under control on the Application Land given his conviction for his dog, 

Kasha, not being under control and biting someone in Newquay in 

Cornwall (see OB/A at Tab 13 p.98B). As a result, the dog was put down. 

In re-ex he said that had never happened before and he was very 

conscious of safety as he had been bitten by an Alsatian when he was in 

his twenties. When it had become obvious what the problem was, the dog 

was put down. I make it clear that I have not considered this aspect 

relevant to my assessment of Mr. Clark’s evidence.  

 

 Use of the Application Land by others 

Mr. Clark said that he would almost always another person or people 

using the field and the Copse – typically with a dog or dogs and sometimes 

with children. He say Mrs. Kay, Mike Taylor. He would recognise other 

faces but not know their names. 

Page 328



 43 

He said that there was not much playing when people were crossing the 

land on the way to school but they were more relaxed on the way back 

home. The main route used for that was diagonally from the south-east 

corner to the north-west corner by Highfield Crescent.  

He said that the use was predominantly for dog walking but there were 

some other activities – people playing with children in the field and the 

copse. He considered the copse and the field all one of the same area. 

There were several exits from the Copse – including the end nearest 

Highfield Crescent. The Copse had hazel; there were hide outs but he was 

not sure whether his own sons made any of these.  

When I asked Mr. Clark about the split of use between the field and the 

copse, he said in more relaxed time there would be as many in the field as 

in the wood – you would often see youngsters in the field who might have 

been in the copse. 

 

 Signs and Challenges 

No permission was ever given and no one ever approached him to say 

that he shouldn’t be on the land. He didn’t see any signs until those that 

said “Private Property” (see p.76 of OB/A Tab 11). When asked in-chief 

what he would have thought if he has seen the wording on the 2009 signs 

(OB/A p.5) he said that he would have understood it as the landowner not 

wanting it to be used as a route. He said that he thought it might relate to 

quad bikes given the noise they make – if it becomes an unrestricted 

byway it can be used for all sorts of mechanized vehicles which chew up 

the ground and cause noise problems. However, he accepted (in answer 

to my question) that there had been no problem with quad bikes. 

Mr. Clark was taken in xx to the photos on pp.73 and 71 of OB/A Tabs 9 & 

10. He confirmed that he never saw the posts which were it was said up 

for 2 weeks in Feb 2009. “X marked the spot” (as Mr. Webster put it) on 

the photo on p.71 where Mr. Clark would walk closest to the post at the 

southern end of the field but he said that it was not his view point and 

that it was difficult to prove a negative. He was also taken to the 

Page 329



 44 

photographs (on p.75 of OB/A Tab 10) of the waste with post 2 (the 

northern post) and said that his mental picture would have been green 

waste. It was further suggested to him that the posts were prominent and 

unusual but he had said that he was not looking at it like a policeman on 

patrol. In re-ex (referred to photo at p. 74 of OB/A Tab 10), he said that he 

entered the field via the steps at that point and photo 2 (p.73) shows the 

sign is not visible to all in the field. 

 

 

4. CASE FOR THE OBJECTORS 

4.1 As indicated above (in Section 2), two Objections and three 

representations regarding the Application were received by the RA: 

 (1) Undated petition from residents of Highfield Crescent 

(2) Letter with enclosures from Mrs. P Sheppard dated 14 January 

2013. 

(3) Letter with enclosures from Mr. R Sheppard dated 27 April 3013 

(4)  Letter with enclosures from Mr. R Sheppard dated 30 April 2013 

(5) “Objector’s response” from Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard dated 27 

February 2013.22 

  

4.2 From the Objectors’ Response on behalf of Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard23, I 

summarise the key points of objection as follows: 

 Right of Way and not LSP 

(1) The Objector’s “primary contention” is that the Application Land is 

being used as a short cut from one side of the village to the other 

and that such user will not be referable to use as a green.24 

(2) The Application Land has been used extensively as a short cut 

(avoiding Middleton Road – which has no pavements) from one 

side of the village to the other. The locations of the Village Hall, the 

                                                        
22 AB B at Tab 14 
23 AB B at Tab 14 p.1. 
24 AB B at Tab 15 p.10 at (d). 

Page 330



 45 

Doctor’s surgery, the two pubs (the Lord Nelson and the Lion’s 

Head), two places of worship close to the Lion’s Head and the 

village shop should in particular be noted.25 

(3) However, in 1998 and 2008 statements, maps and statutory 

declarations were deposited under section 31(6) of the Highways 

Act 1980. The effect of this was to preclude within the periods 

mentioned in the section the existence of public rights of way over 

their land other than those currently noted in the Definitive Map 

and Statement (“DMS”). 

(4) Further, on 20 January 2012 those applying to register the land as 

a TVG applied under section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 to the County for an order modifying the DMS to record a 

number of new footpaths crossing the Application Land. 

(5) The village has other open spaces. 

(6) Brown’s Copse at around 7 acres (2.83 hectares) is not physically 

part of the land, although it is included in the Application Land. 

The public’s use of this wood is negligible. 

(7) On the advice of the Council in around February 2009, the 

Objectors erected two signs notifying that there was no public 

right of way across the land. The signs stated: 

WILTSHIRE 
COUNTY COUNCIL 

NO PUBLIC 
   RIGHT OF WAY 

                    THANK YOU  
 These signs could not fail to be seen by those walking across the 

Land. Unfortunately, the signs were forcibly removed within days 

and were found lying some distance away from their original 

locations. The posts were re-erected on 2 occasions. 

(8) On 4th April 2011 the Objectors ploughed the Application Land in 

order to make it more difficult for locals to trespass on the land – 

the ploughing was deliberately rough and only the most 

determined of walkers could use the field. The field was ploughed 

                                                        
25 See Objectors’ annotated aerial photograph at AB Tab 15 p.27. 

Page 331



 46 

again on 23 January 2012. On 16 April 2012, it was sown with 

linseed.  

(9) The Farm has been arable since the war and the last crop of wheat 

was in 1988 when the Application Land was placed in the set aside 

scheme. It was in that scheme until ploughed in 2011 and sown 

with linseed in 2012, as noted above. 

(10) The character of the land bears little or no resemblance to the 

ordinary perception of what one might consider to be a typical 

TVG and local inhabitants would be under no illusion of this. 

(11) The RA should consider the correspondence including the 

Residents’ Petition which refers to the Land being used by certain 

people as a dumping ground for their rubbish, dog walking area 

and as a short cut even though the area is adequately served by 

footpaths. 

(12) At the Parish Council meeting on 4 April 2013 5 individuals 

(including 2 Parish Councillors) said that they saw the “no right of 

way” signs in place in 2009 and the comment by Councillor Devine 

that because of the signage “his officers” would not be supporting 

the Application. 

 (13) With regard to the statutory criteria, the Objectors contend: 

(i) There has been no sufficient user by local residents. It 

would not have brought the existence of the claimed right 

to the attention of the landowner – a number of villagers 

have even written to the RA challenging the user relied 

upon by the Applicant. 

(ii) In an event, the overwhelming majority of the users were 

purportedly only exercising public rights of way on tracks 

crossing the Application Land as shown on the aerial 

photographs and the application to modify the DMS. 

 

 

 

Page 332



 47 

 

  User not been “as of right” 

(14) Use following access obtained through the fencing on the 

boundary with Highfield Crescent is non-qualifying as it is user by 

force. It is irrelevant that those taking advantage of the damaged 

fencing were not themselves responsible for causing the damage. 

(15) The user by force exclusion also applies where the use has been 

made contentious by the landowner erecting prohibitory signs or 

notices. This is the case with the signs erected in 2009, referred to 

above. Any notices must be sufficient to make clear that any use of 

the land was not consented to and would be regarded as a trespass 

– see Taylor v Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd [2012] EWCA 

Civ 250. The facts are readily distinguishable from R (Oxfordshire & 

Buckinghamshire Mental Health Foundation Trust and Oxford 

Radcliffe Hospitals NHS Trusts) v Oxfordshire County Council and 

others [2010] EWHC 530 (EWHC) (the Warneford Meadows case) 

In that case there had been a finding that the landowner had no 

objection to general public recreational access to that land as a 

whole – his objection was to the creation of public rights of way. 

The Objectors refer in particular to paragraphs [17]-[57] of the 

Judgment in that case. 

(16) On no sensible analysis of the facts, could the signs be said to be 

directed solely to the paths nearby and there is no reason why 

they could not be taken objectively to refer to recreational us of 

the whole of the Application Land, where the whole of the Land is 

affected by the section 31(6) deposits anyway. The notices only 

make sense if they refer to the Land as a whole and the fact that 

they were damaged by, it must be assumed, certain local 

inhabitants is very arguably indicative of the fact that such persons 

considered such signs to relate to more than just rights of way on 

the paths. The land owners ought to have appreciated from the 

Page 333



 48 

notices that the landowners were objecting to and contesting their 

whole use of the Application Land. 

(17) The Objectors reserve the right to argue that any objection on their 

part to a lesser burden on the land must have by implication and 

without more included objection to the greater burden 

notwithstanding what was said about this at [55] in the Warneford 

Meadows case. 

(18) The Objectors also argue that the claimed user gave rise to an 

implied licence.  

 

4.3 The evidence provide by the Objectors to the Inquiry (found in Objectors’ 

Bundle A – OB/A) included: 

(1) Plan showing existing public rights of way, informal tracks, 

housing policy area in relation to the Application Land: OB/A Tab 

3. The wider rights of way in the Parish are shown on the plan at 

OB/A Tab 4. 

(2) Aerial and ground photographs of the Application Land: OB-A Tab 

5 pp.21-23. Photograph showing local amenities: OB/A Tab6 p.24. 

(3) Section 31(6) Declarations: OB/A Tab7 

(4) Application by Barry Clark for a Modification Order under section 

53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

(5) Aerial photograph showing the position of the two posts and the 4 

signs erected by the Objectors: OB/A Tab 9 p.71 

(6) Photographs of the posts: OB/A Tab10 pp.73-75. 

(7) Photographs of the 4 signs: OB/A Tab 11 pp.76-80 

(8) Minutes of meetings of Winterslow PC: OB/A Tab 12 

(9) Statements of Objectors’ witnesses attending the Inquiry: OB/A 

Tab 13 

(10) Statements and letters from witnesses not attending the Inquiry: 

OB/A Tab 14. 

 

4.4 The Objector called the following witnesses: 

Page 334



 49 

John Fry 

Rosemary Hazard 

Steven Dixon 

Sally Loader 

Clive Broadly  

Michael Yates 

Janet Fry 

Angela Sillence 

David Read 

Richard Sheppard 

Patricia Sheppard 

 

I now summarise the main points from the evidence of these witnesses. 

As for the Applicant’s witnesses, I use the following abbreviations: 

 EQ:   Evidence Questionnaire  

In-chief:  Evidence given in-chief 

XX:    Cross-examination by the opposing advocate 

 Re-ex:   Re-examination by the witness’ advocate 

 

 John Fry26 

Mr. Fry of Nestyn, Middleton is a retired builder and funeral director who 

was borne in West Winterslow. He owned the Lion’s Head Public from 

1991-2007 (but only lived there to 1994). As a teenager, he lived with his 

parents at his current address. He said there was a butcher’s shop on the 

corner of Middleton Road and the Causeway until about 1995. Under xx, it 

was suggested to him that none of the addresses that he had lived at 

(having been in the village all of his life) overlooked the Application Land. 

Mr. Fry agreed that was so during the relevant period. Mr. Fry stated that 

he was against the  taking of people’s land. 

 

 Knowledge of the Application Land 

                                                        
26 OB/A Tab 13 p.100/101 

Page 335



 50 

He was very familiar with the field, he said. He was involved in 

development. He moved the post office 2004/5 from Middleton Road 

(near to Stern Close). He did all the maintenance for the Parish Council 

and the Church.  

Mr. Fry said that there was always a fence across the field at Highfield 

Crescent. The Village hall was completed in 1991. Sometimes he would 

walk across the field – under xx, he accepted that although he knew it was 

private land he saw others doing it. He said that use (by him) was not very 

frequent. He was aware that he was trespassing as was everyone else in 

the village. From Middleton Road he would walk up to Woodlands Drive. 

Referring to the aerial photograph at OB/A Tab 5 p.23, Mr. Fry said that 

the land was wet in the winter; there was a watercourse that went 

straight through the middle to the Village Hall – there was often a 

watercourse on the other routes which was like a rive and unable to walk 

them. So, he would normally use the diagonal route, as that was the driest. 

Now and again he would take his dog to the land. 

Under xx, he said that the land had always been known as private 

property. He didn’t particularly find using it was a short cut and it was 

easier in the dark to use the path. He said that his most common route 

was along Middleton Road to the pub in the car. It was suggested to him 

that the view from Middleton Road was not good, given the thick 

hedgerow. He said that he also walked down the school path behind (to 

the west of) the copse. He said he had glimpses of the field but he didn’t 

pay particular attention. He said there might have been one or two people 

on the land. When asked whether it could have been more, Mr. Fry replied 

“No”. He did see children playing in copse but not on the field. There were 

ropes up in the trees in the Copse for years but no one ever trusted them 

– they have not been used for years. He said at least 2 were put up. He 

said that he walked alongside the copse but didn’t go in unless it was dry.  

With regard to the Village Hall which he locked up that closes at 10 pm at 

the latest, when there is no dance. It often closes earlier – sometimes at 5 

or 6pm (on 2 nights) or 8pm (on 2 nights).  

Page 336



 51 

Under xx, he clarified that he walked the dog more now as he had more 

time. Up until 2011, he did not do so very often – probably only once a 

week. He would only go onto the field in 1 in 20 walks, as he knew he was 

trespassing and it was wet. 

Mr. Fry referred (in-chief) to a 1990s’ meeting, saying that he was one of 

the few that stood up for Mr. Sheppard when there was a planning 

application for 25 houses in the bottom right hand corner of the field by 

the telephone box. Mr. Fry said that he spoke up not for the housing but it 

was common knowledge that this is a development village. That was 

decided in the 1950s. Highfield Crescent Council Housing was built in the 

1950s. Mr. Fry again emphasized that everyone knew that it was private 

property. He said that 2/3 of the village trade was in his pub for drink and 

food and everyone knew. 

When the land was set aside, Mr. Fry said, the grass was wispy but grew 

to about 2-3ft high. It was not for hay/silage. He said the paths were 

always there, although he was not sure when photo on p. 71 (OB/A Tab 9) 

was taken. – he was told that it was about 2007. He said that he was 

building a garage at that time to the west of the copse and he had to 

remove footings. He asked Mr. Sheppard if he could he go across his field 

with his dumper truck to the Village Hall. So, he went into Yarnley Road 

then into Highfield Close, through the gap in the fence (see photo 23B in 

OB/A Ta5) – down the field along the front of the copse then through the 

gap behind the Village Hall.  

The wood was coppiced regularly. Different parts were done but there 

was something (in terms of coppicing) going on in most years. It was 

complete about every 10 years. 

  

 Use of the Application Land by others 

Before 2007-2011 it was basically a dog toilet used by very few people. 

Same people used it all the time; it was used regularly by very few people. 

Others would walk across it with their dogs. 

Page 337



 52 

Under xx, Mr. Fry accepted that people walked across the land on the 

paths. He said that all he was disputing was that they knew that they were 

trespassing. 

Mr. Fry said, under xx, that if the dogs got to the fields they used it as a 

toilet and most did it in the Village Hall. It was suggested to him that 

people were using the land for dog walking and most people would park 

in the Village Hall car park to do so. Mr. Fry replied  “Yes – to let them go 

to the toilet.” When it was put to him that there was nothing wrong with 

that, Mr. Fry said that they were driving to the Village Hall, letting the dog 

out and back into the car and off they would go.  

Mr. Fry was asked about the dog bin on the edge of the field by the Village 

Hall. He said that had been pulled out of concrete. It was put there 

because of dog mess up the path. 

Mr. Fry agreed, under xx, that he had seen children playing on the fields. 

He said some had probably been on the bikes. He said that he had seen 

them a couple of times over 20 years. It was put to him that this was 

despite only walking his dog on the field 1 in 20 times (not going very 

often) and that it was reasonable to assume that at other times there 

would have been bikes. 

It was put to Mr. Fry that even though the land was private it was still 

used by people knowing that Mr. Sheppard tolerated it. Mr. Fry said that 

Mr. Sheppard was too nice a person and he (Mr. Fry) would say to him 

that he should get some pigs to stop people using the land. He was too 

nice a person to approach people to stop them. 

 Mr. Fry said that was only one informal path initially, in 1991. 

 

 Signs and Fences 

Mr. Fry said that around the area there were plenty of signs all over. He 

was referred to the photographs showing the 2009 posts at pp. 71-74 of 

OB/A Tabs 10 & 11. He said that he saw the posts. When asked in-chief 

whether he looked at the sign he replied ”Not particularly. I didn’t need 

Page 338



 53 

to. It was obvious what it said – Keep Out or Private Property. I knew 

that.” He said further that the posts were prominent but the Notice was 

not. He didn’t bother to read it or, if he did, he couldn’t remember what it 

said. He said that you couldn’t miss the post. Mr. Fry also said that these 

were not the first signs and that there were always signs. They were 

always torn up, he said, after a short time. However, when referred to the 

picture of the 2009 post in the waste heap Mr. Fry said that he did not 

know anything about that but could remember seeing it in the rubbish. 

He was asked about the larger more recent “Private Property” signs (see 

p.76 of OB/A Tab 11) and said that there had been concern about the 

wording on the bottom, which referred to chemicals having been applied 

to the land, so that part was obliterated. 

He accepted that there were no fences save for the one by Highlands 

Crescent. 

Under xx, it was suggested that he had said that he had seen both posts 

even though he only went on the land rarely and the signs were only 

there weeks. When asked about what he thought the 2009 signs said, he 

confirmed that he thought they said Keep Out/Private Property. He said 

that he was sure that he saw the posts and that he also saw the signs in 

the rubbish. 

When asked in xx about the other signs that he had seen, Mr. Fry said that 

was after 1991. It was put to Mr. Fry that Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard do not 

say they put up any signs other than the 2009 ones and the later Private 

Property signs. Mr. Fry reiterated that there had been several signs over 

the years. He said that there had always been a lot of talk about 

development on this land. He said there were White signs saying Private 

Keep Out in the woods and on the land. He said that a man who had 3 

Dulux dogs and who had lived next to the track near the steps. He said the 

signs were pulled up within a matter of days – he didn’t know how long 

they were up. Kids came into the pub, Mr. Fry said, and laughed about it. It 

was then put to Mr. Fr that the recent Private Property signs were still 

there and he replied that they were certainly a lot better than before. 

Page 339



 54 

 

 

 Rosemary Hazard27 

Mrs. Hazard lives at Highfield Crescent – 4 houses up from the location of 

OB/A Tab 5 p.108. She worked part-time from 2000 as a caretaker for the 

PC. 

 

 Knowledge of the Application Land 

With regard to the fencing near her home, there has always been fencing 

– sometimes it was filled and sometimes broken. The rest of the fence was 

sometimes broken but repaired by residents. Mrs. Hazard said that she 

walked through the gap in the fence in 1987 but she couldn’t be sure 

whether wire up or down. She couldn’t remember from when the fence 

was permanently open but it was a long time ago, say 10 years. She said 

that in 2004 there probably was a fence and before then it had been in 

place – probably after when Mr. Fry went through with his dumper truck. 

There is a fence now but you can’t walk through because of brambles. She 

said that it was probably when the field was set aside and people went 

through. She said that she imagined that people forced their way through. 

She said it was in tact in 1988. 

Under xx, Mrs. Hazard said she couldn’t remember whether there were 

two strands in 1987 when she climbed through. She reiterated that she 

thought the gap was open from when the land was set aside as people 

were coming and going in and out, including the walking bus. 

Mrs. Hazard said that she used the land to walk her two dogs after 1991. 

She entered through the gap, when she worked at the Central Stores, and 

walked straight across the land. Under xx, she said that she worked there 

for 36 years  (from 9-12, 1-5 for 4 days a week; she looked after her 

grandson on Fridays). She walked down the side of the copse and back up 

on the tarmac path (to the west of the copse). When the field went back 

into cultivation, she went down the school path and into another scrubby 
                                                        
27 OB/A Tab 14 p.108 

Page 340



 55 

field. She never saw anyone cutting the fence (and was working until 

2008). It was put to Mrs. Hazard in xx that the fencing was to fence off the 

Estate and not the field. Under xx also, Mrs. Hazard said that she wouldn’t 

go through the Copse – she would however go in from the school path 

onto the land and other people went into the wood too. She said that 

some cone from other areas to see the blue bells. She said that you get a 

nice view from the path; she said at the top end was beech trees – and 

oak, holly, ash and some hazel. She said that it was very pretty and people 

go in and enjoy the clearings. There was other wildlife, she agreed, such as 

celandines, anemones and primroses and also wild raspberries and crab 

apples. She said there always rope in the woods but she said not a swing – 

she said it is not very often that it has sticks at the end. She said that more 

often than not the “bigger kids” (teenagers) throw the rope back up into 

the tree.  Teenagers and younger children would use the swings. She said 

that she didn’t see people picking blackberries but they obviously would – 

it is clear that people are picking these (in dog pooh corner). 

She was referred in her xx to her statement where she states that the land 

has not been used for sports and pastimes. She accepted that people walk 

dogs; she never saw any kite flying or blackberry picking, as said above. It 

was not a very big area – corner piece. She said that she only sees children 

playing in the field on her day off. She added that right opposite the 

School is a playground with a roundabout, swings – hundreds use that 

and fly kites. You wouldn’t do that in a field when you don’t know what 

was in there, she said. It was then put to Mrs. Hazard that she would have 

been at work. 

Under xx, Mrs. Hazard said that she walked the dog in the morning. She 

said that she was using it on a daily basis until 2011. She would have used 

it on occasions (but not often) to go to the P.O. and the Doctor’s Surgery.  

  

 

 

 

Page 341



 56 

 Use of the Application Land 

Mrs. Hazard was referred to the tracks on photo 23 (OB/A Tab 5 p.23) 

and was asked whether that was the way people walked. She answered 

“that is where people came in”. 

Under xx, she confirmed that in one year local authority contractors came 

in from the bottom and did a wide, smooth diagonal path and up to 

Woodland Drive and Highland Crescent and did a swathe on the scrubby 

fields off the school path. 

She agreed that there were lots of dog walkers. She said that they parked 

at the Village Hall and the dogs went off through gate into the field and 

always did “a quick job”. There were 4 on a daily basis. They came 

specially to the land with their dogs. She said the grass could be long but 

others went through it, although she didn’t because of the burrs and you 

didn’t know what you were walking through. She also referred to the dip 

in the land along Middleton road – she it was quite a dip that got very wet. 

She said in the morning there were more people on the land as they 

would walk through the field on the way to school. Not everyone was with 

children so not all people were going to school. She accepted that some 

were just walking a dog on the field. In re-ex, Mrs. Hazard said people 

walking their dogs were mainly going up the middle of the field and 

possibly through the Crescent as nearest to the school – people were 

mainly using the tracks. 

When asked whether there were lots of paths, she said that she didn’t 

recall as many as shown the plan at AB/A Tab 8 p.40A.  

  

 Signs 

Mrs. Hazard recalled the post 1 at the bottom of the field (See p.73 bottom 

photo) but not the other post. She said that she didn’t read the sign when 

it was in the ground but did when it was thrown into the bracken. When 

she was asked what she understood the sign to mean, Mrs. Hazard said  

“the same as everybody else” - no trespassers on this land. She knew that 

the Sheppards’ own the land – friends –she has known him since they 

Page 342



 57 

were teenagers. She was asked whether she had seen the top post but she 

said that she didn’t see it. She was also asked why she didn’t read the 

wording on the other post whilst it was standing – she said that it was out 

of her way. It was suggested to her that it might be because of the small 

lettering. In re-ex, Mrs. Hazard said that that she thought that she was 

likely to see the post at the top end of the field, as it was a quite tall round 

post.  

Under xx Mrs. hazard said that she did recall the post in the field for 3 

days – it was put up and then disappeared. She could remember how long 

the post was up for the second tine it is still where it is lying now. She said 

that she thought that the signs related to the whole area. The village, she 

said, is very likely to love that wood and I had been Richard I would have 

fenced it off. It was then put to her that he didn’t fence it off and tolerated 

the use of it. Mrs. Hazard responded that he was a good man, a Christian 

and a gentleman. Then it was put to her that he did tolerate people 

playing on the ropes in the woods and Mrs. Hazard said “yes”. 

 

 

Steven Dixon28 

Mr. Dixon has lived in Winterslow all of his life, since 1962. He now lives 

in Livery Road and has done since 1991. He had been told by Mr. 

Sheppard that he had put signs up before (before the recent “Private 

Property” signs) but that they didn’t last long. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

Mr. Dixon can’t see the Application Land from his property. He passes the 

land most days. He had worked just past the Old Post Office a couple of 

times – 4 to 5 years ago – in say 2010. He had two jobs lasting one week in 

total. He parked in his drive. He could see into the field (see photo 23H in 

OB/A Tab 5). 

 

                                                        
28 OB/A Tab 13 p.103 

Page 343



 58 

He had topped Mr. Sheppard’s field at their house every now and then 

and put a fence back up in the summer. He said that he would do it as Mr. 

Sheppard is such an honest and straight man. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

He only ever sees dog walkers on the field – they walk all over the place 

like the tracks that they had. 

 

 

Sally Loader29 

Mrs. Loader has lived at her current address in Highfield Crescent since 

1989. Her house is directly opposite Mr. Crossland (on Middleton Road on 

the other side of the field), half-way between points 1 and 2 (photo on 

p.23A of OB/A Tab 5). She has been in the village since 1965. Her mother 

had lived in the village since then too. She walked to hers on the diagonal 

path from the Crescent – she wouldn’t have gone through the fence. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

She has a view from her kitchen window out onto the field and also views 

from front bedroom, landing and the front door. She was aware that it 

was agricultural land owned by Mr. Sheppard. Under xx, she 

acknowledged the conifer tree in front of her kitchen window and 

accepted that it was green all year round. She said that she can see either 

side of it and that it covers the middle third of the window. She said that 

she doesn’t think that it was there 20 years ago but has been there for the 

last 10 years possibly. Under xx, also she said that she couldn’t see what 

was happening in the Copse from her home.  

The field had been in arable use when she lived in Hibernus in Middleton 

Road, which is close directly to what is now Woodland Drive, but was 

then just scrubland. She does not own a dog. Once a year she has walked 

her son’s unsocial dogs as there is a fast route away. She was aware of 
                                                        
29 OB/A Tab 14 p.120 

Page 344



 59 

Mandy who had been referred to. She parked in the Village Hall and 

waked across the middle of the field at lunchtimes as she only had a lunch 

hour so it was not a long drawn out walk. She has also used the land as a 

shortcut going from the gap at 23B by the grit bin down to the gateway 

just below the telephone box in the other corner. 

In the summer, the grass grew to at least 2-3ft. high. 

Since 4 August 2014, she has worked at the Central Store in the village. In 

Feb 2009, she was working in Salisbury in a residential home for people 

with cerebral palsy. She left home at 6.30 am. One day she would leave at 

2pm and get back at 10pm. She did alternate weekends. August 2008-Feb 

2009, she was home. From March 1996 to August 2008 she had worked 

for Friends Provident in Salisbury; 7am to 3pm and home by 3.30pm. She 

had bank holidays and every weekend off. Before 1996 she worked for 

Cadburys for approximately 2 years and would leave home at 8.30am and 

be back home by 5pm generally for 4 days a week.  

 

Use of the Application Land 

She said her children were 10 and 8 years old when they moved into 

Highfield Crescent and would have been more likely to have been in the 

recreation ground, which now has a skateboard track. She said, in answer 

to my question, that in 1989/91 the recreation ground in the village had a 

roundabout and not much else and no skateboard track then but was flat 

and grassed and more suitable for cycling. 

She was asked, under xx, about her statement that the land was never 

used for sports and pastimes. Mrs. Loader said that she didn’t know what 

is included in lawful sports and pastimes. She said that the most 

consistent use of the land is for dog walking because you don’t have to 

pick up the mess. She walked her son’s dogs but she wouldn’t come across 

small children but did frequently see other dogs. People both with dogs 

on and off the lead would stick to the paths, she said. She did see people 

throwing toys (fairly in frequently) for the dogs and by and large the dogs 

would retrieve those objects.  

Page 345



 60 

She said that it is the bottom by the doctor’s surgery and Village Hall 

where the children played – it was flatter there and easier to use. 

She said that she used the copse fairly infrequently but she would have 

looked at the bluebells. She had seen a rope swing in the wood – near the 

bottom end, which is the flattest part but she had not seen children 

playing in the copse. More recently she had walked with her 

grandchildren in the copse but had not seen anyone else.  

There were blackberries along the northern edge of the copse but not on 

the eastern side and she was no not aware of sloes on the field. 

 

Signs and Fencing 

She didn’t recall the state of the fencing at 23B in 1989. She started 

crossing the field probably from 1989 onwards. She said that she 

wouldn’t have gone through the fence as she had a perfectly good 

footpath. What broke it was the number of people going under it. 

There have been signs. They were never of any importance to her as she 

didn’t think that she had any right to be in that field. She didn’t remember 

reading post 1 on p.73 ( OB/A Tab 10) and she suspects that she would 

not have done so. She would probably have read the post (photo 4) at 

northern end off Woodland Drive but it wouldn’t have given her any 

surprises. She said that she assumed that it was saying something to the 

effect not a right of way. There is a difference, Mrs. Loader said, between 

no RoW and you will be prosecuted if trespassing. I suppose, she added, 

that it was just an acknowledgement that not a RoW and the public not 

supposed to be on the land. Under xx, she accepted that there is a 

difference between a sign that said no RoW and one that said no 

trespassing and since the latest set of signs she had not set a foot on the 

land. She would not have claimed a RoW, as she has always known the 

land as agricultural land belonging to a farmer. She accepted that the 

2009 signs wouldn’t have meant to her that the owner would not tolerate 

dog walking as had been tolerated before; and she didn’t think the signs 

meant that people couldn’t go into the copse and look at the bluebells. So 

Page 346



 61 

she and others continued to use the land as before until the Red Signs 

(2012 – Private Property) went up and by and large the usage has 

stopped. 

 

 

Clive Broadley30 

Mr. Broadley moved to the village in 1976 and lived there ever since, 

having originally lived just off The Flood in Middleton Road. His current 

address is in Youngs Paddock and he can’t see the land from there. He 

said in his written statement that he had only heard the Application Land 

referred to as Richard Sheppard’s Field and the woodland area as Brown’s 

Copse or the Bluebell Wood or just the Copse. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

He walked his dog in the field but, he said earlier in his evidence, not 

frequently (but see below). He had crossed the land on route to the shop 

or going to the recreation ground to play. 

He said that they took their children to watch the land being harvested.  

He uses the land roughly monthly but he would have sight of the bottom 

end of the land because of the route he took. He also said that he used the 

land reasonably frequently primarily as a short cut. He used it as a 

shortcut going between the two posts put up in 2009. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

When asked under xx whether people used the land straight away after it 

was set aside, Mr. Broadly said that he could not remember. He did see 

others walking their dogs on the land when he went there. He walked his 

dog in the evenings and occasionally at the weekend but not normally. He 

did see people throwing balls and toys etc for their dogs. He said that 

there was not necessarily someone there evening times walking their 

                                                        
30 OB/A Tab 13 p.105 

Page 347



 62 

dogs. He didn’t see those that park in the Village Hall and walk there dogs 

but they do now. 

He would see children sometimes crossing the land to the wood but not 

playing football. He would see them occasionally (but not in an organised 

sense) fooling around in the field but they do that in many other fields in 

the village. When asked how frequent children tobogganing was, he said 

that he didn’t know but he would have thought that was pretty rare. He 

said that it was a farming community. 

He has only seen one rope in the Copse and that was periodically thrown 

up into the trees. At one point Mr. Broadley said that the rope swings 

were there more recently – in the last couple of years. Mr. Broadley said 

that he had seem them on one particular beech tree off the path. He said 

that there were now more pathways. He had seen dens in the wood but 

never seen children playing in them.  

He said that it was different now as it used to be extensively coppiced. He 

said (under xx) that the coppicing of the wood had stopped in the last 4 

years or maybe slightly earlier than that. In re-ex, he said that the 

coppicing opened up the woods. 

He also said that the use has been broadly the same over the 20 years and 

that was pretty much confined to dog walking. 

 

Signs and Fences 

Mr. Broadley said that Mr. Sheppard maintained (cut) the hedgerows and 

boundaries – the fence down the side of Middleton Road was badly 

dilapidated. He didn’t personally see Mr. Sheppard putting up fencing. 

There are fence posts in Woodland Drive along the footpath. The fence 

had pretty much fallen into disrepair by 1988 – there were remnants – he 

never saw repairs from 1988 onwards, not that he could recall. 

He saw the two 2009 posts when he was short-cutting across the land (as 

referred to above). He remembers the words “No Public Right of Way”. 

When put to him in xx, he said that he personally does not distinguish 

Page 348



 63 

between trespass and No PRoW. He said, when asked again under xx, that 

after he saw those signs he did not continue to use the land but others did, 

he said. He was asked whether he had heard Mrs. Loader’s evidence that 

people continued to use the land and her interpretation, Mr. Broadley said 

that was not his interpretation of the signs. He accepted that the 2012 Red 

signs were “certainly clearer – larger” – it was put to him that there were 

4 such signs with larger, longer wording. Mr. Broadley said that the “No 

PROW” signs were clear too. When asked how long the posts were in situ, 

he said that he couldn’t remember but he remembered them 

disappearing. 

Mr. Broadley said that his own interpretation was that the 2009 signs 

applied to the field 

Mr. Broadley accepted that it was toleration by the owner of people using 

the land uninvited. 

 

 

Michael Yates31 

Mr. Yates was born in the village in 1947 and used to live in the Red Lion 

Public House. He currently resides with his wife in Highfield Crescent. 

Most of the time, he said, he was at work. When it was put to Mr. Yates, in 

xx, that the statement was his and his wife’s, Mr. Yates said that was so 

and he told his wife what to put down – she would go to Woodland Drive 

to cut a lady’s hair. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

He could see about ¾ of the field from his home in Highfield Crescent. 

There were no trees in his view. 

The Council cut the grass in Highfield Crescent 6-7 times a year. 

His parents live nearby and he has walked over the land maybe 6 times. 

He said that he normally drives because he is lazy. 

                                                        
31 OB/A Tab 13 p. 102 

Page 349



 64 

When pressed on how long this went on for, Mr. Yates said he couldn’t 

remember walking there that many times. It was put to Mr. Yates that he 

said that he was not there for more than a couple of minutes. He 

explained that he had worked (until made redundant in 2008/9) at 

Porton Down on its maintenance and he left the house at 6.30 am and 

home by 16.45 Monday to Friday. He didn’t work very often on Saturdays 

other than for about an hour – so basically he saw the land at the 

weekend. He said that there has always been one main path through the 

Copse. He has seen rope swings in the Copse but no one was playing on 

them at the time. The kids have got to go somewhere in the summer 

holidays. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

In his letter, he stated that during the 20 years 1991-2011 the land has 

never been used for organized activities or pastimes. He also said in that 

letter that the land got used as a short cut for many people, when it was 

set aside. Most people that walked across the field were not born and 

bread in the village. Also most were dog walkers too lazy to pick up their 

dog mess. 

He saw no one playing – no children. He saw people going straight down 

fields on bikes – but couldn’t see the bottom. He has seen kids coming to 

and from the Copse with mattresses for their dens. He has been there 

several times. When Mr. Sheppard’s father was about, he would just clip 

them on the ear; that is what it was like then, Mr. Yates added. 

People walked dogs on there too. There were loads of dog walkers, Mr. 

Yates said (under xx – and clarified in answer to my question that was at 

weekends), but he never saw anyone throwing objects for them. Some 

people used to park in the Crescent to walk their dogs, notwithstanding 

the signs. He caught a couple of lads during the summer holidays with a 

bonfire, which he reported to the Council. He had noticed recently dog 

walking early in the morning (7am) and in the evening. There used to be a 

chain link fence, which was cut. Mr. Yates said that he could hear children 

Page 350



 65 

in the Copse but not on the field. They mainly play in the Copse in the 

summer time (when the mattresses were taken there) and he had never 

seen much outside that time. In the winter it would be wet and muddy. 

He had seen blackberrying in the corner (the right hand side from where 

he lives). There are good years and bad years for this. 

 

Signs and Fences 

Mr. Yates said that the field had a fence all the way along near Highfield 

Crescent in 1988 – used to be a fence on the north side of Daddy King’s 

Path. After then, it was cut by someone, but he didn’t know whom. Under 

xx, it was suggested to Mr. Yates that the fence at the top of Highfield 

Crescent, which was put in by the Council, was to stop people walking 

into the Crescent. He replied that it was also to stop people walking onto 

the field. It was then put to him that it was about keeping the Crescent 

tidy rather than keeping people off the field and he agreed. He agreed that 

he took pride in his garden. 

The District Council used to come across the Common. They gang mowed 

the land about a year or a year and a half after the field was set aside. He 

wasn’t sure how soon this happened after the land was set aside bit it 

may have been 1 year or 1 year and a bit. The gap in the fence was 

restored but within a few weeks it was torn down. They put a wooden 

post in. Looking at photo 23B he said that he had repaired it once himself 

with wire. He said that he had also repaired the fence outside his own 

property (which is about 100 yards from that gap) several times and still 

did.  

He said that he had seen a sign by Woodland Drive (photo 4 on p.74 at 

OB/A Tab 10) but couldn’t remember one by the Village Hall. He said that 

it was not there for long and he didn’t read it. He said it doesn’t look as 

though there is anything on that post. When shown the photographs on 

p.75 of OB/A, he said that it looks like the same post. He had heard about 

what the signs say from other people. Several people talked to him about 

the posts. When asked (in-chief) what was common knowledge about the 

Page 351



 66 

posts, Mr. Yates said that he had no idea – it was just private land – people 

already knew that it was private land, he replied. Mr. Yates said, under xx, 

he took no notice of the signs on the posts, he knew that it was private 

property. It was only when the bigger ones went up that he took notice. 

When it was suggested to him that the Sheppards were allowing people to 

use the land (they were tolerating the use), Mr. Yates said “Yes, they are 

good people. I don’t know who took that decision.” He said that he rarely 

saw them, just now and again walking down the back path –“I couldn’t tell 

what he was thinking”, Mr. Yates added. 

Under xx he said that there were little bits of rubbish when the post was 

there. He said that he still sees the post, although there were bits of waste 

– bottles etc. When it was suggested that perhaps his recollection was not 

that strong, Mr. Yates said that he can only remember seeing it maybe 

once. He reiterated that he did not see the post at the bottom of the field – 

he said the bottom ½ of the field he couldn’t – he couldn’t see the Village 

Hall. 

He said that he knew the land belonged to Richard (Sheppard) and, if he 

had told him to stay away, Mr. Yates would have done so – “as simple as 

that”. When asked whether his impression was that they were tolerating 

the use, Mr. Yates said that people were still walking across the land. He 

never used the land once the 2012 Red Lettered signs went up – before 

that he said that he used the land about ½ dozen times a year.  

 

 

Janet Fry32 

Janet Fry lives were her husband, who also gave evidence as recorded 

above, in Middleton Road. She has lived in Winterslow continuously since 

1978. It should be noted that Mrs. Fry commented on the new 

photographs from the Applicant (63B-63F), which were withdrawn and 

are not now relied upon, so I do not record that part of her evidence. She 

                                                        
32 OB/A Tab 14 p.118 

Page 352



 67 

looked after the Village Hall for 2 years from 2007-09/10 and spent a lot 

of time there. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

She is a dog owner and has walked around the land for the last 50 years. 

As she also says in her statement, since the land was set aside in about 

1991 people have walked across it as trespassers and she has not 

witnessed any games or organised activities on the land. 

She visited her parents in Highfield Crescent every day. She parked there 

(to take them out) on a fortnightly basis. She also drove for LINK, so went 

past that entrance regularly.   

 

Use of the Application Land 

She had never seen people throw toys for the dogs on the land. She said 

that she had walked across the land twice or three times but not with the 

dog. She went to open the Village Hall at 7.45 am and saw people letting 

their dogs out in the morning. They were only on the land for 10 minutes. 

2 of those were regular in the main. Mrs. Fry said that you would see 

people in Highfield Crescent parking – only one car or person walked her 

dog religiously there.  

She accepted that people were doing it on a daily basis and that Mr. 

Sheppard tolerated this but he was not very happy about it, she said, as 

they had had conversations about it.  

She said that she had been into the Copse – she looked to see where the 

swings were and she saw one blue rope wrapped around a beech tree. She 

said that she hadn’t seen swings in the past. She said that, if she walked 

through the Copse, she had gone through the main path. With the 

grandchildren, she went on the School path. She has not seen children 

playing in the Copse but she had heard them. She has seen the bluebells 

(out for 6 weeks). There was a different way in those days. When asked 

about dens in the wood, Mrs. Fry said that she had seen lots of rubbish – 

corrugated metal, pieces of wood. She  didn’t recall dens as Mr. Yates had 

Page 353



 68 

referred to. She would go into the Copse about every 10 days and walked 

the area probably 3 times a week. 

She had seen sloe picking on the edge of Highfield Crescent over towards 

the north side of the Copse – they were white in the Spring. You could see 

this from the Highfield houses. 

Under xx, Mrs. Fry said that people would have used the School path to go 

to school and, when it was put to her that lots of people had described 

going back and forth along the diagonal path, Mrs. Fry said that she would 

not describe it as lots. She said that no body would see anyone cross that 

field on a daily basis. She said 20 or 30 dog walkers a day (as was put to 

her in xx) was too high. 

 

Signs and Fences 

She said that she would not have come across the post at the Village Hall 

end. She knew the top area very well. Her parents lived at 8 Highlands 

Crescent until her father died in 1994. When she had lived in the 

Causeway she would use Daddy King’s Path. When shown photo 23B 

(showing the gap in the fence) she said that she knew exactly where that 

is, as she parked there if she collected her parents. She said that there was 

always a fence but it was cut through, although she never waked through 

there herself.  She said (in chief) that she recalled it when it was closed up 

not long after seeing it open. She remembers it being cut again. Mrs. Fry 

said that it hade been left open for quite some time since then. Under xx, 

Mrs. Fry said that she couldn’t remember from when it was open but that 

it was closed when the land was in cultivation. She said that she didn’t 

think that people realised that it was set aside (which happened in 1988) 

for some years. From 1990, it was put to Mrs. Fry in xx, use of the land by 

people walking started. She said that she couldn’t recall walking until 

later. Also under xx, she said that the Council mended the fence several 

times – she said that later she notice green wire but she couldn’t say when 

that was – it was a long time ago to remember.  

Page 354



 69 

Under xx, Mrs. Fry said that she had seen other signs put up before the 

posts and bigger than the posts but not as big as the 2012 Private 

Property signs in red letters. When they were removed, she said that she 

did inform Mr. Sheppard. Everyone knew that it was private land and it 

was morally wrong, Mrs. Fry said. There was plenty of free space in the 

village and the land doesn’t need to be used. She said that she was giving 

evidence for the owner and community, as that they don’t all agree with 

WOOD – she didn’t know who they were. She said that there was strong 

feelings in the village, as she did a lot of community work. People are 

reluctant to give evidence. When asked about the other spaces, Mrs. Fry 

referred to Shripple Play Park (a large area she said), Stone Close, Barry’s 

Field and the Tennis Court. It was put to her that you can’t walk dogs on 

these areas – Mrs. Fry said that you could in the recreation ground. She 

also said that the Application land is not a dog walk – dogs walk 3 miles a 

day and people just used to let dogs go to the toilet.  

She was asked about the wording on the 2009 signs. She said that it was 

obvious that you would be stopped if you went that way. She said that she 

only saw the southern post in the hedge and not standing. She agreed that 

it must have been removed within a couple of days otherwise she would 

have seen it, as she walked that way (p.71 Post 1). She agreed that the 

writing on the sign was very small. She said that what a landowner should 

do is put signs up regularly saying Private Land and Mr. Sheppard did 

that. It was put to her that it said “No PROW” and that was ambiguous – 

Mrs. Fry said “Is it? She was asked that given there so many paths, which 

one is being referred to?  

 

 

Angela Sillence33 

Mrs. Sillence has lived in Bentley Way since September 2010. Before then 

she lived in Roman Road and has been part of the Winterslow Community 

                                                        
33 OB/A Tab 13 p.103 

Page 355



 70 

since 1963 when she moved to Winterslow with her parents. She moved 

back into the village in 2004 from Firsdown. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

It is not land that she had walked on or used. She had no view of the land 

from her house but she drives past it every day both ways along 

Middleton Road. When it was suggested to her in xx that there is thick 

hedgerow, she responded that was in the Summer and it was quite open 

when all the leaves had gone and when winter comes. She accepted that it 

was pretty dense but that there were gaps, although she accepted that 

you couldn’t see through into the field in the Summer. She said she could 

have glimpses into the field but accepted that she would not know what 

was going on the rest of the field. 

She had not been into the Copse for many years or on the School path. 2 

years ago, she said, she walked past the Copse and saw bluebells. She had 

never seen  the Copse in such a mess – full of footprints – this was early in 

2010. Before that, it was long before 1991 that she had seen it and the 

Copse was beautiful and well coppiced. She never went into the Copse. 

She saw hazel cut back and bluebells there. She couldn’t remember large 

trees. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

She said there were no organised sports or activities on the land. She had 

never seen people dog walking even though she had driven by everyday 

for years. She couldn’t remember people walking across the land. She said 

that Mr. Beagle mentioned Mr. Walters – he was always on the path with a 

dog. Mr. Walters lives next to where Mr. Beagle lived, just to the left of the 

old PO and set back on the bank. 

 

 

David Read 

Mr. Read lives in Titherley Road on the eastern outskirts of the village.  

Page 356



 71 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

Mr. Read said that he was very familiar with the field, although he had not 

used it at all himself. His father and brother had coppiced the wood. His 

father’s employer bought the coppicing rights. It was last cut 6 or 7 years 

ago or possibly more by his brother. He would help – this was less than 20 

years ago. He only recalls seeing one person coming through the wood. He 

would be there for 3-4 hrs or more during the day  - probably from 9am 

onwards until probably mid afternoon – 2.30/3.00. Coppiced all year 

round. He said under xx that this could be 3-4 times a year maybe. They 

were largish trees but not large. When he was asked whether it was oak, 

beech and holly in the Copse, Mr. Read said that sounds about right. But 

very few oak and not many large trees at all – one or two largish. It is a 

Copse and not a wood. 

Mr. Read was asked about his statement that it was a completely spurious 

claim and it was put to him that people have given evidence that they 

have seen people using the land. Mr. Read said that the spurious claim is 

stating that it is common ground. He said that he disagrees with the 

principle of taking away someone else’s land. He had that with his own 

land years ago, twice.  

 

Use of the Application Land 

He had not observed others using the land. He had not seen dogs on the 

land. He doesn’t recall any dens on  site. He hadn’t seen any rope swings – 

he doesn’t like those as eventually it kills the branch the rope is tied to. 

 

 

Richard Sheppard34 

Mr. Sheppard lives with his wife in Weston Lane, Winterslow. He is a 

retired arable farmer. He finished farming and sold the farm in 1998 but 

still owns some of the Farm land, including the Application Land. 
                                                        
34 OB/A Tab 13 p.96 

Page 357



 72 

 

Cropping Records 

Mr. Sheppard referred to his cropping records for Brown’s Copse field 

(OB/A Tab 8 p.51) and said that he has very good records, as these are 

required. These show the last crop (until recently) to have been of 

S.Wheat and sown in March 1988 and the land Set Aside 1989-98 and cut 

every year. The grass was topped annually had to be left there. In an 

average years this was done in September. He said that he didn’t do that 

himself at that time. Some patches, Mr. Sheppard said, were more lush 

and up to 2-3ft. The average was 1½ - 2½ ft.  over the field. 

 

Tracks and Soakaway 

Mr. Sheppard said that after he drives over there each year to cut the 

grass he could see the paths. The main ones can be seen from each of the 

entrances – OB/A Tab 8 p.70 shows the main tracks. Mr. Beagle’s plan 

(out in during the Inquiry to reflect his oral evidence) added some but 

they couldn’t be seen on the ground. Those shown on the map on p.70 can 

be seen on the aerial photographs at OB/A Tab 5 pp. 21 &22. He also said 

that when they dug the soakaway on the boundary with the Village Hall, 

people walked further out as they could walk over that. The soakaway (a 

2ft. 6 in. circular hole covered by mesh) is not fastened down and he 

didn’t cut that area. The detachable weld mesh is still there (it is not a 

cover as such, Mr. Sheppard explained) – there was a steel grid there for a 

long time. 

Mr. Sheppard said that the tracks got more definite over time. That is 

what instigated the need to sign the statutory declarations. When asked 

(in-chief) whether he had taken any action before 1998, Mr. Sheppard 

said that Mr. Fry was certain that he saw signs and he (Mr. Sheppard) 

could remember someone who worked for him who made them up. They 

were a foot square and hand made. The words were painted on plywood – 

red painted letters on the face of the sign. When asked whether he had 

seen any of these, Mr. Sheppard said that he must have done and he had a 

Page 358



 73 

mental picture of them now. He thinks that they would have been up near 

Highlands Crescent or near the post off Woodlands drive. He remembered 

seeing the sign in the grain barn. He thought that it just said “Private 

Land”. They had bright red lettering on a silver background. 

 

Section 31(6) Declarations 

These were to protect their land from trespassers. The first in 1998 was 

for the period 1998-2008. During that period they were topping annually; 

cutting the hedges every year. They normally used a contractor at that 

time but the annual cutting he or his son did or if he was busy he would 

use someone who could come in and do it. He said that he did get a 

contractor in occasionally. 

When asked (in-chief) what he understood the legal effect of the 

Declarations was (see OB/A Tab 7 pp. 28K & L), Mr. Sheppard said that it 

would stop any other footpaths being formed or claimed on that land. Mr. 

Sheppard said that he was concerned that the footpaths were getting 

longer, more defined so he took advice from Wiltshire Council’s rights of 

way department. 

Under xx Mr. Sheppard said that he had assumed that he was safe from 

rights of way being established. It was put to him that, if people continued 

to use the land he tolerated it, as he thought that he was safe. He said 

“yes”. Asked whether the surveyors told him about village green law, Mr. 

Sheppard said “no”. He said that he first knew of it when the TVG 

application was made. It was put to Mr. Sheppard, and he agreed, that 

therefore all that time he was protected against rights of way being 

established and didn’t know about TVG so tolerated people using and 

walking over the land assuming that he was protected. He agreed that he 

knew people were using the land for walking dogs. He played tennis at the 

Village Hall courts (at various times – but not very early). Mr. Sheppard 

said that he never saw anyone parking and then walking their dogs but if 

the parking and dog walking took place before 9am, he accepted that he 

Page 359



 74 

would not necessarily have seen it. He went to the Doctor’s Surgery 

normally between 10-11/12 noon. 

 

The 2009 Signs on the two Posts 

Mr. Sheppard said that when topping in 1988 he was aware of the tracks 

and that it took probably 2-3 years for the tracks to be formed and by 

1991 there were tracks – several tracks. One or two of these were not 

here at the beginning. He said that he could see people using the land. 

With reference to the plan of the tracks at 40A (of AB/A Tab 4), Mr. 

Sheppard said that did not remember all the tracks that Mr. Beagle 

suggested. 

He contacted Wiltshire to ask how he could keep people off his land and 

asked them what could he do? They said that they had signs and 

suggested that he put posts on his land. He received the signs in the post. 

He thought that people would think again before walking on the field – 

the whole field – that is why he put them at either end of the field. This 

was to protect from people walking on the land. 

With reference to photos of the southern post on p.73 of OB/A Tab 10, Mr. 

Sheppard said that he took the photos on the 7 February 2009. The post 

was moved approximately a week later and he re-erected it straight away 

– he put them in deep and hard but not in concrete – about 2ft. 6in. into 

the ground and an ordinary person would struggle to remove them. With 

regard to the post at the top of the field near to Woodland Drive, he had to 

re-erect it a week later more deeply in the ground. Mr. Sheppard said that 

he didn’t know quite know what to do and he did give up on the posts at 

that time. He had taken photographs as proof that they were there. 

Referred to the photograph of the post in the waste on p.75 (OB/A Tab 10 

p.75), he said that he came across that post after the first or second time. 

He re-erected the post on 13 February and on the 16 February found in 

the rubbish. The top post was up for up to 9 days. 

The bottom post erected was also on 7th February and removed at the 

same time. It was found then on the 13th February. Referring to p. 72 

Page 360



 75 

(OB/A Tab 9), he said that the first time it was removed it was found not 

far from the hole close to Middleton road. The second time it had been 

removed it was found in the Copse.  

Mr. Sheppard said that when he was erecting the posts he saw a lady who 

always used the land. He said that he warned her quite strongly and she 

went off. He doesn’t know that lady’s name and she has not given 

evidence at this Inquiry. 

Under xx, he was asked how people would distinguish Footpath Signs 

from private, as the signs didn’t say that unfortunately. He said that he 

looked at the tracks on the ground – that is where most feet seemed to 

have travelled. It was suggested to him (in xx) that some people wouldn’t 

think that it was prohibiting them from using the land. Most right thinking 

people, responded Mr. Sheppard, would understand that they were not 

allowed on the land – they had not been invited onto the land. It was put 

to Mr. Sheppard that possibly 50/50 of those would think this prohibits 

use. Mr. Sheppard said “possibly”. He also said that some who say they 

didn’t see the signs must have, if using it as regularly as they say. 

Asked under xx about the erection of the posts, Mr. Sheppard said that he 

erected them both (at both ends of the field) on the same day, 7th. 

February 2009. When he went back a week later, they had been pulled 

out of the ground. It was put to him that he didn’t know then how long 

they were lying on the ground and he replied that he had kept an eye on 

the site – driving around the village every day. He then said that he went 

back to the site every day in between. He found one on the rubbish and 

subsequently the other one was in the Copse. They were re-erected on the 

13th February. It was put to Mr. Sheppard that the posts were up for at 

most 9 days (and not as long as was put to Mr. Beagle in xx). It was also 

suggested to Mr. Sheppard that there was a difference between seeing a 

sign from 50ft away and seeing it in a photo. Mr. Sheppard replied that 

they were obvious to anyone entering the field – you couldn’t fail to see 

them, he said - they were not next to the edge of the field. It was put to Mr. 

Sheppard that people walking at the back of the Village Hall and onto the 

Page 361



 76 

land wouldn’t see the sign. Mr. Sheppard said that if they were on the 

tarmac path they would not. He reiterated that if someone was using the 

land regularly they would have notice the signs. It seems, he added, that a 

lot of people didn’t go and have a look – most people would go and look at 

the posts. People who used the land in the summer may not have seen the 

signs. 

When it was again put to Mr. Sheppard that people didn’t know what the 

meaning of the signs was, Mr. Sheppard said people must have – 

otherwise, why did they pull the signs out of the land, he asked. It was 

then suggested to him that the majority of people wouldn’t have 

understood. Mr. Sheppard didn’t agree – he said that if people know there 

are signs they should know that they are not being invited onto the land. 

Why, asked Mr. Sheppard, would anyone put a sign on their land? It was 

suggested to Mr. Sheppard that the overall impression was that their use 

was tolerated and not objected to. Later in his xx Mr. Sheppard accepted 

that they could have been clearer signs. 

Mr. Sheppard was referred to his statement (OB/A Tab 13 p.98) where he 

referred to discussions in 2012 leading to the putting up of the four signs. 

When asked, Mr. Sheppard declined (as he was entitled) to say who was 

advising him but did confirm that he was being advised on TVG. He was 

referred to pp. 444/5 of AB/B tab 15 which showed the cost of the 4 signs 

was £433.54 (£208.54 + £225.00). With regard to the earlier signs, Mr. 

Sheppard said that they were silver with red writing and he was referred 

to Mr. Fry saying that they were, as he recalled, black and white signs. 

Under xx he was asked whether it was possible that the signs were not 

put up. Even if they were put up, it was also put to him, he could not say 

how long they were up for. Mr. Sheppard said no he couldn’t say but 

added that they probably went up when the footpath started to be 

established. 

 

 

 

Page 362



 77 

Highfield Crescent Fencing 

Referring to the fence shown on photo 23B (OB/A Tab 5), Mr. Sheppard 

said that he did not see it every day. It was there at the time of set aside in 

1988. He wouldn’t think that it was breached in 1988 as the land had 

been arable and people didn’t walk over it. He didn’t have animals on the 

land so there was no stock proof fence. The fencing was a boundary for 

the houses. Nearly every dwelling that he knows has a fence to indicate 

the boundary. Regarding Mr. Yates’ evidence (re. breaching of the fence), 

Mr. Sheppard said that was as good an account as one can find. Mr. 

Sheppard said that at the time he put the signs up in 2009 he again 

phoned Salisbury DC or Wiltshire asking them to put new wire along 

there. The fencing was repaired by the District Council in 2009 and he 

saw that they had done a good professional job. 

He walked across the land from time to time. It was breached after the 

Council had repaired it. He didn’t take any steps to repair it. He said that 

he had to top the field right up to the fence. When asked (in chief) 

whether it was breached in 2009/10, Mr. Sheppard said that he wouldn’t 

be surprised – he said that they would have cut it again even if it had been 

repaired. He said that, if he had re-erected the post (with the sign), it 

would have been dismissed as easily as the others. 

It was put to him (under xx) that what we are concerned about is not 

knowing what he was trying to do but how it would have appeared to 

people using the land. Mr. Sheppard said that is why he put the signs up. 

He said, when asked, that he didn’t put up fencing because it was very 

expensive – it would have cost thousands of pounds, which he didn’t have.  

Under xx he was referred to his evidence that the fence was renewed in 

2009. Mr. Sheppard agreed that the fence was put up to fence off the 

estate. He said that he was sure that it was some of the residents of 

Highfield Crescent who told him people were using the gap so he should 

do something about it. It was put to Mr. Sheppard (in xx) that users 

wouldn’t necessarily think the repairing of the fence was an indication 

that they shouldn’t be going onto the land. He replied “true”. 

Page 363



 78 

Under re-ex, Mr. Sheppard said that the fence posts (in the north-west) 

were originally concrete. He said that the wire would have been under 

tension, when first put up. He thought that there were 4 strands – it was 

smooth and not barbed wire. They were robust to keep people in 

Highfield Crescent 

 

April 2011 

He still found that this was happening – people coming onto the land. 

Whenever he met anyone on the land, he would tell them in no uncertain 

terms that they shouldn’t be on the land. Sometimes they were peaceable, 

sometimes not. The main protagonist, was a Mr. Simpson. Mr. Sheppard 

didn’t know whether he had anything to do with WOOD. 

Mr. Sheppard said that he probably spoke to about 12 people over the 

years.  

Mr. Sheppard said that he then decided to plough the land and did so on 

4th April 2011. He said that he was “cheesed off” – “That is all you get for 

trying to do a kindness”, Mr. Sheppard said. 

He also decided to put up new signs having spoken to Salisbury Planning 

Department. So he erected 4. When asked (in chief) why he had originally 

(in 2009) erected 2 and now 4, Mr. Sheppard said that because it became 

more and more clear that people were not taking notice of the 2 smaller 

signs. 

 

Communal Events 

Mr. Sheppard said that the only time he gave permission for a communal 

event was for one afternoon for 2 years (between 1991-2011) for pony 

rides for the village fete.  

 

Bonfires 

He said that it was only the burning of rubbish that he allowed. I person 

lived in the Crescent and 1 in Woodland Drive. He said that he probably 

Page 364



 79 

bumped into them when he was walking up there but he did give his 

permission on the understanding that they cleared up after. 

 

The Copse 

He said that there are mid-sized trees. Hazel shoots have been coppiced 

over the years but he didn’t know how far back this went. He thinks it 

started when he was a child but he was not sure. These were cut again at 

intervals of about 10 years. In any one year a ¼ of the Copse would be 

coppiced. It was never clear felled. When he had organised it, the guy 

advised that the already thick hazel should be taken out. Some got really 

big. That is how the cycle began. Between 1991-2011 there was coppicing 

every year but not recently. They would only really do it in winter, when 

there were no leaves and the sap was down. This has fallen away because 

the gentleman’s wife was seriously ill and died and he decided to retire. 

So it needs a cut. It was last done about 5 years ago.  

When Mr. Sheppard’s father owned it, there was shooting there - that was 

in the 1960s. He died in 1970. 

Mr. Sheppard said that he does walk past the Copse regularly. He goes 

along school path – about 4 times a week and he meets people on the 

path. He sometimes sees people in the Copse but not often.  

Under xx, he clarified that the Coppice was coppiced until around 2009. 

He said that something was done most years and in some years they did a 

bigger patch. It was done during the winter months and early spring 

when, as he said in chief, no leaves or sap. He confirmed that there would 

not be coppicing in summer or the summer holidays. He accepted that 

there could have been playing in the Copse when coppicing probably not 

happening. 

He said that he saw dens very occasionally and he had built them himself 

when he was a kid. He had seen a rope swing but he had seen it used. 

There had always been a few but not with any great frequency. He 

thought that his father put up signs in the 1960s. He accepted, under xx, 

Page 365



 80 

that he tolerated use of copse but said he told people in the Copse to get 

out who were cutting things down – he got cross. He made sure that they 

knew he was the owner and they had no right to be in there. Mr. Sheppard 

said that if he didn’t recognise the person, he told them. When it was put 

to him that there were lots of people that he recognised and he didn’t tell 

them, Mr. Sheppard said that he didn’t need to, as they knew it. He said 

that he occasionally saw people walking on the field but not regularly. 

He was asked, in xx, whether he thought about putting the posts up in the 

Copse. He replied that he was concerned about the field, even though 

there were tracks in the Copse. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

Under xx, Mr. Sheppard said that he didn’t see people walking dogs on the 

land regularly. He did tell quite a number of people that they had no right 

to be on the land. He told them that they had no right to be on the land as 

it is private. I wasn’t prepared to sit in a chair there 24 hours a day. He 

reiterated that he spoke to about a dozen people. 

Mr. Sheppard accepted that if he had known about TVG law he would 

have taken a very different stance. 

He was asked about the path along the north side of the Copse and 

blackberrying and sloes. Mr. Sheppard said that there was not an 

established pattern. People say that they walked everywhere but, said Mr. 

Sheppard, there was no proof. He said that there may have been tracks. 

Referred to photo 23, he acknowledged the faint line from the telephone 

box to the Copse 

 

Note of Parish Council Meeting on 4 February 2013 

The meeting was in respect of the Modification Order at Middleton Road 

(see pp. 90/91 in OB/A Tab 12). Mr. Sheppard was referred to the Note at 

p. 88 of OB/A Tab 12. He said that it was his note. He declared an interest 

in respect of the meeting. He was Chairman of the PC for 3 years. All said 

Page 366



 81 

that they remembered seeing the original signs in place in 2009. When 

asked whether the PC supported the TVG Application, Mr. Sheppard said 

that they will not get involved with WOOD. 

 

 

Patricia Sheppard35 

Mrs. Sheppard read her statement in which she states that she has lived in 

Winterslow for 48 years and that she had an intimate knowledge of the 

use of the Application Land. She can’t see the land from their house in 

Weston Lane and it is impossible to keep watch all the time other the 

land. That is why they decided to erect the four further signs. Her 

husband was there however very frequently – but 24/7 was impossible. 

Mrs. Sheppard said that she would drive around the village on most days. 

She would go to the Doctor’s Surgery quite regularly as she had an elderly 

mother (who died in 2006) and an elderly Aunt (who died in 2011). She 

would go to Highfield Crescent once a week, on a Friday. She couldn’t 

remember when that started - less than 5 years with Aunt and a bit longer 

with mother. 

Mrs. Sheppard also used to visit a Mrs. Perry who died in 2006. She used 

to go and see her each Saturday afternoon – she would sit with her and 

talk. They used to sit near the window because Mrs. Perry’s sight was not 

good. She never saw anyone using that access. On Sunday morning she 

would pick Mrs. Perry up for church and take her back home after. 

Mrs. Sheppard said that she was not aware of anyone on the land. She did 

go onto the land and saw tracks. She did know people were using it. She 

did go into the Copse and see tracks that just meandered through the 

wood. She saw no dens abut did see a rope swing. When asked whether 

she ever did anything to stop people using the wood, Mrs. Sheppard said 

that they just felt people should have the experience of seeing the blue 

bells in there. It was educationally important that people had that 

opportunity. Yes, she therefore accepted that people used the Copse and 
                                                        
35 OB/A Tab 13 p.99 

Page 367



 82 

she personally took no steps to stop that. She explained further that it was 

not their mission to stop people going into the Copse as long as they went 

in through the top path and she had no objection to them going from the 

path. 

She said that she (unlike her husband) didn’t play tennis. When she was 

asked whether she saw dog walkers on bottom part of the field, Mrs. 

Sheppard said might have seen the odd one at the end nearest to the 

Village Hall. When she was asked whether that would be first thing, she 

said that it wouldn’t be late and probably between 9.30/10am. She 

accepted therefore that, if people were walking their dogs before work, 

then she wouldn’t have seen that. She was asked whether she would go 

there at lunchtime. Mrs. Sheppard replied that she would sometimes go 

out between 10.30/11 am – she would walk from the house and cut 

through Barry’s Field. She said that the could cut through the bluebell 

wood, if they chose to. In the Copse she rarely saw anyone coming and 

going. She has observed in the afternoon a couple of mums rushing up to 

the school. If she was in the field, she may pass someone. She would say 

good morning but make the point that it was private land. She said this 

was very rarely- maybe 5 times or a bit more. She said that she never saw 

blackberrying in the field and she never gave permission (“certainly not”) 

for anyone to be on the land apart from the donkey rides. Bonfires were 

organised once. She had heard brownies had used the land but she didn’t 

see that and she did not personally give them permission. 

With regard to the two posts in 1999, she accepted her husband’s 

evidence on this. She did not know how long they were up. She said that 

they were removed within a couple of days. When asked under xx about 

that, Mrs. Sheppard said that she drove past and one day there were there 

– a few days later they were not. It could have been less than a week. 

When asked whether she was looking to see of the posts were still there, 

she said that she was as she could see past the Surgery as the view opens 

up there. 

Page 368



 83 

With regard to the Note on p.89 of OB/A Tab 12, she confirmed that was 

her husband’s note. 

It was said to Mrs. Sheppard (in xx) that they are aware that she had very 

strong feelings as she had made that clear. She was referred to her letter 

to Cllr. Devine and it was suggested that she was putting pressure on him 

to support her. (see OB/A Tab 12 p.85). She was referred in particular to 

the 4th. Paragraph of that letter. She said that she did not look at it like 

that (i.e. putting pressure on the Councillor). When it was put to her that 

she made it difficult for him to support the TVG application, Mrs. 

Sheppard replied that was a decision for him to make.  

She was also asked about the petition. It was suggested that the 

Community was divided – some people supporting her and her husband 

and some supporting the Application. Mrs. Sheppard said that it was the 

minority who are supporting the Application. It was then put to her that 

some people don’t want to give evidence as seen from some people not 

turning up.  

 

 

5. ASSESSMENT AND CONCLUSIONS 

5.1 This section is set out as follows: 

(1) The Legal Framework 

(2) Assessment of the issues arising against that framework 

(3) Conclusions 

 

THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK FOR DETERMINATION OF AN APPLICATION 

UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE COMMONS ACT 2006 

5.2 As noted in section 1 of this Report above, section 15(1) provides (as 

relevant to this Application) that: 

Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register 

land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where 

subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

Page 369



 84 

Subsection (2) applies where- 

(a) A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 

and 

(b) They continue to do so at the time of the application. 

 

 Subsection (3) applies where - 

 This subsection applies where– 

(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 

(b) they ceased to do so before the time of the application but after the 

commencement of this section; and 

(c) the application is made within the period of two years beginning 

with the cessation referred to in paragraph (b). 

(It should be noted that since this Application was made the period in 

(3)(b) has been changed in England to 1 year – section 14(2) of the 

Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013, taking effect on 1 October 2013).  

 

5.3 The burden of proof lies on the Applicant to demonstrate that the 

statutory criteria are satisfied. The standard of proof is the civil one – that 

is “on the balance of probabilities” or, put simply, that it is more likely 

than not. The approach of Pill JL in R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte 

Steed [1996] 75 P&CR 102, 111 is relevant: 

  However, I approach the issue on the basis that it is no trivial matter for a 
landowner to have land, whether in public or private ownership, registered 
as a town green and that the evidential safeguards present in the 
authorities already cited dealing with the establishment of a customary 
right (class B) should be imported into a class C case. Use, as of right, and as 
inhabitants of Sudbury, for sports and pastimes must be “properly and 
strictly proved”. 

 This approach was endorsed by Lord Bingham in R v Sunderland City 

Council, ex parte Beresford [2004] 1 AC 889 at [2] who referred to Pill 

Ely’s words and continued: 

Page 370



 85 

 It is accordingly necessary that all ingredients of this definition should be 
met before land is registered, and decision-makers must consider carefully 
whether the land in question has been used by the inhabitants of a locality 
for indulgence in what are properly to be regarded as lawful sports and 
pastimes and whether the temporal limit of 20 years' indulgence or more is 
met. 

 I consider this endorsement is still relevant, although Beresford has been 

both distinguished and not followed or to be relied upon in R (on the 

application of Barkas) v North Yorkshire CC [2014] UKSC 31. 

 

5.4 From section 15(3)(a) and the relevant case law, it can be seen that an 

application has to satisfy the following elements: 

(1) The application land has to have been used for lawful sports and 

pastimes. 

(2) The use has to have been by a significant number of people who 

come from: 

A locality; or 

Any neighbourhood within a locality. 

(3) That use has to have been carried out for at least 20 years up to 

when it ceased and the application to register has been made 

within the statutory period form the use ceasing (s.15(3)). 

(4) That use has to have been “as of right” throughout that period. 

 

The land which forms the basis of the application has to have been used 

for lawful sports and pastimes 

5.5 The expression “lawful sports and pastimes” was considered in R v 

Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 

A.C. 335. It was held that “sports and pastimes” is not two classes of 

activities but a single composite class, so an activity that was a sport or 

pastime falls within it. It was further held that dog walking and playing 

with children are, in modern life, the kind of informal recreation, which 

may be the main function of a village green36. Flying kites, picking 

                                                        
36 [2000] 1 A.C. 335, 357A-D. 

 

Page 371



 86 

blackberries, fishing and tobogganing have been considered to fall within 

“sports and pastimes”. 

 

5.6 Not all use that falls within the meaning of “lawful sports and pastimes” is 

sufficient, however. In White v Taylor (No.2)(1969) 1 Ch 160 at 192 

Buckley J held: 

...But the user must be shown to have been of such a character, degree and 

frequency as to indicate an assertion by the claimant of a continuous right, 

and of a right of the measure of the right claimed. 

The use must be to a sufficient extent; use which is “so trivial and sporadic 

as not to carry the outward appearance of user as of right” is to be ignored: 

Sunningwell [2001] 1 A.C. 335, 375D-E. 

 

5.7 It is necessary to distinguish the use of footpaths from use for sports or 

pastimes. That distinction is important in this case, where there are tracks 

across the path and a application for a modification order was made in 

respect of the land under section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 a short time before the TVG application was made.  

 

5.8 In Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council  [2004] EWHC 12 at 

[102]-[110] (the Trap Grounds case) in the High Court Lightman J stated 

that where the public use defined tracks over land this will generally only 

establish public rights of way unless the user is wider in scope or the 

tracks are of such character that user of them cannot give rise to a 

presumption at common law as a public highway, but user of such tracks 

for pedestrian recreational purposes may qualify. The House of Lords 

[2006] 2 AC 674 at [68] (as well as the Court of Appeal) on appeal held 

that it would not be appropriate to give any guidance on the evidentiary 

matters relating to the use of tracks and the other land. The Objectors also 

refer to the Judgment of Sir Nicholas Browne-Wilkinson in Dydfed CC v 

Secretary of State for Wales [1989] 59 P & CR 275, 279: 

Page 372



 87 

  “…There is no rule that use of a highway for mere recreational purposes is 
incapable of creating a public right of way. Such use for purely recreational 
walking would be a use of the path as a footway and give rise to the 
possibility of deemed dedication in the absence of evidence that the owner of 
the land had no intention to dedicate.”37 

 

5.9 Given the importance of this issue to WOOD’s Application, I set out the 

approach In R (on the application of Laing Homes Ltd) v Buckinghamshire 

County Council [2003] EWHC 1578 (Admin) at [102] – [110], where 

Sullivan J. held as follows: 

 102. As noted above, the Footpath Order confirmed the existence of 
footpaths all around the perimeters of each of the three fields (the paths cut 
across the south western corners of Fields 1 and 3). For obvious reasons, the 
presence of footpaths or bridleways is often highly relevant in applications 
under section 22(1) of the Act: land is more likely to be used for recreational 
purposes by local inhabitants if there is easy access to it. But it is important 
to distinguish between use which would suggest to a reasonable landowner 
that the users believed they were exercising a public right of way — to walk, 
with or without dogs, around the perimeter of his fields — and use which 
would suggest to such a landowner that the users believed that they were 
exercising a right to indulge in lawful sports and pastimes across the whole 
of his fields. 
103. Dog walking presents a particular problem since it is both a normal 
and lawful use of a footpath and one of the kinds of “informal recreation” 
which is commonly found on village greens. Once let off the lead a dog may 
well roam freely whilst its owner remains on the footpath. The dog is 
trespassing, but would it be reasonable to expect the landowner to object on 
the basis that the dog's owner was apparently asserting the existence of 
some broader public right, in addition to his right to walk on the footpath? 
104. The landowner is faced with the same dilemma if the dog runs away 
from the footpath and refuses to return, so that the owner has to go and 
retrieve it. It would be unfortunate if a reasonable landowner was forced to 
stand upon his rights in such a case in order to prevent the local inhabitants 
from obtaining a right to use his land off the path for informal recreation. 
The same would apply to walkers who casually or accidentally strayed from 
the footpaths without a deliberate intention to go on other parts of the 
fields: see per Lord Hoffmann at p.358E of Sunningwell . I do not consider 
that the dog's wanderings or the owner's attempts to retrieve his errant dog 
would suggest to the reasonable landowner that the dog walker believed he 
was exercising a public right to use the land beyond the footpath for 
informal recreation. 
105. While the Inspector was not obliged to carry out a field-by-field 
analysis, he was obliged to grapple with the principal point made in the 
Claimant's analysis: that looking at the 20-year period, walking, including 

                                                        
37 Objectors Authorities Tab 5 

Page 373

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IBD944500E44811DA8D70A0E70A78ED65


 88 

dog walking, was the principal activity, and that it was largely confined to 
the footpaths around the perimeter of the fields. If that use was discounted, 
the other activities over the remainder of the fields were not of such a 
character and frequency as to indicate an assertion of a right over the 
entirety of the 38 acres for 20 years, not least because the other paths 
(across the fields) only began to evolve after 1993 and so were not claimed 
as footpaths (10.17). In paragraph 14.24 the Inspector appears to have 
accepted the Claimant's analysis, up to a point: noting that in addition to 
walking on the paths that developed around the field boundaries, some of 
the other activities such as blackberrying would have taken place on or near 
the boundaries, rather than across the fields as a whole. 
106. But when the Inspector concluded in paragraph 14.25 that there was 
abundant evidence of continuous use by local people of the whole surface of 
the fields he relied “in addition to the dog walking and playing with 
children” referred to in Sunningwell , also upon “general walking (i.e. 
without dogs)” as being among the many activities that took place on the 
fields. 
107. Thus the Inspector considered whether the whole, and not merely the 
perimeter of the fields was being used, but he did not deal with the issue 
raised in the Claimant's analysis: how extensive was the use of the fields if 
the use of the footpaths around their boundaries for walking and dog 
walking (making allowance for the fact that dogs off the lead may stray, see 
10.18) was discounted, such use being referable to the exercise of public 
rights of way, and not a right to indulge in informal recreation across the 
whole of the fields. 
108. I accept that the two rights are not necessarily mutually exclusive. A 
right of way along a defined path around a field may be exercised in order 
to gain access to a suitable location for informal recreation within the field. 
But from the landowner's point of view it may be very important to 
distinguish between the two rights. He may be content that local 
inhabitants should cross his land along a defined route, around the edge of 
his fields, but would vigorously resist if it appeared to him that a right to 
roam across the whole of his fields was being asserted. 
109. I do not suggest that it will be necessary in every case where a footpath 
crosses or skirts an application site under the Act to distinguish between the 
exercise of a right of way and the use of a site for informal recreation. The 
footpath may be lightly used as such and the evidence of non-footpath use 
may be substantial. But the present case is most unusual in that there were 
recently confirmed footpaths around the perimeters of all three Fields. 
These footpaths were not lightly used. The Footpath Inspector had 
concluded that there was “unchallenged evidence of considerable weight 
that their routes have been in such use as would satisfy section 31 of the 
[Highways Act] 1980 ”. The Claimants drew the Inspector's attention to 
evidence from one of GAG's witnesses “that the majority of people in the 
fields stuck to the boundary footpaths” (10.16). 
110. It is no accident that the Inspector's list of activities in paragraph 14.25 
commenced with dog walking and general walking (i.e. without dogs). On 
any view of GAG's evidence set out by the Inspector in Chapter 7 of his 
Report these were the principal activities throughout the 20-year period. A 

Page 374

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IEFC06580E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IEFC06580E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65


 89 

number of the other activities were very occasional, such as kite flying, or of 
limited duration, e.g. use by the Cub Scouts appears to have ceased in 1987 
(7.67). I do not underestimate the difficulties confronting the Inspector but 
he does appear to have relied upon the extensive use of the perimeter 
footpaths as such, for general and dog walking, in reaching his conclusion 
that there was abundant evidence of the use of the whole of the fields for 
lawful sports and pastimes for the 20-year period (14.25). To Laings, as a 
reasonably vigilant, and not an absentee, landowner those walkers would 
have appeared to be exercising public rights of way, not indulging in lawful 
sports and pastimes as of right. For these reasons the claim also succeeds on 
ground (1) 

 

5.10 The Objectors also bring my attention to the analysis of Vivian Chapman 

QC in his Inspector’s report in the Radley Lakes application (13/10/2007) 

at [304&5]:38 

 “It seems to me that the heart of the guidance given by Lightman J is that all 
depends on whether the use would appear to the reasonable landowner as 
referable to the exercise of a right of way along a defined route or referable 
to a right to enjoy recreation over the whole of a wider area of land. if the 
appearance is ambiguous, it should be ascribed to the lesser right, ie a right 
of way.’ 

 

5.11 With regard to the extent of coverage of the application land by qualifying 

user, not every part of the application land has to have been used. 

However, the evidence must be such so as to indicate use as of right for 

lawful sports and pastimes of the land as a whole. In R (Cheltenham 

Builders) v South Gloucestershire Council [2003] EWHC 2803 at [29] 

Sullivan J. stated that a “common sense approach is required when 

considering whether the whole of a site was so used”. 

 

5.12 The approach of the House of Lords in the Trap Grounds case is also 

instructive. Lord Hoffman stated: 

 66 Secondly, Mr. Chapman dealt with the inaccessibility of a good deal of 
the scrubland: 
“The city council argue that the scrubland is now so overgrown that the 
majority of it is inaccessible and that this in itself precludes registration as a 
green. As noted above, my estimate is that about 25% of the total area is 
reasonably accessible, the rest consisting of trees and scrub. In my view, the 
question whether land has become a town or village green cannot be 

                                                        
38 Objectors’ Opening Submissions at [29] on p.9 and Tab 11 of Objector’s Authorities at p. 58 

Page 375



 90 

determined by a mathematical assessment of the amount of the land which 
is open to recreation. … Where the recreational use is informal and consists 
of activities such as walking, with or without dogs, children's play, exploring 
and watching wild life, I do not see why much more densely vegetated land 
should not be capable of being subject to recreational rights, either by 
custom or prescription. In my view, it is necessary to look at the words of the 
statutory definition and to ask whether the scrubland, considered as a 
whole, is land which falls within that definition. In my view, the evidence 
proves that the recreational use of the scrubland is, and has been over the 
relevant 20 year period, sufficiently general and widespread, by way of use 
not only of the main track but also of minor tracks, glades and clearings, to 
amount to recreational use of the scrubland viewed as a whole.” 
 
67 This is not an application for judicial review of Mr. Chapman's decision 
and your Lordships are not invited to express a view on whether, on the 
facts, he was entitled to reach the conclusions which he did. For my part, in 
the absence of an inspection or at least photographs of the site, I would be 
very reluctant to do so. If the area is in fact intersected with paths and 
clearings, the fact that these occupy only 25% of the land area would not in 
my view be inconsistent with a finding that there was recreational use of the 
scrubland as a whole. For example, the whole of a public garden may be 
used for recreational activities even though 75% of the surface consists of 
flower beds, borders and shrubberies on which the public may not walk. 
 

 

The use has to have been by a significant number of people who come 

from: 

A locality; or 

Any neighbourhood within a locality 

 

Significant Number 

5.13 In R (Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] 

EWHC 76 at para. 71 Sullivan J held that a “significant number” need not 

be considerable or substantial. It was held that it was a matter of 

impression for the decision-maker on the evidence and what mattered 

was that the number of people using the land in question had to be 

sufficient to indicate that their use of the land signifies that it is a general 

use by the local community for an informal recreational use, rather than 

occasional use by individuals as trespassers. 

 

Page 376



 91 

5.14 Given the issues arising in this case and the submissions made, particular 

note should also be taken of paragraphs 72 and 73 of Sullivan J’s 

judgment in the Alfred McAlpine Homes case: 

 72. The inspector concluded in paragraph 7.1 that substantial use had been 
made of the meadow for informal recreation for more than 20 years before 
the application. He referred specifically to six of the witnesses who could 
give evidence covering the whole of the 20−year period. Mr. Wolton's 
criticisms of the inspector's conclusions are not well founded. It is quite 
unrealistic to refer simply to the six witnesses or to deal with the matter on 
the basis that they are only six out of 20,000 or one out of 200, and that such 
numbers are not significant. I accept that, if all of those six witnesses had 
said that they had not seen others on the land over the 20−year period, then 
it would be difficult to see how six out of 20,000 or one out of 200 could be 
said to be significant. But the fact of the matter is that they did not give such 
evidence: they were able to give evidence, not merely about what they did 
themselves, but what they saw others doing on the meadow over the 
20−year period. 
73. It is difficult to obtain first−hand evidence of events over a period as long 
as 20 years. In the present case there was an unusual number of witnesses 
who were able to speak as to the whole of the period. More often an 
inspector at such inquiries is left with a patchwork of evidence, trying to 
piece together evidence from individuals who can deal with various parts of 
the 20−year period. In the present case, however, the evidence of the six 
witnesses who were able to cover the whole 20−year period was amply 
supported by many other witnesses who dealt not simply with the last few 
years but with a very considerable part of the 20−year period, some of them 
going back almost 20 years, some going back to times before the 20−year 
period began. 

 

5.15 This aspect is often referred to as part of the issue of “the quality of user” 

and has been addressed in several authorities since then. In the Court of 

Appeal decision in Leeds Group plc v Leeds City Council  [2011] 2 WLR 

Sullivan LJ, as he had by then become, held: 

Quality of user 

28. I agree with Mr. Laurence that this ground of appeal is better 
described as the quality of user point. It is based on certain passages in the 
speeches of Lord Walker of Gestingthorpe JSC and Lord Hope of Craighead 
DPSC in R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council (No 2) [2010] 2 
AC 70. In para 30 Lord Walker JSC referred to the general proposition that 
had been relied on by Mr. Laurence: 
“that if the public (or a section of the public) is to acquire a right by 
prescription, they must by their conduct bring home to the landowner that a 
right is being asserted against him, so that the landowner has to choose 

Page 377



 92 

between warning the trespassers, or eventually finding that they have 
established the asserted right against him.” 
In para 36 Lord Walker JSC said that in the light of the authorities he had 
“no difficulty in accepting that Lord Hoffmann was absolutely right, in 
Sunningwell [2000] 1 AC 335, to say that the English theory of prescription 
is concerned with ‘how the matter would have appeared to the owner of the 
land’ (or if there was an absentee owner, to a reasonable owner who was on 
the spot).” 
 

Any Locality or any Neighbourhood within a Locality 

5.16 As seen above, section 15(3)(a) provides: 

A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality 

This repeats the insertion of “neighbourhood within a locality” into 

section 22 of the CRA 1965 (by section 98 of the Countryside and Rights 

of Way Act 2000), and was intended to apply more flexibility to the issue 

of “locality” and mitigate the strict legal test that had been applied in 

some cases. The Court of Appeal confirmed in Leeds Group Plc v Leeds City 

Council [2011] EWCA Civ 1447 (the second Leeds Group Plc case) that:  

(1) It was common ground that Parliament's intention in enacting s.98 

was to remove the evidential difficulty posed by the need for users 

to be predominantly from an administrative area known to the 

law. 

(2) The enactment of s.98 was to strike a balance between two 

competing interests; users who wished to apply for the 

registration of land as a TVG and landowners whose land might be 

the subject of such application.  

(3) The new policy contained in s.22(1A) of the 1965 Act applied in its 

entirety to all applications made on or after January 30, 2001, 

when s.98 came into force.  

 

5.17 A “locality” is however not an arbitrary line on a map; it means an 

administrative unit and a “neighbourhood” within a locality means an 

area with a sufficient degree of cohesiveness, as held by Sullivan J in R 

(Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucestershire DC [2003] EWHC 2803 

Page 378



 93 

(Admin). What can constitute a locality includes a county, a city a town or 

borough, a parish (civil and ecclesiastical) and an electoral ward.39 

 

That use has to have been carried out for at least 20 years up to the date 

of the application 

5.18 The House of Lords in Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council 

[2006] 2 WLR 1235 confirmed that under the previous provisions, 

sections 13 and 22(1A) of the Commons Registration Act 1965 (as 

amended by the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000), the user as of 

right had to continue to the date of the application. As noted above, 

section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 provides for this situation but also 

situations where the recreational use has ceased (sections 15(3)-(7)). 

 

That use has to have been as of right throughout that period 

5.19 To be “as of right” the use must have been carried out: 

(i) Without force (nec vi) 

(ii) Without secrecy (nec clam) 

(iii) Without permission (nec precario). 

The phrase “as of right” is based upon the acquisition of rights by 

prescription. The whole law of prescription and the whole law that 

governs the presumption or inference of a grant or covenant rest upon 

acquiescence by the land owner: as held by Fry J in Dalton v Angus & Co. 

(1881) 6 App. Cas. 740, 773 as cited by Lord Hoffman in R v Oxfordshire 

County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 AC 335 at 

351B-C. 

 

5.20 Sunningwell related to an application to register 10 acres of glebe land. 

The House of Lords decided that, where a use had to be established as of 

right, user that was apparently as of right could not be discounted merely 

because many of the users over a long period were subjectively 

indifferent as to whether a right existed, or even had private knowledge 

                                                        
39 See Gadsden on Commons and Greens (Second Edition) at 14-26 on pp. 519-520 

Page 379



 94 

that it did not. It was also held that toleration of the recreational use was 

not inconsistent with user as of right.  

 

5.21 If the user has been by coercion or if the user is contentious in the sense 

that the owner continually and unmistakably protests against it, there is 

no acquiescence and the user is considered to be by force and cannot be 

“as of right”40. This will apply if the circumstances are such as to indicate 

to the user, or to a reasonable user with the user’s knowledge of the 

circumstances, that the owner actually objects and continues to object 

and backs his objection by physical obstruction or by legal action. Signs 

can, depending on the wording and circumstances, have a similar effect. 

Physical obstruction includes fencing and gates; the legal effect will in any 

case depend upon the nature and circumstances of such obstructions and 

actions. 

 

5.22 In Taylor v Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd [2012] EWCA CIv 250, 

LJ Patten held: 

63 It would, in my view, be a direct infringement of the principle (referred to 
earlier in the judgment of Lord Rodger on Redcar (No. 2) ) that rights of 
property cannot be acquired by force or by unlawful means for the Court to 
ignore the landowner's clear and repeated demonstration of his opposition 
to the use of the land simply because it was obliterated by the unlawful acts 
of local inhabitants. Mrs Taylor is not entitled in effect to rely upon this 
conduct by limiting her evidence to that of users whose ignorance of the 
signs was due only to their removal in this way. If the steps taken would 
otherwise have been sufficient to notify local inhabitants that they should 
not trespass on the land then the landowner has, I believe, done all that is 
required to make users of his land contentious. 
 

5.23 In R (Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation 

Trust) v Oxfordshire County Council [2010] LGR 631 (the Warneford 

Meadows case) HH Judge Waksman QC (sitting as a Judge of the High 

Court) considered Pumfrey J's dictum in Smith v Brudenell-Bruce in the 

context of an application to register a meadow adjoining the Warneford 

Hospital in Oxford as a town or village green. The land in question was 

                                                        
40 Smith v Brudenell-Bruce [2002] 2 P&CR 4 at [12]. 

Page 380



 95 

crossed by a public footpath alongside which was a notice stating: “No 

public right of way”. This was said to have prevented any public use of the 

meadow itself from being as of right. The judge held that the notice had 

not rendered such use contentious because, reasonably read, it had to be 

taken to refer to the user of the footpath rather than the meadow land 

generally. He was not therefore concerned with a case where the notice 

had been placed in an inaccessible position or where (as in the present 

case) the notices had been removed. But in his judgment he set out some 

general principles. Having referred to Smith v Brudenell-Bruce and to 

Redcar (No 2) he said this: 

21 By way of contrast in Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council 
[2006] Ch 43 , the relevant sign read: 
Oxford City Council. 
Trap Grounds and Reed Beds. 
Private Property. 
Access prohibited 
Except with the express consent 
Of Oxford City Council 
22 From those cases I derive the following principles: 
(1) The fundamental question is what the notice conveyed to the user. If the 
user knew or ought to have known that the owner was objecting to and 
contesting his use of the land, the notice is effective to render it contentious; 
absence of actual knowledge is therefore no answer if the reasonable user 
standing in the position of the actual user, and with his information, would 
have so known; 
(2) Evidence of the actual response to the notice by the actual users is thus 
relevant to the question of actual knowledge and may also be relevant as to 
the putative knowledge of the reasonable user; 
(3) The nature and content of the notice, and its effect, must be examined in 
context; 
(4) The notice should be read in a common sense and not legalistic way; 
(5) If it is suggested that the owner should have done something more than 
erect the actual notice, whether in terms of a different notice or some other 
act, the Court should consider whether anything more would be 
proportionate to the user in question. Accordingly it will not always be 
necessary, for example, to fence off the area concerned or take legal 
proceedings against those who use it. The aim is to let the reasonable user 
know that the owner objects to and contests his user. Accordingly, if a sign 
does not obviously contest the user in question or is ambiguous a relevant 
question will always be why the owner did not erect a sign or signs which 
did. I have not here incorporated the reference by Pumfrey J in Brudenell-
Bruce (supra) to ‘consistent with his means’. That is simply because, for my 
part, if what is actually necessary to put the user on notice happens to be 
beyond the means of an impoverished landowner, for example, it is hard to 

Page 381

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=92&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I15BF6320E42811DA8FC2A0F0355337E9
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=92&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I15BF6320E42811DA8FC2A0F0355337E9


 96 

see why that should absolve him without more. 1 As it happens, in this case, 
no point on means was taken by the Authority in any event so it does not 
arise on the facts here. 
In my judgment the following principles also apply: 

   (6) Sometimes the issue is framed by reference to what a reasonable 
landowner would have understood his notice to mean' that is simply 
another way of asking the question as to what the reasonable user would 
have made of it; 

   (7) Since the issue turns on what the user appreciated or should have 
appreciated from the notice, it follows that evidence as to what the owner 
subjectively intended to achieve by the notice is strictly irrelevant. In and of 
itself this cannot assist in ascertaining its objective meaning; 
(8) There may, however, be circumstances when evidence of that intent is 
relevant, for example if it is suggested that the meaning claimed by the 
owner is unrealistic or implausible in the sense that no owner could have 
contemplated that effect. Here, evidence that this owner at least did indeed 
contemplate that effect would be admissible to rebut that suggestion. It 
would also be relevant if that intent had been communicated to the users or 
some representative of them so that it was more than merely a privately 
expressed view or desire. In some cases, that might reinforce or explain the 
message conveyed by the notice, depending of course on the extent to which 
that intent was published, as it were, to the relevant user. 

The Objectors invite the registration Authority to consider [17] to [57] of 

the judgment of HH Judge Waksman QC.41 

 

5.24 Against this legal framework I now turn to consider the Application,  

having regard to the statutory criteria and the contentions on behalf of 

the Applicant and the Objectors. I first identify the issues that arise and 

then set out my assessment of those. 

 

THE ISSUES 

5.25 It is of course necessary for the Applicant to demonstrate that, on the 

balance of probability, each criterion within section 15(3) of the 

Commons Act 2006 is satisfied, as set out above.  

 

5.26 It is not in dispute that: 

                                                        
41 See para. 36 of the Objectors Opening Submissions 

Page 382



 97 

(1) The Applicant is entitled to rely upon section 15(3) of the 

Commons Act 2006 and the relevant 20-year period is from 4 April 

1991 to 4 April 2011. 

(2) Winterslow CP constitutes a valid locality for the purposes of 

section 15(3).42  

 

5.27 Two key (but not by any means the only) elements of the Objectors’ case 

against registration can be summarized as: 

(a) The Applicant has not demonstrated sufficient of qualifying LSP 

use of the Application Land, which has been mainly used for 

highway purposes rather than LSP to a degree that was significant 

over the whole of the land. The Applicant added to and clarified its 

submissions on the Copse in a short Supplemental Closing 

Submission sent on 17th December 2014, after the close of the 

Inquiry. 

(b) Any use has in any event not be “as of right” by reason of the 

signage erected in February 2009 (year 18 of the relevant 20-year 

period). Further, use of the land following access through the 

breaches in the fencing at Highfield Crescent is by force and to be 

discounted. 

 

5.28 Having regard to the evidence and the submissions of the parties, I 

consider that the following key issues arise:- 

(1) The Sufficiency of Qualifying User of the Whole of the Application 

Land during the Relevant 20-Year Period 

 Has the Applicant satisfied the requirement to demonstrate that a 

significant number of inhabitants from the agreed locality have 

used the land for LSP?  

If so, has the Applicant demonstrated sufficient use of the whole 

land (applying a common sense approach as referred to in 

                                                        
42 The Winterslow PC is shown on the plan at AB/A Tab 2 

Page 383



 98 

paragraph 5.8 above) by those inhabitants continuously over the 

relevant 20-year period?  

Only qualifying use is to be taken into account and not uses that 

are permitted/licensed. Further, and significantly, the sufficiency 

of use of the whole land needs to take account of the fact that the 

land has been used for people to walk to and from one side of the 

village to the other. 

(2) The By Force Issue 

Is the qualifying use “as of right” or: 

(i) Is it by force by reason of the two signs erected on posts in 

2009? 

(ii) Is it by force by reason of the field being accessed through 

the gaps in the fence at Highfield Crescent? 

I now set out my assessment of each of these issues. I provide my overall 

conclusions at the end. 

 

 

 ASSESSMENT 

The Sufficiency of Qualifying Use of the Whole of the Application 

Land During the Relevant 20-Year Period 

5.29  An appropriate starting point for consideration of this issue is the 

recognition of the following key characteristics of the Application Land 

during the relevant 20-year period:  

(i) Both the field and the Copse are open and readily accessed from 

different directions. Even though there are no public footpaths 

over the land, they very closely related to the land. The only areas 

of fencing are those around Highfield Crescent and the village hall. 

(ii) Having been set aside in 1988/9, which is not disputed, the land 

was not cropped and only grass grew on the major part of the field 

until it was ploughed in April 2011, as Mr. Sheppard explained. 

The field was then ploughed again and linseed sown in 2012.  

Page 384



 99 

(iii) Key village facilities are located on both “sides” of the Application 

Land. There is for example the school, village shop and a public 

house (the Lord Nelson) broadly to the north/north-west with the 

village hall, tennis courts and doctors surgery and another public 

house (the Lion’s Head formerly owned by Mr. Yates, who gave 

evidence at the Inquiry) to the south/south-east. 

(iv) In addition, there is of course significant housing close to and 

around the Application Land. Much of the housing is on the 

opposite side to the School and village shop. 

(v) My strong impression was that the Copse is also an attraction and 

destination in its own right, as was seen from the evidence from 

some of the witness for both the Applicant and the Objectors. The 

Copse constitutes a little under 40% of the overall area of the 

Application Land. 

 

5.30 The Objectors’ primary contention (on this issue) is that any proven use 

of the field would have had to them, as reasonably vigilant landowners, 

the objective appearance of the exercise of public rights of way over 

defined routes, rather than LSP over the whole of a much wider area of 

land.43 They say that any use outside of these tracks would have been 

occasional and/or ancillary to the exercise of putative rights of way over 

the land. The Objectors also contend that several problems arise with 

relying on the Applicant’s evidence to discover the pattern of use over the 

relevant period.44 

 

5.31 The Applicant, however, contends that evidence given at inquiries will 

invariably represent only a fraction of the actual use of the land and it is 

reasonable to infer that in reality that general pattern of user was 

followed by a much greater number of local inhabitants. The Applicant 

further contends that there is a presumption of continuing user unless 

evidence to the contrary suggests otherwise. The Applicant also contends 

                                                        
43 See [8] on p.4 of the Objectors’ Closing Submissions 
44 See [2] on pp. 2-3 of the Objectors’ Closing Submissions 

Page 385



 100 

that the locally controversial nature of the Application encouraged by 

letters and public statements from the Objectors makes it reasonable to 

assume that less evidence of users was given than might otherwise have 

been expected.45 

 

5.32 Having heard and reviewed the evidence and submissions in detail, my 

overall impression (illustrated by specific reference to some but not all of 

the evidence that I have taken into account) is as follows: 

(1) A significant proportion of those on the field during the relevant 

period have been crossing the land to and from in particular the 

school, the shop, the doctors’ surgery, the two public houses and 

the village hall. This is hardly surprising given the location and 

open nature of the field. The nature of Middleton Road would in 

my view also encourage walkers to try and avoid using that route. 

The tracks seen on the land throughout the relevant period are 

consistent with that. Mr. Paton said that, besides dog walking, the 

field was used mainly to cross and accepted that most people 

would say that it was used for transit. Mr. Rickard said that he 

mainly used the field to get from one side of the field to the other. 

Dr. Flindell’s own use was consistent with using the field to cross. 

Mrs. House said that the main use of the field by adults was for 

crossing but that children would play on the field as it was “a nice 

open space”. Mr. Day said that it is mainly people and dog walkers 

crossing that you see. Mr. Clark said that the main route across the 

land was diagonally from Highland Crescent to the south-east 

corner, although it should be noted his evidence only covers 2008 

onwards. Mr. Fry (for the Objectors) had used the same route.  

Mr. Hardiman estimated the split of transit and recreational use 

was 50/50. Taking account of the evidence overall, and each 

party’s comments on the witnesses, my own distinct impression is 

                                                        
45 Applicant’s Closing Submission at [2] – [6] on pp. 1-3 

Page 386



 101 

that the transit uses would have been greater than that, and 

probably noticeably so. 

(2)  When walking across the land in such a way, such use would have 

appeared to a reasonably vigilant landowner as the exercising of a 

right of way and not a greater right than that. I apply that also to 

those crossing but observing their surroundings on the way. If they 

remain on their “route” across but stop to observe the wildlife 

adjacent to the path or across the field then in my view it would be 

difficult for a reasonable landowner to interpret that as asserting a 

greater right than a right of way. 

(3) There appears no doubt that some users of the land would have 

strayed from their path and that use might properly be considered 

by a reasonably vigilant owner as asserting a greater right, namely 

that consistent with a village green. However, whether that was 

sufficient in itself or combined with other assertions of such a 

right, has to be carefully considered taking into account the 

significant number of users on the land not asserting such a right.  

(4) Further, my impression of the oral evidence was that many of 

those on the land would have had dogs with them. That impression 

was re-enforced when I reviewed the EQs and statements of those 

who have not given evidence at the Inquiry. Mrs. Hazard said (in-

re-ex) that people walking their dogs were mainly going up the 

middle of the field and mainly using the tracks. I have little doubt 

that many of the dogs would have been let off the lead and ran 

around. I have also no doubt that there would have been a mixture 

of that happening whilst the owner walked straight across the field 

and those where the owner stopped and/or walked around the 

fields as the dog exercise over the field.  

(5) Consistent with that, was the evidence of the throwing of objects 

for dogs to retrieve. Mr. Broadley (for the Objectors) had 

witnessed this, although Mr. Yates and Mrs. Fry (also for the 

Objectors) had not. In my view, even if that activity were being 

carried on by those people who were walking straight across the 

Page 387



 102 

field, such an activity would be, and be perceived by a reasonable 

landowner to be, more akin to an assertion of a greater right. My 

impression of the evidence was that this was often more than just 

a dog owner retrieving an errant dog in a way that it would be 

unreasonable to a land owner to attribute an assertion of a greater 

right to (adopting the approach of Sullivan J in Laing Homes (at 

[104]). I also take into account that there has also been some dog 

training and socializing on the field. 

(6) There is clear evidence in my view also of a small number of 

people regularly parking in the morning at the Village Hall and 

letting their dogs out briefly to go to the toilet on the southern part 

of the field close to the Village Hall car park. I have considered this 

to be LSP, albeit I have also taken into account the short duration 

and confinement to the southern area of the land of this particular 

aspect of dog walking. However, as recorded above, that is by no 

means the only evidence of dog walking on the field. 

(7) There have been other uses on the field but in my view less 

regularly and less extensively than the walking across and the dog 

walking. These would have included infrequent kite flying (Mr. 

Crossland refers to this happening 2-3 times a year, although that 

is post 2005); riding of bikes; the infrequent kick around on the 

shorter grass (Mr. Day); “fooling around” by children – including 

hide and seek in the longer grass; infrequent frisbee (Mr. Day); 

infrequent flying of model aircraft. Mrs. Fooks saw an archer. 

People would run over and perhaps to a limited extent around the 

field, the latter being more referable to LSP, if it was not 

reasonably perceived as someone just running across/through the 

land.46 Dr. Putman used the land for observing nature, as did 

others. Mr. Crossland taught his daughter to ride alongside the 

Copse, when she was 9 years old in 2006.  

(8) My impression of the evidence was that the field was not used to 

any great extent for ball games, picnics, informal gatherings. 
                                                        
46 See paragraph 45 on pp. 13-4 of the Applicant’s Closing Submissions 

Page 388



 103 

However, I do accept that people would stop and chat together – if 

that was done whilst people were crossing the land only, then that 

would not qualify. If they chatted otherwise than whilst transiting 

the land in a direct way, then that might well constitute LSP. It may 

have been difficult, however, for a reasonable land owner to 

distinguish the two so as to interpret this as an assertion of a 

greater right than that of a right of way. 

(9)  I note the evidence of Mrs. House relating to her use (at least once 

per week) with children between 1993-2003. The children would 

play in the long grass at the southern end of the field – the girls 

tended, she said, to collect things for craft, whilst the boys 

ventured into the Copse to play with sticks and on the rope swings. 

Mr. Crossland also referred to his daughters running around at the 

bottom of the field to the east of the Copse. That was between 

2005-08. 

(10) My impression also was of seasonal blackberrying (August – 

September – alongside and at the corner of the Copse near 

Highfield Crescent and along inside of Middleton Road) and sloe 

picking (Autumn when there had been a frost – also along the 

inside of Middleton Road) as well sledging and snowball fights 

when the winter weather brought snow and ice. Although the 

former are seasonal and the latter only occurred on a few years in 

the relevant 20-year period (but may have lasted on each occasion 

for 3-4 days), these activities are LSP and cannot be ignored. The 

tobogganing took place more on the northern part of the field, 

where there is the steepest slope. They have to be taken into 

account in the overall assessment of how the use of the land by 

local inhabitants would have looked to the reasonably vigilant 

landowner. The seasonal nature of such activities and of LSP 

generally (with seasonal fluctuations in the degree of use) is a 

feature and of course does not itself preclude registration.47 

                                                        
47 See paragraphs [46] – [52] on pp. 14-15 of the Applicant’s Closing Submissions 

Page 389



 104 

(11) With regard to the Copse, I agree with the Applicant’s 

characterization of this as “somewhat of a magnet” for children 

living nearby.48 Indeed, I would go further than that as I consider 

the Copse to be an inherent attraction to children and many adults 

too, and there was a lot of evidence consistent with that. That was 

exemplified perhaps by Mrs. Hazard’s description of the Copse and 

her wish to have her ashes scattered there. That was also 

consistent with others, including Mr. Paton.  

(12) As indicated above, my very strong impression is that to many 

people the Copse was a destination in its own right. That was in my 

view more so than the field. The main, but as recorded above not 

only, attraction of the field was for crossing to and from the 

different parts of the village.  

(13) In terms of the attraction of the Copse, Mrs. House’s evidence was 

consistent with that – she had not realised that the Copse was part 

of the same land and was privately owned. Many witnesses 

referred to for example the bluebells, celandines, wood anemones, 

primroses, wild raspberries and crab apples in the Copse. It was an 

obvious “stopping off” point for play for children on their way 

home – Mr. Beagle specifically referred to this. It seems clear that 

children would even go in there in less inclement weather (see the 

evidence of e.g. Mrs. House, Mr. Day [albeit only re. 2008-11]). The 

main non-crossing use of the land, which Mr. Rickard referred to, 

was of the Copse by children. Mrs. House said that there would 

always be people playing in the woods and that it would be used 

more for activities than the field. Mrs. Fooks’ son played “more in 

the Copse” and she saw children playing in the Copse and “spilling 

out into the areas around”. 

 

5.33 However, that overall impression is not itself sufficient to demonstrate 

compliance with the section 15(3) criteria. From that overall impression, 

therefore, I now consider whether the Applicant has demonstrated on the 
                                                        
48 Paragraph 33 on p.11 of the Applicant’s Closing Submissions. 

Page 390



 105 

balance of probability that the land as a whole has been used for LSP by a 

significant number of local inhabitants for the relevant 20-year period.  

 

5.34 This discounting of non-qualifying use is not an altogether easy exercise 

to carry out where as here a significant, and in my view the main, use of 

the land is for crossing on foot, as if exercising a right of way. The onus is 

upon the Applicant to demonstrate compliance with the statutory 

requirement. I also have to take into account that the law of prescription 

is based upon how it would have appeared to the owner. Acquiescence by 

the owner is the foundation of prescription.49 Although Mr. Sheppard, and 

Mrs. Sheppard to a lesser extent, was by no means an absentee owner and 

did observe and go to the Application Land and of course live nearby, I 

have used the test of the vigilant land owner and assumed a more 

frequent observation and checking of the land. 

 

5.35 Looking at the land as a whole and the evidence as a whole: 

(1) I note the criticism by the Objectors that of the witnesses giving 

evidence at the Inquiry in support of the Application, only 2 users 

cover periods for 20 or more years and 5 for between 10-15 

years.50 

(2) However, it is important to look at the totality of the oral evidence  

- the oral evidence presents itself, as is common in TVG cases, as a 

jigsaw of different and often overlapping periods in terms of the 

evidence given. It is also important to take into account, as I have 

done, where these witnesses refer to seeing others on the land 

using it for LSP. There are also the other statements and EQs and 

documentation to be taken into account.  

(3) Nonetheless, I do have serious concerns, as detailed below, about 

the totality of that evidence with regard to demonstrating the use 

of the Application Land as a whole throughout the whole of the 20-

year period. I have concerns about some exaggeration of the 

                                                        
49 See Barkas [2014] UKSC 31 at [17] – [19]. 
50 Objectors’ Closing Submissions at [4]-[5] 

Page 391



 106 

recreational uses, as I judged it, in respect of certain elements of 

the Applicant’s evidence. For example, although I would not wish 

to overstate this, I share to some extent the Objectors’ concern as 

to the way the additional photographs of the Copse were 

submitted and then withdrawn.51 I had specific concerns also 

about Mrs. Stevens’ evidence on recreational use, which, and I 

mean no offence to her, seemed exaggerated to me. Also, I was not 

entirely convinced that Mr. Hardiman’s recollections were a fully 

accurate reflection of the likely position. I should make it clear that 

in no case I am suggesting there was any deliberate misleading by, 

or bad faith on the part of, these witnesses. However, it is natural 

that a witness’ evidence may be influenced (often sub-consciously) 

by their desire to maintain the current use of the land. 

(4) Although not of course determinative and again on its own not to 

be given too much significance, I note the lack of photographs of 

LSP being carried out on the land. There were relatively few 

photographs produced in support of the Application and those that 

there were related to the later part of the relevant 20-year period. 

Such photographs are, in my experience, commonly produced in 

support of TVG applications. 

(5) As indicated above, it is my clear impression that apart from the 

Copse the main attraction of the Application Land was the use of 

the field to transit as if using a right of way. The January 2012 

application to modify the MDS and the Highways Authority’s 

analysis of the evidence supporting that is consistent with that 

impression.52 

(6) If no dog walking that qualified as LSP had taken place on the 

Application Land during the 20-year period, there would in my 

view be no doubt that remaining evidence of LSP was not itself 

sufficient to show, on the balance of probability, qualifying use of 

                                                        
51 Objectors’ Closing Submissions at [2.3] on p.2 
52 AB/B Tab 12 at BB2 pp.1-7 

Page 392



 107 

the whole land by a significant number of local inhabitants in 

terms of how it would be been seen by the reasonable landowner. 

(7) However, the field clearly was attractive to dog walkers and I don’t 

doubt a lot of that use has been of a nature that qualifies as LSP as 

would have been perceived by a reasonable land owner aware of 

TVG rights. That use has to be considered together with the other 

qualifying LSP uses.  

(8) However, even considering the totality of the qualifying evidence, 

my overall impression is that the Applicant has not demonstrated 

sufficiency of use for the Application Land as a whole throughout 

the 20-year period. That impression applies overall, given the 

degree of use of the Application Land that was clearly not LSP and 

that which it would have been difficult for a reasonable land owner 

to interpret as an assertion of village green rights.  

(9) Moreover, I also have particular concern with regard the earlier 

part of the 20-year period, as detailed below. This in itself is, in my 

view, reason alone for concluding that the statutory criteria have 

not been met in this respect. 

 

5.36  With regard to the earlier part of the relevant 20-year period in respect 

of the field, I note the following: 

(1) The last crop was sown in 1988. Thus the land was not used for the 

growing of a crop for 2 years or over before the start of the 20-

year period. 

(2) There is no convincing evidence of the field being used for LSP or 

walking even prior to it being set aside, although I am aware that 

there was some claim of that in support of the modification order. 

This is therefore not a piece of land, other than the Copse, that has 

a history of recreational use for any significant period prior to the 

commencement of the 20-year period. 

(3) So the LSP itself has come in essence from a “standing start”. 

Although I accept that it may be possible that qualifying user by a 

significant number of local inhabitants might in some 

Page 393



 108 

circumstances build up to a sufficient level quite quickly, I would 

be surprised if that happened in this case. I would have expected 

that any use of the land would have build up over time as people 

saw others on the land and got used to the idea that they could go 

onto it with apparent impunity. 

(4) What I consider would have been be more likely in this case would 

be that people would have started using the field as a short cut, 

given the location of the site in relation to the housing and village 

facilities and the character of Middleton Road as referred to above. 

In my view, that traversing use would be likely to have build up 

over time. Likewise I would expect, given the creation of the tracks 

to cross and the openness of the land that over time people would 

also use it for wider recreational uses, within the meaning of LSP 

and in particular dog walking. 

(5) My clear impression of this being the likely position in this case is 

supported by the following: 

(a) Although I fully acknowledge that one has to look at the 

evidence as a whole and I have done so, I consider it 

important to note that few witnesses for the Applicant 

covered the full 20-year period. Indeed many covered a 

much shorter period.  

(b) The two witnesses for the Applicant who appeared at the 

Inquiry that did cover that period were Dr. Putman and Mr. 

Rickard. I mean no disrespect to either by saying that Mr. 

Rickard’s evidence of LSP on the field was not strong. Dr 

Putman was patently to my mind an honest witness. 

However, the evidence on LSP was not in my view 

particularly specific or convincing with regard to the use of 

the field. I again emphasise that this evidence has to be, as I 

have done, considered along with all other evidence. 

However, my particular concern in this context is the 

evidence of use of the field for qualifying purposes in the 

early part of the 20-year period i.e. from 1991- mid 1990s.  

Page 394



 109 

(c) In terms of the 15 oral witness, the following witnesses 

(additional to Dr Putman and Mr. Rickard) gave evidence 

that cover some part of the 1990s: 

(i) Mr. Paton who said that the main use was to cross 

the land. 

(ii) Dr. Flindell referred to use of the field since the 

summer of 1994 but didn’t take his dog there until 

1997. 

(iii) Julia House gave evidence of the use of the land since 

1993: and her evidence related mainly to the use of 

the field near to the Village Hall and the Copse. 

(iv) Christine Stevens  said that children would play on 

the field in 1986/7 – in a “hole in field” – when the 

wheat there. I have concerns regarding the 

reliability of that evidence and in any event I have 

taken into account the possibility of children 

occasionally playing in the crops in concluding there 

was no meaningful LSP on the land prior to it being 

sat aside in 1988/9. 

(v) Elizabeth Page didn’t use the land before 1994/6. 

(d) I have considered the other EQs and letters/statements in 

support of the Application. The Applicant has said that 

some people have chosen not to give evidence because of 

the Objectors’ response to the TVG Application. I am not in 

a position to comment or draw any conclusions on that but 

I would note that this can happen to both sides’ potential 

witnesses, particularly where there is division within the 

community. Nonetheless, I have taken full account of the 

evidence in written form on behalf of the Application. This 

has of course not been tested and the weight I can give to 

them therefore has to reflect that. In any event, I note and 

have taken into account that: 

Page 395



 110 

(i) David Acton, Carol and Michael Andrews and Rose 

Maylin were witnesses originally listed to attend the 

Inquiry but in the end were not able to but their 

written evidence is relied upon (see AB/A Tab 4). 

The Andrews’ statement refers to people crossing 

the land and dog walkers at the weekend. They say 

over the years that they regularly used pathways to 

cut across the field to visit the Copse to view the 

Bluebells and taking their grandchildren to look at 

the flowers in the woods. They do refer to activities 

on the field (see also their answer to Q.23 of their 

EQ), in addition to dog walking but the evidence is 

not specific as to the years other than saying they 

have lived in Middleton Road for the past 28 years. 

The answer to Q.14 of their EQ is “For walking 

mainly. Sledging.” Mr. Acton refers to using the field 

many times between 1992 and 1995 to fly model 

aircraft and model rockets. Rose Maylin has lived in 

Winterslow since 1998. So neither of those cover the 

early/ middle 1990s period. 

(ii) Of the 7 statements and EQs of witnesses that the 

Applicant had not intended and did not call (Tab 5 of 

AB/A), 3 cover some part of the 1990s. One 

(F.M.Marks) deals with the period from 1994 and it 

is not clear what recreation of the land took place by 

that individual beyond walking across the land. The 

statement of David Platt refers (for the 1990s 

period) to his wife and her 2 children moving in with 

him in Woodland Drive and the children growing up 

using the open space to go to and from various 

activities such as tennis and badminton in the village 

hall and playing with friends. Mr. Platt’s answer to 

Q.14 of his EQ (p.205) refers to him walking and 

Page 396



 111 

running on the land to gain access to the Common, 

Surgery and Village Hall without having to go on the 

road. Jean Radnege (p.210) moved into Woodland 

Drive in 1991 and again refers to using the land as a 

short cut. Although she refers to LSP uses, it is not 

clear exactly when these took place and how often. 

(iii) Of the EQs in of AB/A Tab 6, many do cover the 

earlier period but again they are not specific enough 

and have not been tested so do not change my 

overall impression regarding lack of sufficiency 

either overall or during this earlier part of the 20-

year period. 

(e)  I have also considered the evidence in support of the 

Objectors (and taken account of the Applicant’s 

submissions on this) in so far as relevant to this aspect and 

note in particular: 

(i) Mr. Fry said that initially there was only one 

informal path in 1991. 

(ii) Mrs. Hazard said that she used the land to walk her 

dogs after 1991. However, it was not clear to me 

how long after and she did not provide detailed 

evidence of LSP at that time.  

(iii) Mrs. Loader started crossing the field in 1989. 

However, her evidence did not support LSP at that 

time to any meaningful degree. 

(iv) Mrs. Fry was asked (in xx) to confirm that use of the 

land by people walking started in 1990 – she said 

that she couldn’t recall walking until later. 

(v) The Applicant states that it is clear that the field was 

in regular use by 1990/1.53 It is further contended 

that Mr. Sheppard confirmed that there were a 

number of well-established tracks across the field by 
                                                        
53 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [12] on p.6 

Page 397



 112 

1991 and accepted their presence that it was in 

regular use at that point. It is important to consider 

Mr. Sheppard’s evidence (as well as the other 

evidence) on the aspect as a whole to draw the 

appropriate impression and conclusion. Mr. 

Sheppard said that when topping in 1988 he was 

aware of the tracks and that it probably took 2-3 

years for the tracks to be formed and by 1991 there 

were tracks – several tracks. However, Mr. Sheppard 

also said that the tracks got more definite over time. 

That is why he took action in 1998. So although he 

indicated tracks perhaps at the outset, clearly the 

use of the land was growing. This does not provide 

in any event itself a lot of support however for the 

LSP at that early time in the relevant period.  

(vi) I also note that there are no aerial photographs of 

the 1990s presented by either party in respect of the 

TVG Application. However, there were 1981 and 

1991 aerial photographs referred to in relation to 

Mr. Clark’s application for a modification order to 

the DMS. At paragraph 17 of the Highways 

Authority’s Decision Report it is stated: 

 The aerial photograph taken in 1981 in Wiltshire 

Council’s possession shows the field in which the 

claimed paths cross has been ploughed and cropped 

with no routes show on the line of the claimed paths. 

The 1991 aerial photograph shows the route of the 

existing path Winterslow 42 very clearly defined but 

no other clearly defined routes are shown on the 

claimed footpaths. The aerial photographs are 

attached as BB3.54 I acknowledge that aerial 

                                                        
54 OB/A Tab 8 at p.38; see also the Modification Order Inspector’s comments on this at [22] – 
OB/A Tab 8 at p. 67 

Page 398



 113 

photographs are not definitive even for tracks/paths 

but this does offer some further support my overall 

impression of what the position was likely to have 

been. 

(vii) I also take into account the Applicant’s reference to 

Mr. Fry’s recollection of the development meeting in 

the Village Hall in about 1994-95 where some 

people suggested that the Application Land was 

common land.55 That is not inconsistent with my 

overall impression. 

 

5.37 The land has to be looked at as a whole and of course  not every foot of 

the land has to be covered by LSP.56 I have taken into account the 

Applicant’s submission on this and reference to the relevant passages in 

the Trap Grounds case on this, as recorded above. I have also taken into 

account the Applicant’s contention that “there is a presumption of 

continuing user unless evidence to the contrary suggests otherwise”.57 

However, any such presumption has to be considered in the context of the 

burden on the Applicant to demonstrate compliance with the statutory 

criteria. In any event, in my view the evidence has not demonstrated 

sufficient qualifying use of the Application Land as a whole taking into 

account the use of the Copse throughout the 20-year period and in 

particular during the early years. For the avoidance of doubt, I should 

make it clear that I have reached this view without discounting any use as 

being contentious.  

 

5.38 With regard to the Copse, the Objectors contend (in their Closing and 

Supplemental Closing Submissions) that any proven use of it would have 

had the objective appearance of the exercise of public rights of way over 

defined routes rather than LSP to a degree that was significant over the 

                                                        
55 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at 69(b) on pp.20-21 
56 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at paragraph [57] on p.17 
57 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [2] on pp.1-1 

Page 399



 114 

whole of the land. Reliance is placed on Mr. Paton’s evidence that around 

5-10% of the Copse was made up of the paths. 

 

5.39 The Copse of course was not itself subject to the change in the agricultural 

regime. As the Applicant said, and as was my distinct impression, the 

Copse has been in regular for LSP use for long before 1991.58 I of course 

recognise that whilst the land was in arable production it does not seem 

that people, certainly in any meaningful number, would have accessed it 

from the field. However, it was open and unfenced from the school path 

throughout the 20-year period and for very many years before, as I 

understood. Thus in my view the Copse can be in respect of use 

throughout the 20-year period be distinguished from the field. Further, 

whilst the field was in arable use and probably for a little period beyond, 

the Copse would have been even more of an entity unto itself than when 

the field was used for people to cross and for LSP.  The evidence on the 

use of that area seems much clearer to me.  

 

5.40 Whilst the Objectors strongly contend otherwise, there has been sufficient 

qualifying LSP use of the Copse itself to indicate to a reasonable owner 

that a village green right was being asserted of the Copse as a whole 

(applying the approach in the Trap Grounds case), even if at times not all 

parts were accessible by reason of the vegetation. I have taken into 

account the coppicing regime, with that activity mainly in winter, but that 

in no way alters my overall impression with regard to use of the Coppice. 

I accept and find convincing the Applicant’s Supplemental Submissions on 

this issue. 

 

5.41 Mr. Sheppard did not understand, and had not been advised upon at that 

time, the distinction between such rights and rights of way. My clear 

impression of his evidence and that of Mrs. Sheppard was that unless 

someone was doing anything untoward in the Copse they would have and 

did tolerate that use. In many ways, whilst they will not thank me for my 
                                                        
58 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at paragraph [12] on p.5 

Page 400



 115 

conclusion on this, the owners are to be commended, as it was clear 

(particularly from Mrs. Sheppard’s words at the Inquiry) that they always 

considered it entirely appropriate and fair that the enjoyment of that area 

should not be kept from others. Hence they have clearly tolerated the use 

of the Copse for recreational purposes. 

 

5.42 However, I of course have based my assessment, as does the RA, on the 

evidence and the statutory criteria. For the avoidance of doubt, therefore, 

on that basis it is my view that on the balance of probability the use of the 

copse as a whole throughout the 20-year period to 4th April 2011 was 

sufficient for the owners, if they had been aware of such rights, to 

recognise that they were being asserted.  

 

5.43 For the further avoidance of any doubt, I should again make it clear that I 

have considered whether the use of the Copse for LSP throughout the 20-

year period makes the use of the land as a whole sufficient. For the 

reasons given above in respect of the field I do not consider that can on 

the evidence be properly concluded. 

 

5.44 I therefore accept the Applicant’s submission with regard to the Copse.59 I 

also note that the Applicant contended that if, contrary to their principal 

contention, the LSP use was not considered sufficient to over the whole 

Application Land the RA would be entitled to register only that part of the 

land upon which the statutory test has been satisfied.60 I was invited to 

consider this option in that event.  

 

5.45 Finally, I should further make it clear that I have been referring so far to 

the land in the Copse owned by the Objectors. I noticed on my site visit 

that there would appear to have been fencing and between their land in 

the Copse and that of the Council. The Council’s land is a distinct and 

largely inaccessible part of the Copse. I have no evidence before me of 

                                                        
59 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [91] on p.28. 
60 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [10] on pp. 4-5 

Page 401



 116 

that north-western part of the Copse being accessed and used for LSP. 

Therefore, on the evidence available, although the Council has not 

objected as such to their land being registered in my view it should not in 

any event be included in any land to be registered as a TVG. I am very 

grateful to both the Applicant and the Objectors who have expressed, in 

their Supplemental Submission, views on this aspect that are consistent 

with what I observed and understood.  

 

 Conclusion on the Sufficiency of Use Issue 

5.46 The main use of the land has been for transiting to and from different 

parts of the village. The main use of the Land for LSP has been dog 

walking on the field and there have also been other qualifying uses on the 

field but to a greater extent in the Copse.  

 

5.47 However, the Applicant has not demonstrated sufficiency of qualifying 

use for the Application Land as a whole throughout the 20-year period, 

even taking into account the use of the Copse. That lack of sufficiency of 

LSP use relates overall given the degree of use of the Application Land 

that was clearly not LSP and that which it would have been difficult for a 

reasonable land owner to interpret as an assertion of village green rights. 

However, there is also a particular concern with regard the earlier part of 

the 20-year period. 

 

5.48 The exception to this conclusion is the Copse. This has an attraction and 

destination in its own right. In the circumstances a reasonable landowner 

could not be expected to attribute the use of the Copse to the land as a 

whole and thus  interpret this as an assertion of right over the whole 

Application Land. Sufficiency of LSP use of the Copse as of right has been 

demonstrated throughout at least the relevant 20-year period.  

 

Page 402



 117 

5.49 The only exception to this relates to the north-west corner of the Copse, 

which is in separate ownership to the Objectors and appears to have been 

fenced off and separate from the remainder of the Copse. 

 

 

The By Force Issue 

 The 2009 Signs Issue 

5.50 There is no dispute that two posts each with a small green notice of about 

5 x 4 inches were in place for a number of days in February 2009. The 

position of these posts is seen on the plan and aerial photograph in OB/A 

Tab 9. Their position both in the ground and when removed is seen in the 

photographs in OB/A Tab10. 

 

5.51 What is disputed is the period of time that they were in place for, the 

visibility of the posts and signs and the effect of them with regard to use 

of the field. It is accepted by the Objectors that they were not directed to 

the use of the Copse.61 

 

5.52 The problem that Mr. Sheppard was seeking to address was people 

walking over his land. He spoke to Wiltshire Council’s rights of way 

department, which advised him to erect the signs that they gave him on 

posts. This he did with his son on 7th February 2009 and re-erected on 

13th February. The signs stated:  

WILTSHIRE  

COUNTY COUNCIL 

NO PUBLIC  

RIGHT OF WAY 

THANK YOU 

 

                                                        
61 Paragraph 29(j) on p.33 of the Objectors’ Closing Submissions 

Page 403



 118 

5.53 The Applicant contrasts this wording, in my view correctly, with the 

wording on the 4 much larger red and white signs erected in June 2012 

stating:62 

PRIVATE 

PROPERTY 

PLEASE KEEP OFF 

  

5.54 Although Mr. Sheppard believes the signs were up from the 7th February 

continuously until the 13th February 2009 (as he said he went back to 

check every day between 7th and 13th February), there is some evidence 

that would suggest otherwise.63  

 

5.55 Many people said that they did not see the posts or signs. Some did see 

them and some saw just one. I am not entirely surprised that some people 

stated that they did not see them, although I am a little surprised how 

many. That may partly be the result of a combination of factors such as 

the short period of time that they were in place; the time of the year; the 

fact that some users were only on a limited part of the field and/or they 

were on the land when the light was not good. I also find it more difficult, 

to understand that some people who saw the posts did not realize that 

they displayed signs. I accept the signs themselves were very small and 

not obvious but I would have thought natural curiosity would lead most 

people (if not all) to ascertain the purpose of a post that suddenly 

appeared, sticking well up from the ground. 

 

5.56 It is not the fault of Mr. Sheppard that the signs were torn down. I also 

expect that the posts were removed by someone who took issue with the 

owners’ challenge of their use of the land. However, there is no direct 

evidence on this and it would be inappropriate of me to speculate on the 

motives of those responsible.  

 

                                                        
62 OB/A Tab 11 
63 See e.g. Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [73] on p.22 

Page 404



 119 

5.57 I have carefully taken into account the submissions of both parties and 

the Betterment and Oxfordshire Mental Health Trust cases. Based on those 

legal authorities, the fundamental question is what the notices conveyed 

to those using the field.  

 

5.58 In my view, even if they had remained in the ground and displayed, the 

notices were not effective in rendering the recreational use contentious. I 

have reached this conclusion having regard, in particular, to: 

(1) The submissions made by the Objectors, including the specific 

relevant factors referred to and relied upon in paragraph 24.64 

(2) Whilst some users understood the sign to be excluding all 

trespassers, I do not accept that should be assumed to apply to the 

reasonable user standing in the position of the actual user. It 

cannot be assumed that the users were aware of the section 31(6) 

declarations and the significance of these. 

(3) Given the background of the clear tracks across the paths that 

appear to have increased during the 1990s and 2000s, the 

reasonable user would in my view be likely to read it as referring 

to rights of way rather than wider recreational use rights. As the 

Applicant points out, their position next to the diagonal footpath 

used as the main short cut across the field, is consistent with 

that.65 

(4) In my view the signs did not contest the recreational use and in 

any event at best the wording was ambiguous. 

(5) It is also my view that there was something that readily could have 

been done by the owners that was proportionate. Indeed, it was 

done in terms of the 4 red and white signs. However, those of 

course are not relevant to the claim in respect of the 20-year 

period. 

 

                                                        
64 In particular [16]-[25] on pp. 6-10 of the Objectors’ Closing Submission 
65 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [83] on p.26 

Page 405



 120 

5.59 Although I have considered and reached my conclusion on the wording in 

the context of this case, I do note that the wording of the sign in the 

Oxfordshire Mental Health Trust (Warneford Meadow case) case is the 

same. The Objectors contend that the circumstances of the two cases are 

distinguishable. 66 The Objectors refer in particular to paragraphs 13, 22, 

41, 49, 52 and 53 of the Judgment in that case. I note that in paragraph 41 

of the Judgment reference is made to the Inspector’s Report, where he 

found that the purpose of the signs was to prevent two paths from 

acquiring the status of public rights of way and that the landowner had no 

objection to general public recreational access to the Meadow but only to 

the creation of public rights of way. However, as noted in paragraphs 

22(7) & (8) of the Judgment, it was held that of itself the subjective 

intention of the owner cannot assist in ascertaining the meaning of a 

notice. Further, as the Inspector went on to say (in paragraph 41) if the 

signs had intended to forbid general access to the Meadow, he did not 

understand why they did not say so. Therefore, in my view I do not see 

the distinction that the Objectors rely upon and indeed the passages 

referred to do not, in my opinion, assist the Objectors but are consistent 

with the Applicant’s position and my own conclusion on this aspect. 

 

5.60 The Objectors also put forward a default position. That position is that 

any objection from them to a lesser burden (rights of way) must by 

necessary implication also have included objection to the more onerous 

burden (TVG rights). Given the approach in the current legal authorities 

and in particular in the Warneford Meadow case, I cannot accept that 

submission.  

 

5.61 I should also make it clear, in case it was being made as a separate point, 

that I am unable to accept the submission made by the Objectors that “as 

a pure matter of law” section 31(6) means that any use for LSP cannot be 

as of right. Such an interpretation would in my view be contrary to the 

                                                        
66 Objectors’ Closing Submissions at [22]- [23] 

Page 406



 121 

distinction recognized in the legal authorities between TVG rights and 

rights of way. 

 

5.62 In my view, it is likely that there were earlier signs. Several witnesses 

referred to these. However, the evidence on them is too vague to assess 

whether it can properly be concluded that they rendered the use 

contentious. I have therefore not taken these into account. The Objectors 

do not rely upon them. 

 

The Breaching of the Highfield Crescent Fence 

5.63 There seems to be no dispute that there has been for many years a gap in 

the fence at Highfield Crescent as seen in photograph 23B (OB/A Tab 5). 

Mr. Yates also referred to another gap in front of his house and to his 

having repaired that. 

 

5.64 As the Applicant says, the fence did not belong to them and was not 

repaired by them. The principle from the Betterment case is that it would 

be a direct infringement of the principle that rights of property cannot be 

acquired by force or by unlawful means for the Court to ignore the 

landowner's clear and repeated demonstration of his opposition to the 

use of the land simply because it was obliterated by the unlawful acts of 

local inhabitants. However, the difficulty in this case was that the fencing 

did not amount to any demonstration from the owners themselves, save 

possibly in respect of the repairs in 2009 when Mr. Sheppard asked the 

Council to repair the fence. Further, the land could be readily accessed 

without breaking through a fence from north, south, east and west. 

 

5.65 For those reasons, I have not discounted any of the Application Land for 

LSP as contentious by reason of the fencing along Highfield Crescent. Even 

if I had, any discount of use on that basis would not have altered my 

overall Conclusions with regard to the use of the Copse as a whole (apart 

from the north-west part), and that area only, for LSP being in accordance 

with section 15(3).  

Page 407



 122 

 OVERALL CONCLUSIONS 

5.66 The Application Land consists of readily accessible agricultural land that 

was in set aside throughout the relevant period and a Copse, with the 

latter making up about 40% of the overall site. My clear impression was 

that main use of the land has been for transiting to and from different 

parts of the village. There has also undoubtedly been LSP uses carried out 

on the Application Land and the Copse. The main use of the Land for LSP 

has been dog walking on the field and there have also been other 

qualifying uses.  

 

5.67 However, the Applicant has not demonstrated sufficiency of qualifying 

use for the Application Land as a whole throughout the 20-year period. 

That relates overall given the degree of use of the Application Land that 

was clearly not LSP and that which it would have been difficult for a 

reasonable land owner to interpret as an assertion of village green rights. 

Moreover, I also have a particular concern with regard the earlier part of 

the 20-year period. 

 

5.68 The exception to this conclusion is the Copse. This was, during the 

relevant period, an attraction and destination in its own right. Sufficiency 

of LSP use of the Copse as of right has been demonstrated throughout at 

least the relevant 20-year period. The only exception to this relates to the 

north-west corner, which is in separate ownership to the Objectors and 

appears to have been fenced off and separate from the remainder of the 

Copse as both the Applicant and Objectors have helpfully agreed. 

 

5.69 The two signs put up in 2009 did not in the circumstances make any use 

of the land for LSP contentious. The breaches of the Highfield Crescent 

fencing relied upon by the Objectors issue has no bearing on my overall 

assessment and I have reached the above conclusions taking no account 

of the effect of these breaches. 

 

Page 408



 123 

5.70 Accordingly, I conclude that the Application only satisfies the criteria 

within section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 in respect of the Copse but 

not in respect of that part of the Copse in the north-west corner owned by 

Wiltshire Council. 

 

 

6. RECOMMENDATION 

6.1 For the reasons set out in section 5 of this Report, I recommend to the 

Registration Authority:  

The Application by Winterslow Opposed to Over Development 

(WOOD) under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 be approved 

but only to the extent that Brown’s Copse is registered as a town or 

village green in its entirety, other than the north-west corner of the 

Copse that is owned by Wiltshire Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 STEPHEN MORGAN 

 Landmark Chambers 

 London EC4A 2HG      10 March 2015 

Page 409



APPENDIX E – INSPECTOR’S REPORT (MR STEPHEN MORGAN, LANDMARK    
CHAMBERS - 10 MARCH 2015) 

Page 410



P
age 411



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 2 
Activities Undertaken 
 
 

1 
 

Activities Undertaken 
 

Witness (Please note the witness 
evidence forms have been numbered 1 
– 63, the number relates to the witness 
evidence form) 
 

Walking dogs 1,2,4,5,6,7,8,9,11,13,14,15,21,22,25,26
,29,30,31,32,34,39,40,41,42,44,45,48,5
1,55,58,60,61,62,63 

Sledging 1,2,3,5,14,15,19,21,24,35,42,51,53,60 
Walking to local copse (to view bluebells) 1,3,9,12,14,18,19,32,38,40,51,59 
Walking various other FP’s 1,4,59 
Local recreation ground 1,11 
Playing with friends (early 90’s) 1 
Walking  1,2,3,4,5,10,12,13,14,16,18,19,20,21,2

2,23,24,26,27,28,29,35,37,39,41,42,44,
45,46,47,50,51,53,54,59,62 

Nature spotting/wildlife 1,14,19,21,32,34,36,42 
Open space 4,29,32,33,37,39 
Wood 4 
(Safe) Route to shop  4,13,24,33 
Berry gathering 4,29,59,62 
Running 5,11,14,26,44,46,50 
To access pub 13,19,48 
To access pub/shops/school/sports field 5 
To access school 13,19,25,30,31,33,36,37,44,46,47,48,4

9,60,63 
To access shop 25,29,30,31,32,33,44,46,47,48,62 
To access tennis courts 38 
Kite flying 5,21,51,62 
Football 5,19 
Rugby 5 
Cricket 5 
To get to doctors surgery 6,19,32,34,38,39,41,42,50,51,59 
To get to village hall (safe access) 6,12,13,14,18,19,25,27,28,33,38,39,41,

42,44,50,51,59,63 
To access local shop avoiding road 7,25,62 
To access recreation ground 25 
To take children to school (in past) 8,20 
To use path to cross field 9 
To play as a child 9 
As a (safe) shortcut 9,26,40,41 
Shortcut to the other side of West Winterslow avoiding road 10,22,54 
To get to Saxon Leas visiting friends 11 
Circular walk 12 
Cycling 13,14,15,16,46 
Access to different parts of the village 14 
As safe path around village (circuit) 17,43,45,56 
Drama club (in the past) 17 

Page 412



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 2 
Activities Undertaken 
 
 

2 
 

Scouts (present) 17 
Frisbee 19 
Cycling in copse – now well defined cycle routes 19 
Den building and rope swings within copse (with son) 19 
To get to mobile library 19 
To get to Methodist Hall (used for cubs/scouts) 19 
Children playing 19,45,48 
As a visitor to enjoy local village environment 20 
Jogging 22 
Cycling 23,26,45 
Fitness Class 23 
General exercise 25 
Part of Village walk 26 
Ball games 26 
Regularly used FP’s 29 
Watching the children whilst playing 30,31 
To reach pre-school 32,33 
To avoid traffic and pavement free road 32,37,61 
Safe route to visit friends 33,51 
To access village facilities (safe access) 34,35 
Walking across car free space 36 
Safe walk to the Causeway 39 
Bird watching 40,50 
Recreation 42,49 
Access to neighbours 46,47,59 
Pleasure/Leisure activities 46,47 
Access to common 50 
Bat watching 50 
Skiing 53 
Well known common land 60 

 
Family Activities 
 

Witness 

Walking dogs 1,2,4,5,7,9,13,14,15,21,29,30,31,34,39,
40,42,45,55,60 

Sledging 1,2,3,5,6,14,15,19,21,24,35,42 
Walking to local copse (to view bluebells) 1,9,14,18,36,38 
Walking various other FP’s 1,4 
Local recreation ground 1 
Walking 2,4,5,10,14,16,18,19,21,23,24,29,34, 

35,41,42,44,45,46,50,53,54,62 
Open space 4 
Wood 4 
Route to shop (post office) 4,33,46,47,61 
Berry gathering 4,29 
Running 5,10,14,25,46,50,54 
Kite flying 5,11,21,54 
Football 5,19 

Page 413



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 2 
Activities Undertaken 
 
 

3 
 

Rugby 5 
Cricket 5,48 
Playing 6,19,30,31 
Kite flying 6 
To play in Browns Copse 6,51 
Access to shop avoiding road 7,22,29,30,31 
Walking to village hall (safe access) 8,14,18,19,38,39,51 
To cross the field 9 
To play as a child 9 
As a shortcut 9,61 
When at Brownies used the field for walking and other 
activities 

11 

Used as access during Duke of Edinburgh activity 11 
Exercises connected with work for particular Brownie 
badges 

12 

Cycling 13,14,15,16,19,46,62 
Walking to Village facilities 13,19,22 
Access to different parts of the village 14 
Viewing nature 14,19,21 
Safe path around village 17 
Den building etc 19 
Frisbee 19 
Cycling in copse – now well defined cycle courses 19 
To access school 19,20,22,30,31,37,46,47 
To access village hall 19,22,40,51,59,63 
To access village pubs 19,51 
To access doctors surgery 19,38,40,51 
To access tennis courts 38,39,40 
To access mobile library 19 
To access Methodist Hall (used for cubs / scouts) 19 
In winter walking home from events at Village Hall avoiding 
Weston Lane 

25 

Safe walking off road 26,61 
Recreation 26 
Enjoying open space 26,29 
Regularly used FP’s 29 
To visit friends  33,51 
Bird watching 40 
(Safe) exercise 40,41 
To visit neighbours 46,47 
Pleasure/Leisure activities 46,47 
Rounders  
Social and recreation purposes 59 

 
Community Activities 
 

Witness 

Walking dogs 1,4,5,25,26,29 
Sledging 1,3,4,5,14,22,29,35,47,50,52,58,59,62 

Page 414



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 2 
Activities Undertaken 
 
 

4 
 

Walking to local copse 1 
Walking various other FP’s 1 
Local recreation ground 1,41,42 
Playing with friends (early 90’s) 1 
Walking  1,5,14,35,41,42,59 
Nature spotting 1 
Children playing  4,14,29,45,52 
Running 5,14 
Kite flying 5 
Football 5 
Rugby 5 
Cricket 5 
Occasional use as part of village fete 8 
Brownie camps 4,29 
As a Brownie/Guide organised groups visiting the copse 
and using paths from 1988 onwards 

9 

Brownies/Cubs/Scouts (Walking) and Duke of Edinburgh 
(Orienteering) 

11,38 

Cycling 14,59 
Viewing nature 14 
Nature walks by pre-school 14,30,31,33 
Bonfire night celebrations 16,17,18,19,32,46,47,50,51,62 
Local scouts/cubs hiked across it 21,51 
Ramblers 23 
Walks organised by village hall 26 
Picnics 26 
Pony rides during village fete 33,61,62,63 
School children “Walking Bus” 38,47 
Informal games 45 
Brownies & Rainbows visit Browns Copse to see bluebells, 
look at trees (Nature study) 

51,54 

Overflow car park for village hall 
 

61 

Seasonal Activities 
 

Witness 

Walking all year round 1,2,10 
Sledging 1,2,3,4,5,8,9,10,14,16,17,18,19,21,22,2

4,29,30,31,35,36,37,38,47,50,51,52,58,
60,61,63 

Running 1,14 
Walking 3,5,14 
Horse riding 3,14 
Kite flying 5 
Bonfire night on Nov 5th  8,46,47,63 
Wildlife and flower spotting (spring) 16,17,18,19 
Snowballing 25,37,38 
Building snowmen 26,37 
Summer walks 26 

Page 415



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 2 
Activities Undertaken 
 
 

5 
 

Picking blackberries 32,53 
Picking sloes 32,53 
Nature study 
 

53 

Activities Seen  Witness 
 

Children playing 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,9,10,11,12,13,14,15,16, 
17,18,19,20,21, 
22,23,24,25,26,27,28,29,30,31,32,33,3
4,35,36,37,38,39,40,41,42,43,45,46,47,
48,49,50,51,52,53,54,55,56,58,59,60,6
1,62 

Dog walking 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10,11,12,13,14,15,17,
18,19,20,21, 
22,23,24,25,26,27,28,29,30,31,32,33,3
4,35,36,37,38,39,40,41,42,43,44,45,46,
47,48,49,50,51,52,53,54,55,56,57,58,5
9,60,61,62,63 

Picking blackberries 1,2,3,4,5,6,8,9,11,13,14,15,17,21,22, 
23,24,26,27,28,29,30,31,32,33,34,35,3
6,37,38,39,40,42,43,46,47,48,49,52,53,
54,55,56,57,58,59,60,61,62,63 

Picking sloes 60 
Bird watching 1,2,3,4,5,9,12,13,14,18,19,21,22,23,29,

33,34,36,41,42,43,45,46,47,48,50,51,5
2,53,54,56,58,59,60 

Picnicking 1,9,13,19,21,36,45,49,53 
Kite flying 1,2,3,4,5,6,9,10,11,13,14,15,19,21,23,2

5,27,28,29,32,34,36,38,39,40,41,42,45,
46,47,49,50,51,53,54,58,59,61,62 

People walking 1,2,3,4,5,6,8,9,10,11,12,13,14,15,16, 
17,18,19,20,21,22,23,24,25,26,27,28,2
9,30,31,32,33,34,35,36,38,39,40,41,42,
43,44,45,46,47,48,49,50,51,52,53,54,5
5,56,58,59,60,61,62,63 

Bonfire parties 1,2,3,6,8,9,14,27,28,33,34,36,37,43,46,
47,50,51,53,54,61,62 

Bicycle riding 1,2,3,4,5,6,8,9,11,13,14,15,16,17,19, 
20,22,23,25,26,27,28,29,31,35,38,43,4
4,45,46,47,49,51,53,54,56,58,59,60,61,
62,63 

Fishing (only when flooded) 2 
Drawing and painting 5,21,34,36,41,42,50,60 
Team games 5,16 
Community celebrations 5,36,47 
Football 5,16,19,21,34,36,38,48,58 
Cricket 5,48 
Sledging 9,32,41,42 
Nature study 9 

Page 416



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 2 
Activities Undertaken 
 
 

6 
 

Frisbees 10 
Running 11 
Rounders 30,31,36,48 
Photography 32 
Fetes 33,38 
Pony rides 33 
Horse riding 58 
Sledging 38 
Snowball fight 38 

 

Note:  32 = x 2 Witnesses 

 52 = Missing page – Q9 -17 

Page 417



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15 (1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 1 
Use as of Right – Permission and Secrecy 
 
 
 

1 
 

 Name Permission given or 
requested (Q 28 & 29) 
 

Ever seen by 
landowner (Q 26) 

1 Rachel Andrews No Yes more than 
likely – said 
nothing 

2 Mrs Carol Andrews No Probably 
3 Michael Andrews No To the best of my 

knowledge “no” 
4 Philip Beagle No Yes – said nothing 

or just a general 
time of day 
greeting 

5 Paul Bookham No Yes – said nothing 
6 J Briggs No Yes – said nothing 
7 Colin Campbell No Not known 
8 Malcolm Cassells No No idea 
9 Lucy Clark No N/A 
10 Jan Clarke No No 
11 Helen Coombe No I don’t know 
12 Jeremy Coombe No Not known 
13 Anna Crossland No Don’t know 
14 Lynne Crossland No Don’t know  
15 Tim Crossland No Don’t know 
16 Luke Day No No 
17 Oliver Day No  Possibly, I am not 

aware though 
18 Sarah Day No Not sure 
19 Simon Day I have never thought we 

needed any consent for use of 
the land. Until recently I fully 
believed that it was public, 
common land. 

Not to my 
knowledge 
although he must 
drive past the land 
on frequent 
occasions – I have 
never had any 
comment from him 
on my use of the 
land 

20 Alastair Dunlop No No 
21 Chris Fisher No No 
22 Penny Fooks No I doubt it - no 
23 Susannah Fountain  I am presuming 

the owner has 
ploughed the field 

Page 418



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15 (1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 1 
Use as of Right – Permission and Secrecy 
 
 
 

2 
 

24 Paula Gibson No Don’t know as 
don’t know the 
owner 

25 Janice Gong No Not as far as I am 
aware 

26 Michael Gong No – thought it was common 
land 

Don’t know 

27 Lynda Green No No 
28 Michael Green No No 
29 Roberta Head No Yes – said nothing 

or just general 
greeting 

30 Claire Hoare No I don’t know 
31 Jonathan Hoare No I don’t know 
32 Evelyn & David 

Houghton 
No ? 

33 Julia House No Not known 
34 Anne Jones No No 
35 Anthony Levitt No Don’t know 
36 F J Marsh No I am not aware if 

he has 
37 P D Marsh No No 
38 R Maylin No – but unwritten 

understanding that it was a 
public area 

No 

39 Claire McDonald No Do not know 
40 Ian McDonald No – permission assumed  
41 Carolyn Morgan-

Jones 
No Yes – nothing said 

42 Michael Morgan-
Jones 

No Yes – nothing said 

43 Peter Nightingale No Do not know – 
never been 
spoken to 

44 Paula Page No Don’t know 
45 Rick Page No Don’t know – said 

nothing if seen 
46 G Paton No ? 
47 Jan Paton No Unsure 
48 Sue Phillips No Yes – said nothing 
49 William Phillips No Yes – passed time 

of day 
50 David Platt No Not that I am 

aware 

Page 419



Decision Report 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15 (1) and (3) - Winterslow 
 
APPENDIX 1 
Use as of Right – Permission and Secrecy 
 
 
 

3 
 

51 Kay Putman No – but I didn’t know any was 
needed 

Don’t know 

52 Jean Radnedge   
53 David Rickard No - accepted Yes 
54 Felicity Rickard No permission sought for 

activities on the land. 
Yes permission given to 
collect straw 

Yes - waved 

55 Susan Rieden No No 
56 Doreen Rivett No Do not know 
57 L E Rogers No No 
58 Jeanette Soloman Yes – permission sought for 

activities on land from the 
owner 2009-2011 

Yes – just passed 
the time of day 

59 Mrs C Stevens No Don’t know 
60 Deborah Sykes No Unknown 
61 Christopher James 

Waters 
No Yes – said nothing 

62 Lesley Waters No Probably 
63 Sandra Cassells No Probably 

 

 

Page 420



Page 421



Page 422



Page 423



Page 424



Page 425



Page 426



Page 427



Page 428



Page 429



Page 430



Page 431



Page 432



Page 433



Page 434



Page 435



Page 436



Page 437



Page 438



Page 439



Page 440



Page 441



Page 442



Page 443



Page 444



Page 445



Page 446



Page 447



Page 448



Page 449



Page 450



Page 451



Page 452



Page 453



Page 454



Page 455



Page 456



Page 457



Page 458



Page 459



Page 460



Page 461



Page 462



Page 463



Page 464



Page 465



Page 466



Page 467



Page 468



APPENDIX D – WILTSHIRE COUNCIL REPORT ON THE RECOMMENDATION 
TO HOLD A NON-STATUTORY PUBLIC INQUIRY                     
(31ST JANUARY 2014) 

Page 469



APPENDIX C – LAND OWNERSHIP PLAN 

 

Page 470



APPENDIX B – APPLICATION PLAN 

 

 

Page 471



APPENDIX A – LOCATION PLAN 

 

Page 472



1 
CM09641/F 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL 
 
SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
30 APRIL 2015 
 
 

COMMONS ACT 2006 – SECTION 15(1) AND (3) 
APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN – THE 

COMMON / BROWNS COPSE FIELD / BLUEBELL WOOD / VILLAGE HALL FIELD / 
THE FIELD, WINTERSLOW  

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1.  To: 
 

(i)  Consider a report and recommendation, dated 10 March 2015, made by 
Mr Stephen Morgan of Landmark Chambers, appointed by Wiltshire Council 
as an independent Inspector to preside over a non-statutory public inquiry, 
held in November/December 2014, to consider an application made under 
Sections 15(1) and (3) of the Commons Act 2006, to register land known as 
The Common / Browns Copse Field / Bluebell Wood / Village Hall Field / The 
Field, in the parish of Winterslow, as a town or village green. 

 
(ii) Recommend that Wiltshire Council accepts the Inspector’s recommendation. 

 
Relevance to Council’s Business Plan 
 
2. Working with the local community to provide an accurate register of town and village 

greens, making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit. 
 
Background 
 
3.  Wiltshire Council received an application, dated 3 February 2012, made under 

Section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006, to register land off Middleton Road, 
Winterslow known as The Common / Browns Copse Field / Bluebell Wood Field / 
Village Hall Field / The Field, as a town or village green.  The application was also 
made under Section 15(3) of the Act, i.e. where use of the land for recreational 
purposes has ceased and the application is made within two years of the cessation of 
use. The application was made by Mr T Crossland on behalf of the group “Winterslow 
Opposed to Over Development” (WOOD). 

 
4.  Part 7 of the application form requires the applicant to provide a summary of the case 

for registration. The applicant included the following comments: 
 
 “Indulgence by a significant number of inhabitants of Winterslow as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes for a period of at least 20 years and 5 months under Section 
15(3) of the Commons Act 2006, as witnessed by the 63 enclosed signed statements 
showing use for activities including dog walking, picking blackberries, kite flying and 
bicycle riding by a total of 63 people over a period extending from December 1990 to 
April 2011.” 

 
 
 

Page 473



2 
CM09641/F 

5.  The application was accepted as a complete and correct application on 29 August 
2012. The application was accompanied by 63 completed witness evidence 
questionnaires. Following the service of formal notice of the application, posting of 
notice of the application on site and in one local newspaper and placing the 
application on public deposit, objections and representations were received, as 
follows: 

  
 Objections: 
 
 1)  Petition from residents of Highfield Crescent - undated 
 2)  Letter with enclosures from Mrs P Sheppard - 14/01/13 (joint landowner) 
 3) Letter with enclosures from Mr R Sheppard - 27/04/13 (joint landowner) 
 4)  Letter with enclosures from Mr R Sheppard – 30/04/13 
 5)  “Objectors Response” from Mr and Mrs Sheppard – 27/02/13 
 
 Representations: 
  
 1)  Letter from L E Rogers – 16/04/13 
 2)  E-mail from Councillor Christopher Devine – 13/05/13 

3) E-mail from Barbara Coombs, Principal Legal Executive, Wiltshire Council – 
08/08/14 

 
6. The claimed land is located to the south-west of Middleton Road, Winterslow (please 

see location plan at Appendix A) and occupies an area of approximately 18 acres, 
laid to grass and woodland with open access from public rights of way located on the 
north and south perimeters of the site (please see application plan attached at 
Appendix B). The majority of the land is owned by Mr Richard and Mrs Patricia 
Sheppard of Weston Hill Farm, Winterslow; a small part of the application land in the 
north-west corner of Brown’s Copse is owned by Wiltshire Council; Scottish and 
Southern Electric PLC own an electrical sub-station located at the south-east of the 
application land and two small parts of the land within the copse are unregistered 
(please see land ownership plan at Appendix C).  The Council as landowner did not 
formally object to the registration of the land in their ownership.    

 
7. Wiltshire Council considered the evidence and the objections received, within a 

report to the Associate Director of Waste and Environment, dated 31 January 2014 
(please see report attached at Appendix D). Officers recommended that given the 
substantial dispute of fact in this case it would be advisable to hold a non-statutory 
public inquiry into the evidence, appointing an independent Inspector to preside over 
the inquiry and to provide a report and recommendation to the determining authority. 

 
8.  This recommendation was accepted and Wiltshire Council appointed Mr Stephen 

Morgan of Landmark Chambers (London), as Inspector to preside over a non-
statutory public inquiry and having considered documentary and oral evidence to 
write a report containing a recommendation to Wiltshire Council as the determining 
authority. The inquiry was held in Winterslow on Tuesday 25 to Friday 28 November 
2014 (inclusive), re-convening on Tuesday 16 December 2014 for closing 
submissions and an accompanied site visit at the close of the inquiry, on that day.  

 
Main Considerations for the Council 
 
9.  Following consideration of the available documents and the hearing of evidence 

given in chief; in cross-examination and in re-examination at the public inquiry, the 
Inspector presented a report to Wiltshire Council, dated 10 March 2015 (please see 
report attached at Appendix E), in which he made the following recommendation: 

Page 474



3 
CM09641/F 

 “For the reasons set out in Section 5 of this Report, I recommend to the Registration 
Authority: 

 
 The Application by Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) under 

section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 be approved but only to the extent that 
Brown’s Copse is registered as a town or village green in its entirety, other than the 
north-west corner of the Copse that is owned by Wiltshire Council.” 

 
10. There is no obligation placed upon the determining authority to follow the Inspector’s 

recommendation (although if the Committee decide not to follow the Inspector’s 
recommendation they must have good reasons for not following the 
recommendation) and Members of the Committee are requested to consider the 
Inspector’s report and the available evidence in order to determine whether or not the 
application land should be registered as a town or village green. 

 
11. Under the Council’s constitution one of the functions of the Area Planning Committee 

is, where an objection has been received and has not been resolved, to consider 
matters of local importance within the area such as the registration of town and 
village greens. In this case, the owners of the application land objected to the 
registration of the application land as a village green and have to date not withdrawn 
their objection following the public inquiry which took place in November/December 
2014.   

 
12.  Under the Commons Registration Act 1965, Wiltshire Council is now charged with 

maintaining the register of town and village greens and determining applications to 
register new greens. The application to register land off Middleton Road, Winterslow 
as a town or village green, has been made under Sections 15(1) and (3) of the 
Commons Act 2006, which amended the criteria for the registration of greens. 
Section 15 of the Commons Act is set out in full at part 7 of the Decision Report 
attached at Appendix D. 

 
13. Sections 15(1) and (3) of the Act, state: 
 

“15 Registration of greens 
 

(1)  Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register land 
to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where 
subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

 
(3)  This subsection applies where- 

 
(a)  A significant number of inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood 

within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land 
for a period of at least 20 years; 

 
(b)  they ceased to do so before the time of the application but after the 

commencement of this section; and  
 
(c)  the application is made within the period of two years beginning with the 

cessation referred to in paragraph (b).” 
 
Safeguarding Considerations 
 
14.  There are no safeguarding considerations as those relating to safeguarding are not 

permitted within Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination must be 
based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority. 

 

Page 475



4 
CM09641/F 

Public Health Implications 
 
15.  There are no public health implications as considerations relating to public health are 

not permitted within Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination must 
be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority. 

 
Environmental Impact of the Proposal 
 
16.  Considerations relating to the environmental impact of the proposal are not permitted 

within Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination must be based on 
the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority. 

 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
17.  Considerations relating to the equalities impact of registering land as a town or 

village green, are not permitted within Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Any 
determination must be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration 
Authority. 

 
Risk Assessment 
 
18.  The holding of a non-statutory public inquiry and the production of the subsequent 

report and recommendation to Wiltshire Council from an Independent Inspector, have 
reduced the risk to the Council of a potential legal challenge as the evidence has 
been heard, tested and considered. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
19.  Presently there is no mechanism by which a Registration Authority may charge the 

applicant for processing an application to register land as a town or village green and 
all costs are borne by the Council.  

 
20.  Where the Council makes a decision to register land as a town or village green it 

must give a reason for its determination as this decision is potentially open to legal 
challenge.  The legal costs of a successful legal challenge against the Council could 
be in the region of £40,000 - £100,000. 

 
21. There is currently no duty for Registration Authorities to maintain land registered as a 

town or village green.  
 
Legal Implications 
 
22.  If the land is successfully registered as a town or village green, the landowner could 

potentially challenge the Registration Authority’s decision by an appeal to the High 
Court under Section 14(1)(b) of the Commons Registration Act 1965 (‘1965 Act’),  
which allows the High Court to amend the register only if it can be shown that the 
registration ought not to have been made and that it is just to rectify the register. The 
overall effect is that the registration of the land is deemed to have been made under 
Section 13 of the 1965 Act and there is a preserved right under Section 14 to apply to 
the court to rectify the registration of the town or village green without limit of time. 
The application which could be made many years after the decision potentially 
enables the Court to hold a re-hearing of the application and consider the facts and 
law and could lead to de-registration of the land.          

 
23.  Where the Registration Authority decides not to register the land as a town or village 

green, there is no right of appeal for the applicant, although the decision of the 
Council may be challenged through judicial review, for which the permission of the 
court is required and the application must be made within three months of the date of 

Page 476



5 
CM09641/F 

the decision. A landowner could also use judicial review proceedings to challenge the 
Council’s decision to register their land as a town or village green. 

 
24. There is currently no statutory or non-statutory guidance available to authorities 

regarding when it would be considered to be appropriate for a Registration Authority 
to hold a non-statutory public inquiry.  However judicial cases have confirmed that it 
is the authority’s duty to determine an application in a fair and reasonable manner 
and recent judicial decisions have also sanctioned the practice of holding non-
statutory inquiries.  In R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucester District 
Council the court decided that the holding of a non-statutory inquiry in some 
circumstances would be necessary as a matter of fairness. In R (on the application of 
Naylor) v Essex County Council (2014) the Court confirmed that a public inquiry was 
one means by which a registration authority may obtain evidence other than from the 
applicant and any objector or by which it may test or supplement that which it has 
received in written form.    

 
Options Considered 
 
25.  Members of the Committee need to consider whether to: 
 

(i)  Accept the Inspector’s recommendation that the application by Winterslow 
Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) under Section 15(3) of the 
Commons Act 2006 be approved but only to the extent that Brown’s Copse is 
registered as a town or village green in its entirety, other than the north-west 
corner of the Copse that is owned by Wiltshire Council 

 
(ii)  Accept the Inspector’s recommendation, but with modification supported by 

the available evidence, e.g. modifying the area of land to be registered 
 

(iii)  Not accept the Inspector’s recommendation and refuse the application to 
register land in the parish of Winterslow as a town or village green 

 
(iv)  Not accept the Inspector’s recommendation and resolve to register all the 

claimed land as described in the application made under Section 15(1) of the 
Commons Act 2006 and described known as The Common / Browns Copse 
Field / Bluebell Wood Field / Village Hall Field / The Field, as a town or village 
green. 

 
26. Where Members do not resolve to accept the Inspector’s recommendation and make 

an alternative decision, clear reason for this decision must be given as the decision 
of the Registration Authority is potentially open to legal challenge by both the 
applicant and Landowner.  

  
Reason for Proposal 
 
27.  In the Winterslow case, the evidence of whether a significant number of inhabitants 

of any locality, or of any neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in 
lawful sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years, was in 
dispute. It is the duty of the determining authority to determine the application in a fair 
and reasonable manner. Due to the substantial dispute of fact in this case, Wiltshire 
Council determined to hold a non-statutory public inquiry where the facts of the case 
would be likely to be resolved by the inquiry process through witnesses giving oral 
evidence in chief and through cross-examination and re-examination, including 
consideration of documentary evidence by the Inspector. 

 

Page 477



6 
CM09641/F 

28.  Following the close of the inquiry, the Inspector presented a 123 page 
recommendation to Wiltshire Council, dated 10 March 2015 and which contained the 
following recommendation: 

 
“For the reasons set out in Section 5 of this report, I recommend to the 
Registration Authority: 

 
The Application by Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) under 
Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 be approved but only to the extent 
that Brown’s Copse is registered as a town or village green in its entirety, 
other than the north-west corner of the Copse that is owned by Wiltshire 
Council.” 

 
29. Officers consider that the full and detailed report is a correct and accurate reflection 

of the documentary evidence and evidence given by witnesses at the public inquiry 
and that the Inspector’s recommendation should be accepted.   

 
Proposal 
 
30.   That Wiltshire Council accept the Inspector’s recommendation and the application by 

Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (WOOD) under Section 15(3) of the 
Commons Act 2006 be approved but only to the extent that Browns Copse is 
registered as a town or village green in its entirety, other than the north-west corner 
of the Copse that is owned by Wiltshire Council.  

 
 
Tracy Carter 
Associate Director – Waste and Environment  
 
Report Author: 
Janice Green 
Rights of Way Officer 
 
 
 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of this 
Report: 
 
 None 
 
Appendices: 
 
 Appendix A – Location Plan 
 Appendix B – Application Plan 
 Appendix C – Land Ownership Plan 
 Appendix D – Wiltshire Council Report on the Recommendation to Hold a Non- 
   Statutory Public Inquiry (31 January 2014) 
 Appendix E – Inspectors Report (Mr Stephen Morgan, Landmark Chambers –  
   10 March 2015)              
  
 
 

Page 478



APPENDIX 1 – SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT DATED 
30TH APRIL 2015 (WITH APPENDICES A-E) 

Page 479



This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Council

Southern Area Planning Committee

17 December 2015

Part 1 
Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) And (3)

Application To Register Land As A Town Or Village Green – The Common / 
Browns Copse Field / Bluebell Wood Field / Village Hall Field / The Field, 

Winterslow

Purpose of Report

1. To inform the Committee that:

(i) further to its decision made on 24 September 2015 to refuse to register 
land known as ‘Brown’s Copse’ in Winterslow as a village green, a pre-action 
protocol letter dated 23 November 2015 has now been received from the 
applicant Winterslow Opposed to Over-development (‘WOOD’)challenging the 
lawfulness of the Committee’s decision;and that

(ii) the applicant intends to issue proceedings for judicial review in the High 
Court to set aside thedecision. 

Background

2. Please see previous minutes and officer’s reports considered by the Southern 
Area Planning Committee at its meetings dated 30 April 2015 and 24 
September 2015.  The minutes are attached to this report with the 
corresponding reports available electronically with this agenda on the 
following link of the Council’s website or available on request. 

http://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=148&MId=8872&Ver=4

3. The Committee will recall that the Council as Commons Registration Authority 
under the Commons Act 2006 instructed an independent Inspector (and an 
expert in Village Green law) to hear and consider written and oral evidence by 
witnesses in support and in objection to the application in 
November/December 2014 at a non statutory public inquiry which took place 

Page 481

http://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=148&MId=8872&Ver=4


in Winterslow.  A non statutory inquiry was considered necessary because the 
factual evidence was strongly disputed by both the applicant and objector.  

4. Following the inquiry, the Inspector produced a report of his findings dated 10 
March 2015 and made the following recommendation to Wiltshire Council:

“The Application by Winterslow Opposed to Over Development 
(WOOD) under Section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 be approved 
but only to the extent that Brown’s Copse is registered as a town or 
village green in its entirety, other than the north-west corner of the 
Copse that is owned by Wiltshire Council.”

5. At the Committee meeting dated 30th April 2015, Members of the Committee 
resolved to ‘in principle, refuse the report’s recommendation’ and for the matter to 
be brought back to a future committee to be voted on by Members – copy of minute 
attached. 

6. The matter was brought back to the Committee on 24 September 2015 where 
Members of the Committee resolved to accept the Inspector’s 
recommendation in part and refuse to register the field and a small area of 
Brown’s copse owned by the Council but to refuse to register Brown’s 
Copse.owned by Mr and Mrs Sheppard. The reasons given by the Committee 
are set out in the attached minutes of the committee.

Safeguarding Considerations

7. Not applicable in this case 

Public Health Implications

8. Not applicable in this case 

Environmental Impact of the Proposal

9. Not applicable in this case 

Equalities Impact of the Proposal

10. Not applicable in this case 

Risk Assessment

11. It is now considered very likely that the Applicant will issue judicial review 
proceedings against the Council in the High Court before 24 December 2015.  

Page 482



The risks arising from this proposed course of action are cocered in a 
separate Part 2 report.

Financial implications

12.  These are considered in a separate Part 2 report.

Legal Implications

13. Where the Registration Authority decides not to register the land as a town or 
village green, there is no right of appeal for the applicant but the decision of 
the Council may be challenged through judicial review proceedings in the 
High Court under Part 54 of the Civil Procedure Rules for which the 
permission of the Court is required.  The application must be made within 
three months of the date of the decision and in this case the last date for the 
issue of judicial review proceedings is 24 December 2015.  The claim must 
also be served on any person the claimant considers to be an interested 
party.  

14. If proceedings are issued the Council will have 21 days after service of the 
claim form to file a response to the claim.  

15. If legal proceedings are issued the Solicitor to the Council is authorised under 
the Constitution to institute, defend, settle or participate in any legal 
proceedings in any case where such action is necessary  either to give effect 
to decisions of the Council or in any case where the Solicitor to the Council 
considers that such action is necessary to protect the Council’s interests.

Recommendations

16. The Committee is asked;

1.  to note that the applicant is now expected to issue judicial review 
proceedings before 24 December 2015 in order to challenge the 
Council’s decision to refuse to register Brown’s Copse as a village 
green. 

2. To consider the Council’sresponse to the proposed proceedings 
under a separate Part 2 report.

Page 483



Ian R Gibbons
Solicitor to the Council 
Associate Director – Legal and Governance

Report Author:
Sarah Marshall 
Senior Solicitor 

The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of this Report:

None

Appendices

Extract of minutes 24 September 2015
Extract of minutes 30 April 2015 

Page 484



 APPLICATION (REF: 2012/5) BY WINTERSLOW OPPOSED TO OVER 
DEVELOPMENT (WOOD) UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE COMMONS ACT 

2006 TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN AS THE COMMON/BROWN’S 
COPSE FIELD/BLUEBELL WOOD FIELD/VILLAGE HALL FIELD/THE 

FIELD, WINTERSLOW AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INSPECTOR’S REPORT TO THE COMMONS  

REGISTRATION AUTHORITY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commons Registration Authority 
Wiltshire Council 

County Hall 
Bythesea Road 

Trowbridge 
Wiltshire 
BA14 8JN 

Ref: JG/PC/255 2012/5 
 

Page 485



 1 

    CONTENTS 
 

  SUMMARY                                                                 2 

1. INTRODUCTION                                                      4 

2. THE APPLICATION                                                 8 

3. CASE FOR THE APPLICANT                               10 

4. CASE FOR THE OBJECTORS                               44 

5. ASSESSMENT & CONCLUSIONS                        83 

6. RECOMMENDATION                                          123 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 486



 2 

 SUMMARY 

S1. The Applicant, Winterslow Opposed to Over Development (“WOOD”), 

seeks registration of Brown’s Copse Field (‘the Application Land”) as a 

town or village green (“TVG”) under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 

2006. The Applicant has to demonstrate on the balance of probabilities 

that the land has been used for lawful sports and pastimes (“LSP”) in a 

way that satisfies the criteria within section 15(3).  

S2. The Application is objected to by the owners of almost all of the 

Application Land, Richard and Patricia Sheppard. 

S3. The relevant 20-year period is that ending on 4 April 2011. The Objectors 

do not dispute that Winterslow CP is a qualifying locality. 

S4. The Application Land consists of readily accessible agricultural land that 

was in “set aside” throughout the relevant period. It is concluded that the 

main use of the land has been for transiting on foot to and from different 

parts of the village. The main use of the Land for LSP has been dog 

walking on the field and there have also been other qualifying uses.  

S5. However, the Applicant has not demonstrated sufficiency of qualifying 

use for the Application Land as a whole throughout the 20-year period. 

That applies overall, taking into account the evidence of LSP as well as the 

degree of use of the Application Land that was clearly not for LSP and also 

that which it would have been difficult for a reasonable landowner to 

interpret as an assertion of village green rights. Moreover, there is also a 

particular concern with regard the earlier part of the 20-year period. 

S6. That conclusion is reached taking into account the LSP use that has 

clearly taken place in the Copse. It is concluded that the Copse has been 

an attraction and destination in its own right. Sufficiency of LSP use of the 

Copse itself as of right has been demonstrated throughout at least the 

relevant 20-year period. The only exception to this relates to the north-

west corner, which is in separate ownership to the Objectors and appears 

to have been fenced off and separate from the remainder of the Copse. 

Page 487



 3 

S7. The two signs put up in 2009 did not in the circumstances make any use 

of the Application Land for LSP contentious. The breaches of the Highfield 

Crescent fencing, relied upon by the Objectors, have no direct bearing on 

the overall assessment and the other conclusions reached. 

S8. Accordingly, this Report concludes that the Application satisfies the 

criteria within section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 only in respect of 

the Copse but not in respect of that part of the Copse in the north-west 

corner owned by Wiltshire Council. 

S9. The recommendation to the Registration Authority is, therefore, that 

WOOD’s Application to register the Application Land as a TVG should be 

approved only in so far as it relates to Brown’s Copse, with the exception 

of that part of the Copse owned by Wiltshire Council.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 488



 4 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This Report relates to a piece of agricultural land and adjacent copse 

within the attractive village of Winterslow in Wiltshire. The land was “set 

aside” (in terms of the Common Agricultural Policy of the EEC) in 1988. 

There is a dispute over the future use of the land that has divided opinion 

in the village and there have been conflicting accounts of how the land has 

been used since that time. 

 

1.2 Against this background, I am instructed by Wiltshire Council in its 

capacity as the Registration Authority (“the RA”) for the purposes of the 

Commons Act 2006 in respect of the application by Winterslow Opposed 

to Over Development” (“WOOD”) under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 

2006 (the Application). The Application was made on that group’s behalf 

by Mr. Timothy Richard Crossland. It was dated 3 February 2012 but 

accepted by the RA as complete on 29th August 2012 (as reference no. 

2012/5).  

 

1.3 By the Application WOOD seeks to register land, stated in the application 

form to be usually known as “The Common/Brown’s Copse Field/Bluebell 

Wood Field/Village Hall Field/The Field, Winterslow,” as a town or village 

green (TVG). The names are given in the alternative but I will refer to it 

either as the Application Land or where appropriate Brown’s Copse and 

the field, as it includes both the Copse and adjacent field. The Application 

Land extends to about 7¼ hectares (about 18 acres). 

 

1.4 My instructions from the Registration Authority were to hold a non-

statutory public inquiry to consider the evidence and submissions relied 

upon by the Applicant and the Objectors and to report on these with a 

recommendation as how to determine the Application.  

 

 

 

Page 489



 5 

 The Inquiry 

1.5 Accordingly, I held an at Inquiry Barry’s Fields Sports Ground, Weston 

Lane, West Winterslow on 25th to 28th November 2014. The Inquiry 

reconvened at the same venue on Tuesday 16th December for Closing 

Submissions and the accompanied site visit. 

 

1.6 Directions were provided prior to the Inquiry, giving guidance on the 

submission of evidence and documents and on the procedure proposed 

for the Inquiry. The parties provided the evidence (including supporting 

documentation) in advance of the Inquiry, for which I am very grateful. 

Some additional documents were provided by each party at the Inquiry. 

 

1.7 The Applicant was represented at the Inquiry by his Alexander Greaves of 

Counsel. Mr. Greaves called 15 witnesses in support of the Application. 

The Applicant also relied upon other witness statements and documents, 

as detailed in section 3 of this Report, which I have taken into account.  

 

 Objections 

1.8 The Application was objected to by Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard of Weston Hill 

Farm, Winterslow, the registered owners of all but three small areas of 

the Application Land. Other representations in response to the 

Application were also received and I have taken those into account. 

 

1.9 The Objectors were represented by William Webster of Counsel. Mr. 

Webster called 11 witnesses, as detailed in section 4 of this Report. He 

also relied upon other witness statements and documentation, which I  

have taken into account.  

 

 Site Visits 

1.10 I visited the site and the surrounding area prior to and during the Inquiry. 

As indicated above, I carried out an accompanied site visit after the close 

of the Inquiry on the afternoon of Tuesday 16th December 2014. 

Page 490



 6 

 The Statutory Basis of the Application 

1.11 The Application was made under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 

and the claimed use as of right was stated to have ended on 4th April 

2011. 

 

1.12 The statutory framework is dealt with more fully in section 5 of this 

Report. However, at this stage it should be noted that section 15(1) 

provides (as applicable to this application) that: 

Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register 

land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where 

subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

Subsection (3) (in the form that applies to this Application) applies 

where: 

(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 

(b) they ceased to do so before the time of the application but after the 

commencement of this section; and 

(c) the application is made within the period of two years beginning 

with the cessation referred to in paragraph (b) 

 

 The Scope of the Inquiry and this Report 

1.13 I am very aware of the very strong feelings of both sides in this case. That 

is often so, particularly where the land is being considered for 

development, as in this case. However, as I made clear at the Inquiry, a 

TVG Inspector’s role is to consider whether the Applicant can 

demonstrate on the balance of probabilities that the statutory criteria 

within section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 are met. The relative merits 

of the claimed use relied upon and the possible development of the site 

are not relevant to whether section 15(3) is complied with and I have not 

taken such matters into account.  

 

Page 491



 7 

1.14 My role is therefore limited to considering the evidence and submissions 

against the statutory criteria and making a recommendation to the 

Registration Authority as to the determination of the Application.  

  

 The Structure of the Report 

1.15 The remainder of this Report is now set out as follows: 

  2. THE APPLICATION & APPLICATION SITE 

  3. THE CASE FOR THE APPLICANT 

  4. THE CASE FOR THE OBJECTORS 

  5. ASSESSMENT AND CONCLUSIONS 

  6. RECOMMENDATION 

I have provided a Summary at the outset and I hope that this will assist 

with the reading and understanding of this Report. I stress, however, that 

the Summary needs to be read and understood with the remainder of the 

Report. The Report is of necessity somewhat lengthy, given the extent and 

nature of the evidence and issues.  

 

1.16 However, before addressing those matters, I would like to record my 

thanks to the advocates and witnesses. I am grateful for the way in which 

they all conducted themselves, presented their cases and their evidence 

and the courtesy shown, and the unstinting assistance given, to me by all. 

In addition, the parties and I were very greatly aided by the RA, which 

was represented by Mrs. Sarah Marshall, a solicitor with the Wiltshire 

Council and Miss Janice Green and Miss Alison Roberts, who are both 

Rights of Way officers employed by the Council. Their assistance to all of 

us was very much appreciated and greatly assisted in the preparations 

for, and efficient running of, the Inquiry. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 492



 8 

2. THE APPLICATION 

2.1 The Application (reference no. 2012/5) was made on behalf of WOOD by 

Mr. Timothy Richard Crossland pursuant to section 15(3) of the 

Commons Act 2006.  

 

2.2 The Application was made on Form 44, dated 3rd February 2012 and it is 

stated in Section 4 that the claimed LSP use as of right ended on 4th April 

2011. It is also stated that there was a period of statutory closure during 

the foot and mouth outbreak in 2001 that has to be disregarded in 

accordance with section 15(6) of the 2006 Act.  

 

2.3 In section 5 of the Form, it is stated that the name by which the land is 

usually known is: 

 “The Common/Brown’s Copse Field/Bluebell Wood/Village Hall Field/The 

Field” 

Its location is given as: 

“Adjacent to Middleton Road, Winterslow” 

 

At the Inquiry the Applicant clarified that the Application Land did not 

include any of the adjacent metalled footpaths or the grass public 

footpath along the edge of the village hall.1 

  

2.4 Section 6 of the Application Form asks for the locality or neighbourhood 

within a locality in respect of which the application is made. This is given 

as: 

 “Winterslow Parish”  

 A Plan of the Winterslow CP, showing the Application Land in relation to 

it, is found in Tab 2 of the Applicant’s Bundle of Evidence) (this is what I 

have referred to below as Applicant’s Bundle A – AB/A Tab 2). 

 

                                                        
1 The footpaths in the area shown on the map of Winterslow CP in App/A Tab 2 and the Plan with 
the s.31(6) Statutory Declaration at Ob/A Tab 7 p.28M. See Applicant’s Closing Submissions at 
paragraph [7] p. 3. 

Page 493



 9 

2.5 The justification for the Application is set out in Section 7, which states: 

“Indulgence by a significant number of inhabitants of Winterslow as 

of right in lawful sports and pastimes for a period of at least 20 years 

and 5 months under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006, as 

witnessed by the 63 enclosed signed statements showing use for 

activities including dog walking, picking blackberries, kite flying and 

bicycle riding by a total of 63 people over a period extending from 

December 1990 to April 2011.” 

 

2.6 Section 8 of the Application gave the owners of the land as “Mr. Richard 

Sheppard and Wiltshire County Council”. In fact, the position is as follows: 

(1) The registered landowners of almost all of the Application Land 

are Mr. Richard and Mrs. Patricia Sheppard. This is subject to three 

exceptions. 

(2) An area in the north-west corner of Brown’s Copse is owned by 

Wiltshire Council. The Council, in its capacity as land owner, wrote 

to the Applicant on 29th October 2014 asking them to exclude their 

land which is held for housing purposes from the Application. 

(3) There is a small triangle of land that abuts the north-eastern end of 

the Council’s land that is unregistered. There is a much smaller 

area abutting the north-western corner of the Council’s land that is 

also unregistered. 

(4) In the south-eastern corner of the Application Land is an electrical 

sub-station owned by Scottish Electric.  

 

2.7 In addition to the objections from Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard, three 

representations were received by the RA. The letter (signed by 24 

residents) from residents of Highfield Crescent stated that whilst they did 

not want to see any development on the Application Land they did want 

to correct information the RA had been given. They stated that the land 

not been used as a sports field and that Winterslow has sufficient areas 

for sports or other pastimes. It was, the residents further said, only when 

Page 494



 10 

the land was left fallow or set aside that certain people thought it right to 

use it as a dumping ground for their rubbish, a dog walking area and as a 

short cut though the area is adequately served with footpaths. There was 

also correspondence from L E Rogers, several letters from the Objectors 

and a letter from John Glen MP. In addition, there was an email from 

Councillor Christopher Devine. Although, an email from Wiltshire 

Council’s Legal Services was received, there was no objection from them 

as landowner and no correspondence from Southern Electric Plc. 

 

2.8 The Applicant was provided with, and given the opportunity to comment 

on, the objections and related correspondence. However, no further 

comments were received from the Applicant. 

 

2.9 The Application was considered by the RA in a decision report dated 31 

January 2014.2 This stated that it is the RA’s duty to determine an 

application in a fair and reasonable manner and where there is a serious 

dispute, or if the case is of great local interest, it is open to the authority to 

hold a non-statutory inquiry held by an independent Inspector, who 

would then prepare a report with recommendations. The decision report 

recommended that course of action accordingly. The report (on p. 6) 

contains a useful plan showing the land ownership of the Application 

Land (referred to in paragraph 2.6 above). 

 

 

3. CASE FOR THE APPLICANT 

3.1 The Applicant provided two bundles of documents and a bundle of legal 

authorities. The first bundle of documents, which I shall refer to hereafter 

as “AB/A” (Applicant’s Bundle A), included: 

(1) In respect of each of the witnesses to be called at the Inquiry: 

(a) A signed and dated statement; 

(b) An evidence questionnaire; and 

                                                        
2 Applicant’s Bundle B Tab 11 – AB/B Tab 11 

Page 495



 11 

(c) Supporting photographic evidence, where applicable.3 

(2) Signed and dated statements and questionnaires of 7 others relied 

upon but called as witnesses. 4 

(3) Other Evidence questionnaires relied upon.5 

 

3.2 The Applicant provided an Outline of the Case and Opening Speech. The 

mattes referred to included: 

 (1) The statutory test and how the Application meets it. 

(2) The nature of the Application Land and that agricultural land and 

the Copse can be registered, as there is no requirement that it 

resemble a traditional village green. 

(3) It is not in dispute that the vast majority of the claimed user is 

from inhabitants who live, or have lived, within the locality during 

the relevant period. 

(4) Sufficiency of use does not require that LSP be carried on 

sufficiently frequently throughout daylight hours or at all times of 

the year. 

(5) Furthermore, it is not necessary for the local inhabitants to have 

set their feet everywhere on the Application Land. The fact that 

LSP is predominantly confined to areas which are most readily 

accessible does not prevent the registration of the whole land. In 

this respect, it is clear that the natural state of land may cause its 

accessibility to fluctuate during the relevant period. 

(6) Assertion to a reasonable landowner of a right to engage in LSP is 

not necessarily inconsistent with the user predominantly taking 

place on informal paths.6 

(7) Qualifying use must “as of right”. LSP that is by force is not 

qualifying use. Use by force is not simply confined to physical force 

                                                        
3 AB/A Tab 4 
4 AB/A Tab 5 
5 AB/A Tab 6  
6 See paragraphs [19]-[22] on pp.7-9 of the Applicant’s Outline Legal Submissions. 

Page 496



 12 

and use will be by force where the landowner had made it clear 

that such use is contentious. 

(8) The facts of this case are on all fours with R (Oxfordshire and 

Buckinghamshire Mental health Trust) v Oxfordshire CC [2010] 

EWHC 530  and the wording of the signs is identical. 

(9) The fencing relied upon by the Objectors that was put up at the top 

of the field by Highfield Crescent, was put up by the Council and 

not the landowners. In any event, the vast majority of the 

Application Land remained  entirely open and accessible. 

(10) The statutory depositions under the Highways Act have no effect 

on whether user was “as of right”. More importantly, those 

depositions would not have been communicated to the reasonable 

person exercising LSP over the Application Land.  

(11) It is clear from the evidence questionnaires and detailed 

statements that qualifying user occurred throughout the relevant 

20-year period.7  

 

3.3 The following witnesses gave evidence at the Inquiry in support of the 

Application: 

 Glyn Paton 

Philip Beagle 

David Rickard 

Dr Ian Flindell 

Julia House 

Simon Day 

Penny Fooks 

Christine Stevens 

Paul Hardiman 

Jeanette Solomon 

Tim Crossland 

Elizabeth Page 

                                                        
7 See paragraph [37] on pp. 13-4 of the Applicant’s Outline Legal Submissions. See also the 
Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [11]-13] on pp.5-6. 

Page 497



 13 

Dr Kay Putman 

Barry Clark 

Michael Yates 

 

3.4  I now summarise the key points of the oral evidence of each of these 

witnesses. In doing this, I use the following abbreviations: 

 EQ:   Evidence Questionnaire  

In-chief:  Evidence given in-chief 

XX:    Cross-examination by the opposing advocate 

 Re-ex:   Re-examination by the witness’ advocate 

  

 

 Glyn Paton8 

Mr. Paton moved to The Flashett, near the telephone box on Middleton 

Road, in 1992. He said that he was aware of the Application Land as soon 

as he moved in, as he would go across it to the shops. His two daughters 

were 3 and 10 years old when they moved in (and thus 2 and 9 in 1991, 

as pointed out in xx of Mr. Paton).  His main access onto the land was from 

the entrance in the south-east corner (OB-A Tab 5 at p.23H) or from the 

path behind the village hall (but not 23G) 

 

His and his family’s use of the Application Land 

They used the land as a recreational area and not just for walking the dog, 

which they had between 1999 and 2008  (he had originally said 1994 to 

2002). He used the area between Middleton Road and Brown’s Copse to 

train the dog. The children crossed the land to school but not with him as 

he was working (as confirmed under xx but in comparison to his answer 

to Q.15 on his EQ). At the weekends, he used the land as a route to the 

village shop (to pick up the papers) and to go to the pub and as a place of 

recreation and enjoyed the wildlife – e.g. bluebells, anemones and 

celandines.  Most of the time they would have the dog with them. 

                                                        
8 AB/A Tab 4 p.124 

Page 498



 14 

The wildlife was predominantly in the Copse but certain areas didn’t have 

bluebells. There was not one area of the wood that they would use 

regularly but would tend to use the part towards the centre. There were 

many ways they would get into the Copse – at least 4 ways from their 

house. When the land had been ploughed up, they still used the Copse. He 

said that  from time to time they would have family walks and that most 

weeks they would visit the Copse, except when they were away on 

holiday. Mr. Paton said the paths accounted for around 5-10% of the 

Copse. In re-ex, Mr. Paton said that there was a main path in the Copse but 

there were also lots of paths diverging off – there was a diagonal path that 

was slightly wider. He also explained in re-ex that since 2011 the Copse 

was more trodden on as people can’t use the field and the main path was 

wider than in 2009/10. He said that the Copse was predominantly hazel 

coppice and there were shrubs throughout. 

Mr. Paton said that he would spend about 10 minutes on the land, if just 

crossing but may stop for a chat. But if going into the Copse they could be 

there for up to 1hr. he said that there were dens in the Copse.  

He had used the paths around the outskirts of the land – he used those to 

get onto the land. He also used the path along the eastern edge of the 

Copse and had accessed the Copse from that path. He said that (referring 

to the aerial photo at OB-A Tab 9 p.71) there were at least 7 tracks across 

the land. 

The children used the land until they were teenagers. He said that when 

his youngest daughter  (born in 1989) comes home she regularly goes for 

a walk in the Copse. 

Under xx, M. Paton said that they had used a variety of paths from 

Middleton Road, depending upon how muddy the land was, to go to and 

from the school. He also  accepted (under xx) that his main/predominant  

use was (besides dog walking) of the land was to transit and most people 

would say that it was used for transit. He said (under xx that he recalled 

that the tracks were pronounced, as shown on the aerial photos at OB/A 

tab 5 at pp. 23/23A. 

Page 499



 15 

Use of the land by others 

Mr. Paton referred to dog walking and said under xx that this was not just 

dogs running off. He said there had been a bonfire on the land. He also 

referred to others sledging – he said they didn’t have a steeper field 

elsewhere. 

He said that he would bump into people on the Land – neighbours and 

friends – he mentioned the Hendersons, who had a dog and who they 

would regularly meet. He also mentioned the Ryans, Phil and Mandy and 

the Glovers, Sue and her husband, who had now sadly passed away. 

He said that it was not just small children that use the woods and he saw 

dens in the Copse all the time. 

 

Challenges and Signs 

Mr. Paton said that he didn’t know who the landowners were. He had 

never been challenged on the land and there had been no interruptions in 

his use. He didn’t think that he needed permission to go on the Land. 

He hadn’t seen any signs until the big ones were pout up in 2011. He said 

that he would have gone past the earlier signs as he went onto the land 

where post 2 is. He said that he didn’t have a dog in 2009 (when the two 

posts were erected) but did go on the land on Saturdays and/or Sundays 

having come from the village shop.  

Under xx, when referred to the two 2009 posts (position seen on 

photograph in OB-A at  Tabs 9 & 10 pp. 71-3), he confirmed that he 

couldn’t remember the signs. He said he would have gone past the post 2 

position but not post 1. He didn’t see the post at the top of the field but 

repeated that he had go that way every week. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 500



 16 

 Philip Beagle9 

Mr. Beagle lives at the Old Post Office on Middleton Road. He first became 

aware of the Application Land in 1999/200 when he visited. He parked in 

the village hall car park and saw people using the field. He moved to his 

current property from Salisbury in 2000.  

 

 His and Family’s Use of the Application Land 

Mr. Beagle said that he would walk his dogs on the land at least twice a 

day – this would begin at 7.30 am or earlier in the summer. He also ran on 

the land. He had dogs from 2000 onwards. He now has 2, the youngest is 

just over 3 years old. He had 3 dogs for a short period. When running they 

would do circular runs and the dogs would go with them. They would 

walk the dogs as well. 

He would access the land from Middleton Road by the  telephone box – as 

shown on the photograph at p.23i of OB/A Tab 5. He used that entrance 

before the field was ploughed. He amended the plan showing the tracks 

over the path submitted with the modification order application, showing 

more tracks. 

When walking the dogs they would go onto the land by the telephone box 

and either go up the field along the inside of the hedge along Middleton 

Road towards the top corner or go straight across from the telephone box 

entrance into the Copse. The Copse was hazel with thinnest bushes. It was 

regularly cut – every year or twice a year. There were bluebells with kids 

doing things – rope swings in the southern part. He remembered a blue 

nylon rope swing and swings are a fairly regular feature – he would say 

they were there 80% of the time. It is the point where children stop off at 

on the way home from school. On the dog walking route they would 

usually come out onto the path and possibly go up to the water tower and 

around or back along Yarnley Lane and through the village. 

                                                        
9 AB/A Tab 4 p.31 

Page 501



 17 

He trained each dog for about 6-9 months (3 different ones over the 

years). This was done on the eastern part of the land as it was less steep 

and shielded from the Road. 

They used to collect sloes from adjacent to Middleton Road and 

blackberries that grew on all perimeters of the field including the eastern 

side of the slope, east and north of the Copse and east and north of the 

field, including the southern corner. 

Under xx, Mr. Beagle accepted that whilst the grass was growing it was 

not as easy to walk through – in June/July it would be 1ft and 2ft tall by 

September. Mr. Beagle said that the grass lay down when it rained, when 

it was suggested to him that it was 2ft when not even standing up 

straight. He said that there were flatter areas and it was not fair to say 

that anyway in May to June. When it was put to him that people would not 

be able to walk through the grass, Mr. Beagle said that may be so for 4-6 

weeks of the 52 weeks, but it may be less than that. When it was 

suggested to Mr. Beagle that there would have been thistles and brambles, 

he said that might have been so in one or two places.  

 

 Activities By Others 

He saw children using swings in the Copse. He saw Chris Waters (his 

neighbour) walking his dogs. He saw others walking and training dogs  - 

Bill and Mandy – they had a golden retriever and used to meet up with 

another lady with a border terrier and with others. Kids would ride their 

bikes on the paths. When there was snow, there were snow ball fights and 

sledging. He saw someone flying a kite once. He saw blackberrying. 

Mr. Beagle said it was an open field with some very prominent tracks (2m 

wide) and some less prominent. Many people used the land. He said there 

were a dozen tracks from the centre of the field. However, people didn’t 

stick to the tracks – they walked on the grass, which was at various times 

fairly short. If the ground was wet, one would tend not to stray off the 

tracks.  

Page 502



 18 

He said that there were other activities almost everywhere – sledging on 

the top steeper end of the field; showmen almost anywhere; bikes were 

ridden along the bottom and along eastern edge of the Copse. He had seen 

a bench, which was not useable, in the bushes that had been on the 

pavement. 

It was suggested to Mr. Beagle that the aerial photographs showed no 

other signs of activity, other than the tracks of LSP. He didn’t agree that 

this meant there was no LSP taking place as he said there would be a 

“dispersal” effect – you wouldn’t see the tracks from children on bikes 

that had gone across the ground once or twice and these would not show 

on a satellite photograph. Mr. Beagle said (in re-ex) that he had walked 

over virtually every inch of the land and the transit routes would not 

affect his use. 

It was also put to Mr. Beagle under xx that the land was between 

important destinations in the village – in the SE the village hall, doctors’ 

surgery and in the NW the shop, pub and school. Mr. Beagle said the 

children going to the nursery would be just as likely to go down the 

tarmac path (to the west of the Copse) as across the field. He also said that 

he didn’t use the Surgery and people tend to get out of a car when visiting 

that facility. With regard to the village hall, it was suggested to Mr. Beagle 

that the activities included the Badminton Club, dance classes, functions, 

parties, and the Truffles Coffee Shop was open on Mon-Fri 10am-12 noon. 

He said in re-exam that most people came to the village hall on foot, with 

a percentage by car. He said that the Hall was fairly busy. 

 

 Challenges and Signs 

He saw no signs but did see post on the ground. He said that there was no 

post by his entrance onto the land or on coning out from the Copse. He 

saw a post on the ground near the village hall – he saw that once or twice 

but it was not there long. His use during the relevant period was not 

interrupted.  

Page 503



 19 

He had met the landowners on the land once or twice and just said hello. 

There were pleasant greetings. He didn’t know who they were at the time. 

They never said anything to him about using the land. He met then 

coming out of the top end of the Copse. 

Under xx, it was suggested to Mr. Beagle (referring to point 7 on 

photograph at p.23F at Tab 5 of OB/A) that the post at the southern end 

(Post 1) was only 20 yards from where he entered the field. He said that it 

was “maybe 30 yards”. It was suggested to Mr. Beagle that the post would 

have been there on at least 28 occasions when he entered the field. He 

said that he might have been away in Feb and March 2009. He said that he 

didn’t recall seeing the posts sticking up. He saw post in the bushes lying 

down. Mr. Beagle said that when entering and going across the land he 

would not go past the post – he would turn right along the hedgerow or 

go straight across to the Copse. The evening walk would have been in the 

dark and in the morning, it would have been low light. In re-ex, Mr. Beagle 

said that the 4 current signs in neon red were fairly hard to miss unlike 

the initial 2 posts. 

 

Photo 23B (OB/A Tab B) showing the broken fence in the north-west 

corner of the Application Land was put to Mr. Beagle, who said that his 

access onto the land was in the south-east corner by the village hall. 

 

 

 David Rickard10 

Mr. Rickard has lived opposite Middleton Road since    1964. The land was 

cornfield when they moved in until it was set aside in the 1980s. Since 

then, the field has been left idle. There is no disincentive for people to 

wander through into the field to enjoy the wildflowers etc. The obvious 

entrance was from the right of way near to the Village Hall. 

 

 

                                                        
10 AB/A Tab 4 p. 142 

Page 504



 20 

 His own and his family’s use of the Application Land 

He has used the land with his children (born in 1966 and 1969) and his 4 

grandchildren who are in their teens now but visit regularly. He has used 

the land to cross from the Village Hall car park up towards the shop going 

into Woodlands Drive to avoid using path around the Copse and it is a 

more interesting route to view wildflowers and to avoid Middleton Road. 

They paths used varied but mainly go on a path up through the middle of 

the land but children, he said, don’t stick to the main path. They would 

bring kites and radio controlled aircraft onto the field – they would travel 

about 20 yards at the most and usually end up in tree. 

In the Copse, they would swing from the trees using a rope. They would 

use one of the big trees not in the centre but more to the field side of the 

Copse. There has been a rope swing there for the last 20 years.  

Under xx, it was pointed out to Mr. Rickard that he said in answer to Q.15 

of the EQ that he used the land “occasionally”. He said that he would go 

across 2 or 3 times for shopping or wander over there with family or 

friends. He confirmed that his children would have been 25 and 32 in 

1991 and had left home by then. (being in Birmingham and near 

Andover). He described Middleton Road (in his Statement (AB/A Tab 4 p. 

142) as “incredibly dangerous”. He agreed under xx that although in some 

case he did actually carry out activities on the land he did mainly use it to 

get from one side of the field to the other. In re-ex, Mr. Rickard said that 

when he went into the Copse he was not using it to cross and he 

occasionally saw others; other children. It was almost a public amenity, he 

said. 

 

 Use of the Application Land by Others 

 Children always wandered into the Copse and played there. 

 

 

 

 

Page 505



 21 

 Challenges and Signs 

Mr. Rickard said that nothing prevented him using the land. He was not 

aware of any signs until 2011.  He only really accessed the land from the 

car park  (point 5 on photo at p. 23F – OB/A tab 5) and he didn’t see signs 

or posts in that area. He confirmed that he was aware of the current signs 

– assaying the land was Private.. The land had been set aside and not 

fenced. 

 

 

 Dr. Ian Flindell11 

Dr. Flindell has lived in the village since 1994. He has 4 children born in 

1979, 1984, 1987 and 1989. It is only the two younger children who have 

used the field. He lives at the other end of the village and has no direct 

view of the land. 

 

His and his family’s use of the Application Land 

He personally didn’t use the land other than to cross to the village hall. He 

did take the dog onto the land in 1997 and met several others doing so, 

which was good for socializing the dog. Under xx, he said that this was not 

a regular occurrence – it was during the summer and once a week then. 

They had quite a large garden but their dog didn’t meet others there. They 

went anywhere on the land. That was for 5 years or so.  

They went into Copse and took pictures of the bluebells. The younger 

boys go to the Copse in the Summer and build dens. From time to time 

boys sledge on the land and met other children. On occasions, they had 

gone there everyday for a couple of weeks. They also go to Plantation 

Woods on the other side of the village, which has a footpath through it. In 

the Copse, there are paths all around; they exit through the Copse onto 

the field (having entered the Copse from the footpath on the west side). 

                                                        
11 AB/A Tab 4 p.74 

Page 506



 22 

He could remember the brambles in the west corner of the field by 

Highfield Crescent between there and Woodland Drive.  

 

 Signs and Challenges 

Dr. Flindell said that he had no concerns about his children going onto the 

land as he had assumed that it was public amenity land. He didn’t know 

that it belonged to Mr. Sheppard. He wasn’t aware of any indication that 

he shouldn’t be on the land. He didn’t remember seeing any notices.  

Under xx (taken to pp.72 & 73 of OB/A Tabs 9 &10), Dr. Flindell 

confirmed that he had no recollection of seeing the post during the 2 

weeks in Feb 2009. He said that possibly the bottom post was there but 

he never saw it. With regard to the bottom post (referred to photo on p. 

75), he said that could possibly remember the rubbish but not the post – 

that was the area where the brambles are. 

He saw the remains of the fence along Highfield Crescent, with there 

being wire on the ground (see photograph on p.51 of AB/A Tab 4). He 

didn’t remember the tree shown in that photograph though. Under xx 

(taken to photograph 23B in OB/A Tab 5), Dr. Flindell said that he 

believed that there were bits of old rusty wire at that point in the broken 

fence from 1995/6/7. In re-ex, he gave the date as between 1993-2000. 

He didn’t recall the fence being reinstated – there was a gap in the posts 

as well. He said that his impression was that there had been a boundary 

there at one time but it had not been maintained. He didn’t remember any 

fencing between the Copse and the field. There were possibly a few posts 

between the copse and the adjacent footpath. 

With regard to the gate on the southern boundary (at point 5 of 

photograph 23F – OB/A Tab 5), he could see no other reason why the gate 

was there other than to allow access onto the land.  

 

 

Page 507



 23 

 Julia House12 

Mrs. House lives at Gunville Hill. She has a daughter and a son born in 

1989 and 1992. She has known the Application Land since 1993. She said 

that she didn’t know the copse and the field were part of the same land – 

she hadn’t realised that the Copse was privately owned, although she 

knew that the field was. 

 

 Her Use of the Application Land 

She used the land from 1993 until 2003 at least once per week when child 

minding. Her use after 2003 was more intermittent/occasional. She 

entered the land from the south – by the tennis courts through the gate or 

by the telephone box.  

She looked after 6 children at a time, who were mostly local. There had 

been about 25 from Winterslow over that period. They walked up to 

school in the village not using the field and then back using the field and 

going to the Village Hall. They would alternate the route for out and back. 

Under xx, Mrs. House said that they would go up to school on the bus and 

walk back but depending upon the weather and also what the children 

wanted to do. After lunch, they had between 1-3. They would sometimes 

go into the Copse – entering at the top. She used to look after quite young 

children. They would play on the path on the field where the grass was 

shorter. They would play hide and seek in the longer grass. Boys under 3 

like to hit with sticks. The girls prefer craft –they play pickup acorns in 

the copse rather than on the field. The older children liked the woods and 

the younger ones liked the short grass. 

Asked under xx about what they did in wet weather, Mrs. House said that 

“it was ok with wellies as it was nice for the children to go into the muddy 

wood”. She said that if it was dry, they would go on the field and if muddy 

go into the wood. This was about 3 times per week. On Wednesday, they 

always walked back because of the hour-long activity.  

 
                                                        
12 AB/A Tab 4 p.96 

Page 508



 24 

 Use of Application Land by others 

She used to regularly meet friends, including those who are dog walkers 

including Lizzie Dixon, Caroline Henderson, Kate Church, Gill MacKay, 

Linda Mace – they are all from Winterslow. 

They would meet other children when child minding. 2 of her friends 

(Kate Church and Linda Mace) were child minders so they would 

sometimes go together. 

Under xx, Mrs. House said that people would always be playing in the 

woods and that it was used more for activities than the field. The field was 

used for chatting, dog walking and playing.  When it was suggested to her 

in xx that the main use of the field was walking across it, she said that was 

so for adults but children would play on the field as it was a nice open 

space. When it was put to her, again in xx, that there were no photos of 

children playing on the land, she replied that she wouldn’t think of taking 

photographs. She added however that there were photographs of sledging 

and that it snows regularly and there are one or two periods when the 

snow settles but not every year. She remembered the first year when the 

field was packed with sledgers. The last time she could remember her 

daughter using the field for sledging was in 2010 for 3-4 days. She also 

referred to the wildlife on the land at different times of the year.  

 

 Signs and challenges to use 

She saw the sign on the post near to the Village Hall; but as everyone else 

was using the land, they just carried on, as it was causing no harm. She 

didn’t know how long the sign was there. She read the wording, which 

said no right of way. She imagined that it was not an official route.  

She didn’t realize that the Copse was part of the same land. She 

considered that the sign was referring to the field and not the Copse. 

There was fencing only by the Village Hall. There was fencing on the 

periphery by Highfield Crescent and hedges along the road. 

Page 509



 25 

Under xx about the posts, she said that she understood that they meant 

this was not an official route – so it is not a footpath but she could wander 

around the field. She did not accept that “No ROW” meant “I don’t want 

you on my field”. She said no it meant that it was “just not official”. Mrs. 

House stated that the sign was not saying no access but just that there 

was no right of way. She said that she was unaware that the signs had 

been removed by force on 203 occasions, as was put to her under xx. 

 

 

 Simon Day13  

Mr. Day lives with his family at Middleton and has lived in Winterslow 

since 2007 (at Garlands from July 2007-2008 about ¼ to 1/3 of a mile 

away. When they moved to the village, their children were 5 and 8 years 

of age and learning to ride a bike. 

 

 His and his family’s use of the Application Land 

For the first couple of years they used the land 2-3 times a week. Under 

xx, Mr. Day said that the children walked back and forth during term time 

and had quality time in the field if walking back. Their mum would stop 

and talk, but you would see less fathers doing that. On Thurs/Friday, it 

was Mr. Day who would go with them to school and they would stop and 

play on the land. In the later years, it was more that purpose every few 

weekends. If parents or friends came down or children wanted to play in 

the woods, they would go there. As the children got older, they would let 

them go into the woods on their own. Mr. Day said that he would walk 

around the field (with friends or parents) and end up walking through the 

woods. Under xx, he said that he is on the land now every third weekend – 

mainly in the summer/drier times. The children would go on their bikes 

in the wood even in the wet weather. The copse was more used than the 

field. When they were younger, he saw a lot more people in the field and 

people milling around. 

                                                        
13 AB/A Tab 4 p.64 

Page 510



 26 

So initially, they used the land to cross over to the school. They went from 

the SE corner and up the path. 3 times a week he would go from the shop 

through the field. They would sometimes go into the woods and play 

there with bits of wood they would find and make dens. In the woods, the 

children would play with friends. Quite a lot of children were taught to 

cycle on the field. 

In the summers of 2009, 2010 and 2011, Mr. Day and his wife used the 

tennis courts by the Village Hall (usually on a Sunday) and the boys would 

play in the field where they could keep an eye on them. 

He referred to playing football occasionally in the field, as well as Frisbee 

even when the grass quite long. 

His use of the field stopped when the field was ploughed. 

Under xx, Mr. Day was referred to his answer to Q.14 of his EQ where he 

stated “This piece of land is integral to all the main village facilities…”. He 

accepted that the Village store had a lottery terminal and an off licence 

and that it opens longer (until 8pm) since 2005 and is well stocked. 

 

 Others’ use of the Application Land 

Quite a lot of children were taught to cycle on the field. Mr. Day referred 

to his marked photograph (AB/A Tab4 p.73) and the blue box area shown 

on that. 

If they saw friends on the field, they would have a kick about normally in 

the blue area (on the p.70 aerial photograph) where the grass was 

shorter. 

Mr. Day said “now and again” they would see people walking dogs and it 

was nice to meet them and to get chatting.   

Mr. Day did say “It is mainly people and dog walkers crossing that you 

see.” He didn’t remember a bonfire on the land. 

 

 

 

Page 511



 27 

 Signs and challenges on use 

Mr. Day didn’t recall any signs. He thought that this was public land and it 

does not, he said, appear to be privately owned. There is no physical 

barrier to entering the land. There is fencing only along the road and the 

village hall. However, there is an access point in the fence by the village 

hall, which is a fence for the village hall and not the field. 

When asked (in-chief) whether he had seen the recent signs, Mr. Day 

replied “not really, no”. 

 

 

 Penny Fooks14 

Mrs. Fooks has lived at Saxon Leas since May 2007, having moved to 

Winterslow in 1990 at the top of Gunville Hill (having moved from Suffolk 

in that year). 

 

 Use of Application Land by her and her family 

Mrs. Fooks used the land going to the Village Hall, shops and to visit 

friends. It is a good way of accessing other parts of the village. There were 

a lot of things going on in the Village Hall. When living in Saxon Leas, 

crossing the Application Land was the main route to the shops, friends 

etc. Her son was more interested in nature – picking things up and taking 

them home. He said that he would play in the Copse – making dens; 

playing hide and seek. There were rope swings in the Copse in that 

corner. At the weekend’s her son would go down there but not her. 

Her son, who was born in 1995, went to a nursery school out of the village 

and to the primary school in the village when nearly 5 in 2000 until 2007. 

When he started primary school, they had to make the trek to school on 

other side of the village bus sometimes and sometimes she cycled with 

him on the back of her bike at first up Middleton Road (because the road 

was dangerous, as she said when xx). Sometimes they walked. In the 

average week, they would sometimes walk three times and sometimes 
                                                        
14 AB/A Tab 4 p.75 

Page 512



 28 

more – they would often walk home. When going to school he was not 

recreating. On the way back, he would like going into the Copse. When 

asked under xx whether he would play in the field, Mrs. Fooks said “more 

in the Copse”. He was 12 years old in 2007 and went to secondary school 

out of the village but he still went to the woods – he is very passionate 

about the woods and other woods too. 

She said in he written statement that she has a friend’s dogs after that 

friend had had a stroke – a couple of times per week for a period of 4 

months December 2009- March 2010. 

 

Use of the Application Land by others 

Mrs. Fooks has seen children playing in the Copse and spilling out into 

areas around.  

There was a walking bus from the Village Hall to the school but she was 

not sure what route that would take. 

She saw dog walking, people going for walks; she also saw an archer. It 

was just people who live in the village - they would walk around the land. 

You were very likely to bump into or see 1 other person – you could see 

someone using one or other of the paths. There were 7 or 8 paths, and 

tracks into the Copse – going up to rope swing. 

 

Signs and challenges 

Access was prevented in 2011. She saw stakes without signs for a week. 

She has no idea what they were for; there was one at the top end and 

another one in the south-west corner. There was a stake in the south-east 

corner. The other sign was green and there for a week. She said that she 

remembered not understanding what it was. She continued to use the 

land when the steak was there but didn’t use the land when the other 

signs were erected. She had understood that Mr. Sheppard had given he 

land to the village, as he had done for the Village Hall. 

Page 513



 29 

Under xx Mrs. Fooks said that she could not remember what the green 

sign on the posts said. She said in her written statement that she 

remembered being very puzzled and surprised when access to the field 

was prevented in 2011. She confirmed that she couldn’t believe that she 

no longer could walk across the land. When pressed she accepted that she 

must have read the sign (with the wording as shown at p. 5 of OB/A). 

When it was put to Mrs. Fooks did it not convey to her that the landowner 

did not welcome her on that land, Mrs. Fooks answered “I imagine so”. 

 

 

 Christine Stevens15 

Mrs. Stevens moved into Winterslow Parish in the early 1980s (1983/4). 

Sometimes they would walk into the village from Latcombe Corner. She 

has lived at 11 Woodlands Drive since August 2009. From that property, 

she has a lovely view, she said, overlooking the land with the Copse on the 

rights. Previously she had lived 2 miles out of the village. She has two sons 

born in 1977 and 1979 who went to the local primary school in the 

village. She was recovering from a life-threatening illness in 1995 

 

 Use of Application Land by Mrs. Stevens and her family 

They accessed the land from Daddy King’s Path, by the Village Hall or by 

Woodlands Drive. The children would play on the field in 1986/7. She 

didn’t know whether there were crops then. Under xx, it was put to her 

(by reference to OB/A Tab 8 p.51) that there was barley and wheat on the 

field in 1986/7. Mrs. Stevens said that her sons said to her recently that 

there was a hole in the field. She said that they all used the Copse. They 

used to come into the village regularly. Sometimes they would walk and 

sometimes drive to the village and then walk – sometimes on the Copse 

and the land. It was a delight – the bluebells, other wildflowers, wildlife 

including woodpeckers and owls. There is a primrose bank along the 

Middleton Road side. There was a bank of wild orchids in the middle of 

                                                        
15 AB/A Tab 4 p.160 

Page 514



 30 

the field. There was a flatter area to the east. They moved into Woodland 

Drive and used the field and Copse. 

They used the land much more (“almost on a daily basis”) after 2009, 

once they had moved into Woodland Drive. 

Under xx, Mrs. Stevens said that before they moved into their current 

address they used the land possibly twice a week – she said they went 

into the Copse (cf. Q15 of her EQ – AB/B Tab 4 p.164 – in re-examination 

when asked whether the Questionnaire allowed her to distinguish 

periods, Mrs. Stevens said that she didn’t think so). However, with regard 

to the field she said that she really couldn’t remember whether twice, 

three times or four times – it was going back too far to remember. She 

said that she walked around the perimeter and across the field. When 

asked whether that was sticking to the established tracks, Mrs. Stevens 

said that she often used to but she also walked along Middleton Road side, 

where there was the bank of flowers. She also picked blackberries and 

sloes – the blackberries were along the edge of the Copse. In re-ex, Mrs. 

Stevens said that she picked sloes at the end of autumn for about a month 

(August-September) before there was a frost. 

She was asked about he answers at Q. 14 of her EQ (AB/A Tab 4 p. 164) in 

comparison to her oral evidence. Mrs. Steven answered, unconvincingly in 

my view, that there is a limit to what you can say in small boxes. 

 

 Use of Application Land by others 

She saw children on bikes (3 -4 times a week) – they were on the tracks 

but not all the time. People walked across the field. She saw children 

sledging, mostly from the top end of the field. There was the newspaper 

delivery across that would cut across the field. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 515



 31 

 Signs and Challenges 

There had been nothing to prevent their use. There were no fences – she 

had never seen a fence on that field – there was something along Highfield 

Crescent side. 

There have been signs in the last 2 seasons after the land was rough 

ploughed –then Private Property signs went up (OB/A Tab 11).  

She was aware that Mr. Sheppard owned the land, as she was on the PC 

but she had never been told not to use it. She saw Mr. Sheppard in the 

Copse once and she asked him whether she could gather some sticks and 

Mr. Sheppard said ok if done from the school path. 

 

 

Paul Hardiman16 

Mr. Hardiman moved to Woodland Drive in 1999, having lived outside the 

village before that. His house is end-of-terrace and gives him a full view. 

Mr. Hardiman is a retired police officer who had worked shifts, which 

included doing 7 consecutive nights. His partner had 2 children (then 4 

and 6 years old) he had 3 of his own children (DoB 1988, 1991, 1994) 

who came to visit him regularly – most weekends and in the week. That 

relationship ended in 2006 but he still lived there in 2010-2011 in an 

alternative address in the villa in Gunville Road. They did brownies, 

guides and scouts in the village. That was 2 evening a week and every 

other weekend. The Brownies met at the village hall; the Scouts and 

Guides met at the Methodist Hall, on the Common by the Lions Head 

public house. Mr. Hardiman is a Cub leader. To his knowledge, there had 

been no formal cub use of the land.  

 

Use of Application Land 

They entered the land from the steps in Woodland Drive (see photo 4 on 

p.74 of OB/A Tab 10). 

                                                        
16 AB/A Tab 4 p. 85 

Page 516



 32 

The children used the land as an adventure playground – it had rough 

terrain and was wild like Dartmoor. They liked getting dirty and rushing 

around on bikes. They played there with other friends from the village. It 

was their play area. They used it in the dark. The Copse was the children’s 

regular playground. They played hide and seek and run around and 

explore.  

He used the entire field and on occasions ventured into the Copse to see 

the bluebells etc. He sometimes went with the children into the Copse and 

sometimes they were unattended. 

Under xx, Mr. Hardiman appeared to accept (when he answered “You are 

making a point”) that when the children were older they were not using 

the land as a destination in itself. 

 

 Use of Application Land by others 

Although it was less when raining, there were generally people on the 

land most days. There was use throughout the seasons but greater use in 

the summer and during lighter evenings. 

Under xx, when it was suggested that the predominant use of the land was 

as a place of transit and that Middleton Road was “nasty”, Mr. Hardiman 

said that there was a mixture of transit and recreational use of the land 

but and that you wouldn’t choose to use Middleton Road to go to and from 

the village. He said his use was 50/50. 

There was dog walking on the land most times of the day/evening and 

people chatting. There were school children going home; joggers (across 

the land); walkers. There were berries around the Copse – sloes and 

blackberries along the Middleton Road side – hazel saplings in Copse and 

blackberries grow everywhere. 

It was put to Mr. Hardiman in xx, and he agreed, that for most of the 

period ending in 2011 there were well worn tracks across the field. He 

also agreed that it was a convenient crossing point. In re-ex, Mr. 

Hardiman said that there remained substantial groups he used the field 

Page 517



 33 

(and not just the tracks), which was (he clarified to me) quite regularly. 

He said it was used  for chatting, a gathering place, dog walkers, children 

on their bikes, going into the woods. 

 

 Signs and Challenges 

He saw the signs in 2011 (the Private property ones in OB/A tab 11) 

when he moved back. He noticed that the field had been ploughed. He saw 

no other signs before then. He saw the rubbish pile (of garden waste) in 

photo 4 of OA/A Tab 10 – that was always there, he said. However, he 

never saw the post on that waste. 

Under xx, he said that he would go onto the land 4 times a week. He was 

taken to the post and sign that was there in Feb 2009 (OB/A Tab 10 p.73) 

– it was pointed out that this was very close to his home. He was also 

referred to Mr. Sheppard saying that the posts were torn out and re-

erected on 2-3 occasions and after 2 weeks he gave up. Mr. Hardiman said 

that he saw no post. He said that some of journeys (across the land) were 

in darkness – when going to the Scouts.  He was referred to the wording 

(on p.5 of OB/A) which said “No Public Right of Way” and in xx it was said 

this is what the “very small sign says. WCC put the sign up.” Mr. Hardiman 

was also referred in xx to what Penny Fooks said about the sign – people 

were puzzled, she said, when they saw the signs. It was suggested to him 

that he was bound to see it. 

 

 

Jeanette Solomon17 

Mrs. Solomon has lived in the area for 59 years, having gone to the local 

Primary School in the village. She used to live in Weston lane but moved 

away and then back in 2006 to her current address in Livery Road. 

However, in her EQ at Q.36  (AB/A Tab 4 p.157) she stated that she had 

carried on the activities on the land for 14 years. 

 

                                                        
17 AB/A Tab 4 p.151 

Page 518



 34 

Use of Application Land 

She entered the land from the footpath next to Bluebell Wood. She cut 

into the field just before the railings to the Village Hall. She did a circular 

route around the wood – diagonally to NW corner and back onto the blue 

footpath.  

In her EQ (at Q.15) Mrs. Solomon said that she walked her dog on the land 

at least once a day. Under xx, she said that it was at least twice a day but 

her dog died in 2011. It was suggested to Mrs. Solomon that she had 

embellished and exaggerated her evidence. She denied this saying that 

she was busy. She went through the EQ quietly. 

After she moved back in 2006, she parked by Bluebell Wood in Highfield 

Crescent. The circuit took about 20-25 minutes unless she met someone 

and had time to talk to them. She did this 2-3 times a day. If she had 

plenty of time, she would walk from home but the majority of the time she 

drove. She did an evening walk too as she felt safe there. 

 

Use of Application Land by Others 

She met people but couldn’t remember their names. A person with 3 dogs; 

a lady with 2 black Labradors; gentleman with Springer spaniels – Mr. 

Beagle. Children built wigwam in the Copse. She saw coppicing in the 

wood – 4 or 5 times from 2006. She saw children going through or playing 

in the wood. By playing, they were running around, especially when 

leaves had fallen as they would kick up the leaves. 

 

Signs and Challenges 

In about 2009, she asked the owner whether she could collect wood for 

her then new Jet Master Fire. He was happy, she said, for her to do so. She 

didn’t ask permission to go in the wood, as people were going into the 

wood. She assumed that it was a right of way. There were no signs and 

she collected small bundles of wood (kindling not logs as she clarified 

Page 519



 35 

under xx) from near where she parked her car in Highfield Crescent. 

Under xx, she said that she did this perhaps once or twice a week. 

Nothing stopped her use. There was only a fence by the Village Hall but 

that didn’t affect her at all. The only sign was pick up dog mess but that 

was not on the land. She has seen the recent signs (see OB/A Tab 11), 

which are very visible at both ends, she believes. On being shown photo 

23B (OB/A Tab 5), Mrs. Solomon said that she remembered seeing 

fencing but she imagined it had been like that for some time. She didn’t 

recall seeing any repairs there. On being shown a picture of the northern 

post (OB/A Tab 10 p.74), she said that she did not remember seeing it 

when she walked. There was nothing on it. She didn’t recall the other 

(southern) post (p.73) either – but she didn’t walk that way – she walked 

where the white  (snow) is around the edge of the Copse. 

Under xx, she said that she didn’t recall anyone telling her about what the 

2009 signs said. She said that she wasn’t sure whether she had seen the 

sign. She then said she might have seen it but there was nothing on it as 

far as she could tell. She said that was plus the fact that people were still 

walking I there. Mrs. Solomon went on to say that she can assume that it 

said perhaps that you should not be walking on there. 

 

 

Tim Crossland18 

Mr. Crossland made the Application on behalf of WOOD. He moved to 

Winterslow, to his current address in Middleton Road, with his wife and 

two daughters (who are now 17 and 13, having been born in 1997 and 

2000) in August 2005. There some of his photos of his daughters with the 

application form. He was advised by the Open Spaces Society that 

designation would protect the land from development. The land can be 

seen from his property. The person they purchased it from told them that 

it was common land. 

 

                                                        
18 AB/A Tab 4 p. 52 

Page 520



 36 

Use of the Application Land 

They have used the land from when they moved in. They walk the dog 

there twice a day. They enter the land on the FP at the corner of 

Middleton Road and the Causeway (Point E shown on photo 23E at OB/A 

Tab 5) and walk across the field to the Copse and the dog runs about 

there. They went both straight across the land and diagonally across. The 

dog ran around – they would throw balls. The children ran about. This 

was around the area to the East of the Copse. He would walk the dog 

either after work or during the lunch break. His wife walked the dog in 

the morning and he did later. 

The children ran around to the east and north-east of the Copse. He 

taught his elder daughter to ride her bicycle alongside the Copse – that 

was when she was 9 years of age, in 2006. They sledged on the north-

west part of the land. They picked blackberries along the northern 

footpath and north-east corner of the Copse. 

At the weekend he would go to the village shop and pub as well as 

stopping and doing things on the land. 

 

Use of the Application Land by others 

Mr. Crossland referred to walking his 2 dogs on the land – the dogs ran 

about. He regularly saw people on the land from his house – it was, he 

added, normal to see people on the land – their use of the land varied – at 

the start and end of the school day people would walk through the land. 

There also people walking dogs, flying kites (see the photograph on p.63 

of OB/A Tab4) and occasionally kicking a football around. In response to 

my question, Mr. Crossland said that he saw kite flying  not frequently – 2 

to 3 times a year. Under xx, Mr. Crossland was asked whether he was sure 

that the photo did not show snow. 

Mr. Crossland said that the main activity on the land was people walking 

dogs – not just walking through the land but stopping and walking 

around. Under xx, he accepted that people walking through the land 

Page 521



 37 

would stick to the paths to avoid the grass. He said that when the grass 

was long  (in June and July certainly) most people kept to the tracks. He 

said that the longer grass did not worry him. Mr. Crossland also said that 

he had said all along that the majority are traversing and are going to and 

from sites but I also said people are using it for recreational purposes. In 

re-ex, Mr. Crossland was asked how substantial the remaining 

recreational use on the land was. He replied that that regularly took place 

on the land rather than just walking through – it was primarily dog 

walkers like themselves and they would go into the longer grass. 

Referring to the School Calendar photograph on p.54 of AB/A Tab 4), he 

said that the bluebells were fairly seasonal (Mr. Crossland was a Governor 

of the School at the time). 

 

Signs and Challenges 

He said that nobody stopped him using the land and nothing prevented 

access to it. It was ploughed on 4th April 2011 and people stopped using it 

then. He said the fence by Highfield Crescent was there when he moved to 

the village – he referred to a concrete post, metal, wires. 

He didn’t know when the more recent “Private Property – Please Keep 

Off” signs had appeared. He said that he understood those to mean that he 

should not go onto the land – no entry. The earlier 2009 signs meant, he 

said, that the owner does not want a footpath put onto his land. 

He was referred to the plan of the tracks (p.30 of OB/A tab 8) under xx 

and asked which track he thinks the landowner was referring to in his 

2009 sign. Mr. Crossland said he didn’t know and one would have to ask 

the land owner but he would say the track between B & F or E (both 

through I). It was then suggested to him that on his approach the owner 

wanted to stop that but was happy for people to wander over his land. 

Reference was made to Penny Fooks saying that people were puzzled by 

the sign and he was asked whether he had been puzzled. Mr. Crossland 

said he didn’t know why the sign was put up. When it was said that Mrs. 

Fooks said that the effect of the sign was that trespassers in the field were 

Page 522



 38 

unwelcome, Mr. Crossland disagreed with that interpretation. When it 

was put to him that he was saying that the landowner was permitting this, 

he replied that the owner could have put a fence up. 

 

 

Elizabeth Page19 

Mrs. Page has lived in Livery Road since 1986 and before that in 

Middleton Road from 1976. 

  

 Use of the Application Land 

During the relevant period her main use was when her son William (who 

was born in 1989) was at his first 3 years of school starting in 1994 – he 

was minded by Julia House (who also gave evidence to the Inquiry as 

recorded above) from 1996 to 1997 for one day a week whilst she was 

working. She sat with Mrs. House in the field near the Copse while her son 

played in the wood for 3/4 hr while Mrs. House’s daughter had a ballet 

class in the Village Hall. He would play with dens in the wood that others 

had made as he was too young then to actually make a den.  

Under xx, Mrs. Page confirmed that it was only early years that she would 

meet up with Mrs. House on the land and pick her son. In re-ex, she said 

that she had been on the Village Hall Committee since 2007-2011. She 

said there were people on the land until it was ploughed to the same 

extent as before. She didn’t think the use changed (from the early years). 

When xx on this answer Mrs. Page accepted that she would only have a 

view from the table tennis room of the Village Hall and also from the car 

park. She said that she did see people throwing balls for dogs. 

  

 Use of the Application Land by others 

People would walk across  and people would exercise their dogs. It was a 

good space in the middle of all of the houses. It was a good place to throw 

                                                        
19 AB/A Tab 4 p.114 

Page 523



 39 

things for dogs to run after rather than just go along with a dog on a lead. 

This would mainly take place near the Village Hall where the land was 

flatter. There were people walking through – there would be a stream 

coming back from school. They would come from Woodland Drive along 

the eastern side of the Copse or diagonally across the land into the corner 

by the Village Hall. 

  

 Signs and Challenges 

Mrs. Page knew it was Mr. Sheppard’s land but it was just used as 

common land. She never saw the owners on the land.  

Sometimes the fence was breached by Highfield Crescent. She was not 

sure how long the fence had been there. It was there 5-10 years ago and 

in a better state but she couldn’t say before that. There was fencing 

around the Village Hall too but not elsewhere. 

  

  

 Dr. Kay Putman20 

Dr. Putman moved to Winterslow in 1988. She lives near to the village 

shop on The Flood. 

   

 Use of the Application Land 

She uses the land weekly (cf. Q.15 of her EQ – AB/A Tab 4 p. 136 “several 

times a week”) to go to the Church or collect prescriptions from the 

Doctors’ Surgery. She uses the diagonal path to cross the land. She enters 

the land from the path shown in photo p.74 (OB/A Tab 10) but not using 

the steps. 

She used the Copse when her son (DoB 1990) was small. When he was a 

little older, he would go into the Copse. There were dens there but he 

would make his own. Her son used the land from when he was 9 years old 

                                                        
20 AB/A Tab 4 p.133 

Page 524



 40 

(1999) to 2012 when he was 12 years old perhaps but it was difficult to 

recall. Her use continued until the land was ploughed in 2011. 

Once it was obvious that there were paths, she would take her son across 

the field as she is interested in flowers. What was of interest depended 

upon the time of the year?  From May to June, most flowers were out. 

There were brambles in the autumn; on the hill towards the shop was 

where there were most. Low growing brambles were found by the 

diagonal footpath in the north-west part of the field. Some years it was 

full, others not. It was quite wet at the bottom of the field. Someone said 

they had seen as orchid, she had not. 

They did blackberrying in the north-west corner on the northern 

boundary of the Copse in most years and she made jam in the autumn 

  

 Use of the Application Land by others 

She met people on the land who she knew to be local. It was mostly dog 

walkers – including people playing with dogs. There were ball games and 

children cycling bikes. The area used would vary as people moved 

around. 

Under  xx, Dr. Putman said “certainly when snowing a lot of people would 

use it”. It was then put to her that there were 3 main snow events – Feb 

2004; Jan/Feb 2009; and Jan 2010. Dr. Putman said that they would 

sometimes get a day of snow. It was further suggested in xx that snow 

was an exceptional event. Dr. Putman said that the first year there (1988) 

they had heavy snow. Then they had bad snow when her son was 3 in 

1993/4; there was one snow event at Christmas 1997/8 when he was 7 

(5 snow events). 

Under xx, Dr Putman accepted that most people kept to the tracks when 

the grass was growing. 

  

 

 

Page 525



 41 

 Signs and Challenges 

She assumed that they could use the land as there was  nothing to say that 

they could not. She did remember the pile of garden waste, which varied 

in height. She did not recall seeing the northern post shown on p.74 of 

OB/A Tab 10 even though near to her access point (point 2 on 23A of 

OB/A tab 5). When asked in-chief whether she was still using the field at 

that time (Feb 2009), Dr. Putman replied “probably”. Under xx, she said 

that she may have been away. With regard to the southern post, Dr. 

Putman said that she tended not to go out at that point as she went into 

the Village Hall along the side of the Copse. When asked in-chief about the 

wording of the 2009 signs (p.5 of OB/A) she said that would suggest the 

path had been closed. Under xx, she agreed that if she had seen the sign it 

would have suggested to her that trespassers were not welcome 

anywhere in the field. In re-ex, she said that she thought the copse was 

separate from the field. 

  

 

 Barry Clark21 

Mr. Clark has lived with his 2 sons (DoB 3/11/94 & 21/04/97) in 

Middleton Road since February 2008. He has always had a dog apart from 

for a short period. When he visited before purchasing the property, he 

was aware of the field straight away, as his dogs need exercising 

everyday. Mr. Clark was the Applicant in January 2013 for the 

modification order to the Definitive Map and Statement. 

 

 Use of the Application Land 

He uses the land at least once a week and sometimes everyday. He enters 

the land from the metalled footpath behind the Village Hall and goes in to 

the field into the Copse. He also walks across the field going in at point 1 

(having parked at Highfield Crescent) photo 23A – OB/A Tab or at 23B 

(there being a gap there during the time he has used the land). Under xx, 

                                                        
21 AB/A Tab 4 p. 41 

Page 526



 42 

Mr. Clark said that he mainly enters the land by the Village Hall but would 

have used all the entry points 1-4 at one time or another. 

 He varies the route for the dog walk so the dog doesn’t get bored. He goes 

all over the field with the part bordering Middleton Road that he used the 

most. Other uses included playing in the snow (see photo of 4 Feb 2009 at 

AB/A Tab 4 p. 51B) – but that was not often – in the north-western 

corner. Under xx he said that his walking of the dogs was not just as part 

of a trip to the shop  - it was not incidental to that, although he might 

combine the two sometimes. 

Mr. Clark said, under xx, that he would often be off the tracks on the field 

– to recover the training aid he used for the dogs or just walking across. 

He also said under xx that he did not remember the grass as being 2-3 ft 

long. He said he would seasonally see the grass longer but not to 2-3 ft. He 

further said that when the grass was dense he wouldn’t trample on it but 

the dogs would. He said also that when it was wet he would wear boots or 

wellingtons. 

Under xx, Mr. Clark was asked about his reference to keeping his dogs 

under control on the Application Land given his conviction for his dog, 

Kasha, not being under control and biting someone in Newquay in 

Cornwall (see OB/A at Tab 13 p.98B). As a result, the dog was put down. 

In re-ex he said that had never happened before and he was very 

conscious of safety as he had been bitten by an Alsatian when he was in 

his twenties. When it had become obvious what the problem was, the dog 

was put down. I make it clear that I have not considered this aspect 

relevant to my assessment of Mr. Clark’s evidence.  

 

 Use of the Application Land by others 

Mr. Clark said that he would almost always another person or people 

using the field and the Copse – typically with a dog or dogs and sometimes 

with children. He say Mrs. Kay, Mike Taylor. He would recognise other 

faces but not know their names. 

Page 527



 43 

He said that there was not much playing when people were crossing the 

land on the way to school but they were more relaxed on the way back 

home. The main route used for that was diagonally from the south-east 

corner to the north-west corner by Highfield Crescent.  

He said that the use was predominantly for dog walking but there were 

some other activities – people playing with children in the field and the 

copse. He considered the copse and the field all one of the same area. 

There were several exits from the Copse – including the end nearest 

Highfield Crescent. The Copse had hazel; there were hide outs but he was 

not sure whether his own sons made any of these.  

When I asked Mr. Clark about the split of use between the field and the 

copse, he said in more relaxed time there would be as many in the field as 

in the wood – you would often see youngsters in the field who might have 

been in the copse. 

 

 Signs and Challenges 

No permission was ever given and no one ever approached him to say 

that he shouldn’t be on the land. He didn’t see any signs until those that 

said “Private Property” (see p.76 of OB/A Tab 11). When asked in-chief 

what he would have thought if he has seen the wording on the 2009 signs 

(OB/A p.5) he said that he would have understood it as the landowner not 

wanting it to be used as a route. He said that he thought it might relate to 

quad bikes given the noise they make – if it becomes an unrestricted 

byway it can be used for all sorts of mechanized vehicles which chew up 

the ground and cause noise problems. However, he accepted (in answer 

to my question) that there had been no problem with quad bikes. 

Mr. Clark was taken in xx to the photos on pp.73 and 71 of OB/A Tabs 9 & 

10. He confirmed that he never saw the posts which were it was said up 

for 2 weeks in Feb 2009. “X marked the spot” (as Mr. Webster put it) on 

the photo on p.71 where Mr. Clark would walk closest to the post at the 

southern end of the field but he said that it was not his view point and 

that it was difficult to prove a negative. He was also taken to the 

Page 528



 44 

photographs (on p.75 of OB/A Tab 10) of the waste with post 2 (the 

northern post) and said that his mental picture would have been green 

waste. It was further suggested to him that the posts were prominent and 

unusual but he had said that he was not looking at it like a policeman on 

patrol. In re-ex (referred to photo at p. 74 of OB/A Tab 10), he said that he 

entered the field via the steps at that point and photo 2 (p.73) shows the 

sign is not visible to all in the field. 

 

 

4. CASE FOR THE OBJECTORS 

4.1 As indicated above (in Section 2), two Objections and three 

representations regarding the Application were received by the RA: 

 (1) Undated petition from residents of Highfield Crescent 

(2) Letter with enclosures from Mrs. P Sheppard dated 14 January 

2013. 

(3) Letter with enclosures from Mr. R Sheppard dated 27 April 3013 

(4)  Letter with enclosures from Mr. R Sheppard dated 30 April 2013 

(5) “Objector’s response” from Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard dated 27 

February 2013.22 

  

4.2 From the Objectors’ Response on behalf of Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard23, I 

summarise the key points of objection as follows: 

 Right of Way and not LSP 

(1) The Objector’s “primary contention” is that the Application Land is 

being used as a short cut from one side of the village to the other 

and that such user will not be referable to use as a green.24 

(2) The Application Land has been used extensively as a short cut 

(avoiding Middleton Road – which has no pavements) from one 

side of the village to the other. The locations of the Village Hall, the 

                                                        
22 AB B at Tab 14 
23 AB B at Tab 14 p.1. 
24 AB B at Tab 15 p.10 at (d). 

Page 529



 45 

Doctor’s surgery, the two pubs (the Lord Nelson and the Lion’s 

Head), two places of worship close to the Lion’s Head and the 

village shop should in particular be noted.25 

(3) However, in 1998 and 2008 statements, maps and statutory 

declarations were deposited under section 31(6) of the Highways 

Act 1980. The effect of this was to preclude within the periods 

mentioned in the section the existence of public rights of way over 

their land other than those currently noted in the Definitive Map 

and Statement (“DMS”). 

(4) Further, on 20 January 2012 those applying to register the land as 

a TVG applied under section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 to the County for an order modifying the DMS to record a 

number of new footpaths crossing the Application Land. 

(5) The village has other open spaces. 

(6) Brown’s Copse at around 7 acres (2.83 hectares) is not physically 

part of the land, although it is included in the Application Land. 

The public’s use of this wood is negligible. 

(7) On the advice of the Council in around February 2009, the 

Objectors erected two signs notifying that there was no public 

right of way across the land. The signs stated: 

WILTSHIRE 
COUNTY COUNCIL 

NO PUBLIC 
   RIGHT OF WAY 

                    THANK YOU  
 These signs could not fail to be seen by those walking across the 

Land. Unfortunately, the signs were forcibly removed within days 

and were found lying some distance away from their original 

locations. The posts were re-erected on 2 occasions. 

(8) On 4th April 2011 the Objectors ploughed the Application Land in 

order to make it more difficult for locals to trespass on the land – 

the ploughing was deliberately rough and only the most 

determined of walkers could use the field. The field was ploughed 

                                                        
25 See Objectors’ annotated aerial photograph at AB Tab 15 p.27. 

Page 530



 46 

again on 23 January 2012. On 16 April 2012, it was sown with 

linseed.  

(9) The Farm has been arable since the war and the last crop of wheat 

was in 1988 when the Application Land was placed in the set aside 

scheme. It was in that scheme until ploughed in 2011 and sown 

with linseed in 2012, as noted above. 

(10) The character of the land bears little or no resemblance to the 

ordinary perception of what one might consider to be a typical 

TVG and local inhabitants would be under no illusion of this. 

(11) The RA should consider the correspondence including the 

Residents’ Petition which refers to the Land being used by certain 

people as a dumping ground for their rubbish, dog walking area 

and as a short cut even though the area is adequately served by 

footpaths. 

(12) At the Parish Council meeting on 4 April 2013 5 individuals 

(including 2 Parish Councillors) said that they saw the “no right of 

way” signs in place in 2009 and the comment by Councillor Devine 

that because of the signage “his officers” would not be supporting 

the Application. 

 (13) With regard to the statutory criteria, the Objectors contend: 

(i) There has been no sufficient user by local residents. It 

would not have brought the existence of the claimed right 

to the attention of the landowner – a number of villagers 

have even written to the RA challenging the user relied 

upon by the Applicant. 

(ii) In an event, the overwhelming majority of the users were 

purportedly only exercising public rights of way on tracks 

crossing the Application Land as shown on the aerial 

photographs and the application to modify the DMS. 

 

 

 

Page 531



 47 

 

  User not been “as of right” 

(14) Use following access obtained through the fencing on the 

boundary with Highfield Crescent is non-qualifying as it is user by 

force. It is irrelevant that those taking advantage of the damaged 

fencing were not themselves responsible for causing the damage. 

(15) The user by force exclusion also applies where the use has been 

made contentious by the landowner erecting prohibitory signs or 

notices. This is the case with the signs erected in 2009, referred to 

above. Any notices must be sufficient to make clear that any use of 

the land was not consented to and would be regarded as a trespass 

– see Taylor v Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd [2012] EWCA 

Civ 250. The facts are readily distinguishable from R (Oxfordshire & 

Buckinghamshire Mental Health Foundation Trust and Oxford 

Radcliffe Hospitals NHS Trusts) v Oxfordshire County Council and 

others [2010] EWHC 530 (EWHC) (the Warneford Meadows case) 

In that case there had been a finding that the landowner had no 

objection to general public recreational access to that land as a 

whole – his objection was to the creation of public rights of way. 

The Objectors refer in particular to paragraphs [17]-[57] of the 

Judgment in that case. 

(16) On no sensible analysis of the facts, could the signs be said to be 

directed solely to the paths nearby and there is no reason why 

they could not be taken objectively to refer to recreational us of 

the whole of the Application Land, where the whole of the Land is 

affected by the section 31(6) deposits anyway. The notices only 

make sense if they refer to the Land as a whole and the fact that 

they were damaged by, it must be assumed, certain local 

inhabitants is very arguably indicative of the fact that such persons 

considered such signs to relate to more than just rights of way on 

the paths. The land owners ought to have appreciated from the 

Page 532



 48 

notices that the landowners were objecting to and contesting their 

whole use of the Application Land. 

(17) The Objectors reserve the right to argue that any objection on their 

part to a lesser burden on the land must have by implication and 

without more included objection to the greater burden 

notwithstanding what was said about this at [55] in the Warneford 

Meadows case. 

(18) The Objectors also argue that the claimed user gave rise to an 

implied licence.  

 

4.3 The evidence provide by the Objectors to the Inquiry (found in Objectors’ 

Bundle A – OB/A) included: 

(1) Plan showing existing public rights of way, informal tracks, 

housing policy area in relation to the Application Land: OB/A Tab 

3. The wider rights of way in the Parish are shown on the plan at 

OB/A Tab 4. 

(2) Aerial and ground photographs of the Application Land: OB-A Tab 

5 pp.21-23. Photograph showing local amenities: OB/A Tab6 p.24. 

(3) Section 31(6) Declarations: OB/A Tab7 

(4) Application by Barry Clark for a Modification Order under section 

53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

(5) Aerial photograph showing the position of the two posts and the 4 

signs erected by the Objectors: OB/A Tab 9 p.71 

(6) Photographs of the posts: OB/A Tab10 pp.73-75. 

(7) Photographs of the 4 signs: OB/A Tab 11 pp.76-80 

(8) Minutes of meetings of Winterslow PC: OB/A Tab 12 

(9) Statements of Objectors’ witnesses attending the Inquiry: OB/A 

Tab 13 

(10) Statements and letters from witnesses not attending the Inquiry: 

OB/A Tab 14. 

 

4.4 The Objector called the following witnesses: 

Page 533



 49 

John Fry 

Rosemary Hazard 

Steven Dixon 

Sally Loader 

Clive Broadly  

Michael Yates 

Janet Fry 

Angela Sillence 

David Read 

Richard Sheppard 

Patricia Sheppard 

 

I now summarise the main points from the evidence of these witnesses. 

As for the Applicant’s witnesses, I use the following abbreviations: 

 EQ:   Evidence Questionnaire  

In-chief:  Evidence given in-chief 

XX:    Cross-examination by the opposing advocate 

 Re-ex:   Re-examination by the witness’ advocate 

 

 John Fry26 

Mr. Fry of Nestyn, Middleton is a retired builder and funeral director who 

was borne in West Winterslow. He owned the Lion’s Head Public from 

1991-2007 (but only lived there to 1994). As a teenager, he lived with his 

parents at his current address. He said there was a butcher’s shop on the 

corner of Middleton Road and the Causeway until about 1995. Under xx, it 

was suggested to him that none of the addresses that he had lived at 

(having been in the village all of his life) overlooked the Application Land. 

Mr. Fry agreed that was so during the relevant period. Mr. Fry stated that 

he was against the  taking of people’s land. 

 

 Knowledge of the Application Land 

                                                        
26 OB/A Tab 13 p.100/101 

Page 534



 50 

He was very familiar with the field, he said. He was involved in 

development. He moved the post office 2004/5 from Middleton Road 

(near to Stern Close). He did all the maintenance for the Parish Council 

and the Church.  

Mr. Fry said that there was always a fence across the field at Highfield 

Crescent. The Village hall was completed in 1991. Sometimes he would 

walk across the field – under xx, he accepted that although he knew it was 

private land he saw others doing it. He said that use (by him) was not very 

frequent. He was aware that he was trespassing as was everyone else in 

the village. From Middleton Road he would walk up to Woodlands Drive. 

Referring to the aerial photograph at OB/A Tab 5 p.23, Mr. Fry said that 

the land was wet in the winter; there was a watercourse that went 

straight through the middle to the Village Hall – there was often a 

watercourse on the other routes which was like a rive and unable to walk 

them. So, he would normally use the diagonal route, as that was the driest. 

Now and again he would take his dog to the land. 

Under xx, he said that the land had always been known as private 

property. He didn’t particularly find using it was a short cut and it was 

easier in the dark to use the path. He said that his most common route 

was along Middleton Road to the pub in the car. It was suggested to him 

that the view from Middleton Road was not good, given the thick 

hedgerow. He said that he also walked down the school path behind (to 

the west of) the copse. He said he had glimpses of the field but he didn’t 

pay particular attention. He said there might have been one or two people 

on the land. When asked whether it could have been more, Mr. Fry replied 

“No”. He did see children playing in copse but not on the field. There were 

ropes up in the trees in the Copse for years but no one ever trusted them 

– they have not been used for years. He said at least 2 were put up. He 

said that he walked alongside the copse but didn’t go in unless it was dry.  

With regard to the Village Hall which he locked up that closes at 10 pm at 

the latest, when there is no dance. It often closes earlier – sometimes at 5 

or 6pm (on 2 nights) or 8pm (on 2 nights).  

Page 535



 51 

Under xx, he clarified that he walked the dog more now as he had more 

time. Up until 2011, he did not do so very often – probably only once a 

week. He would only go onto the field in 1 in 20 walks, as he knew he was 

trespassing and it was wet. 

Mr. Fry referred (in-chief) to a 1990s’ meeting, saying that he was one of 

the few that stood up for Mr. Sheppard when there was a planning 

application for 25 houses in the bottom right hand corner of the field by 

the telephone box. Mr. Fry said that he spoke up not for the housing but it 

was common knowledge that this is a development village. That was 

decided in the 1950s. Highfield Crescent Council Housing was built in the 

1950s. Mr. Fry again emphasized that everyone knew that it was private 

property. He said that 2/3 of the village trade was in his pub for drink and 

food and everyone knew. 

When the land was set aside, Mr. Fry said, the grass was wispy but grew 

to about 2-3ft high. It was not for hay/silage. He said the paths were 

always there, although he was not sure when photo on p. 71 (OB/A Tab 9) 

was taken. – he was told that it was about 2007. He said that he was 

building a garage at that time to the west of the copse and he had to 

remove footings. He asked Mr. Sheppard if he could he go across his field 

with his dumper truck to the Village Hall. So, he went into Yarnley Road 

then into Highfield Close, through the gap in the fence (see photo 23B in 

OB/A Ta5) – down the field along the front of the copse then through the 

gap behind the Village Hall.  

The wood was coppiced regularly. Different parts were done but there 

was something (in terms of coppicing) going on in most years. It was 

complete about every 10 years. 

  

 Use of the Application Land by others 

Before 2007-2011 it was basically a dog toilet used by very few people. 

Same people used it all the time; it was used regularly by very few people. 

Others would walk across it with their dogs. 

Page 536



 52 

Under xx, Mr. Fry accepted that people walked across the land on the 

paths. He said that all he was disputing was that they knew that they were 

trespassing. 

Mr. Fry said, under xx, that if the dogs got to the fields they used it as a 

toilet and most did it in the Village Hall. It was suggested to him that 

people were using the land for dog walking and most people would park 

in the Village Hall car park to do so. Mr. Fry replied  “Yes – to let them go 

to the toilet.” When it was put to him that there was nothing wrong with 

that, Mr. Fry said that they were driving to the Village Hall, letting the dog 

out and back into the car and off they would go.  

Mr. Fry was asked about the dog bin on the edge of the field by the Village 

Hall. He said that had been pulled out of concrete. It was put there 

because of dog mess up the path. 

Mr. Fry agreed, under xx, that he had seen children playing on the fields. 

He said some had probably been on the bikes. He said that he had seen 

them a couple of times over 20 years. It was put to him that this was 

despite only walking his dog on the field 1 in 20 times (not going very 

often) and that it was reasonable to assume that at other times there 

would have been bikes. 

It was put to Mr. Fry that even though the land was private it was still 

used by people knowing that Mr. Sheppard tolerated it. Mr. Fry said that 

Mr. Sheppard was too nice a person and he (Mr. Fry) would say to him 

that he should get some pigs to stop people using the land. He was too 

nice a person to approach people to stop them. 

 Mr. Fry said that was only one informal path initially, in 1991. 

 

 Signs and Fences 

Mr. Fry said that around the area there were plenty of signs all over. He 

was referred to the photographs showing the 2009 posts at pp. 71-74 of 

OB/A Tabs 10 & 11. He said that he saw the posts. When asked in-chief 

whether he looked at the sign he replied ”Not particularly. I didn’t need 

Page 537



 53 

to. It was obvious what it said – Keep Out or Private Property. I knew 

that.” He said further that the posts were prominent but the Notice was 

not. He didn’t bother to read it or, if he did, he couldn’t remember what it 

said. He said that you couldn’t miss the post. Mr. Fry also said that these 

were not the first signs and that there were always signs. They were 

always torn up, he said, after a short time. However, when referred to the 

picture of the 2009 post in the waste heap Mr. Fry said that he did not 

know anything about that but could remember seeing it in the rubbish. 

He was asked about the larger more recent “Private Property” signs (see 

p.76 of OB/A Tab 11) and said that there had been concern about the 

wording on the bottom, which referred to chemicals having been applied 

to the land, so that part was obliterated. 

He accepted that there were no fences save for the one by Highlands 

Crescent. 

Under xx, it was suggested that he had said that he had seen both posts 

even though he only went on the land rarely and the signs were only 

there weeks. When asked about what he thought the 2009 signs said, he 

confirmed that he thought they said Keep Out/Private Property. He said 

that he was sure that he saw the posts and that he also saw the signs in 

the rubbish. 

When asked in xx about the other signs that he had seen, Mr. Fry said that 

was after 1991. It was put to Mr. Fry that Mr. and Mrs. Sheppard do not 

say they put up any signs other than the 2009 ones and the later Private 

Property signs. Mr. Fry reiterated that there had been several signs over 

the years. He said that there had always been a lot of talk about 

development on this land. He said there were White signs saying Private 

Keep Out in the woods and on the land. He said that a man who had 3 

Dulux dogs and who had lived next to the track near the steps. He said the 

signs were pulled up within a matter of days – he didn’t know how long 

they were up. Kids came into the pub, Mr. Fry said, and laughed about it. It 

was then put to Mr. Fr that the recent Private Property signs were still 

there and he replied that they were certainly a lot better than before. 

Page 538



 54 

 

 

 Rosemary Hazard27 

Mrs. Hazard lives at Highfield Crescent – 4 houses up from the location of 

OB/A Tab 5 p.108. She worked part-time from 2000 as a caretaker for the 

PC. 

 

 Knowledge of the Application Land 

With regard to the fencing near her home, there has always been fencing 

– sometimes it was filled and sometimes broken. The rest of the fence was 

sometimes broken but repaired by residents. Mrs. Hazard said that she 

walked through the gap in the fence in 1987 but she couldn’t be sure 

whether wire up or down. She couldn’t remember from when the fence 

was permanently open but it was a long time ago, say 10 years. She said 

that in 2004 there probably was a fence and before then it had been in 

place – probably after when Mr. Fry went through with his dumper truck. 

There is a fence now but you can’t walk through because of brambles. She 

said that it was probably when the field was set aside and people went 

through. She said that she imagined that people forced their way through. 

She said it was in tact in 1988. 

Under xx, Mrs. Hazard said she couldn’t remember whether there were 

two strands in 1987 when she climbed through. She reiterated that she 

thought the gap was open from when the land was set aside as people 

were coming and going in and out, including the walking bus. 

Mrs. Hazard said that she used the land to walk her two dogs after 1991. 

She entered through the gap, when she worked at the Central Stores, and 

walked straight across the land. Under xx, she said that she worked there 

for 36 years  (from 9-12, 1-5 for 4 days a week; she looked after her 

grandson on Fridays). She walked down the side of the copse and back up 

on the tarmac path (to the west of the copse). When the field went back 

into cultivation, she went down the school path and into another scrubby 
                                                        
27 OB/A Tab 14 p.108 

Page 539



 55 

field. She never saw anyone cutting the fence (and was working until 

2008). It was put to Mrs. Hazard in xx that the fencing was to fence off the 

Estate and not the field. Under xx also, Mrs. Hazard said that she wouldn’t 

go through the Copse – she would however go in from the school path 

onto the land and other people went into the wood too. She said that 

some cone from other areas to see the blue bells. She said that you get a 

nice view from the path; she said at the top end was beech trees – and 

oak, holly, ash and some hazel. She said that it was very pretty and people 

go in and enjoy the clearings. There was other wildlife, she agreed, such as 

celandines, anemones and primroses and also wild raspberries and crab 

apples. She said there always rope in the woods but she said not a swing – 

she said it is not very often that it has sticks at the end. She said that more 

often than not the “bigger kids” (teenagers) throw the rope back up into 

the tree.  Teenagers and younger children would use the swings. She said 

that she didn’t see people picking blackberries but they obviously would – 

it is clear that people are picking these (in dog pooh corner). 

She was referred in her xx to her statement where she states that the land 

has not been used for sports and pastimes. She accepted that people walk 

dogs; she never saw any kite flying or blackberry picking, as said above. It 

was not a very big area – corner piece. She said that she only sees children 

playing in the field on her day off. She added that right opposite the 

School is a playground with a roundabout, swings – hundreds use that 

and fly kites. You wouldn’t do that in a field when you don’t know what 

was in there, she said. It was then put to Mrs. Hazard that she would have 

been at work. 

Under xx, Mrs. Hazard said that she walked the dog in the morning. She 

said that she was using it on a daily basis until 2011. She would have used 

it on occasions (but not often) to go to the P.O. and the Doctor’s Surgery.  

  

 

 

 

Page 540



 56 

 Use of the Application Land 

Mrs. Hazard was referred to the tracks on photo 23 (OB/A Tab 5 p.23) 

and was asked whether that was the way people walked. She answered 

“that is where people came in”. 

Under xx, she confirmed that in one year local authority contractors came 

in from the bottom and did a wide, smooth diagonal path and up to 

Woodland Drive and Highland Crescent and did a swathe on the scrubby 

fields off the school path. 

She agreed that there were lots of dog walkers. She said that they parked 

at the Village Hall and the dogs went off through gate into the field and 

always did “a quick job”. There were 4 on a daily basis. They came 

specially to the land with their dogs. She said the grass could be long but 

others went through it, although she didn’t because of the burrs and you 

didn’t know what you were walking through. She also referred to the dip 

in the land along Middleton road – she it was quite a dip that got very wet. 

She said in the morning there were more people on the land as they 

would walk through the field on the way to school. Not everyone was with 

children so not all people were going to school. She accepted that some 

were just walking a dog on the field. In re-ex, Mrs. Hazard said people 

walking their dogs were mainly going up the middle of the field and 

possibly through the Crescent as nearest to the school – people were 

mainly using the tracks. 

When asked whether there were lots of paths, she said that she didn’t 

recall as many as shown the plan at AB/A Tab 8 p.40A.  

  

 Signs 

Mrs. Hazard recalled the post 1 at the bottom of the field (See p.73 bottom 

photo) but not the other post. She said that she didn’t read the sign when 

it was in the ground but did when it was thrown into the bracken. When 

she was asked what she understood the sign to mean, Mrs. Hazard said  

“the same as everybody else” - no trespassers on this land. She knew that 

the Sheppards’ own the land – friends –she has known him since they 

Page 541



 57 

were teenagers. She was asked whether she had seen the top post but she 

said that she didn’t see it. She was also asked why she didn’t read the 

wording on the other post whilst it was standing – she said that it was out 

of her way. It was suggested to her that it might be because of the small 

lettering. In re-ex, Mrs. Hazard said that that she thought that she was 

likely to see the post at the top end of the field, as it was a quite tall round 

post.  

Under xx Mrs. hazard said that she did recall the post in the field for 3 

days – it was put up and then disappeared. She could remember how long 

the post was up for the second tine it is still where it is lying now. She said 

that she thought that the signs related to the whole area. The village, she 

said, is very likely to love that wood and I had been Richard I would have 

fenced it off. It was then put to her that he didn’t fence it off and tolerated 

the use of it. Mrs. Hazard responded that he was a good man, a Christian 

and a gentleman. Then it was put to her that he did tolerate people 

playing on the ropes in the woods and Mrs. Hazard said “yes”. 

 

 

Steven Dixon28 

Mr. Dixon has lived in Winterslow all of his life, since 1962. He now lives 

in Livery Road and has done since 1991. He had been told by Mr. 

Sheppard that he had put signs up before (before the recent “Private 

Property” signs) but that they didn’t last long. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

Mr. Dixon can’t see the Application Land from his property. He passes the 

land most days. He had worked just past the Old Post Office a couple of 

times – 4 to 5 years ago – in say 2010. He had two jobs lasting one week in 

total. He parked in his drive. He could see into the field (see photo 23H in 

OB/A Tab 5). 

 

                                                        
28 OB/A Tab 13 p.103 

Page 542



 58 

He had topped Mr. Sheppard’s field at their house every now and then 

and put a fence back up in the summer. He said that he would do it as Mr. 

Sheppard is such an honest and straight man. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

He only ever sees dog walkers on the field – they walk all over the place 

like the tracks that they had. 

 

 

Sally Loader29 

Mrs. Loader has lived at her current address in Highfield Crescent since 

1989. Her house is directly opposite Mr. Crossland (on Middleton Road on 

the other side of the field), half-way between points 1 and 2 (photo on 

p.23A of OB/A Tab 5). She has been in the village since 1965. Her mother 

had lived in the village since then too. She walked to hers on the diagonal 

path from the Crescent – she wouldn’t have gone through the fence. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

She has a view from her kitchen window out onto the field and also views 

from front bedroom, landing and the front door. She was aware that it 

was agricultural land owned by Mr. Sheppard. Under xx, she 

acknowledged the conifer tree in front of her kitchen window and 

accepted that it was green all year round. She said that she can see either 

side of it and that it covers the middle third of the window. She said that 

she doesn’t think that it was there 20 years ago but has been there for the 

last 10 years possibly. Under xx, also she said that she couldn’t see what 

was happening in the Copse from her home.  

The field had been in arable use when she lived in Hibernus in Middleton 

Road, which is close directly to what is now Woodland Drive, but was 

then just scrubland. She does not own a dog. Once a year she has walked 

her son’s unsocial dogs as there is a fast route away. She was aware of 
                                                        
29 OB/A Tab 14 p.120 

Page 543



 59 

Mandy who had been referred to. She parked in the Village Hall and 

waked across the middle of the field at lunchtimes as she only had a lunch 

hour so it was not a long drawn out walk. She has also used the land as a 

shortcut going from the gap at 23B by the grit bin down to the gateway 

just below the telephone box in the other corner. 

In the summer, the grass grew to at least 2-3ft. high. 

Since 4 August 2014, she has worked at the Central Store in the village. In 

Feb 2009, she was working in Salisbury in a residential home for people 

with cerebral palsy. She left home at 6.30 am. One day she would leave at 

2pm and get back at 10pm. She did alternate weekends. August 2008-Feb 

2009, she was home. From March 1996 to August 2008 she had worked 

for Friends Provident in Salisbury; 7am to 3pm and home by 3.30pm. She 

had bank holidays and every weekend off. Before 1996 she worked for 

Cadburys for approximately 2 years and would leave home at 8.30am and 

be back home by 5pm generally for 4 days a week.  

 

Use of the Application Land 

She said her children were 10 and 8 years old when they moved into 

Highfield Crescent and would have been more likely to have been in the 

recreation ground, which now has a skateboard track. She said, in answer 

to my question, that in 1989/91 the recreation ground in the village had a 

roundabout and not much else and no skateboard track then but was flat 

and grassed and more suitable for cycling. 

She was asked, under xx, about her statement that the land was never 

used for sports and pastimes. Mrs. Loader said that she didn’t know what 

is included in lawful sports and pastimes. She said that the most 

consistent use of the land is for dog walking because you don’t have to 

pick up the mess. She walked her son’s dogs but she wouldn’t come across 

small children but did frequently see other dogs. People both with dogs 

on and off the lead would stick to the paths, she said. She did see people 

throwing toys (fairly in frequently) for the dogs and by and large the dogs 

would retrieve those objects.  

Page 544



 60 

She said that it is the bottom by the doctor’s surgery and Village Hall 

where the children played – it was flatter there and easier to use. 

She said that she used the copse fairly infrequently but she would have 

looked at the bluebells. She had seen a rope swing in the wood – near the 

bottom end, which is the flattest part but she had not seen children 

playing in the copse. More recently she had walked with her 

grandchildren in the copse but had not seen anyone else.  

There were blackberries along the northern edge of the copse but not on 

the eastern side and she was no not aware of sloes on the field. 

 

Signs and Fencing 

She didn’t recall the state of the fencing at 23B in 1989. She started 

crossing the field probably from 1989 onwards. She said that she 

wouldn’t have gone through the fence as she had a perfectly good 

footpath. What broke it was the number of people going under it. 

There have been signs. They were never of any importance to her as she 

didn’t think that she had any right to be in that field. She didn’t remember 

reading post 1 on p.73 ( OB/A Tab 10) and she suspects that she would 

not have done so. She would probably have read the post (photo 4) at 

northern end off Woodland Drive but it wouldn’t have given her any 

surprises. She said that she assumed that it was saying something to the 

effect not a right of way. There is a difference, Mrs. Loader said, between 

no RoW and you will be prosecuted if trespassing. I suppose, she added, 

that it was just an acknowledgement that not a RoW and the public not 

supposed to be on the land. Under xx, she accepted that there is a 

difference between a sign that said no RoW and one that said no 

trespassing and since the latest set of signs she had not set a foot on the 

land. She would not have claimed a RoW, as she has always known the 

land as agricultural land belonging to a farmer. She accepted that the 

2009 signs wouldn’t have meant to her that the owner would not tolerate 

dog walking as had been tolerated before; and she didn’t think the signs 

meant that people couldn’t go into the copse and look at the bluebells. So 

Page 545



 61 

she and others continued to use the land as before until the Red Signs 

(2012 – Private Property) went up and by and large the usage has 

stopped. 

 

 

Clive Broadley30 

Mr. Broadley moved to the village in 1976 and lived there ever since, 

having originally lived just off The Flood in Middleton Road. His current 

address is in Youngs Paddock and he can’t see the land from there. He 

said in his written statement that he had only heard the Application Land 

referred to as Richard Sheppard’s Field and the woodland area as Brown’s 

Copse or the Bluebell Wood or just the Copse. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

He walked his dog in the field but, he said earlier in his evidence, not 

frequently (but see below). He had crossed the land on route to the shop 

or going to the recreation ground to play. 

He said that they took their children to watch the land being harvested.  

He uses the land roughly monthly but he would have sight of the bottom 

end of the land because of the route he took. He also said that he used the 

land reasonably frequently primarily as a short cut. He used it as a 

shortcut going between the two posts put up in 2009. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

When asked under xx whether people used the land straight away after it 

was set aside, Mr. Broadly said that he could not remember. He did see 

others walking their dogs on the land when he went there. He walked his 

dog in the evenings and occasionally at the weekend but not normally. He 

did see people throwing balls and toys etc for their dogs. He said that 

there was not necessarily someone there evening times walking their 

                                                        
30 OB/A Tab 13 p.105 

Page 546



 62 

dogs. He didn’t see those that park in the Village Hall and walk there dogs 

but they do now. 

He would see children sometimes crossing the land to the wood but not 

playing football. He would see them occasionally (but not in an organised 

sense) fooling around in the field but they do that in many other fields in 

the village. When asked how frequent children tobogganing was, he said 

that he didn’t know but he would have thought that was pretty rare. He 

said that it was a farming community. 

He has only seen one rope in the Copse and that was periodically thrown 

up into the trees. At one point Mr. Broadley said that the rope swings 

were there more recently – in the last couple of years. Mr. Broadley said 

that he had seem them on one particular beech tree off the path. He said 

that there were now more pathways. He had seen dens in the wood but 

never seen children playing in them.  

He said that it was different now as it used to be extensively coppiced. He 

said (under xx) that the coppicing of the wood had stopped in the last 4 

years or maybe slightly earlier than that. In re-ex, he said that the 

coppicing opened up the woods. 

He also said that the use has been broadly the same over the 20 years and 

that was pretty much confined to dog walking. 

 

Signs and Fences 

Mr. Broadley said that Mr. Sheppard maintained (cut) the hedgerows and 

boundaries – the fence down the side of Middleton Road was badly 

dilapidated. He didn’t personally see Mr. Sheppard putting up fencing. 

There are fence posts in Woodland Drive along the footpath. The fence 

had pretty much fallen into disrepair by 1988 – there were remnants – he 

never saw repairs from 1988 onwards, not that he could recall. 

He saw the two 2009 posts when he was short-cutting across the land (as 

referred to above). He remembers the words “No Public Right of Way”. 

When put to him in xx, he said that he personally does not distinguish 

Page 547



 63 

between trespass and No PRoW. He said, when asked again under xx, that 

after he saw those signs he did not continue to use the land but others did, 

he said. He was asked whether he had heard Mrs. Loader’s evidence that 

people continued to use the land and her interpretation, Mr. Broadley said 

that was not his interpretation of the signs. He accepted that the 2012 Red 

signs were “certainly clearer – larger” – it was put to him that there were 

4 such signs with larger, longer wording. Mr. Broadley said that the “No 

PROW” signs were clear too. When asked how long the posts were in situ, 

he said that he couldn’t remember but he remembered them 

disappearing. 

Mr. Broadley said that his own interpretation was that the 2009 signs 

applied to the field 

Mr. Broadley accepted that it was toleration by the owner of people using 

the land uninvited. 

 

 

Michael Yates31 

Mr. Yates was born in the village in 1947 and used to live in the Red Lion 

Public House. He currently resides with his wife in Highfield Crescent. 

Most of the time, he said, he was at work. When it was put to Mr. Yates, in 

xx, that the statement was his and his wife’s, Mr. Yates said that was so 

and he told his wife what to put down – she would go to Woodland Drive 

to cut a lady’s hair. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

He could see about ¾ of the field from his home in Highfield Crescent. 

There were no trees in his view. 

The Council cut the grass in Highfield Crescent 6-7 times a year. 

His parents live nearby and he has walked over the land maybe 6 times. 

He said that he normally drives because he is lazy. 

                                                        
31 OB/A Tab 13 p. 102 

Page 548



 64 

When pressed on how long this went on for, Mr. Yates said he couldn’t 

remember walking there that many times. It was put to Mr. Yates that he 

said that he was not there for more than a couple of minutes. He 

explained that he had worked (until made redundant in 2008/9) at 

Porton Down on its maintenance and he left the house at 6.30 am and 

home by 16.45 Monday to Friday. He didn’t work very often on Saturdays 

other than for about an hour – so basically he saw the land at the 

weekend. He said that there has always been one main path through the 

Copse. He has seen rope swings in the Copse but no one was playing on 

them at the time. The kids have got to go somewhere in the summer 

holidays. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

In his letter, he stated that during the 20 years 1991-2011 the land has 

never been used for organized activities or pastimes. He also said in that 

letter that the land got used as a short cut for many people, when it was 

set aside. Most people that walked across the field were not born and 

bread in the village. Also most were dog walkers too lazy to pick up their 

dog mess. 

He saw no one playing – no children. He saw people going straight down 

fields on bikes – but couldn’t see the bottom. He has seen kids coming to 

and from the Copse with mattresses for their dens. He has been there 

several times. When Mr. Sheppard’s father was about, he would just clip 

them on the ear; that is what it was like then, Mr. Yates added. 

People walked dogs on there too. There were loads of dog walkers, Mr. 

Yates said (under xx – and clarified in answer to my question that was at 

weekends), but he never saw anyone throwing objects for them. Some 

people used to park in the Crescent to walk their dogs, notwithstanding 

the signs. He caught a couple of lads during the summer holidays with a 

bonfire, which he reported to the Council. He had noticed recently dog 

walking early in the morning (7am) and in the evening. There used to be a 

chain link fence, which was cut. Mr. Yates said that he could hear children 

Page 549



 65 

in the Copse but not on the field. They mainly play in the Copse in the 

summer time (when the mattresses were taken there) and he had never 

seen much outside that time. In the winter it would be wet and muddy. 

He had seen blackberrying in the corner (the right hand side from where 

he lives). There are good years and bad years for this. 

 

Signs and Fences 

Mr. Yates said that the field had a fence all the way along near Highfield 

Crescent in 1988 – used to be a fence on the north side of Daddy King’s 

Path. After then, it was cut by someone, but he didn’t know whom. Under 

xx, it was suggested to Mr. Yates that the fence at the top of Highfield 

Crescent, which was put in by the Council, was to stop people walking 

into the Crescent. He replied that it was also to stop people walking onto 

the field. It was then put to him that it was about keeping the Crescent 

tidy rather than keeping people off the field and he agreed. He agreed that 

he took pride in his garden. 

The District Council used to come across the Common. They gang mowed 

the land about a year or a year and a half after the field was set aside. He 

wasn’t sure how soon this happened after the land was set aside bit it 

may have been 1 year or 1 year and a bit. The gap in the fence was 

restored but within a few weeks it was torn down. They put a wooden 

post in. Looking at photo 23B he said that he had repaired it once himself 

with wire. He said that he had also repaired the fence outside his own 

property (which is about 100 yards from that gap) several times and still 

did.  

He said that he had seen a sign by Woodland Drive (photo 4 on p.74 at 

OB/A Tab 10) but couldn’t remember one by the Village Hall. He said that 

it was not there for long and he didn’t read it. He said it doesn’t look as 

though there is anything on that post. When shown the photographs on 

p.75 of OB/A, he said that it looks like the same post. He had heard about 

what the signs say from other people. Several people talked to him about 

the posts. When asked (in-chief) what was common knowledge about the 

Page 550



 66 

posts, Mr. Yates said that he had no idea – it was just private land – people 

already knew that it was private land, he replied. Mr. Yates said, under xx, 

he took no notice of the signs on the posts, he knew that it was private 

property. It was only when the bigger ones went up that he took notice. 

When it was suggested to him that the Sheppards were allowing people to 

use the land (they were tolerating the use), Mr. Yates said “Yes, they are 

good people. I don’t know who took that decision.” He said that he rarely 

saw them, just now and again walking down the back path –“I couldn’t tell 

what he was thinking”, Mr. Yates added. 

Under xx he said that there were little bits of rubbish when the post was 

there. He said that he still sees the post, although there were bits of waste 

– bottles etc. When it was suggested that perhaps his recollection was not 

that strong, Mr. Yates said that he can only remember seeing it maybe 

once. He reiterated that he did not see the post at the bottom of the field – 

he said the bottom ½ of the field he couldn’t – he couldn’t see the Village 

Hall. 

He said that he knew the land belonged to Richard (Sheppard) and, if he 

had told him to stay away, Mr. Yates would have done so – “as simple as 

that”. When asked whether his impression was that they were tolerating 

the use, Mr. Yates said that people were still walking across the land. He 

never used the land once the 2012 Red Lettered signs went up – before 

that he said that he used the land about ½ dozen times a year.  

 

 

Janet Fry32 

Janet Fry lives were her husband, who also gave evidence as recorded 

above, in Middleton Road. She has lived in Winterslow continuously since 

1978. It should be noted that Mrs. Fry commented on the new 

photographs from the Applicant (63B-63F), which were withdrawn and 

are not now relied upon, so I do not record that part of her evidence. She 

                                                        
32 OB/A Tab 14 p.118 

Page 551



 67 

looked after the Village Hall for 2 years from 2007-09/10 and spent a lot 

of time there. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

She is a dog owner and has walked around the land for the last 50 years. 

As she also says in her statement, since the land was set aside in about 

1991 people have walked across it as trespassers and she has not 

witnessed any games or organised activities on the land. 

She visited her parents in Highfield Crescent every day. She parked there 

(to take them out) on a fortnightly basis. She also drove for LINK, so went 

past that entrance regularly.   

 

Use of the Application Land 

She had never seen people throw toys for the dogs on the land. She said 

that she had walked across the land twice or three times but not with the 

dog. She went to open the Village Hall at 7.45 am and saw people letting 

their dogs out in the morning. They were only on the land for 10 minutes. 

2 of those were regular in the main. Mrs. Fry said that you would see 

people in Highfield Crescent parking – only one car or person walked her 

dog religiously there.  

She accepted that people were doing it on a daily basis and that Mr. 

Sheppard tolerated this but he was not very happy about it, she said, as 

they had had conversations about it.  

She said that she had been into the Copse – she looked to see where the 

swings were and she saw one blue rope wrapped around a beech tree. She 

said that she hadn’t seen swings in the past. She said that, if she walked 

through the Copse, she had gone through the main path. With the 

grandchildren, she went on the School path. She has not seen children 

playing in the Copse but she had heard them. She has seen the bluebells 

(out for 6 weeks). There was a different way in those days. When asked 

about dens in the wood, Mrs. Fry said that she had seen lots of rubbish – 

corrugated metal, pieces of wood. She  didn’t recall dens as Mr. Yates had 

Page 552



 68 

referred to. She would go into the Copse about every 10 days and walked 

the area probably 3 times a week. 

She had seen sloe picking on the edge of Highfield Crescent over towards 

the north side of the Copse – they were white in the Spring. You could see 

this from the Highfield houses. 

Under xx, Mrs. Fry said that people would have used the School path to go 

to school and, when it was put to her that lots of people had described 

going back and forth along the diagonal path, Mrs. Fry said that she would 

not describe it as lots. She said that no body would see anyone cross that 

field on a daily basis. She said 20 or 30 dog walkers a day (as was put to 

her in xx) was too high. 

 

Signs and Fences 

She said that she would not have come across the post at the Village Hall 

end. She knew the top area very well. Her parents lived at 8 Highlands 

Crescent until her father died in 1994. When she had lived in the 

Causeway she would use Daddy King’s Path. When shown photo 23B 

(showing the gap in the fence) she said that she knew exactly where that 

is, as she parked there if she collected her parents. She said that there was 

always a fence but it was cut through, although she never waked through 

there herself.  She said (in chief) that she recalled it when it was closed up 

not long after seeing it open. She remembers it being cut again. Mrs. Fry 

said that it hade been left open for quite some time since then. Under xx, 

Mrs. Fry said that she couldn’t remember from when it was open but that 

it was closed when the land was in cultivation. She said that she didn’t 

think that people realised that it was set aside (which happened in 1988) 

for some years. From 1990, it was put to Mrs. Fry in xx, use of the land by 

people walking started. She said that she couldn’t recall walking until 

later. Also under xx, she said that the Council mended the fence several 

times – she said that later she notice green wire but she couldn’t say when 

that was – it was a long time ago to remember.  

Page 553



 69 

Under xx, Mrs. Fry said that she had seen other signs put up before the 

posts and bigger than the posts but not as big as the 2012 Private 

Property signs in red letters. When they were removed, she said that she 

did inform Mr. Sheppard. Everyone knew that it was private land and it 

was morally wrong, Mrs. Fry said. There was plenty of free space in the 

village and the land doesn’t need to be used. She said that she was giving 

evidence for the owner and community, as that they don’t all agree with 

WOOD – she didn’t know who they were. She said that there was strong 

feelings in the village, as she did a lot of community work. People are 

reluctant to give evidence. When asked about the other spaces, Mrs. Fry 

referred to Shripple Play Park (a large area she said), Stone Close, Barry’s 

Field and the Tennis Court. It was put to her that you can’t walk dogs on 

these areas – Mrs. Fry said that you could in the recreation ground. She 

also said that the Application land is not a dog walk – dogs walk 3 miles a 

day and people just used to let dogs go to the toilet.  

She was asked about the wording on the 2009 signs. She said that it was 

obvious that you would be stopped if you went that way. She said that she 

only saw the southern post in the hedge and not standing. She agreed that 

it must have been removed within a couple of days otherwise she would 

have seen it, as she walked that way (p.71 Post 1). She agreed that the 

writing on the sign was very small. She said that what a landowner should 

do is put signs up regularly saying Private Land and Mr. Sheppard did 

that. It was put to her that it said “No PROW” and that was ambiguous – 

Mrs. Fry said “Is it? She was asked that given there so many paths, which 

one is being referred to?  

 

 

Angela Sillence33 

Mrs. Sillence has lived in Bentley Way since September 2010. Before then 

she lived in Roman Road and has been part of the Winterslow Community 

                                                        
33 OB/A Tab 13 p.103 

Page 554



 70 

since 1963 when she moved to Winterslow with her parents. She moved 

back into the village in 2004 from Firsdown. 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

It is not land that she had walked on or used. She had no view of the land 

from her house but she drives past it every day both ways along 

Middleton Road. When it was suggested to her in xx that there is thick 

hedgerow, she responded that was in the Summer and it was quite open 

when all the leaves had gone and when winter comes. She accepted that it 

was pretty dense but that there were gaps, although she accepted that 

you couldn’t see through into the field in the Summer. She said she could 

have glimpses into the field but accepted that she would not know what 

was going on the rest of the field. 

She had not been into the Copse for many years or on the School path. 2 

years ago, she said, she walked past the Copse and saw bluebells. She had 

never seen  the Copse in such a mess – full of footprints – this was early in 

2010. Before that, it was long before 1991 that she had seen it and the 

Copse was beautiful and well coppiced. She never went into the Copse. 

She saw hazel cut back and bluebells there. She couldn’t remember large 

trees. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

She said there were no organised sports or activities on the land. She had 

never seen people dog walking even though she had driven by everyday 

for years. She couldn’t remember people walking across the land. She said 

that Mr. Beagle mentioned Mr. Walters – he was always on the path with a 

dog. Mr. Walters lives next to where Mr. Beagle lived, just to the left of the 

old PO and set back on the bank. 

 

 

David Read 

Mr. Read lives in Titherley Road on the eastern outskirts of the village.  

Page 555



 71 

 

Knowledge of the Application Land 

Mr. Read said that he was very familiar with the field, although he had not 

used it at all himself. His father and brother had coppiced the wood. His 

father’s employer bought the coppicing rights. It was last cut 6 or 7 years 

ago or possibly more by his brother. He would help – this was less than 20 

years ago. He only recalls seeing one person coming through the wood. He 

would be there for 3-4 hrs or more during the day  - probably from 9am 

onwards until probably mid afternoon – 2.30/3.00. Coppiced all year 

round. He said under xx that this could be 3-4 times a year maybe. They 

were largish trees but not large. When he was asked whether it was oak, 

beech and holly in the Copse, Mr. Read said that sounds about right. But 

very few oak and not many large trees at all – one or two largish. It is a 

Copse and not a wood. 

Mr. Read was asked about his statement that it was a completely spurious 

claim and it was put to him that people have given evidence that they 

have seen people using the land. Mr. Read said that the spurious claim is 

stating that it is common ground. He said that he disagrees with the 

principle of taking away someone else’s land. He had that with his own 

land years ago, twice.  

 

Use of the Application Land 

He had not observed others using the land. He had not seen dogs on the 

land. He doesn’t recall any dens on  site. He hadn’t seen any rope swings – 

he doesn’t like those as eventually it kills the branch the rope is tied to. 

 

 

Richard Sheppard34 

Mr. Sheppard lives with his wife in Weston Lane, Winterslow. He is a 

retired arable farmer. He finished farming and sold the farm in 1998 but 

still owns some of the Farm land, including the Application Land. 
                                                        
34 OB/A Tab 13 p.96 

Page 556



 72 

 

Cropping Records 

Mr. Sheppard referred to his cropping records for Brown’s Copse field 

(OB/A Tab 8 p.51) and said that he has very good records, as these are 

required. These show the last crop (until recently) to have been of 

S.Wheat and sown in March 1988 and the land Set Aside 1989-98 and cut 

every year. The grass was topped annually had to be left there. In an 

average years this was done in September. He said that he didn’t do that 

himself at that time. Some patches, Mr. Sheppard said, were more lush 

and up to 2-3ft. The average was 1½ - 2½ ft.  over the field. 

 

Tracks and Soakaway 

Mr. Sheppard said that after he drives over there each year to cut the 

grass he could see the paths. The main ones can be seen from each of the 

entrances – OB/A Tab 8 p.70 shows the main tracks. Mr. Beagle’s plan 

(out in during the Inquiry to reflect his oral evidence) added some but 

they couldn’t be seen on the ground. Those shown on the map on p.70 can 

be seen on the aerial photographs at OB/A Tab 5 pp. 21 &22. He also said 

that when they dug the soakaway on the boundary with the Village Hall, 

people walked further out as they could walk over that. The soakaway (a 

2ft. 6 in. circular hole covered by mesh) is not fastened down and he 

didn’t cut that area. The detachable weld mesh is still there (it is not a 

cover as such, Mr. Sheppard explained) – there was a steel grid there for a 

long time. 

Mr. Sheppard said that the tracks got more definite over time. That is 

what instigated the need to sign the statutory declarations. When asked 

(in-chief) whether he had taken any action before 1998, Mr. Sheppard 

said that Mr. Fry was certain that he saw signs and he (Mr. Sheppard) 

could remember someone who worked for him who made them up. They 

were a foot square and hand made. The words were painted on plywood – 

red painted letters on the face of the sign. When asked whether he had 

seen any of these, Mr. Sheppard said that he must have done and he had a 

Page 557



 73 

mental picture of them now. He thinks that they would have been up near 

Highlands Crescent or near the post off Woodlands drive. He remembered 

seeing the sign in the grain barn. He thought that it just said “Private 

Land”. They had bright red lettering on a silver background. 

 

Section 31(6) Declarations 

These were to protect their land from trespassers. The first in 1998 was 

for the period 1998-2008. During that period they were topping annually; 

cutting the hedges every year. They normally used a contractor at that 

time but the annual cutting he or his son did or if he was busy he would 

use someone who could come in and do it. He said that he did get a 

contractor in occasionally. 

When asked (in-chief) what he understood the legal effect of the 

Declarations was (see OB/A Tab 7 pp. 28K & L), Mr. Sheppard said that it 

would stop any other footpaths being formed or claimed on that land. Mr. 

Sheppard said that he was concerned that the footpaths were getting 

longer, more defined so he took advice from Wiltshire Council’s rights of 

way department. 

Under xx Mr. Sheppard said that he had assumed that he was safe from 

rights of way being established. It was put to him that, if people continued 

to use the land he tolerated it, as he thought that he was safe. He said 

“yes”. Asked whether the surveyors told him about village green law, Mr. 

Sheppard said “no”. He said that he first knew of it when the TVG 

application was made. It was put to Mr. Sheppard, and he agreed, that 

therefore all that time he was protected against rights of way being 

established and didn’t know about TVG so tolerated people using and 

walking over the land assuming that he was protected. He agreed that he 

knew people were using the land for walking dogs. He played tennis at the 

Village Hall courts (at various times – but not very early). Mr. Sheppard 

said that he never saw anyone parking and then walking their dogs but if 

the parking and dog walking took place before 9am, he accepted that he 

Page 558



 74 

would not necessarily have seen it. He went to the Doctor’s Surgery 

normally between 10-11/12 noon. 

 

The 2009 Signs on the two Posts 

Mr. Sheppard said that when topping in 1988 he was aware of the tracks 

and that it took probably 2-3 years for the tracks to be formed and by 

1991 there were tracks – several tracks. One or two of these were not 

here at the beginning. He said that he could see people using the land. 

With reference to the plan of the tracks at 40A (of AB/A Tab 4), Mr. 

Sheppard said that did not remember all the tracks that Mr. Beagle 

suggested. 

He contacted Wiltshire to ask how he could keep people off his land and 

asked them what could he do? They said that they had signs and 

suggested that he put posts on his land. He received the signs in the post. 

He thought that people would think again before walking on the field – 

the whole field – that is why he put them at either end of the field. This 

was to protect from people walking on the land. 

With reference to photos of the southern post on p.73 of OB/A Tab 10, Mr. 

Sheppard said that he took the photos on the 7 February 2009. The post 

was moved approximately a week later and he re-erected it straight away 

– he put them in deep and hard but not in concrete – about 2ft. 6in. into 

the ground and an ordinary person would struggle to remove them. With 

regard to the post at the top of the field near to Woodland Drive, he had to 

re-erect it a week later more deeply in the ground. Mr. Sheppard said that 

he didn’t know quite know what to do and he did give up on the posts at 

that time. He had taken photographs as proof that they were there. 

Referred to the photograph of the post in the waste on p.75 (OB/A Tab 10 

p.75), he said that he came across that post after the first or second time. 

He re-erected the post on 13 February and on the 16 February found in 

the rubbish. The top post was up for up to 9 days. 

The bottom post erected was also on 7th February and removed at the 

same time. It was found then on the 13th February. Referring to p. 72 

Page 559



 75 

(OB/A Tab 9), he said that the first time it was removed it was found not 

far from the hole close to Middleton road. The second time it had been 

removed it was found in the Copse.  

Mr. Sheppard said that when he was erecting the posts he saw a lady who 

always used the land. He said that he warned her quite strongly and she 

went off. He doesn’t know that lady’s name and she has not given 

evidence at this Inquiry. 

Under xx, he was asked how people would distinguish Footpath Signs 

from private, as the signs didn’t say that unfortunately. He said that he 

looked at the tracks on the ground – that is where most feet seemed to 

have travelled. It was suggested to him (in xx) that some people wouldn’t 

think that it was prohibiting them from using the land. Most right thinking 

people, responded Mr. Sheppard, would understand that they were not 

allowed on the land – they had not been invited onto the land. It was put 

to Mr. Sheppard that possibly 50/50 of those would think this prohibits 

use. Mr. Sheppard said “possibly”. He also said that some who say they 

didn’t see the signs must have, if using it as regularly as they say. 

Asked under xx about the erection of the posts, Mr. Sheppard said that he 

erected them both (at both ends of the field) on the same day, 7th. 

February 2009. When he went back a week later, they had been pulled 

out of the ground. It was put to him that he didn’t know then how long 

they were lying on the ground and he replied that he had kept an eye on 

the site – driving around the village every day. He then said that he went 

back to the site every day in between. He found one on the rubbish and 

subsequently the other one was in the Copse. They were re-erected on the 

13th February. It was put to Mr. Sheppard that the posts were up for at 

most 9 days (and not as long as was put to Mr. Beagle in xx). It was also 

suggested to Mr. Sheppard that there was a difference between seeing a 

sign from 50ft away and seeing it in a photo. Mr. Sheppard replied that 

they were obvious to anyone entering the field – you couldn’t fail to see 

them, he said - they were not next to the edge of the field. It was put to Mr. 

Sheppard that people walking at the back of the Village Hall and onto the 

Page 560



 76 

land wouldn’t see the sign. Mr. Sheppard said that if they were on the 

tarmac path they would not. He reiterated that if someone was using the 

land regularly they would have notice the signs. It seems, he added, that a 

lot of people didn’t go and have a look – most people would go and look at 

the posts. People who used the land in the summer may not have seen the 

signs. 

When it was again put to Mr. Sheppard that people didn’t know what the 

meaning of the signs was, Mr. Sheppard said people must have – 

otherwise, why did they pull the signs out of the land, he asked. It was 

then suggested to him that the majority of people wouldn’t have 

understood. Mr. Sheppard didn’t agree – he said that if people know there 

are signs they should know that they are not being invited onto the land. 

Why, asked Mr. Sheppard, would anyone put a sign on their land? It was 

suggested to Mr. Sheppard that the overall impression was that their use 

was tolerated and not objected to. Later in his xx Mr. Sheppard accepted 

that they could have been clearer signs. 

Mr. Sheppard was referred to his statement (OB/A Tab 13 p.98) where he 

referred to discussions in 2012 leading to the putting up of the four signs. 

When asked, Mr. Sheppard declined (as he was entitled) to say who was 

advising him but did confirm that he was being advised on TVG. He was 

referred to pp. 444/5 of AB/B tab 15 which showed the cost of the 4 signs 

was £433.54 (£208.54 + £225.00). With regard to the earlier signs, Mr. 

Sheppard said that they were silver with red writing and he was referred 

to Mr. Fry saying that they were, as he recalled, black and white signs. 

Under xx he was asked whether it was possible that the signs were not 

put up. Even if they were put up, it was also put to him, he could not say 

how long they were up for. Mr. Sheppard said no he couldn’t say but 

added that they probably went up when the footpath started to be 

established. 

 

 

 

Page 561



 77 

Highfield Crescent Fencing 

Referring to the fence shown on photo 23B (OB/A Tab 5), Mr. Sheppard 

said that he did not see it every day. It was there at the time of set aside in 

1988. He wouldn’t think that it was breached in 1988 as the land had 

been arable and people didn’t walk over it. He didn’t have animals on the 

land so there was no stock proof fence. The fencing was a boundary for 

the houses. Nearly every dwelling that he knows has a fence to indicate 

the boundary. Regarding Mr. Yates’ evidence (re. breaching of the fence), 

Mr. Sheppard said that was as good an account as one can find. Mr. 

Sheppard said that at the time he put the signs up in 2009 he again 

phoned Salisbury DC or Wiltshire asking them to put new wire along 

there. The fencing was repaired by the District Council in 2009 and he 

saw that they had done a good professional job. 

He walked across the land from time to time. It was breached after the 

Council had repaired it. He didn’t take any steps to repair it. He said that 

he had to top the field right up to the fence. When asked (in chief) 

whether it was breached in 2009/10, Mr. Sheppard said that he wouldn’t 

be surprised – he said that they would have cut it again even if it had been 

repaired. He said that, if he had re-erected the post (with the sign), it 

would have been dismissed as easily as the others. 

It was put to him (under xx) that what we are concerned about is not 

knowing what he was trying to do but how it would have appeared to 

people using the land. Mr. Sheppard said that is why he put the signs up. 

He said, when asked, that he didn’t put up fencing because it was very 

expensive – it would have cost thousands of pounds, which he didn’t have.  

Under xx he was referred to his evidence that the fence was renewed in 

2009. Mr. Sheppard agreed that the fence was put up to fence off the 

estate. He said that he was sure that it was some of the residents of 

Highfield Crescent who told him people were using the gap so he should 

do something about it. It was put to Mr. Sheppard (in xx) that users 

wouldn’t necessarily think the repairing of the fence was an indication 

that they shouldn’t be going onto the land. He replied “true”. 

Page 562



 78 

Under re-ex, Mr. Sheppard said that the fence posts (in the north-west) 

were originally concrete. He said that the wire would have been under 

tension, when first put up. He thought that there were 4 strands – it was 

smooth and not barbed wire. They were robust to keep people in 

Highfield Crescent 

 

April 2011 

He still found that this was happening – people coming onto the land. 

Whenever he met anyone on the land, he would tell them in no uncertain 

terms that they shouldn’t be on the land. Sometimes they were peaceable, 

sometimes not. The main protagonist, was a Mr. Simpson. Mr. Sheppard 

didn’t know whether he had anything to do with WOOD. 

Mr. Sheppard said that he probably spoke to about 12 people over the 

years.  

Mr. Sheppard said that he then decided to plough the land and did so on 

4th April 2011. He said that he was “cheesed off” – “That is all you get for 

trying to do a kindness”, Mr. Sheppard said. 

He also decided to put up new signs having spoken to Salisbury Planning 

Department. So he erected 4. When asked (in chief) why he had originally 

(in 2009) erected 2 and now 4, Mr. Sheppard said that because it became 

more and more clear that people were not taking notice of the 2 smaller 

signs. 

 

Communal Events 

Mr. Sheppard said that the only time he gave permission for a communal 

event was for one afternoon for 2 years (between 1991-2011) for pony 

rides for the village fete.  

 

Bonfires 

He said that it was only the burning of rubbish that he allowed. I person 

lived in the Crescent and 1 in Woodland Drive. He said that he probably 

Page 563



 79 

bumped into them when he was walking up there but he did give his 

permission on the understanding that they cleared up after. 

 

The Copse 

He said that there are mid-sized trees. Hazel shoots have been coppiced 

over the years but he didn’t know how far back this went. He thinks it 

started when he was a child but he was not sure. These were cut again at 

intervals of about 10 years. In any one year a ¼ of the Copse would be 

coppiced. It was never clear felled. When he had organised it, the guy 

advised that the already thick hazel should be taken out. Some got really 

big. That is how the cycle began. Between 1991-2011 there was coppicing 

every year but not recently. They would only really do it in winter, when 

there were no leaves and the sap was down. This has fallen away because 

the gentleman’s wife was seriously ill and died and he decided to retire. 

So it needs a cut. It was last done about 5 years ago.  

When Mr. Sheppard’s father owned it, there was shooting there - that was 

in the 1960s. He died in 1970. 

Mr. Sheppard said that he does walk past the Copse regularly. He goes 

along school path – about 4 times a week and he meets people on the 

path. He sometimes sees people in the Copse but not often.  

Under xx, he clarified that the Coppice was coppiced until around 2009. 

He said that something was done most years and in some years they did a 

bigger patch. It was done during the winter months and early spring 

when, as he said in chief, no leaves or sap. He confirmed that there would 

not be coppicing in summer or the summer holidays. He accepted that 

there could have been playing in the Copse when coppicing probably not 

happening. 

He said that he saw dens very occasionally and he had built them himself 

when he was a kid. He had seen a rope swing but he had seen it used. 

There had always been a few but not with any great frequency. He 

thought that his father put up signs in the 1960s. He accepted, under xx, 

Page 564



 80 

that he tolerated use of copse but said he told people in the Copse to get 

out who were cutting things down – he got cross. He made sure that they 

knew he was the owner and they had no right to be in there. Mr. Sheppard 

said that if he didn’t recognise the person, he told them. When it was put 

to him that there were lots of people that he recognised and he didn’t tell 

them, Mr. Sheppard said that he didn’t need to, as they knew it. He said 

that he occasionally saw people walking on the field but not regularly. 

He was asked, in xx, whether he thought about putting the posts up in the 

Copse. He replied that he was concerned about the field, even though 

there were tracks in the Copse. 

 

Use of the Application Land 

Under xx, Mr. Sheppard said that he didn’t see people walking dogs on the 

land regularly. He did tell quite a number of people that they had no right 

to be on the land. He told them that they had no right to be on the land as 

it is private. I wasn’t prepared to sit in a chair there 24 hours a day. He 

reiterated that he spoke to about a dozen people. 

Mr. Sheppard accepted that if he had known about TVG law he would 

have taken a very different stance. 

He was asked about the path along the north side of the Copse and 

blackberrying and sloes. Mr. Sheppard said that there was not an 

established pattern. People say that they walked everywhere but, said Mr. 

Sheppard, there was no proof. He said that there may have been tracks. 

Referred to photo 23, he acknowledged the faint line from the telephone 

box to the Copse 

 

Note of Parish Council Meeting on 4 February 2013 

The meeting was in respect of the Modification Order at Middleton Road 

(see pp. 90/91 in OB/A Tab 12). Mr. Sheppard was referred to the Note at 

p. 88 of OB/A Tab 12. He said that it was his note. He declared an interest 

in respect of the meeting. He was Chairman of the PC for 3 years. All said 

Page 565



 81 

that they remembered seeing the original signs in place in 2009. When 

asked whether the PC supported the TVG Application, Mr. Sheppard said 

that they will not get involved with WOOD. 

 

 

Patricia Sheppard35 

Mrs. Sheppard read her statement in which she states that she has lived in 

Winterslow for 48 years and that she had an intimate knowledge of the 

use of the Application Land. She can’t see the land from their house in 

Weston Lane and it is impossible to keep watch all the time other the 

land. That is why they decided to erect the four further signs. Her 

husband was there however very frequently – but 24/7 was impossible. 

Mrs. Sheppard said that she would drive around the village on most days. 

She would go to the Doctor’s Surgery quite regularly as she had an elderly 

mother (who died in 2006) and an elderly Aunt (who died in 2011). She 

would go to Highfield Crescent once a week, on a Friday. She couldn’t 

remember when that started - less than 5 years with Aunt and a bit longer 

with mother. 

Mrs. Sheppard also used to visit a Mrs. Perry who died in 2006. She used 

to go and see her each Saturday afternoon – she would sit with her and 

talk. They used to sit near the window because Mrs. Perry’s sight was not 

good. She never saw anyone using that access. On Sunday morning she 

would pick Mrs. Perry up for church and take her back home after. 

Mrs. Sheppard said that she was not aware of anyone on the land. She did 

go onto the land and saw tracks. She did know people were using it. She 

did go into the Copse and see tracks that just meandered through the 

wood. She saw no dens abut did see a rope swing. When asked whether 

she ever did anything to stop people using the wood, Mrs. Sheppard said 

that they just felt people should have the experience of seeing the blue 

bells in there. It was educationally important that people had that 

opportunity. Yes, she therefore accepted that people used the Copse and 
                                                        
35 OB/A Tab 13 p.99 

Page 566



 82 

she personally took no steps to stop that. She explained further that it was 

not their mission to stop people going into the Copse as long as they went 

in through the top path and she had no objection to them going from the 

path. 

She said that she (unlike her husband) didn’t play tennis. When she was 

asked whether she saw dog walkers on bottom part of the field, Mrs. 

Sheppard said might have seen the odd one at the end nearest to the 

Village Hall. When she was asked whether that would be first thing, she 

said that it wouldn’t be late and probably between 9.30/10am. She 

accepted therefore that, if people were walking their dogs before work, 

then she wouldn’t have seen that. She was asked whether she would go 

there at lunchtime. Mrs. Sheppard replied that she would sometimes go 

out between 10.30/11 am – she would walk from the house and cut 

through Barry’s Field. She said that the could cut through the bluebell 

wood, if they chose to. In the Copse she rarely saw anyone coming and 

going. She has observed in the afternoon a couple of mums rushing up to 

the school. If she was in the field, she may pass someone. She would say 

good morning but make the point that it was private land. She said this 

was very rarely- maybe 5 times or a bit more. She said that she never saw 

blackberrying in the field and she never gave permission (“certainly not”) 

for anyone to be on the land apart from the donkey rides. Bonfires were 

organised once. She had heard brownies had used the land but she didn’t 

see that and she did not personally give them permission. 

With regard to the two posts in 1999, she accepted her husband’s 

evidence on this. She did not know how long they were up. She said that 

they were removed within a couple of days. When asked under xx about 

that, Mrs. Sheppard said that she drove past and one day there were there 

– a few days later they were not. It could have been less than a week. 

When asked whether she was looking to see of the posts were still there, 

she said that she was as she could see past the Surgery as the view opens 

up there. 

Page 567



 83 

With regard to the Note on p.89 of OB/A Tab 12, she confirmed that was 

her husband’s note. 

It was said to Mrs. Sheppard (in xx) that they are aware that she had very 

strong feelings as she had made that clear. She was referred to her letter 

to Cllr. Devine and it was suggested that she was putting pressure on him 

to support her. (see OB/A Tab 12 p.85). She was referred in particular to 

the 4th. Paragraph of that letter. She said that she did not look at it like 

that (i.e. putting pressure on the Councillor). When it was put to her that 

she made it difficult for him to support the TVG application, Mrs. 

Sheppard replied that was a decision for him to make.  

She was also asked about the petition. It was suggested that the 

Community was divided – some people supporting her and her husband 

and some supporting the Application. Mrs. Sheppard said that it was the 

minority who are supporting the Application. It was then put to her that 

some people don’t want to give evidence as seen from some people not 

turning up.  

 

 

5. ASSESSMENT AND CONCLUSIONS 

5.1 This section is set out as follows: 

(1) The Legal Framework 

(2) Assessment of the issues arising against that framework 

(3) Conclusions 

 

THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK FOR DETERMINATION OF AN APPLICATION 

UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE COMMONS ACT 2006 

5.2 As noted in section 1 of this Report above, section 15(1) provides (as 

relevant to this Application) that: 

Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register 

land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where 

subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

Page 568



 84 

Subsection (2) applies where- 

(a) A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 

and 

(b) They continue to do so at the time of the application. 

 

 Subsection (3) applies where - 

 This subsection applies where– 

(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 

(b) they ceased to do so before the time of the application but after the 

commencement of this section; and 

(c) the application is made within the period of two years beginning 

with the cessation referred to in paragraph (b). 

(It should be noted that since this Application was made the period in 

(3)(b) has been changed in England to 1 year – section 14(2) of the 

Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013, taking effect on 1 October 2013).  

 

5.3 The burden of proof lies on the Applicant to demonstrate that the 

statutory criteria are satisfied. The standard of proof is the civil one – that 

is “on the balance of probabilities” or, put simply, that it is more likely 

than not. The approach of Pill JL in R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte 

Steed [1996] 75 P&CR 102, 111 is relevant: 

  However, I approach the issue on the basis that it is no trivial matter for a 
landowner to have land, whether in public or private ownership, registered 
as a town green and that the evidential safeguards present in the 
authorities already cited dealing with the establishment of a customary 
right (class B) should be imported into a class C case. Use, as of right, and as 
inhabitants of Sudbury, for sports and pastimes must be “properly and 
strictly proved”. 

 This approach was endorsed by Lord Bingham in R v Sunderland City 

Council, ex parte Beresford [2004] 1 AC 889 at [2] who referred to Pill 

Ely’s words and continued: 

Page 569



 85 

 It is accordingly necessary that all ingredients of this definition should be 
met before land is registered, and decision-makers must consider carefully 
whether the land in question has been used by the inhabitants of a locality 
for indulgence in what are properly to be regarded as lawful sports and 
pastimes and whether the temporal limit of 20 years' indulgence or more is 
met. 

 I consider this endorsement is still relevant, although Beresford has been 

both distinguished and not followed or to be relied upon in R (on the 

application of Barkas) v North Yorkshire CC [2014] UKSC 31. 

 

5.4 From section 15(3)(a) and the relevant case law, it can be seen that an 

application has to satisfy the following elements: 

(1) The application land has to have been used for lawful sports and 

pastimes. 

(2) The use has to have been by a significant number of people who 

come from: 

A locality; or 

Any neighbourhood within a locality. 

(3) That use has to have been carried out for at least 20 years up to 

when it ceased and the application to register has been made 

within the statutory period form the use ceasing (s.15(3)). 

(4) That use has to have been “as of right” throughout that period. 

 

The land which forms the basis of the application has to have been used 

for lawful sports and pastimes 

5.5 The expression “lawful sports and pastimes” was considered in R v 

Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 

A.C. 335. It was held that “sports and pastimes” is not two classes of 

activities but a single composite class, so an activity that was a sport or 

pastime falls within it. It was further held that dog walking and playing 

with children are, in modern life, the kind of informal recreation, which 

may be the main function of a village green36. Flying kites, picking 

                                                        
36 [2000] 1 A.C. 335, 357A-D. 

 

Page 570



 86 

blackberries, fishing and tobogganing have been considered to fall within 

“sports and pastimes”. 

 

5.6 Not all use that falls within the meaning of “lawful sports and pastimes” is 

sufficient, however. In White v Taylor (No.2)(1969) 1 Ch 160 at 192 

Buckley J held: 

...But the user must be shown to have been of such a character, degree and 

frequency as to indicate an assertion by the claimant of a continuous right, 

and of a right of the measure of the right claimed. 

The use must be to a sufficient extent; use which is “so trivial and sporadic 

as not to carry the outward appearance of user as of right” is to be ignored: 

Sunningwell [2001] 1 A.C. 335, 375D-E. 

 

5.7 It is necessary to distinguish the use of footpaths from use for sports or 

pastimes. That distinction is important in this case, where there are tracks 

across the path and a application for a modification order was made in 

respect of the land under section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 a short time before the TVG application was made.  

 

5.8 In Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council  [2004] EWHC 12 at 

[102]-[110] (the Trap Grounds case) in the High Court Lightman J stated 

that where the public use defined tracks over land this will generally only 

establish public rights of way unless the user is wider in scope or the 

tracks are of such character that user of them cannot give rise to a 

presumption at common law as a public highway, but user of such tracks 

for pedestrian recreational purposes may qualify. The House of Lords 

[2006] 2 AC 674 at [68] (as well as the Court of Appeal) on appeal held 

that it would not be appropriate to give any guidance on the evidentiary 

matters relating to the use of tracks and the other land. The Objectors also 

refer to the Judgment of Sir Nicholas Browne-Wilkinson in Dydfed CC v 

Secretary of State for Wales [1989] 59 P & CR 275, 279: 

Page 571



 87 

  “…There is no rule that use of a highway for mere recreational purposes is 
incapable of creating a public right of way. Such use for purely recreational 
walking would be a use of the path as a footway and give rise to the 
possibility of deemed dedication in the absence of evidence that the owner of 
the land had no intention to dedicate.”37 

 

5.9 Given the importance of this issue to WOOD’s Application, I set out the 

approach In R (on the application of Laing Homes Ltd) v Buckinghamshire 

County Council [2003] EWHC 1578 (Admin) at [102] – [110], where 

Sullivan J. held as follows: 

 102. As noted above, the Footpath Order confirmed the existence of 
footpaths all around the perimeters of each of the three fields (the paths cut 
across the south western corners of Fields 1 and 3). For obvious reasons, the 
presence of footpaths or bridleways is often highly relevant in applications 
under section 22(1) of the Act: land is more likely to be used for recreational 
purposes by local inhabitants if there is easy access to it. But it is important 
to distinguish between use which would suggest to a reasonable landowner 
that the users believed they were exercising a public right of way — to walk, 
with or without dogs, around the perimeter of his fields — and use which 
would suggest to such a landowner that the users believed that they were 
exercising a right to indulge in lawful sports and pastimes across the whole 
of his fields. 
103. Dog walking presents a particular problem since it is both a normal 
and lawful use of a footpath and one of the kinds of “informal recreation” 
which is commonly found on village greens. Once let off the lead a dog may 
well roam freely whilst its owner remains on the footpath. The dog is 
trespassing, but would it be reasonable to expect the landowner to object on 
the basis that the dog's owner was apparently asserting the existence of 
some broader public right, in addition to his right to walk on the footpath? 
104. The landowner is faced with the same dilemma if the dog runs away 
from the footpath and refuses to return, so that the owner has to go and 
retrieve it. It would be unfortunate if a reasonable landowner was forced to 
stand upon his rights in such a case in order to prevent the local inhabitants 
from obtaining a right to use his land off the path for informal recreation. 
The same would apply to walkers who casually or accidentally strayed from 
the footpaths without a deliberate intention to go on other parts of the 
fields: see per Lord Hoffmann at p.358E of Sunningwell . I do not consider 
that the dog's wanderings or the owner's attempts to retrieve his errant dog 
would suggest to the reasonable landowner that the dog walker believed he 
was exercising a public right to use the land beyond the footpath for 
informal recreation. 
105. While the Inspector was not obliged to carry out a field-by-field 
analysis, he was obliged to grapple with the principal point made in the 
Claimant's analysis: that looking at the 20-year period, walking, including 

                                                        
37 Objectors Authorities Tab 5 

Page 572

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IBD944500E44811DA8D70A0E70A78ED65


 88 

dog walking, was the principal activity, and that it was largely confined to 
the footpaths around the perimeter of the fields. If that use was discounted, 
the other activities over the remainder of the fields were not of such a 
character and frequency as to indicate an assertion of a right over the 
entirety of the 38 acres for 20 years, not least because the other paths 
(across the fields) only began to evolve after 1993 and so were not claimed 
as footpaths (10.17). In paragraph 14.24 the Inspector appears to have 
accepted the Claimant's analysis, up to a point: noting that in addition to 
walking on the paths that developed around the field boundaries, some of 
the other activities such as blackberrying would have taken place on or near 
the boundaries, rather than across the fields as a whole. 
106. But when the Inspector concluded in paragraph 14.25 that there was 
abundant evidence of continuous use by local people of the whole surface of 
the fields he relied “in addition to the dog walking and playing with 
children” referred to in Sunningwell , also upon “general walking (i.e. 
without dogs)” as being among the many activities that took place on the 
fields. 
107. Thus the Inspector considered whether the whole, and not merely the 
perimeter of the fields was being used, but he did not deal with the issue 
raised in the Claimant's analysis: how extensive was the use of the fields if 
the use of the footpaths around their boundaries for walking and dog 
walking (making allowance for the fact that dogs off the lead may stray, see 
10.18) was discounted, such use being referable to the exercise of public 
rights of way, and not a right to indulge in informal recreation across the 
whole of the fields. 
108. I accept that the two rights are not necessarily mutually exclusive. A 
right of way along a defined path around a field may be exercised in order 
to gain access to a suitable location for informal recreation within the field. 
But from the landowner's point of view it may be very important to 
distinguish between the two rights. He may be content that local 
inhabitants should cross his land along a defined route, around the edge of 
his fields, but would vigorously resist if it appeared to him that a right to 
roam across the whole of his fields was being asserted. 
109. I do not suggest that it will be necessary in every case where a footpath 
crosses or skirts an application site under the Act to distinguish between the 
exercise of a right of way and the use of a site for informal recreation. The 
footpath may be lightly used as such and the evidence of non-footpath use 
may be substantial. But the present case is most unusual in that there were 
recently confirmed footpaths around the perimeters of all three Fields. 
These footpaths were not lightly used. The Footpath Inspector had 
concluded that there was “unchallenged evidence of considerable weight 
that their routes have been in such use as would satisfy section 31 of the 
[Highways Act] 1980 ”. The Claimants drew the Inspector's attention to 
evidence from one of GAG's witnesses “that the majority of people in the 
fields stuck to the boundary footpaths” (10.16). 
110. It is no accident that the Inspector's list of activities in paragraph 14.25 
commenced with dog walking and general walking (i.e. without dogs). On 
any view of GAG's evidence set out by the Inspector in Chapter 7 of his 
Report these were the principal activities throughout the 20-year period. A 

Page 573

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IEFC06580E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IEFC06580E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65


 89 

number of the other activities were very occasional, such as kite flying, or of 
limited duration, e.g. use by the Cub Scouts appears to have ceased in 1987 
(7.67). I do not underestimate the difficulties confronting the Inspector but 
he does appear to have relied upon the extensive use of the perimeter 
footpaths as such, for general and dog walking, in reaching his conclusion 
that there was abundant evidence of the use of the whole of the fields for 
lawful sports and pastimes for the 20-year period (14.25). To Laings, as a 
reasonably vigilant, and not an absentee, landowner those walkers would 
have appeared to be exercising public rights of way, not indulging in lawful 
sports and pastimes as of right. For these reasons the claim also succeeds on 
ground (1) 

 

5.10 The Objectors also bring my attention to the analysis of Vivian Chapman 

QC in his Inspector’s report in the Radley Lakes application (13/10/2007) 

at [304&5]:38 

 “It seems to me that the heart of the guidance given by Lightman J is that all 
depends on whether the use would appear to the reasonable landowner as 
referable to the exercise of a right of way along a defined route or referable 
to a right to enjoy recreation over the whole of a wider area of land. if the 
appearance is ambiguous, it should be ascribed to the lesser right, ie a right 
of way.’ 

 

5.11 With regard to the extent of coverage of the application land by qualifying 

user, not every part of the application land has to have been used. 

However, the evidence must be such so as to indicate use as of right for 

lawful sports and pastimes of the land as a whole. In R (Cheltenham 

Builders) v South Gloucestershire Council [2003] EWHC 2803 at [29] 

Sullivan J. stated that a “common sense approach is required when 

considering whether the whole of a site was so used”. 

 

5.12 The approach of the House of Lords in the Trap Grounds case is also 

instructive. Lord Hoffman stated: 

 66 Secondly, Mr. Chapman dealt with the inaccessibility of a good deal of 
the scrubland: 
“The city council argue that the scrubland is now so overgrown that the 
majority of it is inaccessible and that this in itself precludes registration as a 
green. As noted above, my estimate is that about 25% of the total area is 
reasonably accessible, the rest consisting of trees and scrub. In my view, the 
question whether land has become a town or village green cannot be 

                                                        
38 Objectors’ Opening Submissions at [29] on p.9 and Tab 11 of Objector’s Authorities at p. 58 

Page 574



 90 

determined by a mathematical assessment of the amount of the land which 
is open to recreation. … Where the recreational use is informal and consists 
of activities such as walking, with or without dogs, children's play, exploring 
and watching wild life, I do not see why much more densely vegetated land 
should not be capable of being subject to recreational rights, either by 
custom or prescription. In my view, it is necessary to look at the words of the 
statutory definition and to ask whether the scrubland, considered as a 
whole, is land which falls within that definition. In my view, the evidence 
proves that the recreational use of the scrubland is, and has been over the 
relevant 20 year period, sufficiently general and widespread, by way of use 
not only of the main track but also of minor tracks, glades and clearings, to 
amount to recreational use of the scrubland viewed as a whole.” 
 
67 This is not an application for judicial review of Mr. Chapman's decision 
and your Lordships are not invited to express a view on whether, on the 
facts, he was entitled to reach the conclusions which he did. For my part, in 
the absence of an inspection or at least photographs of the site, I would be 
very reluctant to do so. If the area is in fact intersected with paths and 
clearings, the fact that these occupy only 25% of the land area would not in 
my view be inconsistent with a finding that there was recreational use of the 
scrubland as a whole. For example, the whole of a public garden may be 
used for recreational activities even though 75% of the surface consists of 
flower beds, borders and shrubberies on which the public may not walk. 
 

 

The use has to have been by a significant number of people who come 

from: 

A locality; or 

Any neighbourhood within a locality 

 

Significant Number 

5.13 In R (Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] 

EWHC 76 at para. 71 Sullivan J held that a “significant number” need not 

be considerable or substantial. It was held that it was a matter of 

impression for the decision-maker on the evidence and what mattered 

was that the number of people using the land in question had to be 

sufficient to indicate that their use of the land signifies that it is a general 

use by the local community for an informal recreational use, rather than 

occasional use by individuals as trespassers. 

 

Page 575



 91 

5.14 Given the issues arising in this case and the submissions made, particular 

note should also be taken of paragraphs 72 and 73 of Sullivan J’s 

judgment in the Alfred McAlpine Homes case: 

 72. The inspector concluded in paragraph 7.1 that substantial use had been 
made of the meadow for informal recreation for more than 20 years before 
the application. He referred specifically to six of the witnesses who could 
give evidence covering the whole of the 20−year period. Mr. Wolton's 
criticisms of the inspector's conclusions are not well founded. It is quite 
unrealistic to refer simply to the six witnesses or to deal with the matter on 
the basis that they are only six out of 20,000 or one out of 200, and that such 
numbers are not significant. I accept that, if all of those six witnesses had 
said that they had not seen others on the land over the 20−year period, then 
it would be difficult to see how six out of 20,000 or one out of 200 could be 
said to be significant. But the fact of the matter is that they did not give such 
evidence: they were able to give evidence, not merely about what they did 
themselves, but what they saw others doing on the meadow over the 
20−year period. 
73. It is difficult to obtain first−hand evidence of events over a period as long 
as 20 years. In the present case there was an unusual number of witnesses 
who were able to speak as to the whole of the period. More often an 
inspector at such inquiries is left with a patchwork of evidence, trying to 
piece together evidence from individuals who can deal with various parts of 
the 20−year period. In the present case, however, the evidence of the six 
witnesses who were able to cover the whole 20−year period was amply 
supported by many other witnesses who dealt not simply with the last few 
years but with a very considerable part of the 20−year period, some of them 
going back almost 20 years, some going back to times before the 20−year 
period began. 

 

5.15 This aspect is often referred to as part of the issue of “the quality of user” 

and has been addressed in several authorities since then. In the Court of 

Appeal decision in Leeds Group plc v Leeds City Council  [2011] 2 WLR 

Sullivan LJ, as he had by then become, held: 

Quality of user 

28. I agree with Mr. Laurence that this ground of appeal is better 
described as the quality of user point. It is based on certain passages in the 
speeches of Lord Walker of Gestingthorpe JSC and Lord Hope of Craighead 
DPSC in R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council (No 2) [2010] 2 
AC 70. In para 30 Lord Walker JSC referred to the general proposition that 
had been relied on by Mr. Laurence: 
“that if the public (or a section of the public) is to acquire a right by 
prescription, they must by their conduct bring home to the landowner that a 
right is being asserted against him, so that the landowner has to choose 

Page 576



 92 

between warning the trespassers, or eventually finding that they have 
established the asserted right against him.” 
In para 36 Lord Walker JSC said that in the light of the authorities he had 
“no difficulty in accepting that Lord Hoffmann was absolutely right, in 
Sunningwell [2000] 1 AC 335, to say that the English theory of prescription 
is concerned with ‘how the matter would have appeared to the owner of the 
land’ (or if there was an absentee owner, to a reasonable owner who was on 
the spot).” 
 

Any Locality or any Neighbourhood within a Locality 

5.16 As seen above, section 15(3)(a) provides: 

A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality 

This repeats the insertion of “neighbourhood within a locality” into 

section 22 of the CRA 1965 (by section 98 of the Countryside and Rights 

of Way Act 2000), and was intended to apply more flexibility to the issue 

of “locality” and mitigate the strict legal test that had been applied in 

some cases. The Court of Appeal confirmed in Leeds Group Plc v Leeds City 

Council [2011] EWCA Civ 1447 (the second Leeds Group Plc case) that:  

(1) It was common ground that Parliament's intention in enacting s.98 

was to remove the evidential difficulty posed by the need for users 

to be predominantly from an administrative area known to the 

law. 

(2) The enactment of s.98 was to strike a balance between two 

competing interests; users who wished to apply for the 

registration of land as a TVG and landowners whose land might be 

the subject of such application.  

(3) The new policy contained in s.22(1A) of the 1965 Act applied in its 

entirety to all applications made on or after January 30, 2001, 

when s.98 came into force.  

 

5.17 A “locality” is however not an arbitrary line on a map; it means an 

administrative unit and a “neighbourhood” within a locality means an 

area with a sufficient degree of cohesiveness, as held by Sullivan J in R 

(Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucestershire DC [2003] EWHC 2803 

Page 577



 93 

(Admin). What can constitute a locality includes a county, a city a town or 

borough, a parish (civil and ecclesiastical) and an electoral ward.39 

 

That use has to have been carried out for at least 20 years up to the date 

of the application 

5.18 The House of Lords in Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council 

[2006] 2 WLR 1235 confirmed that under the previous provisions, 

sections 13 and 22(1A) of the Commons Registration Act 1965 (as 

amended by the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000), the user as of 

right had to continue to the date of the application. As noted above, 

section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 provides for this situation but also 

situations where the recreational use has ceased (sections 15(3)-(7)). 

 

That use has to have been as of right throughout that period 

5.19 To be “as of right” the use must have been carried out: 

(i) Without force (nec vi) 

(ii) Without secrecy (nec clam) 

(iii) Without permission (nec precario). 

The phrase “as of right” is based upon the acquisition of rights by 

prescription. The whole law of prescription and the whole law that 

governs the presumption or inference of a grant or covenant rest upon 

acquiescence by the land owner: as held by Fry J in Dalton v Angus & Co. 

(1881) 6 App. Cas. 740, 773 as cited by Lord Hoffman in R v Oxfordshire 

County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 AC 335 at 

351B-C. 

 

5.20 Sunningwell related to an application to register 10 acres of glebe land. 

The House of Lords decided that, where a use had to be established as of 

right, user that was apparently as of right could not be discounted merely 

because many of the users over a long period were subjectively 

indifferent as to whether a right existed, or even had private knowledge 

                                                        
39 See Gadsden on Commons and Greens (Second Edition) at 14-26 on pp. 519-520 

Page 578



 94 

that it did not. It was also held that toleration of the recreational use was 

not inconsistent with user as of right.  

 

5.21 If the user has been by coercion or if the user is contentious in the sense 

that the owner continually and unmistakably protests against it, there is 

no acquiescence and the user is considered to be by force and cannot be 

“as of right”40. This will apply if the circumstances are such as to indicate 

to the user, or to a reasonable user with the user’s knowledge of the 

circumstances, that the owner actually objects and continues to object 

and backs his objection by physical obstruction or by legal action. Signs 

can, depending on the wording and circumstances, have a similar effect. 

Physical obstruction includes fencing and gates; the legal effect will in any 

case depend upon the nature and circumstances of such obstructions and 

actions. 

 

5.22 In Taylor v Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd [2012] EWCA CIv 250, 

LJ Patten held: 

63 It would, in my view, be a direct infringement of the principle (referred to 
earlier in the judgment of Lord Rodger on Redcar (No. 2) ) that rights of 
property cannot be acquired by force or by unlawful means for the Court to 
ignore the landowner's clear and repeated demonstration of his opposition 
to the use of the land simply because it was obliterated by the unlawful acts 
of local inhabitants. Mrs Taylor is not entitled in effect to rely upon this 
conduct by limiting her evidence to that of users whose ignorance of the 
signs was due only to their removal in this way. If the steps taken would 
otherwise have been sufficient to notify local inhabitants that they should 
not trespass on the land then the landowner has, I believe, done all that is 
required to make users of his land contentious. 
 

5.23 In R (Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation 

Trust) v Oxfordshire County Council [2010] LGR 631 (the Warneford 

Meadows case) HH Judge Waksman QC (sitting as a Judge of the High 

Court) considered Pumfrey J's dictum in Smith v Brudenell-Bruce in the 

context of an application to register a meadow adjoining the Warneford 

Hospital in Oxford as a town or village green. The land in question was 

                                                        
40 Smith v Brudenell-Bruce [2002] 2 P&CR 4 at [12]. 

Page 579



 95 

crossed by a public footpath alongside which was a notice stating: “No 

public right of way”. This was said to have prevented any public use of the 

meadow itself from being as of right. The judge held that the notice had 

not rendered such use contentious because, reasonably read, it had to be 

taken to refer to the user of the footpath rather than the meadow land 

generally. He was not therefore concerned with a case where the notice 

had been placed in an inaccessible position or where (as in the present 

case) the notices had been removed. But in his judgment he set out some 

general principles. Having referred to Smith v Brudenell-Bruce and to 

Redcar (No 2) he said this: 

21 By way of contrast in Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council 
[2006] Ch 43 , the relevant sign read: 
Oxford City Council. 
Trap Grounds and Reed Beds. 
Private Property. 
Access prohibited 
Except with the express consent 
Of Oxford City Council 
22 From those cases I derive the following principles: 
(1) The fundamental question is what the notice conveyed to the user. If the 
user knew or ought to have known that the owner was objecting to and 
contesting his use of the land, the notice is effective to render it contentious; 
absence of actual knowledge is therefore no answer if the reasonable user 
standing in the position of the actual user, and with his information, would 
have so known; 
(2) Evidence of the actual response to the notice by the actual users is thus 
relevant to the question of actual knowledge and may also be relevant as to 
the putative knowledge of the reasonable user; 
(3) The nature and content of the notice, and its effect, must be examined in 
context; 
(4) The notice should be read in a common sense and not legalistic way; 
(5) If it is suggested that the owner should have done something more than 
erect the actual notice, whether in terms of a different notice or some other 
act, the Court should consider whether anything more would be 
proportionate to the user in question. Accordingly it will not always be 
necessary, for example, to fence off the area concerned or take legal 
proceedings against those who use it. The aim is to let the reasonable user 
know that the owner objects to and contests his user. Accordingly, if a sign 
does not obviously contest the user in question or is ambiguous a relevant 
question will always be why the owner did not erect a sign or signs which 
did. I have not here incorporated the reference by Pumfrey J in Brudenell-
Bruce (supra) to ‘consistent with his means’. That is simply because, for my 
part, if what is actually necessary to put the user on notice happens to be 
beyond the means of an impoverished landowner, for example, it is hard to 

Page 580

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=92&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I15BF6320E42811DA8FC2A0F0355337E9
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=92&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I15BF6320E42811DA8FC2A0F0355337E9


 96 

see why that should absolve him without more. 1 As it happens, in this case, 
no point on means was taken by the Authority in any event so it does not 
arise on the facts here. 
In my judgment the following principles also apply: 

   (6) Sometimes the issue is framed by reference to what a reasonable 
landowner would have understood his notice to mean' that is simply 
another way of asking the question as to what the reasonable user would 
have made of it; 

   (7) Since the issue turns on what the user appreciated or should have 
appreciated from the notice, it follows that evidence as to what the owner 
subjectively intended to achieve by the notice is strictly irrelevant. In and of 
itself this cannot assist in ascertaining its objective meaning; 
(8) There may, however, be circumstances when evidence of that intent is 
relevant, for example if it is suggested that the meaning claimed by the 
owner is unrealistic or implausible in the sense that no owner could have 
contemplated that effect. Here, evidence that this owner at least did indeed 
contemplate that effect would be admissible to rebut that suggestion. It 
would also be relevant if that intent had been communicated to the users or 
some representative of them so that it was more than merely a privately 
expressed view or desire. In some cases, that might reinforce or explain the 
message conveyed by the notice, depending of course on the extent to which 
that intent was published, as it were, to the relevant user. 

The Objectors invite the registration Authority to consider [17] to [57] of 

the judgment of HH Judge Waksman QC.41 

 

5.24 Against this legal framework I now turn to consider the Application,  

having regard to the statutory criteria and the contentions on behalf of 

the Applicant and the Objectors. I first identify the issues that arise and 

then set out my assessment of those. 

 

THE ISSUES 

5.25 It is of course necessary for the Applicant to demonstrate that, on the 

balance of probability, each criterion within section 15(3) of the 

Commons Act 2006 is satisfied, as set out above.  

 

5.26 It is not in dispute that: 

                                                        
41 See para. 36 of the Objectors Opening Submissions 

Page 581



 97 

(1) The Applicant is entitled to rely upon section 15(3) of the 

Commons Act 2006 and the relevant 20-year period is from 4 April 

1991 to 4 April 2011. 

(2) Winterslow CP constitutes a valid locality for the purposes of 

section 15(3).42  

 

5.27 Two key (but not by any means the only) elements of the Objectors’ case 

against registration can be summarized as: 

(a) The Applicant has not demonstrated sufficient of qualifying LSP 

use of the Application Land, which has been mainly used for 

highway purposes rather than LSP to a degree that was significant 

over the whole of the land. The Applicant added to and clarified its 

submissions on the Copse in a short Supplemental Closing 

Submission sent on 17th December 2014, after the close of the 

Inquiry. 

(b) Any use has in any event not be “as of right” by reason of the 

signage erected in February 2009 (year 18 of the relevant 20-year 

period). Further, use of the land following access through the 

breaches in the fencing at Highfield Crescent is by force and to be 

discounted. 

 

5.28 Having regard to the evidence and the submissions of the parties, I 

consider that the following key issues arise:- 

(1) The Sufficiency of Qualifying User of the Whole of the Application 

Land during the Relevant 20-Year Period 

 Has the Applicant satisfied the requirement to demonstrate that a 

significant number of inhabitants from the agreed locality have 

used the land for LSP?  

If so, has the Applicant demonstrated sufficient use of the whole 

land (applying a common sense approach as referred to in 

                                                        
42 The Winterslow PC is shown on the plan at AB/A Tab 2 

Page 582



 98 

paragraph 5.8 above) by those inhabitants continuously over the 

relevant 20-year period?  

Only qualifying use is to be taken into account and not uses that 

are permitted/licensed. Further, and significantly, the sufficiency 

of use of the whole land needs to take account of the fact that the 

land has been used for people to walk to and from one side of the 

village to the other. 

(2) The By Force Issue 

Is the qualifying use “as of right” or: 

(i) Is it by force by reason of the two signs erected on posts in 

2009? 

(ii) Is it by force by reason of the field being accessed through 

the gaps in the fence at Highfield Crescent? 

I now set out my assessment of each of these issues. I provide my overall 

conclusions at the end. 

 

 

 ASSESSMENT 

The Sufficiency of Qualifying Use of the Whole of the Application 

Land During the Relevant 20-Year Period 

5.29  An appropriate starting point for consideration of this issue is the 

recognition of the following key characteristics of the Application Land 

during the relevant 20-year period:  

(i) Both the field and the Copse are open and readily accessed from 

different directions. Even though there are no public footpaths 

over the land, they very closely related to the land. The only areas 

of fencing are those around Highfield Crescent and the village hall. 

(ii) Having been set aside in 1988/9, which is not disputed, the land 

was not cropped and only grass grew on the major part of the field 

until it was ploughed in April 2011, as Mr. Sheppard explained. 

The field was then ploughed again and linseed sown in 2012.  

Page 583



 99 

(iii) Key village facilities are located on both “sides” of the Application 

Land. There is for example the school, village shop and a public 

house (the Lord Nelson) broadly to the north/north-west with the 

village hall, tennis courts and doctors surgery and another public 

house (the Lion’s Head formerly owned by Mr. Yates, who gave 

evidence at the Inquiry) to the south/south-east. 

(iv) In addition, there is of course significant housing close to and 

around the Application Land. Much of the housing is on the 

opposite side to the School and village shop. 

(v) My strong impression was that the Copse is also an attraction and 

destination in its own right, as was seen from the evidence from 

some of the witness for both the Applicant and the Objectors. The 

Copse constitutes a little under 40% of the overall area of the 

Application Land. 

 

5.30 The Objectors’ primary contention (on this issue) is that any proven use 

of the field would have had to them, as reasonably vigilant landowners, 

the objective appearance of the exercise of public rights of way over 

defined routes, rather than LSP over the whole of a much wider area of 

land.43 They say that any use outside of these tracks would have been 

occasional and/or ancillary to the exercise of putative rights of way over 

the land. The Objectors also contend that several problems arise with 

relying on the Applicant’s evidence to discover the pattern of use over the 

relevant period.44 

 

5.31 The Applicant, however, contends that evidence given at inquiries will 

invariably represent only a fraction of the actual use of the land and it is 

reasonable to infer that in reality that general pattern of user was 

followed by a much greater number of local inhabitants. The Applicant 

further contends that there is a presumption of continuing user unless 

evidence to the contrary suggests otherwise. The Applicant also contends 

                                                        
43 See [8] on p.4 of the Objectors’ Closing Submissions 
44 See [2] on pp. 2-3 of the Objectors’ Closing Submissions 

Page 584



 100 

that the locally controversial nature of the Application encouraged by 

letters and public statements from the Objectors makes it reasonable to 

assume that less evidence of users was given than might otherwise have 

been expected.45 

 

5.32 Having heard and reviewed the evidence and submissions in detail, my 

overall impression (illustrated by specific reference to some but not all of 

the evidence that I have taken into account) is as follows: 

(1) A significant proportion of those on the field during the relevant 

period have been crossing the land to and from in particular the 

school, the shop, the doctors’ surgery, the two public houses and 

the village hall. This is hardly surprising given the location and 

open nature of the field. The nature of Middleton Road would in 

my view also encourage walkers to try and avoid using that route. 

The tracks seen on the land throughout the relevant period are 

consistent with that. Mr. Paton said that, besides dog walking, the 

field was used mainly to cross and accepted that most people 

would say that it was used for transit. Mr. Rickard said that he 

mainly used the field to get from one side of the field to the other. 

Dr. Flindell’s own use was consistent with using the field to cross. 

Mrs. House said that the main use of the field by adults was for 

crossing but that children would play on the field as it was “a nice 

open space”. Mr. Day said that it is mainly people and dog walkers 

crossing that you see. Mr. Clark said that the main route across the 

land was diagonally from Highland Crescent to the south-east 

corner, although it should be noted his evidence only covers 2008 

onwards. Mr. Fry (for the Objectors) had used the same route.  

Mr. Hardiman estimated the split of transit and recreational use 

was 50/50. Taking account of the evidence overall, and each 

party’s comments on the witnesses, my own distinct impression is 

                                                        
45 Applicant’s Closing Submission at [2] – [6] on pp. 1-3 

Page 585



 101 

that the transit uses would have been greater than that, and 

probably noticeably so. 

(2)  When walking across the land in such a way, such use would have 

appeared to a reasonably vigilant landowner as the exercising of a 

right of way and not a greater right than that. I apply that also to 

those crossing but observing their surroundings on the way. If they 

remain on their “route” across but stop to observe the wildlife 

adjacent to the path or across the field then in my view it would be 

difficult for a reasonable landowner to interpret that as asserting a 

greater right than a right of way. 

(3) There appears no doubt that some users of the land would have 

strayed from their path and that use might properly be considered 

by a reasonably vigilant owner as asserting a greater right, namely 

that consistent with a village green. However, whether that was 

sufficient in itself or combined with other assertions of such a 

right, has to be carefully considered taking into account the 

significant number of users on the land not asserting such a right.  

(4) Further, my impression of the oral evidence was that many of 

those on the land would have had dogs with them. That impression 

was re-enforced when I reviewed the EQs and statements of those 

who have not given evidence at the Inquiry. Mrs. Hazard said (in-

re-ex) that people walking their dogs were mainly going up the 

middle of the field and mainly using the tracks. I have little doubt 

that many of the dogs would have been let off the lead and ran 

around. I have also no doubt that there would have been a mixture 

of that happening whilst the owner walked straight across the field 

and those where the owner stopped and/or walked around the 

fields as the dog exercise over the field.  

(5) Consistent with that, was the evidence of the throwing of objects 

for dogs to retrieve. Mr. Broadley (for the Objectors) had 

witnessed this, although Mr. Yates and Mrs. Fry (also for the 

Objectors) had not. In my view, even if that activity were being 

carried on by those people who were walking straight across the 

Page 586



 102 

field, such an activity would be, and be perceived by a reasonable 

landowner to be, more akin to an assertion of a greater right. My 

impression of the evidence was that this was often more than just 

a dog owner retrieving an errant dog in a way that it would be 

unreasonable to a land owner to attribute an assertion of a greater 

right to (adopting the approach of Sullivan J in Laing Homes (at 

[104]). I also take into account that there has also been some dog 

training and socializing on the field. 

(6) There is clear evidence in my view also of a small number of 

people regularly parking in the morning at the Village Hall and 

letting their dogs out briefly to go to the toilet on the southern part 

of the field close to the Village Hall car park. I have considered this 

to be LSP, albeit I have also taken into account the short duration 

and confinement to the southern area of the land of this particular 

aspect of dog walking. However, as recorded above, that is by no 

means the only evidence of dog walking on the field. 

(7) There have been other uses on the field but in my view less 

regularly and less extensively than the walking across and the dog 

walking. These would have included infrequent kite flying (Mr. 

Crossland refers to this happening 2-3 times a year, although that 

is post 2005); riding of bikes; the infrequent kick around on the 

shorter grass (Mr. Day); “fooling around” by children – including 

hide and seek in the longer grass; infrequent frisbee (Mr. Day); 

infrequent flying of model aircraft. Mrs. Fooks saw an archer. 

People would run over and perhaps to a limited extent around the 

field, the latter being more referable to LSP, if it was not 

reasonably perceived as someone just running across/through the 

land.46 Dr. Putman used the land for observing nature, as did 

others. Mr. Crossland taught his daughter to ride alongside the 

Copse, when she was 9 years old in 2006.  

(8) My impression of the evidence was that the field was not used to 

any great extent for ball games, picnics, informal gatherings. 
                                                        
46 See paragraph 45 on pp. 13-4 of the Applicant’s Closing Submissions 

Page 587



 103 

However, I do accept that people would stop and chat together – if 

that was done whilst people were crossing the land only, then that 

would not qualify. If they chatted otherwise than whilst transiting 

the land in a direct way, then that might well constitute LSP. It may 

have been difficult, however, for a reasonable land owner to 

distinguish the two so as to interpret this as an assertion of a 

greater right than that of a right of way. 

(9)  I note the evidence of Mrs. House relating to her use (at least once 

per week) with children between 1993-2003. The children would 

play in the long grass at the southern end of the field – the girls 

tended, she said, to collect things for craft, whilst the boys 

ventured into the Copse to play with sticks and on the rope swings. 

Mr. Crossland also referred to his daughters running around at the 

bottom of the field to the east of the Copse. That was between 

2005-08. 

(10) My impression also was of seasonal blackberrying (August – 

September – alongside and at the corner of the Copse near 

Highfield Crescent and along inside of Middleton Road) and sloe 

picking (Autumn when there had been a frost – also along the 

inside of Middleton Road) as well sledging and snowball fights 

when the winter weather brought snow and ice. Although the 

former are seasonal and the latter only occurred on a few years in 

the relevant 20-year period (but may have lasted on each occasion 

for 3-4 days), these activities are LSP and cannot be ignored. The 

tobogganing took place more on the northern part of the field, 

where there is the steepest slope. They have to be taken into 

account in the overall assessment of how the use of the land by 

local inhabitants would have looked to the reasonably vigilant 

landowner. The seasonal nature of such activities and of LSP 

generally (with seasonal fluctuations in the degree of use) is a 

feature and of course does not itself preclude registration.47 

                                                        
47 See paragraphs [46] – [52] on pp. 14-15 of the Applicant’s Closing Submissions 

Page 588



 104 

(11) With regard to the Copse, I agree with the Applicant’s 

characterization of this as “somewhat of a magnet” for children 

living nearby.48 Indeed, I would go further than that as I consider 

the Copse to be an inherent attraction to children and many adults 

too, and there was a lot of evidence consistent with that. That was 

exemplified perhaps by Mrs. Hazard’s description of the Copse and 

her wish to have her ashes scattered there. That was also 

consistent with others, including Mr. Paton.  

(12) As indicated above, my very strong impression is that to many 

people the Copse was a destination in its own right. That was in my 

view more so than the field. The main, but as recorded above not 

only, attraction of the field was for crossing to and from the 

different parts of the village.  

(13) In terms of the attraction of the Copse, Mrs. House’s evidence was 

consistent with that – she had not realised that the Copse was part 

of the same land and was privately owned. Many witnesses 

referred to for example the bluebells, celandines, wood anemones, 

primroses, wild raspberries and crab apples in the Copse. It was an 

obvious “stopping off” point for play for children on their way 

home – Mr. Beagle specifically referred to this. It seems clear that 

children would even go in there in less inclement weather (see the 

evidence of e.g. Mrs. House, Mr. Day [albeit only re. 2008-11]). The 

main non-crossing use of the land, which Mr. Rickard referred to, 

was of the Copse by children. Mrs. House said that there would 

always be people playing in the woods and that it would be used 

more for activities than the field. Mrs. Fooks’ son played “more in 

the Copse” and she saw children playing in the Copse and “spilling 

out into the areas around”. 

 

5.33 However, that overall impression is not itself sufficient to demonstrate 

compliance with the section 15(3) criteria. From that overall impression, 

therefore, I now consider whether the Applicant has demonstrated on the 
                                                        
48 Paragraph 33 on p.11 of the Applicant’s Closing Submissions. 

Page 589



 105 

balance of probability that the land as a whole has been used for LSP by a 

significant number of local inhabitants for the relevant 20-year period.  

 

5.34 This discounting of non-qualifying use is not an altogether easy exercise 

to carry out where as here a significant, and in my view the main, use of 

the land is for crossing on foot, as if exercising a right of way. The onus is 

upon the Applicant to demonstrate compliance with the statutory 

requirement. I also have to take into account that the law of prescription 

is based upon how it would have appeared to the owner. Acquiescence by 

the owner is the foundation of prescription.49 Although Mr. Sheppard, and 

Mrs. Sheppard to a lesser extent, was by no means an absentee owner and 

did observe and go to the Application Land and of course live nearby, I 

have used the test of the vigilant land owner and assumed a more 

frequent observation and checking of the land. 

 

5.35 Looking at the land as a whole and the evidence as a whole: 

(1) I note the criticism by the Objectors that of the witnesses giving 

evidence at the Inquiry in support of the Application, only 2 users 

cover periods for 20 or more years and 5 for between 10-15 

years.50 

(2) However, it is important to look at the totality of the oral evidence  

- the oral evidence presents itself, as is common in TVG cases, as a 

jigsaw of different and often overlapping periods in terms of the 

evidence given. It is also important to take into account, as I have 

done, where these witnesses refer to seeing others on the land 

using it for LSP. There are also the other statements and EQs and 

documentation to be taken into account.  

(3) Nonetheless, I do have serious concerns, as detailed below, about 

the totality of that evidence with regard to demonstrating the use 

of the Application Land as a whole throughout the whole of the 20-

year period. I have concerns about some exaggeration of the 

                                                        
49 See Barkas [2014] UKSC 31 at [17] – [19]. 
50 Objectors’ Closing Submissions at [4]-[5] 

Page 590



 106 

recreational uses, as I judged it, in respect of certain elements of 

the Applicant’s evidence. For example, although I would not wish 

to overstate this, I share to some extent the Objectors’ concern as 

to the way the additional photographs of the Copse were 

submitted and then withdrawn.51 I had specific concerns also 

about Mrs. Stevens’ evidence on recreational use, which, and I 

mean no offence to her, seemed exaggerated to me. Also, I was not 

entirely convinced that Mr. Hardiman’s recollections were a fully 

accurate reflection of the likely position. I should make it clear that 

in no case I am suggesting there was any deliberate misleading by, 

or bad faith on the part of, these witnesses. However, it is natural 

that a witness’ evidence may be influenced (often sub-consciously) 

by their desire to maintain the current use of the land. 

(4) Although not of course determinative and again on its own not to 

be given too much significance, I note the lack of photographs of 

LSP being carried out on the land. There were relatively few 

photographs produced in support of the Application and those that 

there were related to the later part of the relevant 20-year period. 

Such photographs are, in my experience, commonly produced in 

support of TVG applications. 

(5) As indicated above, it is my clear impression that apart from the 

Copse the main attraction of the Application Land was the use of 

the field to transit as if using a right of way. The January 2012 

application to modify the MDS and the Highways Authority’s 

analysis of the evidence supporting that is consistent with that 

impression.52 

(6) If no dog walking that qualified as LSP had taken place on the 

Application Land during the 20-year period, there would in my 

view be no doubt that remaining evidence of LSP was not itself 

sufficient to show, on the balance of probability, qualifying use of 

                                                        
51 Objectors’ Closing Submissions at [2.3] on p.2 
52 AB/B Tab 12 at BB2 pp.1-7 

Page 591



 107 

the whole land by a significant number of local inhabitants in 

terms of how it would be been seen by the reasonable landowner. 

(7) However, the field clearly was attractive to dog walkers and I don’t 

doubt a lot of that use has been of a nature that qualifies as LSP as 

would have been perceived by a reasonable land owner aware of 

TVG rights. That use has to be considered together with the other 

qualifying LSP uses.  

(8) However, even considering the totality of the qualifying evidence, 

my overall impression is that the Applicant has not demonstrated 

sufficiency of use for the Application Land as a whole throughout 

the 20-year period. That impression applies overall, given the 

degree of use of the Application Land that was clearly not LSP and 

that which it would have been difficult for a reasonable land owner 

to interpret as an assertion of village green rights.  

(9) Moreover, I also have particular concern with regard the earlier 

part of the 20-year period, as detailed below. This in itself is, in my 

view, reason alone for concluding that the statutory criteria have 

not been met in this respect. 

 

5.36  With regard to the earlier part of the relevant 20-year period in respect 

of the field, I note the following: 

(1) The last crop was sown in 1988. Thus the land was not used for the 

growing of a crop for 2 years or over before the start of the 20-

year period. 

(2) There is no convincing evidence of the field being used for LSP or 

walking even prior to it being set aside, although I am aware that 

there was some claim of that in support of the modification order. 

This is therefore not a piece of land, other than the Copse, that has 

a history of recreational use for any significant period prior to the 

commencement of the 20-year period. 

(3) So the LSP itself has come in essence from a “standing start”. 

Although I accept that it may be possible that qualifying user by a 

significant number of local inhabitants might in some 

Page 592



 108 

circumstances build up to a sufficient level quite quickly, I would 

be surprised if that happened in this case. I would have expected 

that any use of the land would have build up over time as people 

saw others on the land and got used to the idea that they could go 

onto it with apparent impunity. 

(4) What I consider would have been be more likely in this case would 

be that people would have started using the field as a short cut, 

given the location of the site in relation to the housing and village 

facilities and the character of Middleton Road as referred to above. 

In my view, that traversing use would be likely to have build up 

over time. Likewise I would expect, given the creation of the tracks 

to cross and the openness of the land that over time people would 

also use it for wider recreational uses, within the meaning of LSP 

and in particular dog walking. 

(5) My clear impression of this being the likely position in this case is 

supported by the following: 

(a) Although I fully acknowledge that one has to look at the 

evidence as a whole and I have done so, I consider it 

important to note that few witnesses for the Applicant 

covered the full 20-year period. Indeed many covered a 

much shorter period.  

(b) The two witnesses for the Applicant who appeared at the 

Inquiry that did cover that period were Dr. Putman and Mr. 

Rickard. I mean no disrespect to either by saying that Mr. 

Rickard’s evidence of LSP on the field was not strong. Dr 

Putman was patently to my mind an honest witness. 

However, the evidence on LSP was not in my view 

particularly specific or convincing with regard to the use of 

the field. I again emphasise that this evidence has to be, as I 

have done, considered along with all other evidence. 

However, my particular concern in this context is the 

evidence of use of the field for qualifying purposes in the 

early part of the 20-year period i.e. from 1991- mid 1990s.  

Page 593



 109 

(c) In terms of the 15 oral witness, the following witnesses 

(additional to Dr Putman and Mr. Rickard) gave evidence 

that cover some part of the 1990s: 

(i) Mr. Paton who said that the main use was to cross 

the land. 

(ii) Dr. Flindell referred to use of the field since the 

summer of 1994 but didn’t take his dog there until 

1997. 

(iii) Julia House gave evidence of the use of the land since 

1993: and her evidence related mainly to the use of 

the field near to the Village Hall and the Copse. 

(iv) Christine Stevens  said that children would play on 

the field in 1986/7 – in a “hole in field” – when the 

wheat there. I have concerns regarding the 

reliability of that evidence and in any event I have 

taken into account the possibility of children 

occasionally playing in the crops in concluding there 

was no meaningful LSP on the land prior to it being 

sat aside in 1988/9. 

(v) Elizabeth Page didn’t use the land before 1994/6. 

(d) I have considered the other EQs and letters/statements in 

support of the Application. The Applicant has said that 

some people have chosen not to give evidence because of 

the Objectors’ response to the TVG Application. I am not in 

a position to comment or draw any conclusions on that but 

I would note that this can happen to both sides’ potential 

witnesses, particularly where there is division within the 

community. Nonetheless, I have taken full account of the 

evidence in written form on behalf of the Application. This 

has of course not been tested and the weight I can give to 

them therefore has to reflect that. In any event, I note and 

have taken into account that: 

Page 594



 110 

(i) David Acton, Carol and Michael Andrews and Rose 

Maylin were witnesses originally listed to attend the 

Inquiry but in the end were not able to but their 

written evidence is relied upon (see AB/A Tab 4). 

The Andrews’ statement refers to people crossing 

the land and dog walkers at the weekend. They say 

over the years that they regularly used pathways to 

cut across the field to visit the Copse to view the 

Bluebells and taking their grandchildren to look at 

the flowers in the woods. They do refer to activities 

on the field (see also their answer to Q.23 of their 

EQ), in addition to dog walking but the evidence is 

not specific as to the years other than saying they 

have lived in Middleton Road for the past 28 years. 

The answer to Q.14 of their EQ is “For walking 

mainly. Sledging.” Mr. Acton refers to using the field 

many times between 1992 and 1995 to fly model 

aircraft and model rockets. Rose Maylin has lived in 

Winterslow since 1998. So neither of those cover the 

early/ middle 1990s period. 

(ii) Of the 7 statements and EQs of witnesses that the 

Applicant had not intended and did not call (Tab 5 of 

AB/A), 3 cover some part of the 1990s. One 

(F.M.Marks) deals with the period from 1994 and it 

is not clear what recreation of the land took place by 

that individual beyond walking across the land. The 

statement of David Platt refers (for the 1990s 

period) to his wife and her 2 children moving in with 

him in Woodland Drive and the children growing up 

using the open space to go to and from various 

activities such as tennis and badminton in the village 

hall and playing with friends. Mr. Platt’s answer to 

Q.14 of his EQ (p.205) refers to him walking and 

Page 595



 111 

running on the land to gain access to the Common, 

Surgery and Village Hall without having to go on the 

road. Jean Radnege (p.210) moved into Woodland 

Drive in 1991 and again refers to using the land as a 

short cut. Although she refers to LSP uses, it is not 

clear exactly when these took place and how often. 

(iii) Of the EQs in of AB/A Tab 6, many do cover the 

earlier period but again they are not specific enough 

and have not been tested so do not change my 

overall impression regarding lack of sufficiency 

either overall or during this earlier part of the 20-

year period. 

(e)  I have also considered the evidence in support of the 

Objectors (and taken account of the Applicant’s 

submissions on this) in so far as relevant to this aspect and 

note in particular: 

(i) Mr. Fry said that initially there was only one 

informal path in 1991. 

(ii) Mrs. Hazard said that she used the land to walk her 

dogs after 1991. However, it was not clear to me 

how long after and she did not provide detailed 

evidence of LSP at that time.  

(iii) Mrs. Loader started crossing the field in 1989. 

However, her evidence did not support LSP at that 

time to any meaningful degree. 

(iv) Mrs. Fry was asked (in xx) to confirm that use of the 

land by people walking started in 1990 – she said 

that she couldn’t recall walking until later. 

(v) The Applicant states that it is clear that the field was 

in regular use by 1990/1.53 It is further contended 

that Mr. Sheppard confirmed that there were a 

number of well-established tracks across the field by 
                                                        
53 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [12] on p.6 

Page 596



 112 

1991 and accepted their presence that it was in 

regular use at that point. It is important to consider 

Mr. Sheppard’s evidence (as well as the other 

evidence) on the aspect as a whole to draw the 

appropriate impression and conclusion. Mr. 

Sheppard said that when topping in 1988 he was 

aware of the tracks and that it probably took 2-3 

years for the tracks to be formed and by 1991 there 

were tracks – several tracks. However, Mr. Sheppard 

also said that the tracks got more definite over time. 

That is why he took action in 1998. So although he 

indicated tracks perhaps at the outset, clearly the 

use of the land was growing. This does not provide 

in any event itself a lot of support however for the 

LSP at that early time in the relevant period.  

(vi) I also note that there are no aerial photographs of 

the 1990s presented by either party in respect of the 

TVG Application. However, there were 1981 and 

1991 aerial photographs referred to in relation to 

Mr. Clark’s application for a modification order to 

the DMS. At paragraph 17 of the Highways 

Authority’s Decision Report it is stated: 

 The aerial photograph taken in 1981 in Wiltshire 

Council’s possession shows the field in which the 

claimed paths cross has been ploughed and cropped 

with no routes show on the line of the claimed paths. 

The 1991 aerial photograph shows the route of the 

existing path Winterslow 42 very clearly defined but 

no other clearly defined routes are shown on the 

claimed footpaths. The aerial photographs are 

attached as BB3.54 I acknowledge that aerial 

                                                        
54 OB/A Tab 8 at p.38; see also the Modification Order Inspector’s comments on this at [22] – 
OB/A Tab 8 at p. 67 

Page 597



 113 

photographs are not definitive even for tracks/paths 

but this does offer some further support my overall 

impression of what the position was likely to have 

been. 

(vii) I also take into account the Applicant’s reference to 

Mr. Fry’s recollection of the development meeting in 

the Village Hall in about 1994-95 where some 

people suggested that the Application Land was 

common land.55 That is not inconsistent with my 

overall impression. 

 

5.37 The land has to be looked at as a whole and of course  not every foot of 

the land has to be covered by LSP.56 I have taken into account the 

Applicant’s submission on this and reference to the relevant passages in 

the Trap Grounds case on this, as recorded above. I have also taken into 

account the Applicant’s contention that “there is a presumption of 

continuing user unless evidence to the contrary suggests otherwise”.57 

However, any such presumption has to be considered in the context of the 

burden on the Applicant to demonstrate compliance with the statutory 

criteria. In any event, in my view the evidence has not demonstrated 

sufficient qualifying use of the Application Land as a whole taking into 

account the use of the Copse throughout the 20-year period and in 

particular during the early years. For the avoidance of doubt, I should 

make it clear that I have reached this view without discounting any use as 

being contentious.  

 

5.38 With regard to the Copse, the Objectors contend (in their Closing and 

Supplemental Closing Submissions) that any proven use of it would have 

had the objective appearance of the exercise of public rights of way over 

defined routes rather than LSP to a degree that was significant over the 

                                                        
55 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at 69(b) on pp.20-21 
56 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at paragraph [57] on p.17 
57 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [2] on pp.1-1 

Page 598



 114 

whole of the land. Reliance is placed on Mr. Paton’s evidence that around 

5-10% of the Copse was made up of the paths. 

 

5.39 The Copse of course was not itself subject to the change in the agricultural 

regime. As the Applicant said, and as was my distinct impression, the 

Copse has been in regular for LSP use for long before 1991.58 I of course 

recognise that whilst the land was in arable production it does not seem 

that people, certainly in any meaningful number, would have accessed it 

from the field. However, it was open and unfenced from the school path 

throughout the 20-year period and for very many years before, as I 

understood. Thus in my view the Copse can be in respect of use 

throughout the 20-year period be distinguished from the field. Further, 

whilst the field was in arable use and probably for a little period beyond, 

the Copse would have been even more of an entity unto itself than when 

the field was used for people to cross and for LSP.  The evidence on the 

use of that area seems much clearer to me.  

 

5.40 Whilst the Objectors strongly contend otherwise, there has been sufficient 

qualifying LSP use of the Copse itself to indicate to a reasonable owner 

that a village green right was being asserted of the Copse as a whole 

(applying the approach in the Trap Grounds case), even if at times not all 

parts were accessible by reason of the vegetation. I have taken into 

account the coppicing regime, with that activity mainly in winter, but that 

in no way alters my overall impression with regard to use of the Coppice. 

I accept and find convincing the Applicant’s Supplemental Submissions on 

this issue. 

 

5.41 Mr. Sheppard did not understand, and had not been advised upon at that 

time, the distinction between such rights and rights of way. My clear 

impression of his evidence and that of Mrs. Sheppard was that unless 

someone was doing anything untoward in the Copse they would have and 

did tolerate that use. In many ways, whilst they will not thank me for my 
                                                        
58 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at paragraph [12] on p.5 

Page 599



 115 

conclusion on this, the owners are to be commended, as it was clear 

(particularly from Mrs. Sheppard’s words at the Inquiry) that they always 

considered it entirely appropriate and fair that the enjoyment of that area 

should not be kept from others. Hence they have clearly tolerated the use 

of the Copse for recreational purposes. 

 

5.42 However, I of course have based my assessment, as does the RA, on the 

evidence and the statutory criteria. For the avoidance of doubt, therefore, 

on that basis it is my view that on the balance of probability the use of the 

copse as a whole throughout the 20-year period to 4th April 2011 was 

sufficient for the owners, if they had been aware of such rights, to 

recognise that they were being asserted.  

 

5.43 For the further avoidance of any doubt, I should again make it clear that I 

have considered whether the use of the Copse for LSP throughout the 20-

year period makes the use of the land as a whole sufficient. For the 

reasons given above in respect of the field I do not consider that can on 

the evidence be properly concluded. 

 

5.44 I therefore accept the Applicant’s submission with regard to the Copse.59 I 

also note that the Applicant contended that if, contrary to their principal 

contention, the LSP use was not considered sufficient to over the whole 

Application Land the RA would be entitled to register only that part of the 

land upon which the statutory test has been satisfied.60 I was invited to 

consider this option in that event.  

 

5.45 Finally, I should further make it clear that I have been referring so far to 

the land in the Copse owned by the Objectors. I noticed on my site visit 

that there would appear to have been fencing and between their land in 

the Copse and that of the Council. The Council’s land is a distinct and 

largely inaccessible part of the Copse. I have no evidence before me of 

                                                        
59 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [91] on p.28. 
60 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [10] on pp. 4-5 

Page 600



 116 

that north-western part of the Copse being accessed and used for LSP. 

Therefore, on the evidence available, although the Council has not 

objected as such to their land being registered in my view it should not in 

any event be included in any land to be registered as a TVG. I am very 

grateful to both the Applicant and the Objectors who have expressed, in 

their Supplemental Submission, views on this aspect that are consistent 

with what I observed and understood.  

 

 Conclusion on the Sufficiency of Use Issue 

5.46 The main use of the land has been for transiting to and from different 

parts of the village. The main use of the Land for LSP has been dog 

walking on the field and there have also been other qualifying uses on the 

field but to a greater extent in the Copse.  

 

5.47 However, the Applicant has not demonstrated sufficiency of qualifying 

use for the Application Land as a whole throughout the 20-year period, 

even taking into account the use of the Copse. That lack of sufficiency of 

LSP use relates overall given the degree of use of the Application Land 

that was clearly not LSP and that which it would have been difficult for a 

reasonable land owner to interpret as an assertion of village green rights. 

However, there is also a particular concern with regard the earlier part of 

the 20-year period. 

 

5.48 The exception to this conclusion is the Copse. This has an attraction and 

destination in its own right. In the circumstances a reasonable landowner 

could not be expected to attribute the use of the Copse to the land as a 

whole and thus  interpret this as an assertion of right over the whole 

Application Land. Sufficiency of LSP use of the Copse as of right has been 

demonstrated throughout at least the relevant 20-year period.  

 

Page 601



 117 

5.49 The only exception to this relates to the north-west corner of the Copse, 

which is in separate ownership to the Objectors and appears to have been 

fenced off and separate from the remainder of the Copse. 

 

 

The By Force Issue 

 The 2009 Signs Issue 

5.50 There is no dispute that two posts each with a small green notice of about 

5 x 4 inches were in place for a number of days in February 2009. The 

position of these posts is seen on the plan and aerial photograph in OB/A 

Tab 9. Their position both in the ground and when removed is seen in the 

photographs in OB/A Tab10. 

 

5.51 What is disputed is the period of time that they were in place for, the 

visibility of the posts and signs and the effect of them with regard to use 

of the field. It is accepted by the Objectors that they were not directed to 

the use of the Copse.61 

 

5.52 The problem that Mr. Sheppard was seeking to address was people 

walking over his land. He spoke to Wiltshire Council’s rights of way 

department, which advised him to erect the signs that they gave him on 

posts. This he did with his son on 7th February 2009 and re-erected on 

13th February. The signs stated:  

WILTSHIRE  

COUNTY COUNCIL 

NO PUBLIC  

RIGHT OF WAY 

THANK YOU 

 

                                                        
61 Paragraph 29(j) on p.33 of the Objectors’ Closing Submissions 

Page 602



 118 

5.53 The Applicant contrasts this wording, in my view correctly, with the 

wording on the 4 much larger red and white signs erected in June 2012 

stating:62 

PRIVATE 

PROPERTY 

PLEASE KEEP OFF 

  

5.54 Although Mr. Sheppard believes the signs were up from the 7th February 

continuously until the 13th February 2009 (as he said he went back to 

check every day between 7th and 13th February), there is some evidence 

that would suggest otherwise.63  

 

5.55 Many people said that they did not see the posts or signs. Some did see 

them and some saw just one. I am not entirely surprised that some people 

stated that they did not see them, although I am a little surprised how 

many. That may partly be the result of a combination of factors such as 

the short period of time that they were in place; the time of the year; the 

fact that some users were only on a limited part of the field and/or they 

were on the land when the light was not good. I also find it more difficult, 

to understand that some people who saw the posts did not realize that 

they displayed signs. I accept the signs themselves were very small and 

not obvious but I would have thought natural curiosity would lead most 

people (if not all) to ascertain the purpose of a post that suddenly 

appeared, sticking well up from the ground. 

 

5.56 It is not the fault of Mr. Sheppard that the signs were torn down. I also 

expect that the posts were removed by someone who took issue with the 

owners’ challenge of their use of the land. However, there is no direct 

evidence on this and it would be inappropriate of me to speculate on the 

motives of those responsible.  

 

                                                        
62 OB/A Tab 11 
63 See e.g. Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [73] on p.22 

Page 603



 119 

5.57 I have carefully taken into account the submissions of both parties and 

the Betterment and Oxfordshire Mental Health Trust cases. Based on those 

legal authorities, the fundamental question is what the notices conveyed 

to those using the field.  

 

5.58 In my view, even if they had remained in the ground and displayed, the 

notices were not effective in rendering the recreational use contentious. I 

have reached this conclusion having regard, in particular, to: 

(1) The submissions made by the Objectors, including the specific 

relevant factors referred to and relied upon in paragraph 24.64 

(2) Whilst some users understood the sign to be excluding all 

trespassers, I do not accept that should be assumed to apply to the 

reasonable user standing in the position of the actual user. It 

cannot be assumed that the users were aware of the section 31(6) 

declarations and the significance of these. 

(3) Given the background of the clear tracks across the paths that 

appear to have increased during the 1990s and 2000s, the 

reasonable user would in my view be likely to read it as referring 

to rights of way rather than wider recreational use rights. As the 

Applicant points out, their position next to the diagonal footpath 

used as the main short cut across the field, is consistent with 

that.65 

(4) In my view the signs did not contest the recreational use and in 

any event at best the wording was ambiguous. 

(5) It is also my view that there was something that readily could have 

been done by the owners that was proportionate. Indeed, it was 

done in terms of the 4 red and white signs. However, those of 

course are not relevant to the claim in respect of the 20-year 

period. 

 

                                                        
64 In particular [16]-[25] on pp. 6-10 of the Objectors’ Closing Submission 
65 Applicant’s Closing Submissions at [83] on p.26 

Page 604



 120 

5.59 Although I have considered and reached my conclusion on the wording in 

the context of this case, I do note that the wording of the sign in the 

Oxfordshire Mental Health Trust (Warneford Meadow case) case is the 

same. The Objectors contend that the circumstances of the two cases are 

distinguishable. 66 The Objectors refer in particular to paragraphs 13, 22, 

41, 49, 52 and 53 of the Judgment in that case. I note that in paragraph 41 

of the Judgment reference is made to the Inspector’s Report, where he 

found that the purpose of the signs was to prevent two paths from 

acquiring the status of public rights of way and that the landowner had no 

objection to general public recreational access to the Meadow but only to 

the creation of public rights of way. However, as noted in paragraphs 

22(7) & (8) of the Judgment, it was held that of itself the subjective 

intention of the owner cannot assist in ascertaining the meaning of a 

notice. Further, as the Inspector went on to say (in paragraph 41) if the 

signs had intended to forbid general access to the Meadow, he did not 

understand why they did not say so. Therefore, in my view I do not see 

the distinction that the Objectors rely upon and indeed the passages 

referred to do not, in my opinion, assist the Objectors but are consistent 

with the Applicant’s position and my own conclusion on this aspect. 

 

5.60 The Objectors also put forward a default position. That position is that 

any objection from them to a lesser burden (rights of way) must by 

necessary implication also have included objection to the more onerous 

burden (TVG rights). Given the approach in the current legal authorities 

and in particular in the Warneford Meadow case, I cannot accept that 

submission.  

 

5.61 I should also make it clear, in case it was being made as a separate point, 

that I am unable to accept the submission made by the Objectors that “as 

a pure matter of law” section 31(6) means that any use for LSP cannot be 

as of right. Such an interpretation would in my view be contrary to the 

                                                        
66 Objectors’ Closing Submissions at [22]- [23] 

Page 605



 121 

distinction recognized in the legal authorities between TVG rights and 

rights of way. 

 

5.62 In my view, it is likely that there were earlier signs. Several witnesses 

referred to these. However, the evidence on them is too vague to assess 

whether it can properly be concluded that they rendered the use 

contentious. I have therefore not taken these into account. The Objectors 

do not rely upon them. 

 

The Breaching of the Highfield Crescent Fence 

5.63 There seems to be no dispute that there has been for many years a gap in 

the fence at Highfield Crescent as seen in photograph 23B (OB/A Tab 5). 

Mr. Yates also referred to another gap in front of his house and to his 

having repaired that. 

 

5.64 As the Applicant says, the fence did not belong to them and was not 

repaired by them. The principle from the Betterment case is that it would 

be a direct infringement of the principle that rights of property cannot be 

acquired by force or by unlawful means for the Court to ignore the 

landowner's clear and repeated demonstration of his opposition to the 

use of the land simply because it was obliterated by the unlawful acts of 

local inhabitants. However, the difficulty in this case was that the fencing 

did not amount to any demonstration from the owners themselves, save 

possibly in respect of the repairs in 2009 when Mr. Sheppard asked the 

Council to repair the fence. Further, the land could be readily accessed 

without breaking through a fence from north, south, east and west. 

 

5.65 For those reasons, I have not discounted any of the Application Land for 

LSP as contentious by reason of the fencing along Highfield Crescent. Even 

if I had, any discount of use on that basis would not have altered my 

overall Conclusions with regard to the use of the Copse as a whole (apart 

from the north-west part), and that area only, for LSP being in accordance 

with section 15(3).  

Page 606



 122 

 OVERALL CONCLUSIONS 

5.66 The Application Land consists of readily accessible agricultural land that 

was in set aside throughout the relevant period and a Copse, with the 

latter making up about 40% of the overall site. My clear impression was 

that main use of the land has been for transiting to and from different 

parts of the village. There has also undoubtedly been LSP uses carried out 

on the Application Land and the Copse. The main use of the Land for LSP 

has been dog walking on the field and there have also been other 

qualifying uses.  

 

5.67 However, the Applicant has not demonstrated sufficiency of qualifying 

use for the Application Land as a whole throughout the 20-year period. 

That relates overall given the degree of use of the Application Land that 

was clearly not LSP and that which it would have been difficult for a 

reasonable land owner to interpret as an assertion of village green rights. 

Moreover, I also have a particular concern with regard the earlier part of 

the 20-year period. 

 

5.68 The exception to this conclusion is the Copse. This was, during the 

relevant period, an attraction and destination in its own right. Sufficiency 

of LSP use of the Copse as of right has been demonstrated throughout at 

least the relevant 20-year period. The only exception to this relates to the 

north-west corner, which is in separate ownership to the Objectors and 

appears to have been fenced off and separate from the remainder of the 

Copse as both the Applicant and Objectors have helpfully agreed. 

 

5.69 The two signs put up in 2009 did not in the circumstances make any use 

of the land for LSP contentious. The breaches of the Highfield Crescent 

fencing relied upon by the Objectors issue has no bearing on my overall 

assessment and I have reached the above conclusions taking no account 

of the effect of these breaches. 

 

Page 607



 123 

5.70 Accordingly, I conclude that the Application only satisfies the criteria 

within section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 in respect of the Copse but 

not in respect of that part of the Copse in the north-west corner owned by 

Wiltshire Council. 

 

 

6. RECOMMENDATION 

6.1 For the reasons set out in section 5 of this Report, I recommend to the 

Registration Authority:  

The Application by Winterslow Opposed to Over Development 

(WOOD) under section 15(3) of the Commons Act 2006 be approved 

but only to the extent that Brown’s Copse is registered as a town or 

village green in its entirety, other than the north-west corner of the 

Copse that is owned by Wiltshire Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 STEPHEN MORGAN 

 Landmark Chambers 

 London EC4A 2HG      10 March 2015 

Page 608



20/04/16

1

COMMONS ACT 2006 – SECTION 15(1) 
& (3) – APPLICATION TO REGISTER 

LAND AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE 
GREEN – THE COMMON / BROWN’S 
COPSE FIELD / BLUEBELL WOOD / 
VILLAGE HALL FIELD / THE FIELD, 

WINTERSLOW

SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE: 
28th APRIL 2016

SARAH MARSHALL – SENIOR SOLICITOR, 
LEGAL SERVICES

Location Plan

Page 609



20/04/16

2

Application Plan

Land ownership plan

Page 610



20/04/16

3

Brown’s Copse – Area Proposed to be Registered

Brown’s Copse – Area Proposed to be Registered

Page 611



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 613



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 615

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Planning Appeals
	7a 16/00550/FUL - 23, Milford Street, Salisbury
	16.00550.map

	7b 15/10824/FUL - Land South of 1 Park Houses, East Knoyle, Witshire, SP3 6AN
	15.10824.MAP

	8 Commons Act 2006 - Section 15(1) And (3) Application To Register Land As A Town Or Village Green - The Common / Browns Copse Field / Bluebell Wood Field / Village Hall Field / The Field, Winterslow
	Appendix 1 - Winterslow Village Green Report - 30 April 2015
	Appendix 2 - Winterslow Village Green Report - 24 September 2015
	3.CM09661 App1.pdf
	Purpose of Report
	Background
	Main Considerations for the Council
	Reason for Proposal
	Proposal


	Appendix 3 - Winterslow Village Green Report - 17 December 2015
	Appendix 4 - Inspectors Report - Winterslow
	Appendix 5 - Slides
	Appendix 6 – Court Order dated 31 March 2016

	10 Commons Act 2006 - Section 15(1) And (3) Application To Register Land As A Town Or Village Green - The Common / Browns Copse Field / Bluebell Wood Field / Village Hall Field / The Field, Winterslow

